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Minutes of Evidence
TAKEN BEFORE THE CONSTITUTION COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 25 FEBRUARY 2009

Present Goodlad, L (Chairman) Peston, L
Lyell of Markyate, L Rodgers of Quarry Bank, L
Morris of Aberavon, L Rowlands, L
Norton of Louth, L Shaw of Northstead, L
Pannick, L Woolf, L

Memorandum by the Better Government Initiative, Sir John Chilcot, KCB

On 29 January, 2009, the Committee called for evidence on the constitutional issues that may arise when there
is resort to emergency legislation. Several Better Government Initiative (BGI) members—as former civil
servants—have had varied experience of the preparation and use of such legislation from which this Note
draws.

Our interest in this matter stems from a wider interest in the better preparation of legislation which we believe
essential to better government. To achieve those ends we argue there are key principles which should be
consistently observed. We set these down before going on to consider their application to emergency
legislation. There should be:

1. An early broad statement, which may come after wide consultation, of the Government’s intentions,
enabling both public and Parliament to make observations on, and so contribute to, the final policy
choice. In a democracy the electorate, not only Parliament, should be able to understand the aims
that any particular policy proposed by the Government seeks to achieve, and have a broad indication
of the costs and benefits associated with it, and its relationship to the underlying philosophy on which
the Government was elected. If the policy fails to achieve its aims, or the costs are significantly greater
or the benefits markedly less, public and Parliament should have suYcient information available to
judge whether the failures are due to the inadequacies of the policy or to unforeseen, even
unforeseeable, events.

2. A definitive statement at the time Government decides on a final policy which will allow MPs and
interested parties to understand what the bill is expected to achieve, and how, enabling an eVective
review to take place in the future. Parliamentarians, interested parties and professional groups need
to have suYcient understanding of any proposed legislation or policy, and why it was chosen in
preference to other means, with specific information (including, where necessary, an impact
assessment) about its eVect on diVerent groups (social, local or economic) so that they can respond
to specific problems the bill raises. Also required is information about the means by which that policy
will be brought into eVect and how its eVectiveness can be judged. Any general philosophy outlined
at an earlier stage needs to be refined into the criteria which will govern any secondary or regulatory
legislation or individual Ministerial decisions.

3. Bills should be complete on introduction, and, while some amendments will usually be necessary, the
likelihood of them being required to take the bill through should have been considered at an early
stage, and not introduced at the last minute. Whether or not a draft bill was published there may have
been policy changes since the second stage. Any such changes should be highlighted and justified. But
what is important at this stage is that the legislation should have been suYciently prepared that the
Government will not need to introduce substantial amendments or new clauses to deal with
foreseeable events. It should have considered the likely objections to the legislation and, only if
significant political diYculties arise, have to accept major amendments. But it is almost inevitable
that, with complex legislation or policies which can aVect financial, environmental, and social issues,
the government will not have foreseen all issues and will need to propose or accept some amendments
which impact on the purposes or implementation of the legislation. Documentation of the Stage
2 type, explaining and justifying such changes, should be produced in suYcient time for them to be
considered before the legislation is passed.
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4. SuYcient information to enable secondary legislation to be fully considered. We maintain that
primary legislation should be restricted to the essential features of a policy, leaving detail and
implementation to secondary legislation. However, an understanding, at the time the primary
legislation is considered, is needed of the principles or criteria which will underlie the secondary
legislation. Secondary legislation nearly always will be necessary for the implementation of policy, if
the above principle governing primary legislation is observed. It is inevitable that this legislation will
not be able to command the same attention and time in either house as primary legislation. There is,
therefore, a real danger that it may pass without adequate scrutiny and be shown, in the long run, to
be useless. It is crucial, therefore, that the criteria which govern it should have been made clear in
Stage 2, and that full information is given early enough on how it meets those criteria; and how it will
work in practice. It is at this stage that many lobbyists and professional bodies who have first hand
knowledge of problems will wish to contribute, and whose views may well be important for successful
implementation.

5. The fifth stage should review the success of the legislation in achieving its policy objectives. Both the
public and Parliament need to be enabled to make an assessment of how successful the policy has
proved to be in the light of experience. Such an assessment is likely to be partisan, and, therefore,
Parliament is the only place where this judgement will be made. But to have any credibility it must
rely on documentation about objectives, means and alternatives put forward in earlier stages. Ideally,
the assessment should be based on some form of auditing of eVects and should be capable of being
written in terms which the public can understand.

The challenge is how to follow or adapt these principles to emergency legislation. Broadly Parliament may be
faced with two distinct types of request for emergency legislation. One is the contingent preparation and
passing of laws enabling order making powers only to be brought into force if the emergency were to arise. An
example is Part 2 of the Civil Contingencies Act, 2004 allowing for urgent order making powers to be used in
a major emergency which, ex hypothesi, arises unexpectedly and requires action by Government in the
interests of national and public security (such as requisitioning plant and machinery) when time is of the
essence. The 2004 Act replaced earlier legislation including the Emergency Powers Act 1920. The 2004 Act
requires the Queen to signify that there is an emergency, which is defined as “threat of serious damage to the
welfare or environment of a region”. It is characteristic of such legislation that, if used, then Parliament must
retrospectively approve its use. In the case of the 2004 Act the orders must be approved within seven days by
Parliament. The other type of circumstance is where an emergency situation emerges and, in the light of
experience in attempting to contain the situation, Government comes to believe that additional legislation will
be needed for the duration of the emergency, and goes to Parliament with an “emergency provisions” Bill. An
example was the Northern Ireland (Emergency Provisions) Act 1973 and its successors. It is characteristic of
such legislation that it has a sunset clause and Parliament therefore has the opportunity to vote on whether
the situation still requires its renewal.

However the point we would wish to make to the Committee is not to comment on the adequacy or use of any
particular law, but to suggest in each category of cases the bill could have been prepared as well as any other
bill. The package put aside for emergency use could have contained a white paper or equivalent document
explaining the bill; a complete and comprehensive bill; criteria for, and possibly drafts of, secondary
legislation; and arrangements for what is now called post-legislative scrutiny. Our understanding is that some
of this legislation—for example against the possibility of nuclear war—more or less met these criteria. No
doubt in that and other cases some amendments would have been needed to meet the particular circumstances
of its introduction, but in general terms such bills can be, and probably often have been, well-prepared. What
is needed from the Government is enough foresight to permit satisfactory preparation.

An interesting question is whether the new Banking Act could not have benefited from similar foresight. There
was a related bill in the last session (the Banking (Special Provisions) Act 2008 dealing with the failure of
Northern Rock). The credit crunch has been with us for some time. The thought that such a banking law was
needed, as has just been passed, need not have been a sudden one. We have not studied the progress of the bill
through Parliament with as much care as Parliament has done. However reading the second reading debate
and the Committee discussion of Clause 75 suggests that discussion of the bill could have been easier, more
comprehensive and possibly shorter, if there had been a clear, comprehensive statement setting out the
rationale of the bill—which is a long one—and in particular justifying the need for retrospective and
indeterminate powers where that arises.

If not, then it would have fallen into a second category of emergency legislation, like the Evidence (Witness
Anonymity) Act 2008 providing for anonymity in criminal cases which, we believe, has apparently worked.
This second category is where the need for legislation is sudden and urgent. As the Call for Evidence suggests,
it may be held to require complete bills or substantial new provisions to a bill at a late stage in a bill’s passage
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through Parliament, where the timing of such amendments is justified on grounds of urgency. The Call for
Evidence suggested such a situation arose in November 2008 during the passage of the Counter-Terrorism Bill,
when a new schedule dealing with terrorist financing and money laundering was introduced on the final day
of Report stage in the House of Lords.

Our belief in relation to this second category is that the principles governing stages in bill preparation should
still be followed as closely as possible:

1. There should still be a statement for the public, setting out the purposes and justification of the bill.
In particular it should draw attention to, explain and justify any request for retrospective or
indeterminate powers

2. Even if urgency requires it is issued at the same time, there should still be a more detailed statement
for Parliament.

3. A greater attempt to introduce a complete comprehensive bill (or part of bill) should be made to
reduce the need for amendments.

4. Secondary legislation could be specified as far as is practical. Where it is not, clear criteria must be
stated.

5. Post-legislative scrutiny is all the more necessary. It should perhaps be more frequent. Sunset clauses
are often desirable.

The Committee invited evidence on the following questions:

1. Is it possible to provide a practical definition of “emergency legislation?” If so, what is it?

Answer: We know of no practicable definition, but the conditions which the Civil Contingencies Act requires
to be satisfied—ie severe harm to large areas, the need to act quickly, and formal endorsement by the head of
State—seem reasonable. Perhaps we now need to add to those: damage to significant elements of the economy.
Another kind of definition would be in terms of a statement, where relevant, that it is a bill unable to meet the
some of the requirements we believe normally should be required for the preparation of good legislation

2. What examples would you give of when emergency legislation has been approved by Parliament in the recent past?
Was the case for emergency legislation adequately made in such cases?

Answer: Defence of the Realm Act 1914; Northern Ireland Act 2007; Criminal Evidence (Witness Anonymity)
Act 2007. In the first and third the need for emergency legislation was made.

3. Was the nature of parliamentary scrutiny adequate in these cases? Are interest groups able to lobby and brief
parliamentarians satisfactorily in situations where bills have an expedited passage through Parliament?

Answer Again, in the first and third cases there was Parliamentary scrutiny. We do not know about lobbying
or briefing. As the progress of the Banking Bill has shown, where bills fall into the second class of emergency
legislation we have identified, it is more necessary than usual to have a clear prior statement in the form of a
White Paper or its equivalent, or as part of such, setting out the case for such clauses and how they are to be
operated

4. Under what circumstances is it constitutionally appropriate (or not appropriate) to bring forward emergency
legislation?

Answer: It is appropriate to bring forth emergency legislation when the sorts of conditions as in the Civil
Contingencies Act are fulfilled. Where order making powers, such as were included in Clause 75 of the Banking
Bill (Section 83 of the Act), are introduced, they should be subject to definitional requirements of the damage
that will be incurred if they are not implemented and the requirement to act speedily. They should be subject
to Parliamentary scrutiny and often be time limited.

5. What parliamentary scrutiny should emergency legislation be subject to?

Answer: Scrutiny should be suYcient to allow the impact of the legislation on individuals, and their duties and
rights to be known. This will mean scrutiny of SIs made under primary legislation

6. Should emergency legislation be subject to a renewal procedure or have a sunset clause? Are there any other
constitutional safeguards that should be considered?

Answer: Emergency legislation should be subject to strict renewal requirements.
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7. The order-making powers under Part 2 of the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 have not been used to date. Have there
been situations where these powers might have been used? Do the scope and process of the order-making powers in the
Civil Contingencies Act remain satisfactory? Should “bespoke” emergency order-making powers created by other Acts
of Parliament (such as those created by Part 3 of the Health and Social Care Act 2008) be based on Part 2 of the Civil
Contingencies Act?

Answer: We do not know.

8. Can any lessons be learnt from the way that other parliaments or legislatures deal with emergency legislation?

Answer: We do not have the requisite knowledge.

21 February 2009

Memorandum by the Hansard Society

Summary

— Parliamentarians, regardless of political aYliation, have a responsibility to ensure that legislation is
properly scrutinised and debated.

— The Government should seek, as a matter of course, to extend debating time on emergency legislation
wherever possible and in particular when debates and divisions on timetabling motions cut into the
time available to debate the substantive issues.

— A Business Committee or Legislation Steering Committee should be established to manage the
parliamentary timetable. It would help improve agreement of and transparency in the management
of emergency legislation and allow for greater flexibility in the timetabling of emergency debate thus
improving the scrutiny process.

— Whenever possible sunset clauses should be incorporated into emergency legislation particularly in
relation to legislation that impacts upon civil liberties.

— Emergency legislation should automatically be subject to post-legislative review.

— An Emergency Legislation Review Committee should be established, composed of members of both
Houses, whose responsibility would be to review emergency legislation at an agreed date after Royal
Assent, to determine whether or not the legislation had suYcient constitutional and policy
implications to justify being referred back to Parliament for further consideration.

— The Government should be obliged to include in emergency legislation a requirement to report to the
Emergency Legislation Review Committee, setting out its views on issues such as whether the
legislation had met the Government’s aims and whether it had unintended consequences that were
not foreseen at the time of its passage through Parliament.

— Any renewal process should be carried out through non-emergency primary legislation and not
through the aYrmative resolution procedure.

— The delegation of powers is unsatisfactory in relation to emergency legislation, not least because it
is generally not possible to review the delegated legislation in draft at the time the parental primary
legislation is being debated. The drafting of primary legislation can confer very broad powers on
ministers and these cannot be subjected to proper scrutiny during the emergency legislation process.

Hansard Society Research

1. The Hansard Society conducts detailed research into Parliamentary process and procedure and has, over
the years, made a number of recommendations for reform and improvement. We have not carried out research
specifically in the area of emergency legislation and its constitutional implications. However, through our
ongoing work on the legislative process dating back to the Making the Law Commission chaired by Lord
Rippon of Hexham in 1993 we have generated a range of recommendations on the legislative and scrutiny
process, a number of which are relevant in relation to emergency legislation.

2. Set out in this memorandum, we therefore draw attention to a number of specific aspects of the emergency
legislation process where reform would improve and strengthen the role and function of Parliament in making
emergency law.
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Defining “Emergency Legislation”

3. Given that emergency legislation is sui generis, it is diYcult to draw up a practical definition which would
fit all circumstances. However, emergency legislation can be said to broadly fall into two categories:

a) special legislation that is needed in order to tackle an emergency of national or international
scope and importance in which human welfare, the environment or national security may be
threatened (eg as a result of terrorist attack) and which justifiably requires a rapid response that
cannot wait on the normal deliberative processes of Parliament.

and

b) legislation that is needed to cover a broader range of domestic situations in which the emergency
does not meet the threshold of a national public emergency (as defined by the Civil Contingencies
Act) but which is deemed by the Government to pose a threat to the good governance of the
country (or a region thereof) and its political, legal, administrative or economic condition, or the
health of the public, suYcient to justify the fast-tracking of legislative measures outside normal
parliamentary procedures.

4. In principle, emergency legislation by its nature and definition should be regarded as being exceptional. As
it requires the conferring or assumption of extraordinary powers on or by the Executive and in general a
diminution in the application of the normal checks and balances exercised by Parliament with respect to the
Executive, it should be regarded as temporary legislation. Either the normal legislative position should be
restored at the end of the national emergency, or legislative provisions provided through the fast-track process
should be subjected to further parliamentary scrutiny at the earliest possible opportunity after the heightened
nature of the situation warranting the emergency legislation abates.

5. Special emergency legislation in the form of Orders in Council as set out in the Civil Contingencies Act have
not been required since the legislation’s inception. In contrast, legislation fast-tracked through Parliament is
a not uncommon occurrence. Between the 1979–80 session and the 2007–08 session 60 Government Bills have
reportedly proceeded through all House of Commons stages in one day.1 Many were uncontroversial but
nonetheless raise issues regarding the capacity of parliamentarians to properly carry out their scrutiny
function.

Emergency Legislation and its Constitutional Implications

6. It is the responsibility of all parliamentarians, regardless of political aYliation, to ensure that legislation is
properly scrutinised and debated. In normal circumstances MPs and Peers should bear in mind a number of
essential questions, including:

— Is the proposed law as clear and unambiguous as possible?

— Are the measures practical and likely to be administratively sound?

— What are the law’s possible unintended consequences?

7. However, the emergency legislation process is characterised, even more so than normal, by dominance of
the Executive and we recognise that it is not always possible to address these questions fully. The timetable for
debate, the quality of initial legislative drafting, the emergence of late amendments to plug loopholes and the
lack of time to review proposed delegated powers are just some of the factors that hinder the scrutiny process.
Nevertheless, reforms could be undertaken to improve the process.

Reforms to Improve the Emergency Legislation Process

Timetabling

8. Where legislation has been rushed through all stages of each House in a day, questions arise as to why even
in urgent legislative situations the time available for scrutiny could not be extended through the adoption of
a more flexible approach to the timetabling of parliamentary business. For example, the Evidence (Witness
Anonymity) Bill 2008 went through all Commons stages in just six hours of debate in one day in July and
through the Lords in two half-days of debate. Given that the issues under discussion—namely the rights of
the accused to a free trial and the need to protect witnesses from coercion—were of such importance, debate
could have been extended beyond 10pm in the evening or recess could have been delayed by a day had there
been a willingness to be flexible.
1 HC Deb 8 July 2008 vol 478 col 1291.
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9. Debate and divisions on timetabling motions for emergency legislation can cut into the time available for
wider debate of the substantive issues. Given the constraints that already exist there is a case for arguing that
the Government should seek, as a matter of course, to extend the debating time to take account of this.

10. It is commonplace for Ministers to assert that the timing of discussions has been settled by the Usual
Channels, the workings of which are of course shrouded in secrecy. However, the initiative for organising
business in Parliament lies with the Government. The Hansard Society has long argued for the creation of a
Business Committee or Legislation Steering Committee to manage the parliamentary timetable and we
contend that such a Committee, as a more open and transparent mechanism, would provide for improved
management of emergency legislation and allow for greater flexibility in the timetabling of emergency debate
thus improving scrutiny within an albeit limited framework.2

Adoption of Safeguards: Sunset and Renewal Clauses

11. We strongly recommend that wherever possible sunset clauses should be incorporated into emergency
legislation, and particularly in relation to legislation that impacts upon civil liberties.

12. The Anti-Terrorism, Crime and Security Act 2001 provides a model in this area as a number of safeguards
were incorporated into it at a late stage of its passage particularly in response to the decision to derogate in
part from the Human Rights Act 1998. One safeguard was a sunset clause that provided that part of the Act
would cease to operate in November 2006. Part 4 of the Act concerning the controversial detention provisions
was also subject to a separate annual renewal requirement by aYrmative resolution of each House. A third
safeguard was the provision that the entire Act would be subject to review by a committee consisting of no
fewer than seven Privy Councillors who should report to Parliament no later than two years after the Act was
passed.3

13. The sunset clause and renewal provision provided safeguards in a sensitive legislative area. However, they
are not a complete solution as these safeguards have limitations.

14. Firstly, sunset clauses relate to specific clauses in a Bill rather than an entire piece of legislation and we
would urge that all emergency legislation should be subject to some form of post-legislative review.

15. Secondly, in the Anti-Terrorism, Crime and Security Act 2001 case, the Joint Committee on Human
Rights reported on the annual renewal orders in March 2003 and March 2004 and on each occasion pressed
the Government to provide a more persuasive justification that there was a continuing emergency threatening
the life of the nation, justifying a derogation from the European Convention on Human Rights, but to no avail.

16. Thirdly, the Privy Councillor committee was established under the chairmanship of Lord Newton of
Braintree and reported to the Home Secretary in December 2003.4 It recommended that the powers allowing
for the detention of foreign nationals potentially indefinitely should be replaced as a matter of urgency. This
and other proposals from the Committee were rejected by Ministers and the detention provisions were only
overturned after a Law Lords ruling in December 2004. The chief concerns highlighted in this Law Lords
ruling broadly reflected those outlined by the Newton Committee which had been rejected by Ministers.

17. Whilst safeguards are important then, they do have important limitations that need to be addressed.

Automatic Post-legislative Review

18. The nature of emergency legislation is sui generis—and the relative importance of each piece of emergency
legislation can diVer widely, from the implementation of relatively uncontroversial administrative changes to
the broader conferral of powers such as the capacity to nationalise banks and building societies without further
recourse to Parliament (see the Banking (Special Provisions) Act 2008).

19. Accordingly, we suggest that one way to implement eVective post-legislative review, enabling
parliamentarians to concentrate on reviewing only the most important emergency legislation, would be by
establishing a Joint Emergency Legislation Review Committee composed of members of both Houses, whose
responsibility would be to review emergency legislation at an agreed date after Royal Assent, with a remit to
determine whether or not the legislation had suYcient constitutional and policy implications to justify being
referred back to Parliament for further consideration. Given the amount of emergency legislation that passes
through Parliament each year, this would not impose a substantial burden on Members but would improve
the scrutiny function. In the interests of accountability and transparency a reporting requirement could be
2 Hansard Society (2000), The Challenge for Parliament: Making Government Accountable, Report of the Hansard Society

Commission on Parliamentary Scrutiny (Vacher Dod: London), paras 2.45–2.49. See also, Michael Rush & Clare Ettinghausen (2002),
Opening up the Usual Channels (London: Hansard Society); and Hansard Society Briefing Paper (2004), Issues in Law Making No
4: Programming of Legislation (London: Hansard Society).

3 Hansard Society Briefing Paper (2005), Issues in Law Making No 7: Post-Legislative Scrutiny (London: Hansard Society), p.4.
4 Privy Counsellor Review Committee (December 2003), Anti-terrorism, Crime and Security Act 2001 Review: Report, HC 100.
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included in emergency legislation, requiring the Government to report to the Joint Emergency Legislation
Review Committee, setting out its view on issues such as whether the legislation had met the Government’s
aims, whether it had unintended consequences that were not foreseen at the time of its passage through
Parliament and what lessons had been learned.

Renewal Through Non-emergency Primary Legislation and not by Affirmative Resolution

20. We suggest that any renewal process should be carried out through non-emergency primary legislation
rather than through the aYrmative resolution process. The aYrmative resolution procedure does not allow for
amendment, only for adoption or rejection of a resolution in its entirety. In contrast, non-emergency primary
legislation would incorporate the normal processes and procedures of good scrutiny (eg pre-legislative
scrutiny, consultation etc).

21. In the case of recent examples of emergency legislation (for example the Witness Anonymity Bill 2008)
Ministers have made clear that the provisions will be time-limited and will be incorporated into primary
legislation at a later date (the Law Reform, Victims and Witnesses Bill) thus allowing for proper scrutiny.
However, there is always the possibility that such legislation might be delayed or even shelved in the months
that follow, particularly if the relevant minister changes or in the event of a general election. Unless MPs or
Peers are able to exact very specific concessions it is always possible that the timetabling of debate on new
legislation might also result in the relevant clauses and amendments not being debated. A more formal
minimum requirement of post-legislative scrutiny and—where an Emergency Legislative Review Committee
recommended it—the adoption of new primary legislation with pre-legislative scrutiny, would represent a
more eYcacious solution to the proper scrutiny and on-going application of emergency proposals.

Consultation and Access to Expert Advice

22. Given the time constraints that prevail in relation to emergency legislation it is, by definition, generally
not possible to consult in any formal way on the provisions set out in emergency Bills. It is also very diYcult
for parliamentarians to access external expert advice and for interest groups and stakeholders to lobby
parliamentarians on the proposals.

23. However, whilst emergency legislation may proceed quickly through all the approval processes within
Parliament, there can often be a period, albeit short, between the point at which it becomes clear that
legislation will be forthcoming and the point at which the Bill is actually published in Parliament and then
subsequently debated. For example, last year in the case of the Criminal Evidence (Witness Anonymity) Act
2008, the House of Lords judgement that highlighted the problem was issued on 18 June. An oral statement
was subsequently made by the Lord Chancellor on 26 June, first reading took place in the Commons on 4 July
and in the Lords on 8 July, second reading took place in the Commons on 8 July and in the Lords on 10 July
with the legislation granted Royal Assent on 21 July. In the period between 18 June and 8 July, the issue was
widely covered in the media and many key stakeholders—including the Bar Council, Law Society and the
Metropolitan Police—were able to express a view both publicly and privately and their views were widely
quoted in the parliamentary debates on the legislation. Ministers and oYcials also consulted informally behind
the scenes and some of the changes made to the legislation could be said to have emerged as a result of those
discussions.

24. If they were minded to do so it might be possible for a Select Committee to look at the issues involved in
an emergency legislation proposal if time allowed but such consideration would necessarily be time limited
and it would be very diYcult in practical terms to lay down any set principles to govern this process.

25. Looking at current procedures however, the level and form of consultation that is possible in relation to
emergency legislation is clearly not suYcient and is a further reason why such legislation should be subject to
automatic post-legislative scrutiny with renewal through primary legislation if recommended.

Delegated Legislation

26. The delegated legislation process is unsatisfactory in relation to emergency legislation. As we noted in our
recent publication, Law in the Making, “Delegated legislation in relation to non-emergency bills already poses
challenges for proper scrutiny. Many pieces of primary legislation simply provide a framework for particular
policies, leaving secondary legislation to fill in much of the detail. Even with the issuing of more draft delegated
legislation, it is frequently very diYcult for Parliament to assess the full impact of the primary legislation in
question.”5 This situation is magnified in relation to emergency legislation when it is generally not possible
to review the delegated legislation in draft at the time the parental primary legislation is being debated.
5 Alex Brazier, Susanna Kalitowski and Gemma Rosenblatt with Matt Korris (2008), Law in the Making: Influence and Change in the

Legislative Process (Hansard Society: London), p.205.
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27. The drafting of primary legislation clauses often confers very broad Order making powers through
wording such as “in relation to” and “in connection with”, the intention of which may not be fully debated,
and therefore not fully clear, due to the restricted time available for scrutiny. There is therefore a real danger
that wide ranging powers can be hidden and then activated through the aYrmative resolution procedure or
that such powers can be utilised in a way that was not originally intended at the time the legislation was passed
(for example, the way in which the asset freezing powers contained in the Anti-Terrorism, Crime and Security
Act 2001 were used to freeze the assets of the Icelandic bank, Landsbanki in 2008).

28. Although the House of Lords Select Committees on the Merits of Statutory Instruments and on Delegated
Powers and Regulatory Reform provide an important check on delegated legislation the eVectiveness of this
scrutiny function is necessarily constrained by the nature and limitations of the approval process.

29. The Hansard Society hopes to undertake, subject to funding, a substantial 18-month study of delegated
legislation later this year. The issues that arise from delegated legislation linked to parental emergency
legislation will be covered in this study. Accordingly, we will be happy to keep Committee members informed
as to the progress of our research.

February 2009

Examination of Witnesses

Witnesses: Dr Ruth Fox, Director, Parliament and Government Programme, Hansard Society and Sir John

Chilcot, Better Government Initiative, examined.

Q1 Chairman: Dr Fox and Sir John, may I thank
you very much indeed for joining the Committee. We
are being recorded, so would you identify yourselves
for the record, please.
Dr Fox: I am Dr Ruth Fox and I am the Director of
the Parliament and Government Programme at the
Hansard Society.
Sir John Chilcot: I am Sir John Chilcot, a former
senior civil servant, representing the Better
Government Initiative.
Chairman: Before I ask you to make any short
opening statements, Lord Norton wants to make a
brief declaration.
Lord Norton of Louth: I declare an interest as
Director of Studies for the Hansard Society.

Q2 Chairman: Dr Fox, would you like to make a
brief opening statement or not?
Dr Fox: No.

Q3 Chairman: Sir John?
Sir John Chilcot: The Better Government Initiative is
very grateful to the Committee for this opportunity
to give evidence. We are mostly retired senior civil
servants. We are a non-party group and we work with
the three main parties and with others with a
particular interest in the better preparation of
legislation but as part of a wider push to improve, so
far as possible, the process of government more
generally. We do not hark back to a non-existent
golden age—we were there and it was not golden—
but we do draw on our collective experience to oVer
a few suggestions for the future, not on particular
policy issues—we are non-partisan and do not want
to get into that—but on the processes of government.
So far as legislation is concerned, we have outlined
the key principles we advocate in our written
submission, so I will not trouble the Committee by

repeating them. Applying those principles to
emergency legislation is not, we think, especially
diYcult particularly in the case of paving legislation
for foreseeable future emergencies. We have earlier
examples, with which I think we are all familiar: the
famous Defence of the Realm Act, 1914, DoRA; the
Emergency Powers Act, 1920 which I recall being
much in ministers’ minds even as late as the 1970s;
and then the Civil Contingences Act, 2004 though of
course we have not used parts of that yet. I think that
the principles of good legislative preparation can be
met fairly readily by paving legislation of that kind.
In addition, we have looked at the plans, and the legal
powers to support them, which some of our members
are expert in, against the threat of nuclear war and
that also suggests that there is an achievable balance
to be found between secrecy and detailed preparation
and speed of execution, should it be needed, with
proper democratic debate in Parliament to empower
the Executive so to act ahead of things, and
democratic scrutiny after the event. I have to admit
that, in the case of nuclear war, that may be more
technical than real! The second category is evidently
more problematic, which is the case of legislation to
cope with an unforeseen but urgent situation. We
suggest in our written evidence how principles of
good legislation can to some extent be applied even in
such straits: a clear statement of the point of
legislation and its aims; as much information as
possible for Parliament; specification—and we have
attached particular importance to this—of the
secondary legislative implications and process; and
crucially post-legislative scrutiny, reporting, review
and renewal arrangements, looking there as an
example of course to the review of counter-terrorism
legislation which seems to us a very satisfactory kind
of process. We judge that the unforeseen and the
unforeseeable are not quite the same but they
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produce the same result in the case of a need to
legislate. Can we define emergency, which was one of
the questions it was suggested we might put our
minds to, and the answer is that we think we cannot.
A case in point. You are negotiating with people who
may be neither trusting nor friendly. Until a deal is
done, perhaps in the small hours and perhaps
requiring very urgent legislative cover, for example
for indemnification or amnesty, we judge that the
issue is one essentially of parliamentary judgment
and decision rather than of some prior process which
has to be gone through before the deal can be struck
and the legislation enacted. Parliamentary
endorsement after the event is clearly crucial, as is
political endorsement, but is this an emergency? A
real question for us. We took the case, which is clearly
drawn from Northern Ireland, where part of the
negotiating balance in such a fraught situation is
either side’s judgment and assessment of the other
party’s ability to deliver the deal. The other party’s,
in this case the United Kingdom Government, ability
to take legislation through Parliament is a key factor.
The tougher the parliamentary process is, and the
obstacles that may present, the more diYcult to strike
the deal but the higher the value within the
negotiation of attempting to do so and promising to
do so. There is another case which I had to deal with a
long time ago now which was the 1980 Imprisonment
Temporary Provisions Act. This was a case of
essential gaol delivery because of a prison oYcers’
strike, but it was also extremely important in
asserting the determination of the Government to
hold their position and see things through as part of
the negotiation that was taking place. Is that
justification in fast-tracking for urgent action? Not
by itself, but it has a very relevant context and quite
hard, I think, to apply high principles to. I take a case
from our neighbouring jurisdiction in Ireland. The
necessary withdrawal in the Irish case of the assertion
in Articles 2 and 3 of the then Irish Constitution to
jurisdiction over the whole of the island of Ireland
could only be done by amendment of the Irish
Constitution by referendum. That placed both a high
value on the Irish Government agreeing to try, but
also made it very sticky to get them to the point of
agreeing to try. Again, that was not particularly
urgent, but it took place within a context of urgency
in other respects in terms of the negotiation. I think
myself that eventually it all comes down to a
parliamentary judgment of proportionality and
necessity. I would like to add one very brief rider—I
am afraid it is history—but much so-called
emergency legislation in recent times has related to
Northern Ireland and my own first exposure to this
was 40 years ago when Jim Callaghan, who was then
Home Secretary, commissioned contingency plans,
including draft legislation, against the emerging crisis
in Ulster, and First Parliamentary Counsel produced

not only draft provisions—this was in 1969—but an
invaluable guide, one that is well known I think, The
Passage of Bills with Unusual Expedition. It was a
handbook but also an analysis of how the processes
of parliamentary scrutiny and endorsement could be
carried through at great speed. It was not needed for
four years but, when we came in 1973 to the Northern
Ireland Emergency Provisions Bill of that year, that
preparation of process, as well as the preparation of
content, proved to be very important. Thank you.

Q4 Chairman: Thank you very much indeed, Sir
John. Dr Fox, would you like to amplify what Sir
John said about the circumstances in which you think
it is justifiable for the Government to seek to fast-
track legislation through Parliament.
Dr Fox: We share with Sir John and the Better
Government Initiative the view that it is very, very
diYcult—he described it as sticky—to define
emergency legislation and our focus has therefore
been very much on the scrutiny process and
procedural end of that. There are, as Sir John has
alluded to, in a sense two levels: there is the higher
end of emergency legislation, if you like, covered by
the contingencies legislation, and then there is the
second element which I actually think is probably
better described as “urgent” rather than “emergency”
legislation and there are issues around that. In terms
of circumstances, for example last year we saw the
Witness Anonymity Bill. Most people accepted at the
time that, given the court judgment in that case, there
were reasonable grounds for legislating to resolve the
particular problem that emerged in law. The question
for us at the Hansard Society is not so much whether
the grounds were appropriate but rather whether the
accelerated fast-track that was undertaken needed to
be as fast as it was. Our concern is that, in a number
of cases, the nature of the fast-track is something that
could be looked at in terms of greater flexibility.
There will of course be some instances where very,
very urgent matters have to be dealt with quickly. For
example if there is a case of an administrative or a
judicial situation that arises where one needs a
response by a certain date, then that would require
very urgent passage. However, in a number of the
cases where we look at emergency legislation, that
which is classed as emergency legislation, it is fast-
tracked through, the parliamentary timetable is
upended and our argument would be that whilst there
may be a case and it is in a sense for the Executive to
determine the case and justify the case as to why they
are putting that legislation through, we would argue
that nonetheless in many instances the accelerated
nature of the fast-track is beyond what in most
instances is required. I will give you one very, very
obvious example that we will all recall which goes
back some years now and that is the Dangerous Dogs
legislation. That is exhibit A in the list of acts which
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exemplify the problem that in a sense the Committee
is looking at. Our argument would be that whilst it
may have been appropriate for the Government in
the circumstances with the dangerous dogs situation
where you had a number of very diYcult cases in the
public domain and a number of fatalities, to desire to
legislate and to prevent, for example, the importation
of dangerous dogs from Japan and related issues—
and one can also understand why they wanted to
legislate for the summer—our question would be,
why was it necessary to push it through in the very,
very tight timetable that they did? I do not think that
anybody seriously thought that there was a prospect
of dangerous dog savagery in the case of a 24/36 hour
period. Clearly, from their perspective, the
Government wanted to avoid a situation where there
may have been another fatality because it is easy,
given what has happened with that legislation and the
criticism of it, to forget the media furore that existed
at the time. A huge amount of opprobrium would
have fallen on the heads of Government Ministers
had there been another attack and I think that one
has to accept and realise that, so I can understand the
desire to legislate but it is the speed at which
legislation takes place that is the real concern.

Q5 Lord Peston: In the final analysis, it is up to each
House of Parliament to make up its mind whether it
wants to speed up a bill in any way. The two Houses
are not the same because one must typically assume
that the Government have the majority, though not
always, whereas it certainly does not and probably
never will now have a majority in the House of Lords.
Could you enlighten us as to whether (a) there are
constitutional principles that apply in your case and
(b)—and I am never clear how conventions diVer
from principles—whether there are also
constitutional conventions underlying these classes
of cases.
Sir John Chilcot: I do not think that the Better
Government Initiative is particularly well placed to
answer the question. I think that the high principles
are fairly easy to list: proportionality, necessity and
urgency. The categories are fairly easy as well: threat
to the life of the nation or to a particular region, to
national security and defence, and now I think we
would have to include economic well being in this. We
have looked at it, talked about it among ourselves at
the Better Government Initiative, and really it does
seem to be a matter for each House of Parliament
separately with its separate considerations and
history. It is political judgment, ultimately.
Dr Fox: We would share that view. The obligation on
all parliamentarians in both Houses is that they,
regardless of party aYliation, do have an obligation
to ensure proper and eVective scrutiny of legislation.
That goes to the judgment that has to be made, the
political judgment by each member, as to whether the

legislation is justified in the circumstances and
whether the timetable is appropriate. I think the
reality in practical terms is that realistically the
Executive, providing it has the votes to bring forward
the legislation, can do so. At the moment, there are no
formal constraints or processes and procedures that
are eVective in constraining that. So, in constitutional
terms, I do not think that there is an over-arching
principle or convention that one can discern,
particularly if you look at the list of legislation that
one has for emergency legislation. It is in a sense very
much a ragbag of issues and matters, so it is very
diYcult to discern any thematic or over-arching
principles that apply to it.

Q6 Lord Rowlands: Could we not apply a test of
immediacy? In other words, unless we do this in the
next 24 hours, there is going to be chaos in the
markets or a situation will arise where people will be
sent to gaol or whatever the case may be. If one
applied that, looking through some of the bills that
have been fast-tracked in the past, they do not really
qualify under that category. Do you think that the
word “immediacy” could be used as the test?
Sir John Chilcot: I have a slight diYculty with that. I
agree very much in principle that urgency/immediacy
is a very high requirement to be placed on any
attempt to fast-track legislation, but consider the
case—and I have to come back to Northern
Ireland—of a negotiation that has taken place
through 24 hours, things have got to that hot point
where it may just be possible to shake hands on the
deal or it may go cold or indeed the leaders of one of
the parties may have to go away and find that they
cannot deliver. To strike the deal in the heat of the
moment may require immediate legislative authority:
you cannot say that if you left it for 48 hours the
situation would be changed because the events that
the legislation will touch on will lie much further
ahead, but the real-life human situation may
nonetheless make it immediate.

Q7 Lord Rowlands: I can see how that case could be
made, but we attach to the list of questions a list of
bills that have been fast-tracked. The Caravan
(Standard Community Charge and Rating) Bill of
1990. Do we actually believe that, if that had not been
fast-tracked, the whole caravan market would have
collapsed or people would have been summonsed
unnecessarily? A bill like that does not strike one as
qualifying under any of these tests.
Dr Fox: I think that goes to how one considers
emergency legislation, which is why in a sense I would
not seek to describe the bulk of these acts as
emergency legislation but more as urgent matters and
then there are diVering levels of urgency. There are
those that could be classed as immediate, as Sir John
has suggested. There is another class where one could
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argue as for example with the Banking (Special
Provisions) Act earlier last year where, on the face of
it, ostensibly it was not necessary for the
nationalisation of Northern Rock to happen in a day
but, in light of what we subsequently learned in the
progress of the Banking Bill, we know that there were
other issues about which the Government were
concerned and one can understand in terms of the
wider economic situation perhaps it was thought
appropriate and necessary within government to
push that through more quickly than might otherwise
have been necessary. I go back to the issue of the fast-
track and the nature of the accelerated programme is
important. It seems to me that the Executive has the
right and the ability in practical terms to bring
forward legislation that it proposes, to accelerate on
whatever justification it gives, and I think that, if you
look back at some of these debates, the reality is that
ministers sometimes almost acknowledge that it is
not urgent and that there is no immediacy at stake
and they are responding in some instances to public
opinion and pressure. It seems to me that the key is
that, that having been said, they can bring that
legislation forward and they can fast-track it, but you
then come back to the question of how fast the track
is and I think that it is that that is more the key issue
than immediacy and, in terms of immediacy, you
would have to have somebody or some procedural
mechanism to determine whether it is immediate.
There is an example in New Zealand where they have
a system to deal with this where they have what are
called urgency motions. I should say in the context of
this that the Hansard Society has only had a limited
time to look at that, but the New Zealand situation
seemed to us to be the most useful given the issues at
which the Committee are looking. It has urgency
motions and the Government can bring whatever
motions they want, but they have to justify their
case—

Q8 Lord Rowlands: This is a pre-legislative process;
it is before any bill is introduced.
Dr Fox: They introduce the Bill, bring it to
Parliament and they have to justify why they consider
it grounds for urgency and the Speaker decides
whether it meets the test.

Q9 Lord Peston: I want to clarify this. You are not
saying in a democracy that even if there is no
objective need for quick action, if the public demands
it, the Government should be prevented from
responding to public desires, are you? I, as a member
of the Lords, am not a great believer in democracy in
an extreme sense. I think that often the Government
should tell the public that they are wrong, but that is
another matter. If the public demands something, it
cannot be wrong in our democracy for the
Government to respond to that, can it?

Dr Fox: No, no, that is not what I am saying. I am
saying that that is a reason why they are putting it
forward and one would question whether public
opinion and media pressure—and public opinion is a
fickle thing—would meet grounds for immediacy.

Q10 Lord Lyell of Markyate: My question is really,
does this all matter very much? There were something
like 32 Emergency Bills in the 18 years that the
Conservatives were in power and 12 under the
present Government in the 12 years. I think that the
caravans one went pretty well through on the nod.
Nobody really wanted to say anything diVerent. Yes,
it was in a way slammed through but, as it went on the
nod, it really did not matter one way or the other. I
think that there are some very big questions about the
way we conduct our legislation where the Better
Government Initiative is being broken in almost
every single bill, but I really wonder whether we are
straining at a gnat in some areas here.
Sir John Chilcot: I have to say I agree. Looking at
Lord Rowlands’s example of the Caravan (Standard
Community Charge and Rating) provisions, that
does seem to me from recollection, though I was not
involved, clearly a case where a pledge of the public
faith was suYcient to hold the situation until timely
legislative rectification could take place in due order,
but not at speed. There was no need. I got out of the
Home OYce just in time to avoid the dangerous dogs
legislation, but there again there was a need for public
reassurance. Is the need for public reassurance only
to be met by legislation of an ill-thought through and
unprepared kind? The BGI would say “no”. There
are other political techniques and methods available.
Lord Lyell of Markyate: Funnily enough, the
dangerous dogs legislation had scorn poured on all.
We all remember this and I remember that GeoVrey
Howe came out against it and against Ken Baker in
a sense, but it was extraordinarily successful and the
problem of pit-bull terriers went away and it had been
fussing people very much indeed. Funnily enough, I
think that is rather a good example, although it had
scorn heaped on it at the time.

Q11 Lord Morris of Aberavon: What I gather from
your evidence, Dr Fox, is that you are not opposed in
principle to what I would call fast-tracking, it is the
speed and the degree of acceleration, whether there
should be a particular milestone to say that you can
go down this avenue or you cannot. I also noted you
saying that it is diYcult to define emergency
legislation. Surely, it would be more correct to say
that what is diYcult to define is an emergency.
Emergency legislation is what politicians call it; they
put a label on it. I think that the choice of words
perhaps would be better in finding it diYcult to define
than emergency. Do you agree?
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Dr Fox: Yes, I would accept that point. That is a fair
point. The speed at which each one of the various acts
that are in the list was taken through was diVerent, so
it would go to the question of whether or not how it
defines emergency in most instances is self-defining.

Q12 Lord Woolf: I am very interested in your
example from New Zealand. If you are right that it is
diYcult to find an objective standard which is
satisfactory as to what is or is not an appropriate case
for an emergency approach to legislation, then it
seems to me that it is going to be extraordinarily
diYcult to police the situation. You can say to
ministers that they should exercise self-restraint but,
unless you have some objective standard to apply and
probably somebody to apply it, it is very diYcult to
do. Have they found that the New Zealand example
works because I wondered whether in fact if the
Government of the day want to do it, it just amounts
to a rubber stamp?
Dr Fox: I do not think that I could in confidence give
you a substantive view on that because it is not the
Hansard Society’s area of speciality and we have not
spent a great deal of time on it. We would need to go
away and look at it again and come back to you.
From what we do know of it, there have been
instances where Government does bring urgency
motions to Parliament and some of them are rejected.
There is a danger of course that the system can be
abused. In addition to bringing the urgency motions
and having the Speaker make a judgment, there are
other procedural elements as well which go to some
of the procedural points that we have made in our
written evidence that we think are important. If one
is to address the issues as to whether or not they are
important, it is very much about concentrating on the
procedural elements rather than the definitions. For
example, a condition of an urgency motion in New
Zealand is that if one is deemed to be urgent and
carries on, then the Executive has to be eminently
flexible about the timetabling as well as what is
necessary to get that through. That is not the case
here and it is why, in terms of the five steps that I have
outlined in the written submission, we think that it is
the procedural elements that are important. Lord
Lyell asked earlier whether it mattered. One can
argue about whether the dangerous dogs legislation
was eVective in the sense that the dangerous dogs
issue subsided in the public consciousness, but does it
matter? I would argue that, yes, it does because, out
of that legislation, out of some of the problems with
poor drafting and poor policy and so on, you ended
up with a good number of legal cases and so on and so
forth. That could have been avoided had it been dealt
with procedurally diVerently, had the fast-track not
been as fast and had it been better looked at over a
period of time. I think that issues such as whether it
matters and procedure are intrinsically linked.

Q13 Lord Rowlands: In further response to Lord
Lyell even on the question of Counter-Terrorism Bill,
I stand for the contrary backbencher and the quality
of parliamentary scrutiny also depends on the
contrary backbencher who, despite the consensus
that there might have been about a bill, still wants to
kick the traces and check it out. Surely that is the
answer to Lord Lyell’s point and you still must get
that right.
Dr Fox: The Hansard Society’s position, and has
been for many, many years going right back to the
original 1992 Commission chaired by Lord Rippon,
is that scrutiny is an essential part of the
parliamentary process and has to be got right and the
bar has to be raised.

Q14 Lord Pannick: I agree with the thesis that I
think both of you are propounding the inevitability
of political pragmatism in deciding what is urgent or
what is an emergency makes it all the more important
that there are proper procedures to ensure that the
legislation is adequately debated and the Hansard
Society has very helpfully given some suggestions as
to what may assist and may I press you on two of
them, Dr Fox. First, you suggest that there should be
an Emergency Legislation Review Committee after
the legislation has been enacted which would review
whether institutionally this was necessary. I wonder
whether such a committee could perform any useful
function without the benefit of perspective. As I
understand it, you are suggesting that this should be
done in the period leading up to the end of the sunset
clause which may only be less than a year. Does it
really have the perspective to do that? That is my first
question. My other question is, you suggest that any
renewal process that is after the sunset clause should
be carried out through non-emergency primary
legislation, not through aYrmative resolution
procedure. Is that always necessary? It does seem to
me to be a massive use of limited parliamentary time
if one always has to go through primary legislation
rather than through aYrmative resolution
procedures.
Dr Fox: What we are suggesting about the
Emergency Legislation Review Committee is that if
an act has gone through in a very limited timescale
and has not been properly scrutinised, then the
renewal of it in totality. . . Every emergency
legislation act should be subject, in our view, to post-
legislative scrutiny. Each bill would go to the
Emergency Legislative Review Committee and they
would determine, in the light of the issues and debate
that had taken place in the House and issues that had
arisen—and I take your point about how you would
time that—whether, for example, a piece of
legislation that was administrative in nature and did
not raise any significant issues and could carry on, or
actually whether there were issues in that legislation
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which made it necessary to take it through new
primary legislation. That was our concern and the
Committee in both Houses could make a procedural
judgment about what was most appropriate and it
would have to obviously be carefully drafted around
the timetable and so on.

Q15 Lord Shaw of Northstead: Arising out of that,
surely it adds to the consideration as to whether
emergency legislation should be used in the first place
because I would imagine that a number of civil
servants responsible for all these things would be very
reluctant to see emergency legislation having to be
reviewed in a primary way at a later date which would
upset future programmes. The congestion of
programmes in the future is very severe and human
nature is such that it might mean that even more
consideration as to whether it is really emergency
legislation or not might be given.
Sir John Chilcot: I very much sympathise with that. I
think that there are some principles which could be
identified here in terms of the process for renewal.
One would be if there is a marked degree of
retrospective eVect in a piece of fast-track legislation.
That, it seems to me, does require some kind of
endorsement, whether aYrmative resolution or
primary depends on the quality of that. Any Henry
VIII provision should clearly go back to primary
legislation, so it would seem to me. On the other
hand, in the balance, as Lord Pannick said, is the
economy of eVort required. I cannot say from
recollection that the nature of a renewal process has
ever been, as it were, a major component of the advice
oVered to ministers whether to legislate by fast-track
or not. If you take, which I am most experienced in,
counter-terrorist legislation, there I think not merely
the inevitability but the desirability viewed from the
Executive of having full-on endorsement after the
event speaks for itself. On the other side—and I think
I would confess, not to a sin but to a temptation—if
you have an emergency measure going through very
fast and you have one or two things from the back
pocket which you would quite like to tack on—it
would be terribly convenient and tidy and neat—the
temptation is nearly irresistible to advise ministers to
try it on. That should not get through and in any
post-review should be identified and picked out and
dealt with properly.

Q16 Lord Morris of Aberavon: The much maligned
concept of hindsight has its strengths and
weaknesses. Looking back, are there many bills
which have been fast-tracked in recent memory? Did
they deserve an accelerated passage, with hindsight?
Dr Fox: My view would be the dangerous dogs, which
is one about which we have spoken and I will not go
back over that and retread old ground, but I think
that that could have been introduced on top of the

existing legislative programme. I question whether
the fast-track and the accelerated nature of it was
necessary. Another one was the Human
Reproductive Cloning Bill in 2001 where issues arose
there in relation to a decision that had been taken in
the High Court which suggested that human cloning
after all was not covered by the embryology and
fertilisation legislation. Again, whilst it may be
deemed necessary to legislate to resolve the anomaly
and indeed the Government had been talking about
legislating on it for two years and had included it in
their Election Manifesto a few months earlier, the
question of whether it was necessary to legislate on
the very, very narrow timetable that it did I think is
highly questionable given the moral issues that it
involved and, at the time, part of the explanation for
doing so was that an Italian scientist had indicated
that they would come to Britain to exploit the
loophole. That may well have been true, but I do not
think that anybody seriously thought that any
scientist was going to be able to travel to this country,
set up a cloning operation and come up with a human
clone in a matter of weeks if not months. I think that
the degree to which that was pushed through, and
whether that should have been put through as
emergency legislation, is seriously in question.

Q17 Lord Morris of Aberavon: I am grateful for that
analysis, but may I press you further, not by way of
cross-examination but rather by the need for
elucidation. Has any comprehensive analysis ever
been done on perhaps the use of urgent fast-tracking
when it need not have been done? Has it ever been
looked at in the round?
Dr Fox: My sense would be no. I think there is a bit of
a dispute about how much emergency legislation has
actually gone through. The Committee referred to 34
pieces of legislation. In the very short timescale that
the Hansard Society has had to look at this since
being approached to give evidence two-and-a-half
weeks ago now, we have come up with 42 since 1981.
In the other House during the debate on the Banking
Bill, there was reference to there having been 60
instances when legislation had been taken through in
a day since the 1979/80 session. My sense is that the
number of diVerent figures that attach to how much
emergency legislation there is is indicative of the fact
that there has not been a comprehensive study of this,
and indeed the Hansard Society has not undertaken
a comprehensive study of this. Our work is very much
taken out of our existing work on normal non-
emergency legislation and the lessons that are derived
from that.

Q18 Lord Morris of Aberavon: Turning from the
general to the particular—and both of you have had
notice of this—the Criminal Justice (Terrorism and
Conspiracy Bill) more than 10 years ago after the
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Omagh disaster/tragedy. I was involved as Attorney
in England and Wales and Attorney in Northern
Ireland. In the event, has that been justified? Some of
us thought at the time that some of the clauses would
never be and could not be operative on their own.
Have you any views about that particular bill?
Sir John Chilcot: I do although I was just about on the
point of leaving when the preparation began.
Truthfully, I think it was a bill that was a response to
public outrage. Some of the provisions in it had been
on the stocks for quite a long time, like the oVence of
directing terrorism. It is true that there had been, and
I think probably continues to be, real debate about
how useable some of these provisions are. So, I am
very much of the same mind as Lord Morris that this
was a sudden crisis of public outrage on to which
were, if you like, tacked certain propositions which
had been iVy but, in that climate, were carried into
legislation very quickly and frankly without the kind
of justification which proper primary legislation
would have required. I think that one is a real case.

Q19 Lord Morris of Aberavon: There was a feeling at
the time and I gather repeating the expression used in
1936 that “something had to be done” and this had
to be done in September and this is an example of the
tacking on of things. Earlier there was mention of
hearsay evidence from I think a chief superintendent
as to whether or not you belong to a particular
doubtful organisation. Unworkable I was told at the
time and unworkable in the event.
Sir John Chilcot: I think the short answer is “yes”.

Q20 Lord Rodgers of Quarry Bank: We got on to the
dangerous dogs and I have learnt from Lord Lyell
that it was a great success which I had not previously
understood. If we look at the other bits of legislation,
if the dangerous dogs was seen to be a great success,
some of the others must have been a failure. You had
a long professional career in the Home OYce.
Looking back without any embarrassment in any
way to bits of legislation which have gone wrong and
turning back to this very interesting paper which
distils the wisdom of all the Permanent Secretaries
under the Better Government Initiative set out the
right way the legislation should be done, could you
perhaps put together the thought we have had
already as to what is the wrong way? What is the
overall lesson? If I may just add as a supplementary
point going back to dogs, we talked a about public
response. But all legislation and all initiatives taken
from government are designed for the public at the
end of the day. Ministers are usually pretty restless by
nature—otherwise they would not be ministers—and
they like to do things and all Prime Ministers since
Baldwin have been very restless indeed. Do you have
a feel that a degree of the emergency legislation has
really come from the civil servants asking for

something that should be done and ministers have
said, “We don’t really want this” or “I don’t like this”
and are then persuaded to go ahead?
Sir John Chilcot: I cannot recall a case in that
category at all. Trying to distil the collective memory,
which is increasingly defective I am afraid with the
passing of years, it is that paving emergency
legislation—and I am thinking particularly here of
the Civil Contingences Act of 2004—but also pre-
cursor legislative and preparatory work on civil
emergencies tends to come from within the oYcial
machine and it is rare and precious when there is a
parliamentary opportunity to enact it. So, that way
round it works. On the other side and picking up a
recollection from someone whom I know we both
admire, Lord Jenkins of Hillhead, who is sadly no
longer with us, he said that the best headline he ever
had—and I think this was during the seamen’s strike
of 1967—was simply, “Jenkins acts”. It did not say
what he had done or why or to what eVect, but that
he had acted. That in his judgment—and he was not
entirely flippant—was part of the purpose of things
politically. Do civil servants have to be restrained
from pushing ministers into precipitative action? Not
in my experience. Life is too full and there is too much
else to do in a day than that. Is it the other way round?
Do civil servants have to restrain ministers from too
many short-term adventures? Rarely, actually,
truthfully. I think that the cautious instinct of the
oYcial machine is quite easily aroused but I cannot
think that it was in my time aroused as often as once
a year in any department. That is the best I can do.

Q21 Lord Rodgers of Quarry Bank: We have talked
around these questions but referring specifically to
Northern Ireland, we have been reminded of the large
proportion of the fast-tracked legislation that we
have had. You may answer this “no”, but I will ask
the question: was some fast-tracked legislation
unnecessary or turned out to be a failure?
Sir John Chilcot: I would like to return—and I will not
take too long about it—to what I said in my opening
remarks. There is often, apart from an imposed
urgency by reason of the negotiating timetable or
perhaps prospective events such as elections, a
negotiating context of the signals you give to the
other side outside the negotiating room by your
firmness of intent or boldness in action etc. My own
sense of the successive Northern Ireland Acts,
particularly since I left ten years ago, is that the bar
has progressively been lowered. It has been seen to be
really increasingly easy by other political parties in
Northern Ireland and by other governments—“Oh,
the UK Government will get some legislation
through in a hurry. If we need another eight weeks, we
can have it and there is no problem about that”. That
seems to me a weakening of what should be good and
strong process control over emergency legislation. It
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should not be that easy to agree in the course of a taut
negotiation, “Oh, it is all right, we will change it and
make it all right by Thursday”. That is my general
feeling about it.

Q22 Lord Pannick: May I ask you a question on
process? Would it help—and I am particularly
interested in Sir John’s experience—or would it just
be a meaningless gesture to impose on ministers a
statutory obligation similar to what one sees in the
Human Rights Act 1998 to certify—they are bringing
forward a bill and they are going to ask Parliament to
look at it urgently—that the Bill and all the clauses in
it are urgent and briefly to explain why?
Sir John Chilcot: Again, my short answer is “yes, very
much” and I draw on an example from a related field.
There is a committee of the Privy Council looking at
intercept evidence where we have followed a similar
path in examining the use of ministerial certificates to
justify certain permissions, validation or whatever,
and to place a statutory duty on the Secretary of State
in this instance. I think that there is this virtue; it
requires the oYcial machine then to advise the
minister concerned to go through a process and to be
able to justify it in public and in Parliament. It brings
into play that kind of seriousness of consideration,
even if it is being done at very great speed.

Q23 Chairman: What sanction would you envisage
if such certification proves to be challenged and to
be invalid?
Sir John Chilcot: I can only say an adverse or hostile
political judgment by colleagues or by Parliament
more generally. I do not think there can be anything
else.

Q24 Lord Woolf: I was particularly interested that
what Lord Pannick said to you was not only for
legislation as a whole but everything in it. Would you
include in that additions to it? I am really anticipating
something I am going to come to later, but the idea of
using a vehicle which has an emergency steam behind
it to pop in other things which, as you said, even you
with all your probity sometimes did try and do, is a
real problem because you are using up precious time
available
Sir John Chilcot: I agree. I think to certify that any
significant addition by way of new clauses and
amendments to an emergency bill, where the
emergency process has been certified as necessary and
urgent, if those additions are not themselves also
certifiable, then they should be and, if they are not,
they should not be brought in and they should not be
tacked on. I think it follows from the proposition that
the certification procedure should follow throughout
the process.

Q25 Lord Woolf: Our Lord Chairman has great
experience, much more experience than I, but the
actual need for certification requires action to be
taken which would perhaps not otherwise have gone
through a thought process.
Sir John Chilcot: Apart from anything else, it is an
oYcial’s duty to protect his or her minister. They
would say, “Oh, Minister, you are going to have to
sign a certificate about this one. You had better be
very clear that you can defend and justify it and here
are the reasons why you might or might not”, which
otherwise is not a process that would go through in
that way inside government.
Dr Fox: I would like to add a point to that. We share
the view that certification would be useful. We would
also put in a further reporting requirement in terms of
process and procedure in terms of the Emergency
Legislation Joint Committee that we propose, which
is that it would also require ministers to report back
to that committee as to how the purposes of the
legislation being set out, the urgency of it and so on,
had been met. So, that would also add an extra layer
of accountability and transparency and one could
argue that this process could act as a useful deterrent
from unnecessary legislation.

Q26 Lord Lyell of Markyate: Moving on to the next
question, we have talked about the 34 bills in the last
20 years and I quite agree with Dr Fox, who has done
it since 1981 and makes it 42 and I have done it since
1979 and make it 44. So, there have been a number
and the question here is whether that is acceptable. If
I may tack on to it something I have indicated before.
I do not want to be thought a cynic on these matters
but I do not have a huge amount of faith in
certification about compliance with the European
Convention on Human Rights which I think has
often been given in circumstances which have been
overturned almost on two questions in the course of
an early course of a bill. However, there is a very real
problem. We have talked about pre-legislative
scrutiny and there is a great deal to be said for it. We
have talked about post-legislative scrutiny which is
beginning to happen. My worry is about legislative
scrutiny and my worry is about the persistent fact
that Parliamentary Counsel only get clear
instructions from departments all too often at a very
late stage and that is why I am a little concerned. I am
glad that we are looking at emergency legislation and
it might have good eVects, as the Better Government
Initiative quite rightly wants, on the whole legislative
process. I have one more point and that is
timetabling. We have seen in the timetabling that has
grown up in the last 12 years large parts of major bills
coming to the House of Lords not even debated on
Report. Could you put the whole thing into context
and make comment on my questions.
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Sir John Chilcot: We have had some discussion in the
Better Government Initiative about the balance
between primary and secondary legislation and,
rather against the wish and feeling of all of us
probably, we had come to the conclusion that the
volume of legislation which the Government require
to be passed in any given session is now such and so
large that there has to be some kind of restriction on
not its coverage but its detail. So, slightly reluctantly,
we have proposed that primary legislation should so
far as possible be confined to matters of broad
principle strategy and whatever and as much as
possible left to secondary legislation, but then with
the obvious recognition of the risk of loss of scrutiny
and therefore the need for a much tighter and more
exacting processes for scrutinising secondary
legislation. It is a sacrificial proposal, but it is the one
which we have come to as one answer to this. I would
like to pick up two more points.

Q27 Chairman: May I interrupt you at this point. If
there is not enough time adequately to scrutinise the
primary legislation, where do you suggest we find the
time adequately to scrutinise the secondary
legislation?
Sir John Chilcot: I think in four syllables, in
committees, but not Bill Committees for the primary
bill process. It is as simple as that.

Q28 Lord Morris of Aberavon: There is no
machinery in committee for dealing with secondary
legislation, is there?
Sir John Chilcot: I defer to the Hansard Society on
this because we have not made proposals in detail for
how you could enlarge and improve the processes for
scrutiny and indeed amendment of secondary
legislation, particularly the aYrmative resolution
procedure, SIs, but the more you can put it to that, if
you can devise a scrutiny process which spares the
Chamber particularly but also the Bill Committees
for primary legislation from an excessive load of
work without losing all prospect of proper scrutiny,
then you may have achieved a better balance.

Q29 Lord Morris of Aberavon: That would be new
machinery.
Sir John Chilcot: I think it would have to be in sub-
committees.

Q30 Lord Morris of Aberavon: There is no existing
machinery.
Sir John Chilcot: I have a conscience about this. The
procedure for dealing with negative resolution
instruments is frankly empty of eVect, is it not? The
aYrmative resolution procedure is diVerent but of
course has its demands on the time of Parliament as
well, so it does not solve the problem. If you can find
a way, a place and a process whereby secondary

legislation can be subject to decent scrutiny, perhaps
in Westminster Hall—I just do not know, I do not
have a proposal—it would at least serve to reduce the
burden on primary legislation and these absurd
situations when, for a major new amendment, new
clauses are introduced at Report in the Lords as was
exemplified in one case. I do not know that I can add
to that; Dr Fox perhaps can.
Dr Fox: I am not sure that I can enlighten the
Committee to any great further degree on delegated
legislation beyond to say at this stage that
consistently the Hansard Society in research has
highlighted this as a major and significant issue to
which there is no ready and obvious solution at
present. There are some changes that could take
place, but I would not want to pre-empt them for this
reason. We have just submitted a very substantial
funding request to undertake a major study of
delegated legislation, so I would not want to go too
far down the route of precipitating what the findings
of that may be. As to the wider question, the
relationship between emergency legislation and other
legislation, I think they throw up many of the same
scrutiny issues, which is the point that we were
making in our evidence and that we draw on. We are
very conscious at the Hansard Society when we look
at these things and make recommendations that there
is always a risk that we are adding to the burden of
the parliamentary timetable. We are very conscious
of that and try to be careful about that and therefore
hope to provide practical solutions to some of the
problems. I appreciate that timetabling is a serious
issue and it is actually one of the reasons why we
think and have long advocated that a business
committee or a steering committee to address some of
these timetabling issues in a better and more
transparent way, to manage the process better, would
be more useful.

Q31 Lord Peston: I must say, Sir John, that I am
really alarmed by what you have said. Is it not
possible at least to argue exactly the reverse? If the
Government cannot get their primary legislation
right and they cannot find time in either House to
scrutinise it properly, they certainly should not
proceed with their primary legislation. When I was a
student at LSE, I was warned about the dangers of
secondary legislation, which has become infinitely
worse than I was ever taught as a student. The idea
that we might go down the road more so with
legislation seems to me to be exactly the reverse of
what Parliament and democracy requires and I am
really a little taken aback. If you take the last
constitutional outrage which was the Banking Act
2009 with the retrospective provisions which this
Committee worked very hard to get sorted out and
the Government rebuVed us. The fact that it has all
those extra provisions plus the retrospective nature in



Processed: 07-07-2009 20:20:40 Page Layout: LOENEW [O] PPSysB Job: 427327 Unit: PAG2

17emergency legislation, constitution committee: evidence

25 February 2009 Dr Ruth Fox and Sir John Chilcot

it does not make that bill right because that still leaves
a bill that should not be acceptable in a decent
constitution.
Sir John Chilcot: In partial agreement but partial
defence, may I tie together two things that have come
up in the course of this session. One is certification
and the kind of formality of process that induces
within government in the preparation of a bill. One of
the formalities that it engages is that it ensures that
the legal advisers to the department concerned are
much more intimately engaged in the process of
preparing instructions for Parliamentary Counsel.
They are anyway but, in this case, they have an
advisory duty as well as a preparatory duty which is
engaged by the certification process. That is simply
one example of the better preparation of primary
legislation within government. I suggest that it does
not resolve the volume question because the volume
is going to happen, probably. What it can do is avoid
some of the rocks and reefs and diYculties which
have been encountered so markedly in recent years.
On the secondary legislation point, if the primary
legislation is capable first of all of making clear the
kind of criteria and limits within which secondary
legislation can take place—and I think the example
of the Banking Bill, now the Banking Act 2009, does
not do that; it leaves open very indeterminately what
powers may be exercised under secondary powers—
if you can get that right, then at least you have some
protection. The other issue is of course the scrutiny
one and the notorious lack of adequate scrutiny of
secondary legislation. All the BGI can come up with
is that we would rather get the broad principles and
the framework of primary legislation done better, but
we accept that there is a cost and the only way in
which we can think of meeting the cost is to find some
better alternative scrutiny process for the secondary
legislation which results. Our third defence is that the
primary legislation should set very clear limits and
criteria around the secondary legislation before it
even comes into play.

Q32 Lord Rowlands: If you move a lot of stuV out of
primary legislation into secondary legislation and
then you have a procedure which makes it
amendable, will you not just be sooner or later
replicating the first problem?
Sir John Chilcot: Unless it proved possible to ensure
that the primary legislation dealt with principles and
dealt with the limits within which secondary
legislation could be enacted and amended. In other
words, you could not grandfather it and you could
not amend the primary legislation in a reverse
process, but what you would be doing is transferring
a block of work which is not done, or not done well
now, from the primary parliamentary process into a
subordinate parliamentary process. What you
cannot do—and we would be the last people to argue

for—is to transfer part of the parliamentary process,
however deficient, into nothing by way of process.
Quite the reverse.
Lord Rowlands: You underestimate the ingenuity of
backbenchers when it comes to amending and
amendments. I think there would be the danger that
you would end up replicating the same process.

Q33 Lord Morris of Aberavon: I am fascinated by the
concept of your advocacy of the reliance on more
delegated legislation. I think that probably Lord
Chief Justice Hewart would be turning in his grave if
he heard that being put forward in the way that it has
been. Obviously, this is new. Would it be unfair to
suggest that it needs a considerable amount of more
thought because we, as a committee, would have to
make proposals and at the moment it is a little thin,
is it not?
Sir John Chilcot: It is not even a proposal. It is a sense
of where the balance lies, the balance of potential
advantage and disadvantage, between a primary
legislative process which has clearly run out of
eVectiveness and something else. We do not know
what the something else can be, but we can only think
that if you cannot reduce sharply the volume of
primary legislation introduced in each session—if
you cannot do that and realists will say that you
cannot—then you have to find a diVerent balance.
Now, it is either that or Parliament sits seven days a
week for 24 hours a day. It cannot do that in bill work
and committees.

Q34 Lord Peston: It might sit for a whole week
properly.
Sir John Chilcot: I will not apologise for not having a
concrete set of proposals to oVer this Committee, but
merely a sense from the experience that the Better
Government Initiative brings that either you reduce
the volume of primary legislation, but if you cannot,
you have to find somewhere else to do some of the
detailed work but within limits and with due process.

Q35 Lord Lyell of Markyate: Picking up and
agreeing with Lord Peston, I sat on most of the bills
on criminal justice and associated matters in my early
years in Parliament and not one was ever timetabled,
but we greatly restricted parliamentary hours, not
that we restricted them during the hours of
Committee Stages Bills but we restricted them later in
the evening. Is that not part of the problem?
Dr Fox: The timetabling is a problem for all the
legislation. When concessions were made in respect
of timetabling and programming motions and so on,
the original intention, as I understand it and recall,
was that there would be more pre-legislative scrutiny
and that some of the problems that then were
occurring in terms of the main series of debate and
Committee Stage and so on would be ironed out at a
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much earlier stage in the process before it got into the
Chambers. That has not happened. There was a brief
period where pre-legislative scrutiny took place on a
reasonably regular basis in the sense that it was
developing but really, since 2004, that has dropped
oV. So, in a sense, what you have are the advantages
of timetabling on legislation with all the
disadvantages in that the problems that were
supposed to be ironed out are still there. The Hansard
Society has made a series of recommendations on
improvement of the procedural process over the years
and part of the problem is that too often they are
taken almost as a pick-and-mix when in fact they are
supposed to fit together as a cohesive whole and you
cannot have one part without the other part because
it is then unbalanced. I think that is part of the
problem in respect of the timetable. There is a debate
to be had about length of sittings and so on. I would
argue whether we have too much legislation coming
through, and whether the Government always need
to legislate, which I think is an issue. We saw in the
last Queen’s Speech that the Government came under
a considerable amount of criticism because it seemed
to be light on bills and the Hansard Society was one
of the few organisations that spoke out and said that
this could actually be quite a good thing and that
there are some advantages to this. The problem for
the Government of course is that they were criticised
as not doing enough, that they had nothing to say
and were not doing anything, and I think that that is
part of the problem in terms of how this issue is
perceived elsewhere. We would certainly argue that
there is a case for less and better legislation and that
the procedures for policy development could be
improved. One of the areas which we are hoping to
look at shortly is ministerial reshuZes and the degree
to which ministerial reshuZes aVect the legislative
process in that you get a new minister and you
suddenly get a desire from a minister to make his or
her case and raise their profile and develop their
career and it leads to more and more legislation and
you do not get continuity on legislation, so you
sometimes get problems that arise, and all of this fits
together as a package and should not be seen as a
pick-and-mix approach.

Q36 Lord Pannick: Dr Fox, you mentioned a
business committee. I wonder whether there might be
a role and whether you and Sir John think it
practicable to have a role for a parliamentary
committee that, admittedly in circumstances of
alleged urgency, would look very speedily at the
certificate, if we proceed along that route, and would
advise Parliament very urgently whether or not it
thought the case had been made out by the minister.
That would perhaps impose another constraint on
the abuse of legislation. Do you think that is practical

or is it unrealistic in the circumstances of alleged
urgency to have a committee looking at this?
Sir John Chilcot: If it were me, I would say that if the
emergency is real and urgent, government will have to
govern and act irrespective. The bill, and by “the
bill”, I mean that the price will have to be paid later
politically. I do not think that you can construct a
constitutional obstacle to act against real necessity
and urgency, I really do not. On the other hand, I
think that post-legislative scrutiny, if the certificate,
was challengeable if not in the courts at any rate in
Parliament, I think that would be a necessary part of
a certification procedure.
Dr Fox: I think that we would share that view. Again,
it goes back to the issue of how fast is the fast-track
in terms of the acceleration of legislation. In some
instances, it might be possible to set that up and
establish it and for it to reach a decision. The problem
would come in how you define the role of that
committee vis-à-vis each piece of legislation
suYciently and appropriately to discern between
those where it is not possible, as Sir John has
suggested, or that the timescale is far too tight and
those where it might be possible. I think that it would
be worth looking at, but I think that one would have
a problem in terms of defining its role clearly enough
for it to operate.

Q37 Lord Rowlands: I think, Sir John, you have
already confessed to the concern I am about to ask
and that is the question of whether there have been
occasions when emergency legislation has been used
but you slip clauses into the Bill from the beginning
which were really not necessarily related to that
urgency.
Sir John Chilcot: I admitted to the temptation but not
to the crime!

Q38 Lord Rowlands: Have you seen the crime occur?
Sir John Chilcot: It does not occur, perhaps
interestingly, in paving emergency legislation, but it
does occur when you have something that is on the
edge of emergency legislation. I cannot give you a
concrete example of the crime actually having been
committed. I can only speak to the strong temptation
that it would be committed. I could even, but I will
not I think respectfully, think of some departments
which would be more open to the temptation than
others. I would not of course be speaking of the
Treasury, but the Home OYce, as it was, would be
extremely cautious about trying it on frankly, and the
internal advisory culture would be very reluctant to
do it. It would recognise that. Frankly, a government
department with much less legislative experience but
facing a sudden crisis. . . This is not an example but
imagine the Ministry of Agriculture facing the BSE
issue. If there were emergency legislation running
through MAFF, as it then was, it would not have
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necessarily that culture of experience to draw on and
it would say, “Oh, let’s do this as well”. I do not say
that it did and I cannot think that it did, but the
temptation would be there.

Q39 Lord Rowlands: We should remove that
temptation by stipulating very clearly the case.
Sir John Chilcot: Though I had not heard of it before
this session, I do think that a certification procedure
has a great deal to commend it in that regard.

Q40 Lord Rowlands: I think that it did arise. Was it
the 1998 Bill where there were a couple of clauses
from the start that members in both Houses viewed
sceptically?
Sir John Chilcot: Indeed. As I say, I had left oYce by
then but it is certainly arguable that things were
brought forward in an atmosphere of emergency and
crisis where the balance of argument was so fine for
and against them that they would not have been
brought forward in a calmer setting.
Dr Fox: I would like to add that, in the sense with late
amendments, there are almost two types of late
amendments that one can see. One, late amendments
that are attached which have some relationship albeit
perhaps a little opaque, and amendments which have
very little relationship to the bill. If we look at the
2006 Immigration and Asylum Nationality Act, two
days after Second Reading, the London
Underground bombings occurred and, as a result of
that, ten new amendments by government were
tabled at the first sitting of Standing Committee.
Given that it was a terrorist act, one could argue that
the amendments were justified. The problem there of
course was that they were insuYciently scrutinised.
You then get a diVerent type of late amendment, and
I would point to last year’s Counter-Terrorism Act,
where late amendments came in following a court
judgment aVecting Coroners’ Courts and the
Coroners’ Courts provisions were not specific to
terrorist cases, they went much more broadly than
that, and, given that the Government were already
considering a Coroners’ Bill, it seems that that would
have been a better fit for the amendments, but, in that
instance, the emergency created by the legal ruling
facilitated the Government inserting those late
amendments. So, I think that one can look at late
amendments in two diVerent ways.

Q41 Lord Rowlands: Would you apply that to
Schedule 7 of the Counter-Terrorism Act, 2008?
Dr Fox: The schedule on the prison oYcers —?
Lord Rowlands: Was it not one on the Treasury? Was
it not Treasury provisions that were introduced late in
2008? I will come back to you, if I may.

Q42 Chairman: Let us assume that an administrative
scheme is being designed and that the possible need
for its modification is foreseeable. Which, in your
view, is preferable? Either conferring broad powers
on a minister to legislate by order to deal with any
urgent modification that might arise, or insisting that
any modification has to be by way of primary
legislation even if that has to be fast-tracked through
Parliament? Do you think that there any principles
which should govern such a choice?
Dr Fox: Given our concern about the growth in
volume of delegated legislation and the diYculties of
scrutinising that, our strong view is always that, with
respect to emergency legislation, we would have a
preference for avoiding fast-tracking because the lack
of scrutiny as the procedure goes forward means that
that can cause all sorts of diYcult problems and we
would prefer not to be adding to the volume of
delegated legislation. So, our preference would be for
primary legislation. If that means that it then has to
be fast-tracked, then so be it, in the sense that, in
terms of an administrative scheme, if it was
something that was relatively uncontroversial and
relatively straightforward, then it could pass through
relatively quickly and straightforwardly and I do not
think necessarily need add too heavily to the burden
of working in the Commons and the Lords. If it is
more controversial, then it stands to reason that it
should be looked at in more detail through the
scrutiny process in terms of primary legislation.
Sir John Chilcot: I think that the Better Government
Initiative takes a somewhat diVerent view from the
Hansard Society. We would say that on balance it
would be preferable, subject to two or three very
important constraints, to confer powers on the
minister to operate by delegation rather than to
trouble Parliament with yet another fast-track bill for
which time would have to be found at the expense of
proper scrutiny of other legislation. The constraints
would be first of all the invention of a scrutiny process
which was eVective for the secondary legislation
concerned. The second would be that there should be
certain general principles which should not be
capable of being delegated. These include
retrospection; they include the creation of Henry VIII
provisions; and I think that the certification
procedure might also come in here because we are
talking about emergency legislation. Given the strain
on primary bill time and process in both Chambers,
our preference broadly, subject to those conditions,
would be for delegated legislation. I would like to add
a rider. Another matter on which I do have quite a
bad conscience—it was a very long time ago—was in
the Home OYce looking after both Northern Ireland
before direct rule and the Channel Islands and the Isle
of Man where, operating by application clauses,
which nearly never and perhaps never were subject to
any eVective parliamentary process at all, things went
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through which were of genuine debatability, if I may
put it that way, and, in the case of Northern Ireland, it
encouraged the ignoring of the developing Northern
Ireland situation through all the years up until about
1968/69. So, I think that there is a systemic defect in
too much automatic delegated legislation but, on the
other hand, if you can invent a scrutiny process that
is eVective and subject it to principled limits, then I
think that the balance shifts.

Q43 Lord Morris of Aberavon: I will shorten my
question because we have covered the ground a great
deal and I will ask you simply, do you have concerns
about the preparation of bills that are fast-tracked?
Dr Fox: Yes. If one looks at the nature of the issues
as a result of which emergency legislation arises and
look at the list, whether it is 34 or 42, a common
theme is that so many of the bills are taking place
because an anomaly has arisen or there has been a
problem of interpretation and so on. And it seems to
me that they are arising in part because there has been
a problem with the drafting and scrutiny at the earlier
stage in terms of the initial piece of legislation that is
at issue. Similarly, you get a number of items of
emergency legislation which come through because
of judicial decisions which often, but not always, are
related to issues of interpretation of the law, lack of
clarity and so on, and that is the critique of the
judiciary of the legislative and scrutiny process. It
seems to me somewhat illogical to argue that less
scrutiny and less time to draft emergency legislation
should resolve a problem that began with
insuYciently scrutinised and poorly drafted initial
legislation is much of a solution. I think that issues of
drafting and development are critical. Part of the
problem of course is that drafting is a very technical
and very skilled process and I certainly would not
want anybody to take away the view that the
Hansard Society’s criticism in respect of drafting is a
criticism of the Parliamentary Counsel. It is not.
They are a limited number of people with limited
resources and they do a very diYcult job to very, very
tight timeframes and the more legislation they are
dealing with, the more diYcult that is for them.
However, there is a definite relationship there that
needs to be explored to solve any problems that arise.

Q44 Lord Norton of Louth: Following on from that
because the obvious time pressures involve
preparation and there are obvious time pressures if
you are trying to consult which you cannot deal
within the normal process of consultation. Perhaps I
may ask two questions about general consultation
but also bringing experts in. So, given the nature of
the legislation, are there any processes that could be
developed that actually ensure that there is the
opportunity to actually have some input? There is

obviously Parliament’s role but what about the
external environment?
Sir John Chilcot: I would like to begin on that. I do
not think this is a problem for paving emergency
legislation. If there is contingency legislation in
contemplation or being planned, then there is not
really the diYculty. Certainly within government—
and this perhaps comes back to Lord Morris’s
question just now—you can bring in any degree of
expertise and technical competence that you require.
You can share that with Parliament, timetable
permitting. I think that the real problem—and
perhaps the Banking Bill exemplifies it but perhaps
you may think that it does not—is where you have a
highly complex and technical set of questions arising
at short notice, but was it short notice? We had the
Northern Rock Act in 2008; there was quite a lot of
preparatory time before that Bill was introduced as I
understand, and another year since, in the course of
which time complex and technical issues were capable
of being addressed on a contingency footing, were
they not? When you come to the real case of the
sudden, immediate and urgent case—and I have
thought about this question because you posed it in
the papers—I think that an email call for evidence is
the best I can do, but it should happen. There should
be the opportunity for expert voices to be added even
at very, very short notice indeed.
Dr Fox: I share some of those concerns. The reality
is that, even on emergency legislation, whilst formal
consultation of ten to 12 weeks might not be possible,
some form of informal consultation behind the
scenes often does take place anyway and one can look
at last year’s Witness Anonymity Bill where because
it hit the public domain, there were comments oVered
in quite some detail in some cases by the Law Society,
the Bar Council, the Metropolitan Police and others.
I think it would be wrong to say that consultation is
not possible. Again, it goes back to some of the issues
around the nature of the accelerated programme. In
some instances, it would be more reason than others
to facilitate that. I do think that there may be a case,
for example if the Government want to bring forward
legislation on an accelerated programme, for there
being an onus on them to contact their stakeholders.
They have a standing list of stakeholders with whom
they deal in certain policy areas and the onus should
be put on them to make the contact and make those
stakeholders aware of what is happening and
facilitate a means, whether it is by email or other
means, to put fast input into the process. Certainly in
terms of some legislation, the accelerated programme
has been more extended than is often the case and
occasionally it might be possible for example for a
select committee to look at it, call an urgent session
and perhaps call a couple of the key stakeholders.
Again, I would not want that to be a procedural rule
because I think that it would be very diYcult to make
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that a hard and fast ruling. It would diVer on a case-
by-case basis.

Q45 Lord Norton of Louth: Sir John mentioned the
principle that there should be an obligation to send
an email and not just a general call but to a specified
audience that they really ought to let know that this is
happening and get some input as quickly as possible.
Dr Fox: One issue that was raised in terms of the
Hansard Society and we have not looked at it in any
great detail in terms of the pros and cons but which
might be of interest is that we are holding a series of
seminars later this year which will look at the issue of
external consultation as Professor Lord Norton is
aware and the issue of external consultation in terms
of improving the law-making process, and one of the
issues that perhaps was a possibility was the idea of in
eVect establishing a Standing Committee of experts
in certain policy areas department by department
and, in a sense, that would become the key
stakeholders you would approach. There are some
pros and cons related to that—who were they
appointed by—separation of the relationship
between the Executive and Government in terms of
links and contacts with those stakeholders?—but
there may be some grounds there that one could
explore to try and formalise essentially an informal
consultation process.

Q46 Lord Woolf: We have touched on some of these
matters already, but there is a balance to be drawn
here, is there not? You can put into emergency
legislation procedures such as requiring them to have
a sunset clause, requiring them to be subject to post-
legislative scrutiny and perhaps even requiring them
to be replaced by a new bill, and there is the certificate
to which you referred. First of all, are there any forms
of protection of the process about which we have not
heard about that you would like to mention?
Secondly, do you think that there is a danger if you
include these sorts of matters that you are adding to
the problems of Parliament, namely that it does not
have enough time now to handle legislation and, if
you introduce too many additional processes, you are
aggravating that problem?
Sir John Chilcot: I will begin but I do think that I have
less to oVer on that point. I have been particularly
impressed myself over the years by the review process
of counter-terrorist legislation. The appointment is
one of a trusted external auditor, who is himself a
member of a House of Parliament, who is able to give
highly-informed and balanced judgment both on the
use of conduct of the legislation concerned and on the
desirability of renewing or continuing it. It seems to
me that that takes a lot of the burden oV Parliament
while leaving with Parliament what is Parliament’s
proper conern, which is to decide whether or not the
Executive should be allowed to have renewal, but it

does so on the basis of a very disciplined and very
informed report. That takes a lot of the burden of
scrutiny out of Parliament provided that you can
construct something that is trustable, trusted,
competent and works. Can that be extended to other
fields of fast-track legislation? I have not myself
thought hard about it, but in principle it seems to me
that the notion of audit leading to, as it were, a
scrutiny session has a great deal to commend it.

Q47 Lord Norton of Louth: May I add a caveat there
and I am talking about Lord Carlisle of Berriew’s
particular role and I would not like to replicate Lord
Carlisle in the House where you would have someone
repeatedly getting up and saying, “I know everything
you do not know and therefore you must listen to
what I am saying” because that is what tends to
happen in this type of situation. Should we want to
replicate the one all-knowing single person who then
tells us that we should not debate the issue because in
fact he knows and we do not?
Sir John Chilcot: I conflate two words really: the more
secrecy, the more need for trust. If you do not have to
have the secrecy, you can carry that. If it is secret, it
is much more diYcult to stand on the shoulders of the
individual concerned.

Q48 Lord Norton of Louth: Putting aside secrecy,
there is no case for having an individual external
auditor in that sense.
Sir John Chilcot: Not as a parliamentarian but as a
rapporteur to Parliament, it seems to me entirely
possible.
Dr Fox: Our concerns are that sunset clauses and
renewal procedures are important but are not enough
and I think that the 2001 legislation after the 11
September attacks exemplify some of the reasons
why. Firstly, sunset clauses only apply to certain
elements of the legislation and not the whole act.
Secondly, on that occasion of course, the Joint
Committee on Human Rights reported on the
renewal procedures and their view was the
Government had not made the case for continued
derogation from the Human Rights legislation and it
was ignored. So, in a sense, it is all very well to have
the process in place but, if nothing can come of it, if
there is no sanction, it is diYcult. Similarly, the Privy
Council Committee in this case, not an individual as
it was with Lord Carlisle, headed by Lord Newton of
Braintree also made in its reports to the Home
Secretary a series of recommendations and
expressions of concern about how the provisions of
the act were working. The Home Secretary ignored
them in that instance and of course those same
recommendations and concerns were then set out in
a Law Lords’ finding. So, sunsets and renewals are
important and we would include them but they are
not enough in terms of the process, which is why,
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from the Hansard Society’s perspective, we think that
there has to be a five-step process to which one could
now add, as we have discussed today, the certification
process. There has to be that five-step process to
improve the procedure and make it more coherent.
Lord Peston: Following Lord Rowlands’s point on
experts etc, I cannot or dare not comment on lawyers
as experts but, certainly in my field of economics, I
am rather cynical. I would simply say to the relevant
minister, “Tell me the answer you want and I will tell
you the expert to appoint”. In other words, in many
of these highly technical areas, people may be experts
but the idea that they all agree objectively is
preposterous. I entirely agree essentially with what
Lord Rowlands has been saying. The rest of us are
not to be denied the right to make up our own minds.
Lord Rowlands: There was a proposal in the recent
Counter-Terrorism Bill that the Chairman of the
Committee should get himself into such a privileged
position. I will be voting against it as an ex-Chairman
of a Select Committee. I think that you have to be
very careful. The case of Lord Carlisle is a very
special situation indeed. It is just extending that
principle broadly that I find diYcult to take.

Q49 Lord Woolf: The only thing I was going to ask
you further is, what was put forward as the basis of a
Henry VIII clause was that Parliament cannot
foresee what is going to happen in an area where there
could be severe financial consequences and so, to be
able to cope beforehand and anticipate an emergency
situation so to speak, we should include a Henry VIII
clause. Sir John, would you be in favour of that as
part of what you are suggesting?
Sir John Chilcot: Only in the case of most extreme
necessity. I have not followed the Banking Bill very
closely though I have read quite a lot of the
proceedings and I simply do not know the field well
enough to judge. I cannot think in the fields I am
more experienced in that the case would arise where
you could justify a Henry VIII clause. Certainly in
things like counter-terrorism, intelligence and
security, I just cannot see how it would happen. The
Banking Bill is a new one to me.

Q50 Lord Woolf: This is the danger if you insist on
too many procedures to emergency legislation, the
Government will say that emergency legislation is not
good enough and we must have a Henry VIII clause.
Sir John Chilcot: May I draw on an example from the
past and I do so in declaring a special history in
contemporary history and that it should prosper, but
there is not at the moment, so far as I am aware, any
oYcial history or well-informed history of the east
coast floods of 1953. What happened was a huge
crisis. There was in place the whole of the post-war
civil defence machinery but the powers, the use of the
powers, the use of the institutions, police, army, local

authorities and whatever, was all done completely
informally. It just had to be done and it was done and
there was no challenge to it. I think that one has to
keep that in mind as the totally unforeseen—it might
have been foreseeable but it was not foreseen—comes
at you and you have to act and you have to deal with
it and you must not place an obstacle in the way of
doing that. You may have to rectify it in terms of law
after the event. I would rather have a remediation bill
after the event than a Henry VIII clause ahead of it.

Q51 Lord Norton of Louth: I would like to explore
the Hansard Society’s evidence relating to the point
about sunset clauses and post-legislative scrutiny.
Are you suggesting a relationship between the two
that where provisions are subject to sunset
legislation, then perhaps there should be a
requirement that there has to be a report of some
post-legislative scrutiny before the Government
could bring forward, say, an order to review
provisions that are subject to that sunset legislation?
Dr Fox: Yes. I think it would be preferable if you have
that scrutiny. If the timetabling permits, that would
be preferable, I think.

Q52 Lord Norton of Louth: That is a big constraint
on government in that it could not bring forward the
renewal unless there had actually be a review and
report to Parliament before it came forward. Also,
the relationship between the two Houses because
normally legislation has to clear one House and go to
the other to be considered which in the normal
process is not a problem but obviously where it is
emergency legislation, that is to deal with an
emergency rather than anticipate what, time is of the
essence. Is there a case for the two Houses
considering the same bill simultaneously?
Sir John Chilcot: Perhaps I may start out of ignorance
because I have thought about it and could not find an
answer. I was struck by the earlier reference by Dr
Fox about the New Zealand pre-legislative
operations. Of course, New Zealand is unicameral
legislature and in a sense that leaves it to the political
majority in power to settle that kind of thing. Much
more interestingly complicated here, is that I was
left—and it is not very useful—simply thinking, how
can the views and opinions of either House be
brought to the notice of the other, whether it is in
parallel process or one after the other? That seems to
be the key. If you could do that you have, as it were,
cracked it and it is not impossible to think of doing it
in parallel, but there has to be that exchange, it seems
to me.
Dr Fox: I think we would echo that in the sense that
in an emergency situation where you have a concern
about the timetable, I think that there would be a case
for saying up to Second Reading, you could make the
case that they would run in parallel. Once you get into
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the amending stages, I think that it becomes
extremely diYcult. It is not an emergency case but the
Banking Bill ran in parallel to a certain extent in that
there were the initial proposals for the Banking Bill in
the Commons and Banking Bill number two in the
Lords and the provision was that the Banking Bill
number two would drop and that the main Banking
Bill from the Commons would go through. That, it
seems to me, is clearly possible but whether it is
preferable is open to debate. If you are dealing with
issues of timetabling, that might be partially an
appropriate solution, but I would not urge that to
happen much beyond Second Reading. I think that
once you get into the amending stage, it becomes
extraordinarily complicated and Sir John is right in
the sense that part of the advantages of the scrutiny
processes and procedural processes it has set up is
that the debate develops between the two Houses and
one House learns from the other in terms of issues
that have been explored and provides opportunities
to advance the debate and that would clearly be lost
if too much parallel work went on.

Q53 Lord Rodgers of Quarry Bank: I hope I am not
abusing the opportunity to put forward a radical
proposal but I would particularly like to hear what
Sir John would like to say. Why would it not be
possible in these very diYcult circumstances, given
the particular role of this House, to have a Second
Reading of a principal piece of legislation in the
House of Commons and then go to the Lords where
the Lords would deal with the Committee and Report
as a formula which might be more eVective than the
existing procedures?
Sir John Chilcot: At first hearing, I find that very
attractive, that the democratically legitimate House
should endorse the principles of the fast-track
legislation and then the details could at high speed be
dealt with by those with time and expertise
potentially and then return the fruits of their labour
to the Commons presumably to go through the
extremely accelerated remaining stages. It seems to
me sensible. If it is radical, I applaud it.

Q54 Lord Rodgers of Quarry Bank: Thank you.
Dr Fox: It would be radical. In practical terms, I do
not think it would find much favour in the House of
Commons. Going to the point about, as you would
call them, bolshie backbenchers, I am sure that it
would not find much favour and I think would be
problematic. To take away from the elected

Supplementary memorandum by the Hansard Society
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On 30 March the Committee requested a briefing paper from the Hansard Society regarding the use of “urgency” in
the New Zealand Parliament as highlighted in our oral evidence to the inquiry on Wednesday 25 February.

representatives in the House of Commons the
opportunity to comment on and amend legislation in
Committee and Report and to get the detail of how
the principles are enacted, I think I would have grave
reservations about that.

Q55 Lord Shaw of Northstead: What about the
Companies Bill? This major Bill came to the Lords
and the unpaid volunteers bravely went through all
the Committee stages. Are we to suggest that the
House of Commons, the backbenchers anyway, were
not rather delighted?
Dr Fox: In terms of defending the role of
backbenchers, it would not be to suggest that the
Lords does not have an important and essential
scrutiny role and in many respects I agree performs
sometimes better scrutiny and brings a diVerent
approach, a diVerent life experience and so on and
the Hansard Society is one of the great defenders of
the House of Lords in terms of its scrutiny role. The
fact that the Commons does not necessarily always
carry out its roles as perhaps it ought and should, I do
not think is suYcient reason for taking it out of the
process entirely and nor do I think that timing issues
would justify that. I think that there are ways to deal
with the timing as I have talked about and the nature
of the fast-tracking in those instances suYciently to
avoid having to go through and down that radical
route.
Sir John Chilcot: May I put in a plea for Lord
Rodgers’s radical suggestion which is that it would
not displace the role of the House of Commons in the
remaining stages and if the bolshie backbenchers
wanted to have a real go, they would still have a go,
but it says that you democratically endorse the basic
principle and the objective and then you get as much
expert scrutiny as time permits and then you return it
to the House of Commons for whatever process they
want to subject it to, but the heavy lifting having
been done.

Q56 Chairman: May I ask one final question of our
witnesses and you have been extremely generous of
your time. In answer to Lord Rodgers’s question, you
used the expression “democratically legitimate”
rather than “democratically elected”. Do you regard
parts of our constitution which are not elected as
illegitimate?
Sir John Chilcot: It was a very unhappy choice of
word!
Chairman: Dr Fox and Sir John, thank you very
much indeed for joining us.
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Clerk, for their assistance with this research.

Fast-tracking of Legislation

There are two forms of urgency motion to fast-track legislation in the House of Representatives:

— urgency motions; and

— extraordinary urgency motions.

In the context of the Committee’s inquiry into emergency legislation, both oVer interesting procedural points
around the fast-tracking of legislation but it is the extraordinary urgency motion procedure that may be of
most interest to Members in that procedurally it could be said to provide a deterrent factor against unnecessary
emergency legislation by the Executive.

Urgency Motions

Under Standing Order 54, ministers may move an urgency motion to fast-track specific business through the
House. In so doing the minister must inform the House, “with some particularity” why the motion is being
moved.6 A simple statement that urgency is required “so that progress can be made” is deemed insuYcient
and members can and do raise Points of Order in relation to whether a motion for urgency has been correctly
moved.7

However, although the minister must give some explanation for seeking urgency, there is no ability for
opposition members to contest or debate the explanation. The Speaker made clear in an urgency motion
debate on 16 December 2008 that although a reason is required from the minister, the quantum of those
reasons is a matter for the minister’s judgement.8

Quite regularly, ministers will set out why the motion is important to the Government in the context of its
legislative programme rather than explain why urgency is required. However, as in the Westminster
Parliament, if the executive has the votes to win the motion then it will pass.

The impact of moving an “urgency motion”

Firstly, the House may take an item of business through more than one stage on the same sitting day—
normally the House deals only with the next stage as shown on the Order Paper.

Secondly, the sitting of the House may be extended to enable the business to be progressed. When the House
is sitting under urgency, any extension to its sitting hours does not occur until the next day (except that the
House—which normally adjourns at 6 pm on Thursdays—will sit under urgency in the evening of a Thursday
if urgency is moved that day and the Business Committee has been notified beforehand). On the second and
subsequent days, the sitting will resume at 9 am and continue until midnight, with 1.5 hour breaks for lunch
and dinner. Even when the House is sitting under urgency, the suspension of a sitting is delayed while voting
in progress is completed.

In eVect, the moving of urgency extends the sitting hours of the House and enables the Government to fast-
track legislation. This is particularly utilised in the “wash-up” before a general election and before the end of
each session as the House has no carry-over procedure.

Extraordinary Urgency Motions

In 1985 the House of Representatives Standing Orders Committee recommended the introduction of a new
concept of extraordinary urgency.

Prior to 1985, any urgency motion, if agreed, resulted in the sitting continuing beyond the usual time for
adjournment (usually 10.30 pm) and on into the night. However, the Standing Orders Committee concluded
that, “only in extraordinary circumstances should it be necessary for the House to sit after midnight”.9

As a consequence, urgency motions would result in the suspension of sittings between midnight and 9 am. The
Committee envisaged that “exceptionally, it may be necessary for the House to continue sitting beyond
midnight to pass a particularly urgent piece of legislation. Primarily this will involve Budget legislation, but
6 New Zealand House of Representatives, Standing Order 54 (3).
7 Speakers Rulings 11/5—New Zealand Parliamentary Debates (NZPD), 1985, Vol 467, p 8181.
8 NZPD, 2008, Vol 651, p 728.
9 House of Representatives Standing Orders Committee, First Report, July 1985, I.14, para 2.3.1, p 9.
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it could also apply in other cases of real emergency, for example, where there was a need to pass legislation to
deal with the collapse of a commercial or financial organisation or in a matter involving state security”.10

The Hon GeoVrey Palmer, Leader of the House, explained in the debate on the Standing Orders Committee
report that extraordinary urgency was “intended to be applied to a narrow range of circumstances when it is
clear that the public interest absolutely requires the House to deal with the matter as quickly as possible.”11

He suggested, for example, “Budget measures that alter the incidence of the rates of taxation, and the prices
of petrol, beer, or cigarettes, that will be sold the next day, must be dealt with.”12

Standing Order 56 (2) and (3) sets out that a motion for extraordinary urgency may be moved only if the
Minister informs the House of the “circumstances that warrant the claim for extraordinary urgency”, and if
the Speaker “agrees that the business to be taken justifies it”.13

The Clerk of the House of Representatives has confirmed the findings of our own Hansard Society research—
namely that there is no record of the Speaker ever having declined a Minister’s request for extraordinary
urgency.

However, extraordinary urgency motions have only been utilised on eight occasions since their introduction
in 1985 and in each case have dealt with changes to levels of tax or excise tax.

The use of extraordinary urgency motions since 1985

Date Title of bill

20 August 1985 Income Tax Amendment Bill (No 4)
28 July 1998 Customs Amendment Bill (No 2)
30 July 1991 Finance (Revenue) Bill
14 May 1998 Customs and Excise Amendment Bill
20 May 1999 Stamp Duty Abolition Bill
9 May 2000 Customs and Excise Amendment Bill
28 February 2002 Customs and Excise Amendment Bill (No 5)
6 May 2003 Customs and Excise (Alcoholic Beverages) Amendment Bill

It is clear that extraordinary urgency has been used sparingly and largely in accordance with the aims and
objectives for it set out by the Standing Orders Committee in 1985.

In contrast, urgency motions are used quite regularly and are, at times, a source of considerable public concern.
For example, in the nine sitting weeks since the commencement of the current Parliament in December 2008
urgency motions have been introduced on seven occasions to date.

Political Considerations and the Deterrence Factor

The primary constraint on the use of urgency and extraordinary urgency motions is a political one.

Although the Speaker of the House has never formally rejected an extraordinary urgency motion this might
be said to be because no minister would bring a motion to the House if (s)he believed that the Speaker would
not accept it.

The existence of the urgency motion provision also provides an alternative route to fast-track legislation where
possible if a minister believes that the Speaker will not accept a case for extraordinary urgency. The OYce of
the Clerk of the House of Representatives has confirmed that they are not aware of any urgency motion ever
being lost.

New Zealand has a mixed-member proportional representation (MMP) system for parliamentary elections
and as a consequence the formation of minority governments has tended to be the result. A minority
government thus has to obtain support from the other parties when seeking to move an urgency motion. These
other parties may not support the Government’s legislative programme, may be unwilling to accept additional
sitting hours and may not wish to see select committee meetings and other work of the House disrupted by
urgency.
10 House of Representatives Standing Orders Committee, First Report, July 1985, I.14, para 2.3.1, p 9.
11 NZPD, 1985, Vol 464, p 5862.
12 NZPD, 1985, Vol 464, p 5862.
13 New Zealand House of Representatives, Standing Order 56.
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In parliamentary terms where there has been minority government the number of urgency motions has
therefore been significantly lower. The use of urgency motions is very dependent on the make-up of the
Government and the nature of its support agreement with other parties. The current National Government is
in a relatively strong position with a near majority and possesses confidence agreements with three parties—
two of which are each independently of suYcient size to provide a majority. As a consequence, the use of
urgency in the current Parliament has been considerable (seven times since December 2008). In contrast, the
previous government was in a weaker position, requiring support from more than one party and urgency
motions were moved on only 11 occasions during the entire parliamentary term.

Other Procedures for Dealing with Urgent Legislation

The House of Representatives has on occasion progressed business to completion without resorting to the use
of urgency. The House has a Business Committee and it determines the use of procedures.

For example, the House recently enabled a bill to be introduced and passed through all stages to remove
potential loopholes from legislation relating to the supervision of serious child sex oVenders after their release
from prison (the Parole (Extended Supervision Orders) Amendment Bill, passed on 2 April 2009). The
procedure used on this occasion, by leave, was for the bill to be introduced and passed, and for the questions
on the first reading and third reading to be put without debate.14

At other times, the second and third reading of some non-controversial bills have been debated as a single
question, with the committee stage omitted.

Lessons for the Westminster Parliament

In our original written evidence submission, and in our oral evidence to the Committee in February, the
Hansard Society outlined a procedural process that we believe would improve the process and scrutiny of fast-
track legislation. Our recommendations included changes to timetabling, the introduction of a Business or
Legislation Steering Committee, the adoption of safeguards such as sunset and renewal clauses, the provision
for automatic post-legislative review by an Emergency Legislative Review Committee and renewal through
non-emergency primary legislation. During the course of the oral evidence session there was also broad
agreement with the suggestion made by Lord Pannick that some form of certification procedure demanded of
ministers might oVer a useful deterrent factor against unnecessary fast-tracking of legislation.

The handling of fast-track legislation (through means other than urgency) in New Zealand reinforces our case
for a Business or Legislative Steering Committee with scope to amend procedures to take account of the nature
of the urgent business at hand.

Provision in Standing Orders for the Speaker to reject a request to fast-track legislation through Parliament
in just one day on grounds of emergency might also be a useful deterrent factor to prevent abuse of the process
by the executive and ensure proper scrutiny of the legislation. The success of this deterrence would of course
depend on the willingness of the Speaker of the day to stand in defence of the rights and obligations of the
House of Commons to properly scrutinise the executive. Because any discussion—and possible clash of views
between the Speaker and ministers—about fast-tracking might occur only in private, does not necessarily
reduce the deterrent potential of this approach, indeed it might enhance it.

While acknowledging the usual caveats in relation to the very diVerent electoral systems that apply in New
Zealand and the UK and the impact this has on the political and parliamentary process, nonetheless the
procedures for the use of extraordinary urgency (as opposed to mere urgency) in the House of Representatives
have proven relatively robust and have not been widely abused.

April 2009

14 NZPD, 2009, Vol 653, p 2377.
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WEDNESDAY 4 MARCH 2009

Present Goodlad, L (Chairman) Quin, B
Lyell of Markyate, L Rodgers of Quarry Bank, L
Morris of Aberavon, L Rowlands, L
Norton of Louth, L Wallace of Tankerness, L
Peston, L

Examination of Witnesses

Witness: Lord Baker of Dorking, a member of the House, examined.

Q57 Chairman: Thank you very much for coming.
You are amongst friends. It is extremely good of you
to give your time.
Lord Baker of Dorking: Not a bit. I am looking
forward to it.

Q58 Chairman: We are being recorded, so would you
identify yourself, as if it were necessary, for the
record, and then, if you so wish, you may make a
short opening statement, after which we will ask
questions.
Lord Baker of Dorking: I do not have a statement. I am
Lord Baker of Dorking and I am really here to help
you in your consideration of the bills that I
introduced when I was Home Secretary in 1990-1991.

Q59 Chairman: Thank you. In what circumstances
do you think it is justifiable for the Government to
fast-track bills through Parliament? Over the past 20
years, there have been about 34 bills that have been
fast-tracked through Parliament on alleged grounds
of urgency. Do you think that is too much or do you
think it is acceptable?
Lord Baker of Dorking: I thought that your analysis of
the various bills that had been fast-tracked attached
to your paper was very interesting indeed because it
shows that there are a variety of reasons and some, in
my view, seem to be virtually automatic. If, for
example, there is an anomaly, oversight, error or
uncertainty that has come to light in legislation and
if that impacts upon a particular given part of the
population, companies or activities, then it is up to
the Government of the day to amend that as quickly
as possible and that usually only emerges as a result
of the operation of the Act; it has usually arisen
maybe as a result of legal cases of one sort or another
and that seems to me a necessary use of fast-tracking.
Also, when, as a result of judicious process, a court
judgment has been made and the various stages of the
court judgment have been gone through and it
requires an amendment of the law, I think that should
be fast-tracked. I think that those two categories are
virtually non-controversial in most cases and
certainly in my experience when it has happened

when we were in government, if it was non-
controversial it went through fairly quickly. Then
there was the need to ensure that legislation is in force
in time for a forthcoming event. I do not actually
remember those particular matters, but again I think
that falls in place with the first two groups that you
identified. Then there are the more diYcult ones, to
deal with economic crisis and we may talk about that
in greater detail later. Public authority’s borrowing or
lending limit or other funding issues again seems to
be fairly automatic and governments have done that
from time to time when their lending limits have been
under pressure. Then there is the diYculty of dealing
with a crisis. Again, legislation is needed in those
sorts of things. I think the controversial and diYcult
area is when legislation may be required to respond to
public concerns and governments in the past and
certainly I have responded to cases that you are
familiar with as public concern. I was a little
surprised that you had not identified the changes to
gun legislation. Following the Hungerford massacre,
the law was changed by Lord Hurd as the Home
Secretary at the time and that was quite a lengthy
process as I recall; there was quite a long discussion;
it was not absolutely fast-tracked. However, the
legislation introduced after the Dunblane massacre
was very hastily pushed through. I do not know
whether it was actually fast-tracked but it went
through very quickly under the pressure of Michael
Forsyth as the Scottish Secretary. Certainly in the
first case, the gun lobby and particularly many
elements of the Conservative Party you may
remember delayed the debates on the Hungerford Bill
and they were quite resentful of the speed in which the
Dunblane proposals were put through because it
virtually outlawed the owning of any handguns and
it put into question whether in fact the Olympic Team
could actually practise in the country; it had all sorts
of implications. Apparently, they were not in your list
for some reason, but certainly the Dunblane Bill was
fast-tracked.

Q60 Baroness Quin: You were saying that one of the
diYcult areas is where it is in response to public
concern.
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Lord Baker of Dorking: Yes.

Q61 Baroness Quin: I wondered how much analysis
was taken in the cases in which you were involved as
to how far it was public concern and how much it
might be a pressing media temporary frenzy and
whether or not diYcult judgments had to be made as
a result of that.
Lord Baker of Dorking: The public only become
concerned through learning about it through the
press or television. That is the only means of learning
about the case. I am very happy to talk about the two
I dealt with. On aggravated vehicle taking, you may
recall that there were a number of incidents in the
spring and summer of 1991 on two estates, one in
Northumbria, the Meadowwell Estate and the other
the Blackbird Lees Estate riots in Oxford. What
happened was that gangs of youths would steal a car,
usually a high performance car, and do the most
amazing tricks with it at night to such an extent that
people came and watched it as a spectator sport and
the television cameras came and filmed them night
after night after night. It was spectacular driving,
sometimes on two wheels at a time, and the police
never caught them. The whole of the force of the
Oxfordshire Police and Northumbrian Police were
not able to stop this. They tried bollards; they tried
chicanes; they tried all sorts of things. The public then
became alarmed and concerned through watching
them on television night after night that something
should be done about this and that we should not
have these sorts of things happening because what
happened is that the stolen car was left the following
morning damaged beyond repair, as it were, and no-
one was arrested at all. The Chief Constables of both
authorities came to the Home OYce to see me and
said that something must be done. That was the birth
of the aggravated vehicle taking oVence. There was
widespread consultation; we consulted with other
police forces. The department of the Home OYce
that dealt with this, which was basically with the
changes of the criminal justice system, was, in my
judgment, one of the best parts of the Home OYce
because, at the end of the day, the main responsibility
of the Home OYce is in fact the bolstering-up and
maintenance of the criminal justice system and I
thought that we had the best lawyers in it, better
lawyers than in other parts of the Home OYce. So,
there was a great deal of expertise and we took advice.
There were two problems: the identification of intent
and of witnesses. Therefore, it emerged from these
discussions that a bill was needed and a bill was
brought in, not with the great enthusiasm, as I
remember, of my Shadow at that time who was Roy
Hattersley, because it did change the law
considerably. It meant that an oVender could be held
criminally liable for an unintended consequence of
his or her actions. That is a well-established legal

principle and that related it actually to the theft of
cars, but it also extended it to not only the driver,
because often the driver could not be identified, but
to the group of people with him who were all equally
guilty. It was an important and significant change in
the law and it has stood the test of time. No-one is
now arguing that that oVence should be dropped
from the criminal justice system. I asked the Home
OYce to let me know how many oVences there were
and, each year, there are quite a large number of
prosecutions. In the first few years, there were very
high levels of prosecution in 1992, 1993, 1994 and
1995, about 10,000 per year, and then it declined to
about 5,000 or 6,000 and there are 5,000 or 6,000
oVences each year and there are about 50 that involve
the death of a person; there are about 5,000 involving
damage to the car itself and, where the criminal
damage is less than £5,000, about 4,000. So, about
10,000 cases each year involve aggravated vehicle
taking. This was a case of legislation that was
introduced as a result of public concern and there was
real public concern. It was not just got up by the
press, there was huge public annoyance that this was
happening because it was not a right thing to happen
and it made it hell for the lives of the people on the
estate apart from anything else and therefore it was
something that had to be done and I think it was quite
right that we did it.

Q62 Lord Rowlands: I am not clear why it had to be
fast-tracked. You said that a number of consultations
took place. Why was Parliament not consulted and,
if there was a high degree of consensus from this
House on other types of bills, why could you not let
the normal processes work out? This legislation was
quite complicated and surely it deserved better
scrutiny.
Lord Baker of Dorking: You have to look at the timing
of it. This was in the spring/early summer of the year.
Parliament was coming to an end at the end of July.
You had the choice of either waiting for the Queen’s
Speech, which would have been in October/
November of that year, and legislation introduced in,
say, November, and going through both Houses
possibly not until February or March a year later,
and I think that that was just too long. I think that
these were circumstances where it was quite clear that
the police were saying to the Home OYce to get on
with it.

Q63 Lord Rowlands: You could have taken weeks as
opposed to days over it.
Lord Baker of Dorking: It was not done in days. It
went through in days. Do you mean the debate in the
House of Commons?
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Q64 Lord Rowlands: Yes.
Lord Baker of Dorking: I am not against having a
quick debate and getting it through. In those days in
the House of Commons, you could hold up a bill for
as long as you wanted. That is impossible now under
the procedural changes under Mr Blair but, in those
days, debates were endless in the House of
Commons. If people wanted to debate, they could
debate. We did not use the guillotine on the Bill at all.

Q65 Lord Rowlands: So, it was not fast-tracked in
that sense?
Lord Baker of Dorking: No. It was not guillotined. I
am sure that it was not guillotined. There was a
normal process of debate. The great thing is that the
Leader of the House has to give it time. That is what
the Government of the day have to do in order to
secure fast-track legislation. I do not think that either
of these bills was guillotined. I am quite sure that they
were not. Anyway, guillotine in the Lords cannot
operate, so it has to go through the Lords as well.
Again, the main consideration on fast-tracking of
bills is whether the Leader in the Commons and the
Leader in the Lords are prepared to make time for it
and that of course has to be a Cabinet decision. So, I
had to take the Bill to Cabinet obviously.

Q66 Lord Peston: Just to get the logic of what you
are saying right, unless one regards Parliament as
perfectly elastic, fast-tracking any piece of legislation
means slow-tracking some other piece of legislation.
Lord Baker of Dorking: That is correct.

Q67 Lord Peston: In your experience, does the
Cabinet then say, “Well, that Bill now is the one to be
slow-tracked”? In other words, there is a great danger
here that bad bills can drive out good, to use the old
analogy, is there not?
Lord Baker of Dorking: I do not think necessarily fast-
tracking—

Q68 Lord Peston: If I were desperate as a minister to
get a piece of legislation through, what I have to be
stopped from doing is demanding it to be fast-
tracked.
Lord Baker of Dorking: No minister of any
government embraces fast-track legislation with
enthusiasm for the very simple reason that you have
to go to the Cabinet and address then that particular
question. You have to persuade your colleagues that
this is suYciently important and it was not just a
decision by the Home Secretary in my case. I had to
persuade them that this was something that had to be
done. It did not actually displace legislation in either
case; it probably slowed down legislation and it
probably meant that the House might have to sit a
few more days in July. That is basically what it comes
down to: do you end on 20 July or 27 July is the sort

of debate it gets into rather than anything else. So,
ministers are not trigger happy on fast-track
legislation because it involves a number of people and
you have to take people with you. In both cases, I
remember talking to my opposite numbers in both
parties to explain it to them and to seek, if I could,
their support.

Q69 Baroness Quin: You were saying that both the
Bills were not guillotined, but we do have before us a
paper by Christopher Hood about the Dangerous
Dogs Act saying that it was heavily guillotined.
Lord Baker of Dorking: Was it? I do not recall that. In
that case, I simply do not remember it. Was it
guillotined?

Q70 Baroness Quin: It says in this paper, “The Bill
itself was moreover heavily guillotined limiting the
scope for response in Parliament”.
Lord Baker of Dorking: That would only limit it of
course in the House of Commons, not in the House
of Lords. I think that again it came at the same time.
When these matters come up in the spring of the year,
it is diYcult to get legislation of that sort through.
The other thing of course that I think your
Committee has not reflected upon is that a number of
fast-track measures are added to bills that are going
through and the most common are Criminal Justice
Bills. When I first became a member of the House of
Commons, Criminal Justice Bills were rather rare
birds. They would only come up every three or four
years. In the 1990s, I think there was a Criminal
Justice Bill almost every year and certainly since 2000
there has been one almost every year. This means
that, if there is a public concern, a particularly violent
attack upon children let us say or a particularly nasty
rape in certain circumstances and the Government of
the day decide that we should increase the penalties
for those crimes, it does not need new legislation, they
can bring in an amendment to the Bill and that has
been done quite generously, as I think you will
discover if your analysis is done on Criminal Justice
Bills, and quite regularly by both Governments. The
other bill of course that always is subject to public
concern legislation through its complexity is the
Finance Bill. The Finance Bill gets amended very
considerably each year as a result of something
emerging which was not known when the Bill was
drafted. So, there is scope. When something has to be
changed like dog legislation or gun legislation, then
you do need a separate bill.
Chairman: The Committee will check, though I
believe Lady Quin is correct, whether the Dangerous
Dogs Bill was subject to guillotine.

Q71 Lord Morris of Aberavon: I quite sense what
you have said four times now, that something had to
be done, and what you mean is that something had to
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be done quickly. There have always been so far as I
remember guillotines and the guillotines now have
been much more restricted than they used to be but
we have always had guillotines and, if there is a
guillotine—and I speak in the place of a former Chief
Whip—you do not really need to fast-track
something.
Lord Baker of Dorking: You can. I do come from a
parliamentary tradition when the guillotine was used
very less frequently than it is now. The present
procedure of the House is that virtually every bill is
guillotined and timetabled and, in my view, that is a
diminution of the power of Parliament. Whether any
future government will change it, I am not so sure; I
think that it may not be changed in the future.
Certainly when I was in the House of Commons in
the 1960s and 1970s, guillotines were usually used for
highly controversial political measures—
nationalisation measures or denationalisation
measures. I took one of the longest bills through the
House of Commons, the privatisation of BT—it took
me three years to take the Bill through because there
was an election between—and that went on for days
and months without a guillotine. Certainly I do recall
with the nationalisation of the ports and
engineering—Michael Foot—there was a guillotine.
There were lots of guillotines in the 1970s and in the
1980s under Margaret Thatcher as well. They tended
to be very big measures, not small measures.

Q72 Chairman: Also after many, many hours of
consideration. Leaders of the House in those days
were extremely sensitive to the amount of time spent
in committee, were they not?
Lord Baker of Dorking: Yes.

Q73 Chairman: Over 100 hours was the minimum
before you could even contemplate—
Lord Baker of Dorking: Yes. It was Tuesdays and
Thursdays, mornings and afternoons week after
week and a sort of convention emerged from of about
100 hours. You are quite right. In the Commons,
guillotines were not moved until they had had that
degree of debate.

Q74 Lord Norton of Louth: I want to try and put
some shape to bills that are subject to acceleration.
You have mentioned some of the reasons for it, but
is it possible to give some shape to it in terms of the
constitutional principles that ought to govern it and
are there any constitutional conventions that one can
discern that would cover circumstances?
Lord Baker of Dorking: I think clearly the
Government of the day, if they decide that something
should be changed urgently, have to make the case
and that has to be made first within government and
then it has to be done with discussion with the other

parties because usually there has to be some co-
operation from the other parties in this, otherwise it
becomes very diYcult even under the new procedures
in the House of Commons. That degree of
consultation and agreement usually emerges from a
degree of pressure and informed pressure from
outside. For example, I remember insurance
legislation which is very complicated indeed. I was
involved with insurance when I was a junior minister
and it was quite clear that my oYcials did not know
enough about it and did not know as much about the
industry, as the Association of British Insurers and
various interested insurance companies. The Bill was
being rewritten as it was going though the Standing
Committee. It was unbelievable. Pages were taken
out and rewritten with the help of the industry. This
was quite confusing, even to ministers. What were the
constitutional principles there? Everybody was trying
to get the legislation right and we were obviously
learning as we went along. I think that there is a more
recent example in the Banking Bills and the measures
taken by the Government to respond to this
economic crisis. I think it is very clear that no-one
really knows what the answer is to respond to this
crisis. Not even Lord Peston’s son knows exactly
what needs to be done to respond to this crisis. To
some extent, the Government are feeling their way
and the opposition are feeling their way and there
have been considerable changes to the Banking Bill
and I think there will be considerable changes with
any other measures which the Government are going
to bring in. The system for loan guarantees will
require at some stage I imagine some legislative
background. I do not see how you can deal with this
other than through consultation and discussion and
being as reasonably sensible as possible. What I do
think is sensible is that when measures like that which
are really complex—and I will come to dogs in a
moment because that is quite complex—such as
insurance legislation or banking legislation, I think
there should be a review reasonably quickly
afterwards to see whether the objectives of the
legislation are actually being met because very often
they are not and I think that would be welcome. If in
fact it is recognised, not so much that it is specifically
fast-tracked, pushed through, but measures
introduced amending legislation of that sort, some
system of review should be set up to see whether it is
eVective and that would be very necessary in the
Banking Bills because quite clearly the first Banking
Bill was not eVective, a second Banking Bill was
necessary and I expect that a third will be necessary
and there should be some measure of how eVective
this legislation is.

Q75 Baroness Quin: Were the bills that you were
concerned in pushing through quite quickly ones that
the department at the time thought would be subject
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to review? Was there any kind of system of review
thought of or even provided for?
Lord Baker of Dorking: I do not think that there was,
quite frankly, in either case. I think that on
aggravated vehicle taking there was a report back
from various police forces of how eVective it was
going to be and it was an oVence which was used very
generously in 1992, 1993 and 1994 in that the oVences
rose to 11,000 or 12,000 from quite small low
hundreds. It was seen to be eVective in stopping a
great deal of joyriding and a great deal of group
taking of cars. There were other factors that aVected
that, but that was one of the factors that did it and the
fact that it is still a significant oVence which police
forces use and prosecuting forces use means that it
has obviously worked. On the question of dogs, first
may I say something about how that came about
because it often emergences as a fast bit of legislation
that did not work? In fact, it worked very eVectively
until it was amended. The purpose of the Bill was
very clear. It was to remove pit-bull terriers and pit-
bull terrier types out of the pet-owning community of
the country. Had we thought about it before the
oVences had occurred? There was consultation by the
Home OYce the year earlier on the whole area of
dangerous dogs, it was a public consultation and we
had responses from scores of individuals and all the
institutions involved, the Kennel Club, the RSPCA,
Uncle Tom Cobbley and all. So, we did not entirely
come cold to the question of dealing with dangerous
dogs though no government readily steps into the
area of dog legislation because what you find in dog
legislation is that what you thought were allies urging
you to do it soon become implacable enemies
condemning you for doing what you did. When I
introduced the Dangerous Dogs Bill, I had the full
support of the Kennel Club and the RSPCA who
thought that it was essential legislation. Within a year
or two, they were saying that it should be repealed
and they did not like it. So, you have to choose your
friends well if you are going to fast-track legislation.
So, there was a background of study by the Home
OYce in this area. There were some oVences in 1991.
They were quite horrific where a man was attacked
and a child was viciously killed, their faces were eaten
oV by pit-bill terriers. So, I consulted widely; it was
not just responding to banner headlines; the press
took it up certainly. The actual broadsheets were not
saying that particular legislation was needed, they
were saying that we had to look at this and come up
with all sorts of ideas. The red tops were being much
more extreme and saying that this had to stop and
that we were not going to have children killed by pit-
bill terriers. I took advice. All the bodies came in and
the veterinary bodies came in and they all said and all
agreed that pit-bull terriers bred for fighting should
be eliminated and legislation was designed to do that
and also to stop three other breeds being brought into

the country: a Brazilian dog, an Argentinean dog and
a Japanese dog because they were bred for fighting.
The Bill said that pit-bull terriers had to be registered
and they had to be muzzled and neutered. Therefore,
the breed was going to die out within a number of
years because there could be no breeding. It also
introduced the system of mandatory destruction of
dogs. There was no appeal; a magistrate could order
a mandatory destruction. That was the measure that
the RSPCA backed oV from because basically the
RSPCA believes that no dog should be destroyed.
The dogs are not wrong, it is the owners. That is the
line that the RSPCA takes, having not taken that
during the process of the bill. Lord Houghton, who
some of you may remember as a very nice man
indeed, a gentle soul and Leader of the Labour Party
I believe for a time, was got up by the RSPCA as he
was a dog lover—

Q76 Chairman: He was an expert on badgers.
Lord Baker of Dorking: He was brought in and
brought in urgent amendments on the Bill which in
eVect eliminated mandatory destruction and that
virtually undermined the main provision of the Bill
because that allowed owners to go to court endlessly,
endlessly and endlessly, and argue the toss as to what
was a pit-bull terrier and a pit-bull terrier type. In
fact, the Kennel Club and the RSPCA had issued
very clear definitions of what was a pit-bull terrier
and pit-bull terrier types: photographs, drawings,
everything. However, all of that was thrown into
confusion by that amendment and so it became very
diYcult to achieve the result of elimination. What is
the result? Children are still killed by pit-bull terriers.
A child was killed in Merseyside a year ago by a pit-
bull terrier. I do not think that any dog is worth the
death of a child. I start with a very simple
proposition. What is happening today is that pit-bull
terriers are bred, pit-bull terrier puppies are sold for
£600, dogfights are held regularly all over the country
still and a good pit-bull terrier can now be worth
£100,000 in winnings. That would have all stopped if
the Bill had been properly implemented in the way
that I intended. So, this is a case of legislation being
changed fundamentally by subsequent legislation
making it very diYcult to operate. Clearly, the Bill
should be re-amended. I think that you should have
the determination to do it. Each year, one or two
children are mauled or killed by dangerous dogs and
I think that that is unacceptable. When a dog is killed
by a pack of hounds, the House of Commons debates
it for 700 hours. When a child is killed or mauled by
a dog, it does not get debated in the House of
Commons at all now. Are you satisfied with that? I
am not.
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Q77 Lord Wallace of Tankerness: It was interesting
that you prefaced your discussion on the Dangerous
Dogs Act by saying that sometimes it is held up as
being the wrong way to legislate. The Committee has
received evidence from the Law Society of England
and Wales which says that legislation introduced in a
rushed manner is invariably bad and that the
standard example would be the Dangerous Dogs Act,
1991. I think you have given a good riposte to that
but you may want to elaborate. You have given an
explanation in terms of the Aggravated Vehicle
Taking Act as to what led up to the Dangerous Dogs
Act. Surely there is a distinction to be made between
whether the legislation was right and an appropriate
response and a second question as to whether it
should have been fast-tracked. With hindsight, do
you believe that in both cases it was right to fast-
track them?
Lord Baker of Dorking: I would defend the position
that was taken, yes. If one had brought in aggravated
vehicle taking in a normal way in the Queen’s Speech,
nothing could have been done for a year. Similarly,
with the dog legislation, nothing could be done for a
year. If you decide quickly after the Queen’s Speech
that something in the Queen’s Speech is needed extra
because of public concern or for one reason or
another, you have the timescale to consult more
widely and you can introduce the Bill, say, in January
or February. When you are dealing in the spring and
summer, it does present sheer diYculty with the
timing.

Q78 Lord Rowlands: You can carry bills over these
days which you did not have the power to do.
Lord Baker of Dorking: Yes, you could. You could
certainly do it. I thought as Home Secretary that
something needed to be done about both of these at
the time. That was a political judgment which I made
and which I am fully prepared to defend despite of the
Law Society’s comments on this. If the Bill had been
implemented as it was drafted and administered as it
was drafted, it would have been eVective.

Q79 Lord Wallace of Tankerness: You indicated that
there had been some third thinking being given before
the events happened that triggered fast-tracking. For
our purposes, what was the process by which it was
decided that these bills should be fast-tracked? I think
you have already indicated that you had to go to the
Cabinet. What policy work and consultation were
you able to carry out able to carry out prior to
bringing the Bill forward?
Lord Baker of Dorking: It was quite interesting with
dogs because the Prime Minister contacted me and
his proposal was to destroy all pit-bulls immediately.
This was John Major and he was very, very concerned
about it. I did explain to him that it was quite

draconian to bring in a measure to destroy all pit-
bulls immediately—it is like taking away Sir Fred
Goodwin’s pension and not anybody else’s. It was
quite diYcult legislation and I said that it was a little
draconian. I came up with a version that we could do
it over time. What was in the thinking of the Home
OYce at the time? As I said, there had been the
consultation a year on dangerous dogs, a wide
consultation actually involving all bodies and we had
a great many responses. We were thinking of doing
something on dangerous dogs because the Bill not
only dealt with pit-bull terriers, it dealt with having
a dog out of control in a public place and there were
several prosecutions for that each year. In the first few
years, you saw the number of pit-bull terriers decline
but, when it was amended, they went up. What else
was there? We had representations and I met all the
interested dog bodies, the Kennel Club, the RSPCA
in particular, the Veterinary Association and the
College of Veterinary Surgeons. All those people
came in. There was also a famous dog psychologist,
Mr Mumford—I think he is still around—who had
written a thesis saying that the mind of pit-bull terrier
was totally diVerent from any other sort of dog. So,
he was there, as it were, on our side but he often
appeared, when the law was changed, on the side of
the claimant saying that it was not quite like it was.
So, as I said, you have to choose your friends in this
particular area quite carefully. We did take as much
advice as we could—it is not done literally on the
back of an envelope by any manner of means—and
we discussed it of course with all the law oYcers and
all the legal advisers to the Government. It was
rushed through but it was not rushed through
carelessly.

Q80 Lord Rowlands: If I may keep on responding to
your statements, everybody seems to have been
consulted except the parliamentarians who, if you
fast-track, are pushed to the side in a sense. Their
activity is curtailed. Following Lord Norton’s point,
I have always thought that governments ought to
strengthen the legislation, to actually sweat, perspire,
work for it because I think that it helps to think about
the content and the size of it.
Lord Baker of Dorking: I do not dissent from that in
general. I fully agree.

Q81 Lord Rowlands: Therefore, any attempt to
short-circuit it has to be really justified as opposed to
be convenient or helpful. In that situation, surely we
ought to limit fast-track bills to where a minister
would have to get up and say, “Unless we do it this
week, the markets are going to be in total chaos” or
“Unless we do it this week, prisoners will be able to
leap out of gaols” or whatever it is. There has to be a
sense of immediacy as opposed to a feeling of, well,
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we have to do something to respond to public
pressure.
Lord Baker of Dorking: There were two cases, one
after the other, of pit-bull terriers savaging people—
one chap had his whole face eaten away by two pit-
bull terriers—and they came in quite quick
succession and we examined it. Now, suppose I had
decided not to do anything and, at the end of July,
another child had been killed by a pit-bull terrier.
What would they have been saying to me as Home
Secretary?

Q82 Lord Rowlands: Okay, I understand the
pressures. At the same time, are we talking about
days or weeks? Both Houses need weeks to really
check this bill through and check it out..
Lord Baker of Dorking: It took several weeks to get the
proposals through the Cabinet and through the
House of Commons and the House of Lords. I do not
remember the timing. Does your Clerk know the
timing? Is the Clerk able to tell me how many days in
the Commons and how many days in the Lords?
Chairman: The Clerk believes that it went through the
Commons in one day.

Q83 Lord Rowlands: Are you saying that that was so
central because maybe the day after that somebody
might have been bitten? Surely you cannot ride
roughshod over parliamentarian procedures.
Lord Baker of Dorking: I am amazed at my persuasive
powers to persuade the House to do it in one day. No-
one was objecting to this. The MPs all said that this
was necessary. I was not steamrolling them because I
agree with you. I think that legislation should be
taken in a staged way through the House, which does
not happen now. When you are in the House of
Lords, you have no control over it. How long did it
take the House of Lords?
Chairman: The Clerk is not sure.

Q84 Lord Peston: Following on from Lord
Rowlands, the point about the Dangerous Dogs Act
and pit-bull terriers is that they did not suddenly
become dangerous dogs. Presumably they were
always dangerous dogs and there were always
problems but something else hit the system,
presumably the red tops, and that is why this moved.
The important question is, why precisely were you
required to do this? It is not like an economic crisis
which comes out of nowhere and you have to act. Pit-
bills did not have a genetic change and suddenly went
from cuddly toys to dangerous dogs.
Lord Baker of Dorking: I agree with that entirely. The
incidents were the events which persuaded me that
change was necessary. If it happened again today
and, let us say, two or three children were killed by
pit-bull terriers in the course of about two or three
weeks, do you think that there would be pressure not

to reform the Dangerous Dogs Act? There would
certainly be enormous pressure to do it and, what is
more, the pressure would be to do it as soon as
possible. So, the system has to be able to respond to
that and I think that it did respond to it, quite
eVectively in my view, and I was justified in both cases
in the bills about which we are talking.
In the absence of the Chairman, Lord Morris of Aberavon
took the Chair

Q85 Lord Wallace of Tankerness: You gave a very
extensive list of consultees who were consulted for the
Dangerous Dogs Act. Given how far legislation went
through, parliamentarians probably did not have the
same access to that level of expertise in the time
available. Do you see that as possibly being a
weakness or should parliamentarians be geared up?
Lord Baker of Dorking: I cannot recall but I feel
almost certain that the Kennel Club and the RSPCA
would have briefed Members of Parliament as the
Bill went through; I am almost certain that they
would have done that. Certainly the police oYcers in
the case of aggravated vehicle taking did brief
Members of Parliament and did brief Members of the
House of Lords because they are interested parties in
all this, not only just the Government, and their views
have to be solicited and the RSPCA obviously had to
have a view on this legislation and they would have
informed Members of Parliament on it. Both went
through with very little controversy. I do not recall
anybody saying that the Bill should not pass.

Q86 Lord Norton of Louth: In a way this is a follow
up to the point. Maybe there is no answer to it, it is
really a matter for Parliament, but when you have a
moral panic, the Opposition is going to be swept up
in it rather as much as the Government and therefore
what you get is a stitch-up between the parties to
accept that the legislation will go through very
quickly in a day and, as regards the outside interest,
it may be in their interest to make the case for that
and want it to go through. The question is, is there a
parliamentary mechanism that could be employed,
say it is going through in a day and it meets all stages
of the floor of the House, whether this is something
that Parliament could do or, if not, are we going to
fall back on what I think is a very good point you are
making that, after enactment, there should very
quickly be a review of the eVect? You have been
responsible for bills which are freestanding and
therefore you could review them after the event. I am
just wondering how one tackles the other area you
mentioned which is putting something into a bill that
is going through.
Lord Baker of Dorking: I would favour not a sunset
clause because clearly it was unnecessary in the case
of aggravated vehicle taking; it has clearly been
accepted as an oVence which is used widely. I would
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not have a sunset clause but I would have a clause
that the eVectiveness of this legislation should be
reported to Parliament after two years and after
another two years. If that had happened in the case
of dangerous dogs, the Home Secretary of the day
would be able to show that the Bill was working
rather well and that the number of pit-bull terriers
was actually in decline and was going to die out.
Therefore, he would have had some power to resist
the pressure to reform the Bill fundamentally and
change it so that in fact it was reversed. I would
favour a clause in the Bill saying something like that
if a bill is fast-tracked, there should be a proper report
to Parliament, to both Houses obviously, as to the
eVectiveness of it and, if it seemed to be eVective, then
it would become part and parcel of the political
framework of our country. That I would favour,
definitely.

Q87 Lord Morris of Aberavon: Lord Baker, with
hindsight, are there any bills which have been fast-
tracked, looking back on your long experience, which
ought not to have been fast-tracked?
Lord Baker of Dorking: I cannot really recall any.
Being a member of the Government, it has refreshed
my memory by going through this list of examples
that you gave and I had to recall some of them. I
remember ministers coming to the Government and
simply putting it to the Cabinet and simply saying
that this has to be done for various reasons, what I
would call the automatic reasons, but that legislation
first has to go to a subcommittee of the Cabinet, it has
to go to the Legislative Committee of the Cabinet and
it has to go to the Cabinet Minister who has been
charged with arranging the legislation of the House
and it was really just a matter of report to the
Cabinet. We would not have comments on it. By the
process of going through the appropriate committee,
usually the Legislation Subcommittee of the Cabinet,
other ministers were obviously on that and could
make comments upon it, but many of these matters
were so technical, particularly on bringing the law up
to date and particularly on treaty matters and things
of that sort . . . I have just remembered. The most
measures that went through absolutely fast-tracked
were the measures in the 1970s to create a State of
Emergency. You may remember those. I remember
Robert Carr as Home Secretary standing at the bar of
the House of Commons holding up a paper saying, “I
have a message from Her Majesty that we must
decree immediately a State of Emergency”. It was in
the three-day week period. Do you remember that? It
was all fast-tracked stuV and I think that your
Government used it occasionally in the mid 1970s.
That is real, but that is a process, that you created a
state of emergency overnight, and that has huge
consequences. The Government had all sorts of
powers that they never had.

Q88 Lord Morris of Aberavon: Harking back to
what Lord Rowlands was saying earlier, we are all
members and all aware of the consultation within
government of persuading your colleagues. What is
important is the time given to Parliament and
whether that has perhaps occasionally been
telescoped. I have taken a bill, which was not an
emergency bill, to reform the OYce of the Attorney
General through all its stages in the Commons in nine
minutes flat.
Lord Baker of Dorking: Were you the Attorney
General at the time?

Q89 Lord Morris of Aberavon: Yes. I think it was
1997. That is the issue of time for Parliament as
opposed to time for consultation generally.
Lord Baker of Dorking: Yes.

Q90 Lord Morris of Aberavon: Do you have any
doubts looking back in your long memory whether
Parliament has been given enough time or should
they have been given more time?
Lord Baker of Dorking: I think on the example that
you gave you were the Attorney General and if, in
your judgment, those powers had to be changed in
some way and if people who had previously held your
post agreed with you, then, quite frankly, no-one in
Parliament would object. You were the experts in
this.

Q91 Lord Morris of Aberavon: In that case, there is
no need to fast-track. You can let the consensus
work.
Lord Baker of Dorking: It requires some sort of
process even for nine minutes. It required a change in
some law.

Q92 Lord Lyell of Markyate: I was the Shadow by
that time and I think we had prepared the Bill when
I was the Attorney. We were in complete agreement
and it was not fast-tracked, it is just that there were
only two people pretty well in the House and one was
Lord Morris and the other was Nicholas Lyell and
that was about it!
Lord Baker of Dorking: That seems a fairly benign
system!
Lord Morris of Aberavon: Perhaps we can move on
because we will lose some members later and turn to
the next question.

Q93 Lord Rodgers of Quarry Bank: May I go back to
the add-ons and two diVerent kinds of add-ons. The
first is a question of whether we tack on to an
emergency bill something which is not urgent at all.
You may have some experience of that or memories
of it. At the same time, we have been talking about
wholly new provisions. You mentioned—and we
fully understand it—that there are often major
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amendments within the publication of the Finance
Bill in particular. I think there may be a number of
similar references, if I may say so before your time
though Lord Morris will remember the Prices and
Incomes Bill in 1966 which is carved on my heart
where it turned from a voluntary to compulsory
provision.
Lord Baker of Dorking: I remember it.

Q94 Lord Rodgers of Quarry Bank: Very recently of
course in the Counter-Terrorism Bill, 2008; it might
have been section 2 though I am not sure. Do you
think that there is any rule which could be treated as
fast-tracked emergency bills and, if there is a formula,
an acceptable formula, or is this entirely a matter for
political judgment or parliamentary power and, if the
Government of the day want to tack something on or
alternatively if they want to make a major switch
almost reversing parts. . . ? Do you think that there
are any rules?
Lord Baker of Dorking: There were rules I think in the
1960s and the 1970s because the long title of the bill
in the 1960s and 1970s was usually much tighter than
it became and governments observed that convention
rather more than they have done since. The long title
of a bill now seems to be very wide indeed and it does
kind of have a Christmas tree eVect. The terrorism
legislation was very interesting because it was always
deemed necessary to mention the Terrorism Act,
which was then principally on Irish matters, which
had to be renewed each year and there was a debate.
It allowed Parliament to have a debate on the whole
process, basically on the terrorist threat. It was
always approved and it was always continued, but it
allowed Parliament to comment upon it which I
thought was very necessary. I think that some of the
provisions introduced by Mr Blair in responding to a
diVerent type of terrorism should also have been
subject to that more regular parliamentary review in
my judgment. A number of them were subject to
statutory instrument review of one sort or another,
but I do not think that that is quite strong enough.
When you are dealing with something as
fundamental as terrorism, you have to balance the
need of the State to take eVective measures to counter
terrorism but also you have to balance it with the
rights of citizens which are in one way or another
going to be infringed. I think that there should be
separate provision for that sort of legislation. On
Prices and Incomes, I was a junior minister on the
Counter-Inflation Act, Ted Heath’s Act, that
followed your policy—both disastrous policies as it
turned out—on the statutory control of prices and
incomes and that Counter-Inflation Bill was not
guillotined, that I do recall, because here was this
rather hapless government team—I was part of it—
trying to justify statutory prices and incomes policy
against the best debaters in the House, Enoch Powell,

Nick Ridley, John BiVen and Brian Waldon all
ranged against us and the debates went on forever
and a day and they were brilliant debates, quite the
best debates you have ever had about the whole
nature of statutory prices and incomes policy. There
was no limitation then on parliamentary discussion.
You used at the end of your question the words
“power of government” and I think that
governments like to use their power for all sorts of
reasons when they want something to be done and
something has to be done and that is usually at the
expense of some parliamentary scrutiny of one sort or
another. I think that governments have to justify it
and particularly on economic measures and on Home
OYce measures because they are the most sensitive.
On other measures, you usually have to require
fundamental legislation. When you are dealing with
caravan acts, you cannot add a bit to a bill going
through changing caravan policy. On Home OYce
matters particularly changes to the criminal justice
system and in economic matters, changes that involve
the Treasury, I think that Parliament should exert as
much of a degree of scrutiny as they can on those
measures.

Q95 Lord Rowlands: I think that the Prices and
Incomes Bill went into August; I think that we ran
into August that year.
Lord Baker of Dorking: In 1966?

Q96 Lord Rowlands: Yes,
Lord Baker of Dorking: That was the first one.

Q97 Lord Rowlands: You mentioned the question of
renewal orders. We have received some evidence from
Mr Brice Dickson who is a Professor of International
and Comparative Law, and he says on that: “The
timing made available for debating proposed renewal
orders was very short, for many years
Parliamentarians were presented with very little
evidence indicating how the Act had been
implemented up to then, and when, eventually, the
government appointed an independent reviewer. . . “
Was it a very satisfactory way of renewing something
that was a piece of emergency legislation originally by
just renewing it each year?
Lord Baker of Dorking: Is this the Prevention of
Terrorism Act?

Q98 Lord Rowlands: Yes.
Lord Baker of Dorking: I think it meant that it had to
be debated again.

Q99 Lord Rowlands: Yes, I think it was annually.
Lord Baker of Dorking: That was important in itself
because it was very sensitive legislation on which
people have very entrenched views and I thought it
was and I had to do it when I was Home Secretary
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twice or three times I think. Therefore, I had to
answer the public concerns expressed by Members of
Parliament on the legislation and that was a good
exercise.

Q100 Lord Rowlands: So, you do not share Mr
Dickson’s view that this point became a rather
perfunctory process and there was very little evidence
given as to how the Act was working?
Lord Baker of Dorking: One had to reply and respond
as Home Secretary to how the Act was operating.
There was not a formal report to Parliament saying
that it had to.

Q101 Lord Rowlands: There was no post-legislative
scrutiny in that sense.
Lord Baker of Dorking: No, there was not. I have to
say that I thought that was a good process on very
controversial legislation.

Q102 Lord Peston: One thing that we know about
the world in which we live is that the unexpected
always happens but, by definition, the unexpected is
not able to be forecast.
Lord Baker of Dorking: Yes.

Q103 Lord Peston: If you look at legislation, is it
preferable, given that we are always legislating in an
uncertain world, that we ought regularly as a matter
of course to give the Minister powers to deal with
events that we know are going to happen and we
know what they are by order to modify what the law
is or is it preferable that they should be told, “No, you
have to go back and change the primary legislation
but the option remains to fast-track”? Which is the
better way?
Lord Baker of Dorking: I think that speaking to a
former Attorney General, he must have been asked
several times as to whether a particular act gave the
Minister power to change a matter by order or not
and by statutory instrument and other oYcers will
advise him on this matter. It was usually a matter of
law. Sometimes the Act gave the Minister power not
to have primary legislation and other times it could
be done by statutory instrument. If the measure is so
involved in the particular Act, then the statutory
instrument is a sensible way to do it. Very often, the
powers do not exist in the Act for the Minister to do
it. The Home Secretary cannot fundamentally create
an oVence just if he thinks that an oVence should be
created by a statutory instrument. The Home
Secretary has to go to Parliament with an act to create
statutory oVences. I think that is still the case; I do
not think that has been changed since I was Home
Secretary and it was certainly the case in my time. So,
the Home Secretary cannot write the criminal justice
system just because he wants it one way or another
and I think that is correct. I think that it does depend.

I would not confer broad powers on ministers to
legislate on urgent modifications because you can
never know what the urgent modification is and that
will give too much power to the Executive in my view.
I think that the Executive has to justify changes of
significance like creating new oVences for example or
changing the penalties on oVences. The Home
Secretary cannot wake up one morning and say, “I
think now for statutory rape 30 years’ mandatory”.
He just cannot do that. He has to try and justify it if
he thinks that whereas I am quite sure that Mr
Chavez in Venezuela could do that.

Q104 Lord Peston: Your answer really is that we
must keep very strict limits on what ministers can do
by order.
Lord Baker of Dorking: Yes.

Q105 Lord Peston: But you do not think that we
have infringed those limits already.
Lord Baker of Dorking: No.

Q106 Lord Peston: You think that we have kept
within reasonable limits.
Lord Baker of Dorking: I think they are kept within
reasonable limits but there is always a tendency to
increase them year by year, quite frankly. As I recall
the terrorist legislation of the last decade, quite a lot
is done by subordinate order now on grounds of
emergency and urgency and I think that should be
reviewed.

Q107 Lord Morris of Aberavon: Are there any
diYculties with which you may or may not be able to
assist us arising from fast-tracking, either drafting or
policy-wise which, had there been more time before
Parliament—and I come back to this—might not
have arisen? Do you know any?
Lord Baker of Dorking: Again, I would have been
quite happy in the case of the two bills with which I
was concerned in making available to a backbench
scrutiny committee the Chief Constables, for
example. They could have appeared before them and
put the case that they put to me to a committee. I can
see no harm in that at all, quite frankly, and I would
have been quite happy for the RSPCA and the
Kennel Club to have given their evidence because
they supported the Bill at that time. I do not think
that it would have held up the legislation very much
and the Members of the House of Commons who
were interested would ask questions and probe a little
and ask and see how it was going to work and I think
that would have been a helpful process. I do not think
that it would necessarily hold up the fast-tracking all
that much, quite frankly. I was a member of the great
Procedure Committee from 1975 to 1979 and one of
its major recommendations was pre-legislative
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scrutiny and that has been honoured more in the
breach then in the observance.

Q108 Lord Wallace of Tankerness: Following on,
that is one way of tackling fast-track legislation but it
means taking evidence and—
Lord Baker of Dorking: It was not in both Houses. I
was quite happy to join the Members in that
particular case for the interested people to say, but I
think that it has to be a reasonable number. If you are
doing fast-track legislation, you cannot have Uncle
Tom Cobbley and all turning up. You have to have
the reasonable interested parties.

Q109 Lord Wallace of Tankerness: Perhaps I may
invite your response to some of the other suggestions
that have been made to us about the practical
safeguards that you could put in place if a bill has
been fast-tracked. It has been suggested for example
that there ought to be a certification by a minister in
charge of the bill with a reason given in the
explanatory notes, some form of post-legislative
scrutiny that you have already mentioned might be
appropriate. Sunset clauses or perhaps a particular
form of sunset clause if it is fast-tracked because that
is going to be a substantive bill in the next session. I
would be interested in your views from your
experience of some of the procedural mechanisms
that we might look at to try and get some sort of
framework around fast-track legislation.
Lord Baker of Dorking: I think that certification by a
minister would reinforce the statement he would
obviously have to make on Second Reading and I can
see no harm in that at all; I realise there are reasons
why it has to be done. He would have to do that in his
speech anyway at Second Reading and of course he
would have already contacted his own party’s
Backbench Committee that is involved in that and
talk to them and talk them through it, and I dare say
that the Shadow Minister would have contacted his
own Backbench Committee that deals with it as well.
The certification I have no problem with. I am in
favour of post-legislative scrutiny of fast-track
legislation. I am not in favour of a sunset clause. In
the two bills with which I was concerned I do not
think that would have been eVective. Sunset clauses
are quite draconian things, so I am not in favour of
that. Have their provisions replaced by a new bill in
a subsequent session—I would not play with that
particularly; I think that you have to have time to see
whether it is eVective or not and subsequent sessions
is too soon because, after a bill has been actually
passed into law, let us say by July of each year,
anybody who has been a minister will know that it
takes some time to get advice out to the various
interested parties and probably it is not actually in
force until about December in most cases.

Q110 Lord Wallace of Tankerness: In terms of the
review which you seem to support and of course it is
horses for courses in such cases like counter-
terrorism, an aYrmative order, or with dangerous
dogs, a report.
Lord Baker of Dorking: Yes.

Q111 Lord Wallace of Tankerness: Are there any
other kinds of review which you think might be
useful?
Lord Baker of Dorking: I think that a report to
Parliament would be a very good device so that it
becomes a document, two pages, four pages, six
pages, eight pages; how many prosecutions there
have been or whatever the case may be. In the case of
banks, how many banks have been saved or not saved
and how much has been raised this way and that way.
It would be very interesting to know and to report
back so that you can put all this mass of information
together, particularly in economic matters. We are
sailing into such unchartered seas that, quite frankly,
one wants some oYcial report back on what all these
measures are doing. I am not making a political point
at all, not one every week but one would like some
system of report back as to what one has done in
September, October and November.

Q112 Lord Norton of Louth: On post-legislative
scrutiny, the Government have now accepted the case
and some acts are going to be reviewed after three to
five years after enactment—
Lord Baker of Dorking: It is going to happen
automatically?

Q113 Lord Norton of Louth: Yes, it just comes out as
a command paper, so they have started that, so acts
passed in 2005—
Lord Baker of Dorking: In both Houses?

Q114 Lord Norton of Louth: It is a review by the
department which is then published as a command
paper.
Lord Baker of Dorking: I see, so it will be those of
both Houses.

Q115 Lord Norton of Louth: Yes.
Lord Baker of Dorking: The Ofcom Bill was done like
that, was it not? The Ofcom Bill was pre-legislative
scrutiny by both Houses, was it not?

Q116 Lord Norton of Louth: Yes, the Joint
Committee, but this is post-legislative, so after three
to five years—
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Lord Baker of Dorking: This is post-legislative?

Q117 Lord Norton of Louth: Yes, so three to five
years after enactment, a measure will be reviewed by
a department and then a report published as a
command paper.
Lord Baker of Dorking: I was not aware of that.

Q118 Lord Norton of Louth: The point I was going
to pick up on is that the Government say three to five
years after enactment, which is reasonable in terms of
normal legislation, but I take from what you are
saying that, if it has been fast-tracked, it really ought
to be a quicker timescale.
Lord Baker of Dorking: Yes. I was not aware of that
provision. I would have said within two years. I can
see no reason why it should not be two years.

Q119 Lord Rowlands: I am a little surprised at your
sweeping denunciation of sunset clauses because this
House has imposed a couple of sunset clauses on bills
very recently which I thought had quite a lot of
consent and support.
Lord Baker of Dorking: Which were they?

Q120 Lord Morris of Aberavon: There was one on a
bill which was being ping-ponged about three or four
weeks ago.
Lord Baker of Dorking: Was there? Was that on the
days of detention? I do not think that it was. I think
that the review process is better than a sunset clause
because you might be dealing with perfect legislation
which you are dealing with in the aggravated vehicle
taking and the Dangerous Dogs Act. It is the
subsequent action that has made one imperfect.

Q121 Lord Morris of Aberavon: I am advised that
there was some kind of sunset clause in the Northern
Rock Bill.
Lord Baker of Dorking: What does that sunset clause
do? Does it stop it happening?
Baroness Quin: It means that it expires unless it is
renewed. Unless it is formally renewed, the legislation
ceases to exist.

Q122 Lord Morris of Aberavon: What I understand
from the Legal Adviser is that what you could call the
Northern Rock Bill, the Banking Special Provisions
Act of last year, had a sunset clause which brought it
to an end in February, which is why the current
Banking Bill has been going through the House.
Lord Baker of Dorking: So, the Government had only
powers under that bill to nationalise banks until
February, so it had to take further powers under the
next bill.
Lord Rowlands: That came from pressure from this
House.

Q123 Baroness Quin: The next few question relates
to the scrutiny roles of the Commons and Lords and
how they can complement each other. What do you
see as the advantages and disadvantages of each
House considering a bill simultaneously for at least
part of its passage through Parliament rather than in
turn and do you have a view as to whether the House
of Lords has a special role or responsibility in relation
to bills that have been fast-tracked through the
Commons?
Lord Baker of Dorking: I think that I would still
favour the sequential process of one House at a time,
quite frankly. It is just too complicated in getting us
all together with diVerent rules and procedure and
who moves amendments and all the rest of it. I think
that it is sensible to keep the sequential change from
one House to another. Your second question was. . . ?

Q124 Baroness Quin: About whether the House of
Lords has any special role in relation to fast-tracked
legislation.
Lord Baker of Dorking: I think that it is a role if the
House of Lords wishes to assume it because debating
on the House is not curtailed and it is a question for
the House to decide. In a way, I am always a little
surprised that certain measures are not delayed more
in the House in debate. Having come from the
Commons, one of the main forces of debate was held
up in debates in the Commons in that time and that
was a little extravagant at times. I had to sit and
endure as a minister the longest parliamentary speech
of 11 hours during the BT bill—11 hours. It was a
spectacular performance. That is going a little far.
The House of Lords has the power to delay bills very
extensively which it does not use by simply extending
the time of debate and our procedures have great
diYculty in stopping that. If the Lords were
determined to filibuster a bill, quite apart from ping-
pong, but the Lords do not do that, they behave as
gentlemen or gentle ladies. They do not do that. In a
hung Parliament—and we have yet to test all this—
in very narrow majorities and hung parliaments, only
time will tell.

Q125 Lord Peston: We have posed a motion that the
noble Lord no longer be heard. We normally do that
not for delay reasons but—
Lord Baker of Dorking: Boredom?

Q126 Lord Peston: In fact, we have not done it for
quite some time, but I do think that we have the
power to bring a speech to an end.
Lord Baker of Dorking: Yes, that is true, but a
government minister has to do it. That would
actually be debatable, almost certainly debatable.



Processed: 07-07-2009 20:21:20 Page Layout: LOENEW [O] PPSysB Job: 427327 Unit: PAG3

39emergency legislation, constitution committee: evidence

4 March 2009 Lord Baker of Dorking

Q127 Lord Norton of Louth: It is.
Lord Baker of Dorking: It has never come up in the
Lords. I am always fascinated to see how far one goes
or does not go in the Lords.

Q128 Lord Peston: I think I have been present at a
motion that the noble Lord be no longer heard. We
are talking about many years ago. We now behave
incredibly well, as you say
Lord Baker of Dorking: I do think that the House of
Lords has the power certainly to take much longer
time to examine legislation of this sort and, if there

are concerns and anxieties, it should exercise that
power and responsibility.

Q129 Lord Morris of Aberavon: Thank you very
much, Lord Baker, for giving us your time. It has
refreshed our minds on the Dangerous Dogs Bill
which was extremely diYcult. This Committee is less
concerned with substance than with procedures and
constitutional propriety.
Lord Baker of Dorking: I quite understand. The
diYculty is of course that one has to always either
justify or condemn the substance in justifying the
process of fast-tracking. It is inevitable when one has
to see whether bills have succeeded or not.
Lord Morris of Aberavon: We are very grateful and
thank you very much.
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WEDNESDAY 11 MARCH 2009

Present Goodlad, L (Chairman) Quin, B
Morris of Aberavon, L Rodgers of Quarry Bank, L
Norton of Louth, L Rowlands, L
Pannick, L Shaw of Northstead, L
Peston, L

Memorandum by JUSTICE

Introduction

1. Founded in 1957, JUSTICE is a UK-based human rights and law reform organisation. Its mission is to
advance justice, human rights and the rule of law. It is the British section of the International Commission
of Jurists.

2. JUSTICE welcomes the Committee’s inquiry on emergency legislation. In our view, provision for
emergency legislation raises constitutional issues of the highest importance.

3. On the one hand, it is important that both the law and the law-making process are suYciently flexible to
address situations that require urgent action. The very nature of most emergencies is that they arise unforeseen,
yet it is inevitable that crises will arise and it would be irresponsible for Parliament not to make some allowance
for the need to make laws quickly and eVectively should circumstances demand it.

4. On the other hand, exceptional law-making powers and laws made in exceptional circumstances are rarely
congenial to democratic norms. History is filled with examples of emergency powers being corrupted or
abused, from the appointment of dictators rei gerundae causa in the days of the Roman Republic to the
invocation of emergency powers in Weimar Germany. Even where the emergency is real, measures taken in an
emergency frequently prove to be grossly disproportionate, unconstitutional and/or incompatible with
fundamental rights (eg Lincoln’s suspension of habeas corpus during the Civil War, the introduction of
indefinite detention without charge under Part 4 of the Anti-Terrorism Crime and Security Act 2001).

Is it possible to provide a practical definition of “emergency legislation?” If so, what is it?

5. In JUSTICE’s view, a practical definition of “emergency legislation” is any legislation made or used in
anticipation of, or in response to, an emergency or other immediate need.

6. We recognise that this definition itself begs the definition of “emergency”. In our view, a practical definition
should not be limited to any statutory definition of “emergency”,1 but ought to include any situation where
Parliament legislates on an expedited basis to address some urgent situation (eg legislation dealing with witness
protection or terrorist financing). A practical definition should also have regard to the large amount of
ordinary legislation that may be used to address emergency situations, eg police powers, NHS regulations, etc.
It should in addition consider the many powers in ordinary legislation whose exercise may be qualified or
justified by reference to some exceptional circumstance, urgency or practicality.2

What examples would you give of when emergency legislation has been approved by Parliament in the recent past? Was
the case for emergency legislation adequately made in such cases?

7. Three recent examples of emergency legislation are the Anti-Terrorism Crime and Security Act 2001, the
Prevention of Terrorism Act 2005, and the Criminal Evidence (Witness Anonymity) Act 2008.

The Anti-Terrorism Crime and Security Act 2001

8. The Anti-Terrorism Crime and Security Bill was introduced in Parliament on 12 November 2001, two
months following the 9/11 attacks. The government set out the need for urgency in the Human Rights Act
1998 (Designated Derogation) Order 2001 that was laid before Parliament on the same day as the Bill:3

There exists a terrorist threat to the United Kingdom from persons suspected of involvement in
international terrorism. In particular, there are foreign nationals present in the United Kingdom who are
suspected of being concerned in the commission, preparation or instigation of acts of international

1 See eg sections 1 and 19 of the Civil Contingencies Act 2004.
2 See eg section 7(2)(a) of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 allows a senior oYcial (instead of the Secretary of State) to

sign an interception warrant in “urgent” cases.
3 SI 2001/3644.
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terrorism, of being members of organisations or groups which are so concerned or of having links with
members of such organisations or groups, and who are a threat to the national security of the United
Kingdom. As a result, a public emergency, within the meaning of Article 15(1) of the [European
Convention on Human Rights], exists in the United Kingdom.

9. The Act, containing 14 Parts and eight schedules, was passed by Parliament in 32 days. Most notably, Part
4 of the Act empowered the Home Secretary to detain without trial foreign nationals he suspected of being
international terrorists. However, other parts of the Act introduced a number of general powers whose scope
was not limited to terrorism, eg the asset freezing provisions of Part 2. In December 2003, a committee of Privy
Counsellors chaired by Lord Newton of Braintree criticised the inclusion of such measures:4

By definition, an emergency timetable does not allow the normal opportunities for full and detailed
Parliamentary scrutiny. Enacting provisions in this way that apply to all crime, and not just to terrorism,
including provisions which had previously been rejected by Parliament, ran the risk of undermining the
usual consensus for recognising the responsibility of the Government of the day for public safety and
for giving it greater discretion when approving legislation presented under emergency conditions. This
underlines the importance of restricting emergency legislation of this sort to dealing with terrorism, rather
than using it as a vehicle for addressing more general criminal justice issues.

10. In its judgment in the Belmarsh case in December 2004, the House of Lords quashed the order containing
the derogation, holding that although the terrorist threat to the UK constituted a “public emergency
threatening the life of the nation” within the meaning of Article 15 of the Convention, the indefinite detention
of foreign nationals could not be said to be “strictly required by the exigencies of the situation”.5 On the
19 February 2009, the Grand Chamber of the European Court of Human Rights agreed with the analysis of
the House of Lords:6

The choice by the Government and Parliament of an immigration measure to address what was
essentially a security issue had the result of failing adequately to address the problem, while imposing a
disproportionate and discriminatory burden of indefinite detention on one group of suspected terrorists.
As the House of Lords found, there was no significant diVerence in the potential adverse impact of
detention without charge on a national or on a non-national who in practice could not leave the country
because of fear of torture abroad.

11. On 8 October 2008, Part 2 of the 2001 Act was used to make the Landsbanki Freezing Order 2008, freezing
not only the assets of the eponymous bank but also those of several other bodies including the government of
Iceland.7 As two academics recently argued, although the order may be well lawful, it nonetheless constitutes
a “dangerous use” of legislation passed in response to a terrorist threat:8

It is hard to argue that the protean term “national security” is wholly irrelevant, but there is surely a
conceptual diVerence between a threat from an attack and an economic collapse. It must be remembered
that the [2001 Act] was rushed through Parliament after 9/11, allowing scant debate on many of its
parts …. As a result, the Government’s use of the [2001 Act], while technically legal, amounts to an
invocation of a law which was never designed to be implemented against friendly governments as a
reaction to an economic crash.

The Prevention of Terrorism Act 2005

12. The Prevention of Terrorism Bill was introduced in Parliament on 23 February 2005, two months after
the judgment of the House of Lords in the Belmarsh case.9

13. However, despite an earlier declaration of incompatibility by SIAC in 2002, the warning of the Newton
Committee in December 2003 that indefinite detention should be replaced “as a matter of urgency”,10 and the
Home OYce’s own six month consultation on terrorism powers launched in February 2004,11 the government
4 Anti-Terrorism Crime and Security Act Review 2001 (HC 100, 18 December 2003), p5. Emphasis added.
5 A and others v Secretary of State for the Home Department [2004] 56 per Lord Bingham at para 44: “Assuming, as one must, that there

is a public emergency threatening the life of the nation, measures which derogate from article 5 are permissible only to the extent strictly
required by the exigencies of the situation, and it is for the derogating state to prove that that is so. The reasons given by SIAC do not
warrant its conclusion”.

6 A and others v United Kingdom (19 February 2009), para 186.
7 SI 2008/2668 as amended by SI 2008/2766.
8 C Walker and G Lennon, “Hot money in a cold climate” [2009] Public Law 37 and 39–40.
9 See n5 above.
10 See n4 above, p8.
11 Counter-Terrorism Powers: Reconciling Security and Liberty in an Open Society, Cm 6147 (Home OYce: February 2004). In his forward

to the consultation, the then-Home Secretary David Blunkett MP wrote “I … hope this document will begin a wider debate over the
next months. It is important that this debate should be inclusive and genuinely consultative. I am therefore proposing a far longer
period of consultation—six months—than would normally be the case …. The debate needs to begin now so that we—Parliament and
the wider public—can reach an informed judgement on how to proceed in the years ahead” [emphasis added].
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did not appear to have prepared for the eventuality that Part 4 of the 2001 Act might ultimately be found
incompatible with Convention rights.

14. Instead, the legislation which introduced the use of control orders was pushed through Parliament in a
mere 17 days. The government maintained that it was necessary to have the new Act in place before
14 March—the date upon which Part 4 of the 2001 Act would either have to be renewed by Parliament or else
those detained under it would be released from custody. No consideration appears to have been given to
potential alternatives, eg the enactment of transitional legislation to allow the release of the detainees on
conditional bail pending proper consultation on replacement measures. Instead, Parliament was faced with an
artificial deadline imposed by its own earlier emergency legislation of 2001.

15. As with indefinite detention under the 2001 Act, the government justified the new legislation by reference
to the serious threat posed by certain suspected terrorists:12

[Control orders] are for those dangerous individuals whom we cannot prosecute or deport, but whom we
cannot allow to go on their way unchecked because of the seriousness of the risk that they pose to
everybody else in the country.

16. Under the 2005 Act, control orders imposing a deprivation of liberty contrary to Article 5 ECHR can only
be made if the UK has derogated due to a state of emergency under Article 15 ECHR (hence the term
“derogating control orders”) and can only be made by a court. In February 2007, the Joint Committee on
Human Rights drew attention to the use of control orders imposing curfews up to 18 hours day without a
derogation. It noted that both the High Court and Court of Appeal had held that the Home Secretary had no
power to make the orders under the Act due to the severity of the conditions. The Joint Committee said:13

In our view, if the House of Lords or the European Court of Human Rights eventually decides that the
control orders which have been challenged are unlawful in the absence of a derogation, the Government
will eVectively have been operating a de facto derogation from Article 5. Knowing how the power is
currently being exercised by the Government, Parliament in our view is being asked to be complicit in
such a de facto derogation, without an opportunity to debate whether such a derogation is justified.

17. In October 2007, the House of Lords upheld the judgment of the Court of Appeal that the imposition of
18 hour curfews was unlawful.14 At the same time, it also held that the rules governing the use of secret
evidence in control order proceedings were on their face incompatible with the right to a fair hearing under
Article 6 ECHR.15

18. Since the 2005 Act was introduced, 38 people have been subject to control orders at some point, of which
seven have absconded—an apparent failure rate of nearly 20%.16 Following two ascondments in late 2006, a
junior Home OYce Minister said that he “did not believe the public was at risk” from the escaped men,17 and
the government-appointed reviewer of terrorism legislation agreed that the disappearances “present little
direct risk to public safety in the UK at the present time”.18 The striking disparity between the government’s
justification for the urgent passage of the 2005 Act (“the seriousness of the risk” posed by suspects) on the one
hand, and the seemingly negligible risk to the public following the abscondment of controlees on the other
hand, highlights another problem with the use of emergency legislation in such cases.

Criminal Evidence (Witness Anonymity) Act 2008

19. The Criminal Evidence (Witness Anonymity) Bill was introduced into Parliament on 3 July 2008, two
weeks after the judgment of the House of Lords in R v Davis was handed down.19 The Bill received its final
reading on 18 July and received Royal Assent on 21 July—a total of 18 days, of which five were taken up in
actual debate.

20. In its judgment in Davis, the House of Lords held that “the right to be confronted by one’s accusers is a
right [that has been] recognised by the common law for centuries” and that the use of anonymous witnesses
is “irreconcilable with [this] long-standing principle”. The House of Lords judgment also made clear that the
common law right to confront one’s accusers is additionally part of the right to a fair trial under Article 6(3)(d)
of the European Convention on Human Rights.
12 Rt Hon Charles Clarke MP, Hansard, HC Debates, 23 Feb 2005: Column 339. Emphasis added.
13 Counter-terrorism Policy and Human Rights: Draft Prevention of Terrorism Act 2005 (Continuance in force of sections 1 to 9) Order

2007 (HL 60/HC 365: 2007) at para 29.
14 JJ and others v Secretary of State for the Home Department [2007] UKHL 45.
15 Secretary of State for the Home Department v MB [2007] UKHL 46.
16 Lord Carlile of Berriew QC, Fourth Report of the Independent Reviewer pursuant to section 14(3) of the Prevention of Terrorism Act

2005 (3 February 2009), para 4.
17 BBC News, “Two terror suspects ‘on the run’”, 17 October 2006.
18 Lord Carlile, Report in connection with the Home Secretary’s quarterly reports to parliament on control orders (Home OYce,

11 December 2006), para 21.
19 [2008] UKHL 36.
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21. It may seem surprising that a judgment expressing such basic principles of UK law should result in
emergency legislation of any kind. The “emergency”, such as it was, resulted from a practice which had
developed in the UK since the mid-90s of police and prosecutors seeking anonymity orders from the lower
courts in order to prevent intimidation of witnesses and the identification of police oYcers involved in covert
operations. The Justice Secretary Jack Straw referred to the problem as:20

a technical defect in the law, which until [Davis] had been unidentified and unsuspected.

22. Contrary to the Justice Secretary’s claim, JUSTICE considers that the problems with the use of
anonymous witnesses had been obvious for quite some time.21 Although a large degree of responsibility must
be borne by the Court of Appeal, whose erroneous rulings encouraged the growth in applications for
anonymity, it is apparent that police, prosecutors and government also erred in relying upon those judgments
in the face of centuries of common law precedent against the use of anonymous witnesses and the clear rulings
of the European Court of Human Rights on the right to a fair trial. Since legal advice received by the
government on such matters is not disclosed, we do not know the extent to which it was advised by either the
Home OYce, the Law OYcers or Treasury Counsel that witness anonymity was compatible with the common
law or the European Convention on Human Rights. We would, however, be very surprised if that legal advice
did not disclose the very substantial likelihood that the witness anonymity rulings of the Court of Appeal
would be overturned, either by the House of Lords or by the European Court of Human Rights.

23. The resulting legislation was, in our view, poorly drafted and misconceived. In particular, insuYcient
attention was paid to the availability of alternative measures to anonymity orders, including providing
enhanced security for witnesses, granting witnesses new identities following their testimony in open court and
relocation programmes. We note for example that the United States, a far larger jurisdiction than the UK with
a much higher rate of gun crime, manages to protect its witnesses without compromising the right to a fair trial.

24. Part 3 of the Coroners and Justice Bill currently before the House of Commons aims to put the provisions
of the 2008 Act on a permanent footing.

Was the nature of parliamentary scrutiny adequate in these cases? Are interest groups able to lobby and brief
parliamentarians satisfactorily in situations where bills have an expedited passage through Parliament?

25. No. In our view, the above examples show that Parliament has a very poor track record when it comes to
providing proper scrutiny of emergency legislation, particularly where fundamental rights are engaged. The
complaint of one peer during debates on the 2008 Act epitomises the problems involved:22

I am increasingly troubled about what we are doing in this Committee stage and I wonder whether the
Minister will reassure me. A number of careful amendments have been tabled from all sides of the House
and there are more to come. Every one of them has been turned down. I understand that there is to be
no opportunity at the conclusion of this Committee stage for any further amendments to be put down
or considered by this House. If it is the view of the Government that every amendment that is put down
and debated this afternoon is to be rejected, what is the purpose of today’s Committee stage, other than
cosmetic?

26. The challenges of emergency legislation are even greater for those outside of Parliament. Even under
normal conditions, it can be diYcult for NGOs and members of the public to obtain information concerning
parliamentary timetables and materials, eg when a particular clause is likely to be considered in committee,
or the availability of a document referred to in parliamentary debate. These problems are inevitably made
worse when a Bill is expedited or when substantial amendments are tabled at the last minute. Democratic
participation is not enhanced when the laws themselves are made with minimal opportunity for the public to.

27. It is important to bear in mind that NGOs themselves typically operate with very limited resources and
may well be covering more than one piece of legislation at the same time.23 Expedited passage of legislation
therefore reduces not only the amount of scrutiny available for the legislation itself, but also diminishes the
overall quality of public scrutiny of other legislation. The fact that NGOs such as JUSTICE are still able to
produce briefings on—and draft suggested amendments in respect of—emergency legislation should not be
taken as any kind of evidence that expedited proceedings are suYcient to allow eVective public participation
in the law-making process.
20 Hansard, HC Debates, 26 June 2008 : Column 516. Emphasis added.
21 See eg Ashworth, “Human rights: justification for allowing witness anonymity”, case note, Criminal Law Review (2002).
22 Baroness Mallalieu, Hansard, HL Debates, 15 July 2008, Cols 1137–38.
23 At the time of writing, for example, JUSTICE is currently working on the Coroners and Justice Bill, the Policing and Crime Bill and

the Borders, Citizenship and Immigration Bill.
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Under what circumstances is it constitutionally appropriate (or not appropriate) to bring forward emergency
legislation?

28. In 1983, the International Commission of Jurists (of which JUSTICE is the UK section) published a report
on states of emergency. It made a number of recommendations including:24

— The use of emergency powers to remove judges, to alter the structure of the judicial branch or
otherwise restrict the independence of the judiciary should be expressly prohibited… ;

— The right to take emergency measures should be limited by the duty not to take measures, which
threaten the viability of a free press, independent trade unions, professional organisations and
popular organisations.

29. In February 2009, the Eminent Jurists Panel on Terrorism, Counter-Terrorism and Human Rights (an
initiative of the ICJ) issued its report, which included the following recommendations:25

States should take explicit precautions to ensure that any [counter-terrorism] measures, intended to be
exceptional, do not become a normal part of the legislative framework. Precautions could include
ensuring that any new counter-terrorist laws or measures:

a. fill a demonstrable gap in existing laws;

b. comply with all the requirements of international human rights law, and where relevant,
international humanitarian law;

c. are subject to clear time-limits;

d. are subject to periodic independent review, not solely as to implementation, but also as to the
continuing necessity and proportionality of the measure;

e. and that the review process monitor that any formal derogations entered by the State are only
in place for as long as terrorism poses a genuine threat to the life of the nation, and are in
compliance with all substantial and procedural requirements of relevant instruments.

30. In the particular context of counter-terrorism, we would add that it is not constitutionally appropriate to
bring forward legislation amending the criminal justice procedure on an urgent basis by reference to the alleged
facts of particular cases that have yet to be determined. This was the situation Your Lordships House found
itself in last year, when considering the government’s proposals for amending the maximum period of pre-
charge detention under Schedule 8 of the Terrorism Act 2000. As we wrote at the time, “the separation of
powers means that Parliament is fundamentally ill-suited to authorising extensions of detention in what
amounts to a debate on individual cases”.26 These objections apply equally to the Counter-Terrorism
(Temporary Provisions) Bill that was tabled by the Home Secretary subsequent to the pre-charge detention
provisions being withdrawn.27

31. More generally, it is not appropriate to bring forward emergency legislation where the situation can be
dealt with eVectively using existing powers.

What parliamentary scrutiny should emergency legislation be subject to?

32. In principle, emergency legislation should be subject, so far as is possible, to the same degree of scrutiny
that is applied to non-emergency legislation. Indeed, there is an obvious case for requiring even greater
scrutiny, given that emergency legislation is by its very nature exceptional.

33. In practical terms, however, we recognise that calls for greater scrutiny mean very little without the usual
opportunity for debate and amendment.

34. We remain of the view that Parliament should be free to take urgent action where it deems it necessary to
do so. But current arrangements make it too easy for the government to expedite legislation where it is not
appropriate, and with little consequence for doing so. In our view, the best way to deter the unnecessary resort
to emergency legislation by governments is for Parliament to make clear that there is a constitutional price to
be paid for bypassing the ordinary procedures for making law. In particular, post-legislative scrutiny including
independent statutory review within six months should be a mandatory requirement for all emergency
legislation. There should also be an obligation on governments to make public all legal advice it has received
on the making of emergency legislation.
24 The full list of recommendations for national governments is annexed to this submission.
25 Assessing Damage, Urging Action (February 2009), p 164–165. An executive summary of the report is annexed to this submission.
26 JUSTICE supplementary briefing on the Counter-Terrorism Bill for House of Commons Report Stage (June 2008), para 19.
27 Hansard HC Debates, 13 October 2008, col 624.
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Should emergency legislation be subject to a renewal procedure or have a sunset clause? Are there any other
constitutional safeguards that should be considered?

35. Renewal procedures, sunset clauses and statutory review are often promoted as safeguards for the making
of emergency legislation. In practice, however, the experience of recent years raises doubts about the
eVectiveness of these measures.

36. For example, section 29 of the 2001 Act required annual renewal of the provisions of Part 4 of the 2001 Act
allowing indefinite detention. Section 28 required the Home Secretary to appoint someone to review the
operation of Part 4 and report annually. In addition, the Act as a whole was subject to review by a committee
of Privy Counsellors under section 122 and an additional sunset clause on the Act as a whole (section 123).

37. In spite of these arrangements—in particular the 2003 report of the Privy Counsellors which
recommended the repeal of Part 4 as “a matter of urgency”28—Parliament passed on three opportunities to
repeal Part 4. Indeed, following the adverse judgment of the House of Lords in the Belmarsh case in 2004, the
government relied upon the deadline imposed by the renewal of Part 4 to justify pushing the 2005 Act through
Parliament in 17 days.

38. Similarly, provisions in 2005 Act for independent statutory review and annual renewal by Parliament did
not prevent, for example, the government’s unlawful use of 18 hour curfews. It was not until the House of
Lords judgment in JJ in October 2007 that this was corrected.

39. In our view, statutory review and sunset clauses are necessary but not suYcient conditions for eVective
post-legislative scrutiny. For every piece of emergency legislation passed, we suggest the creation of a joint
parliamentary committee to review all aspects of the Act, and required to produce its first report within six
months of enactment. This should be in addition to, not in place of, the appointment of statutory reviewers.
However, we recommend such individuals should be appointed by Parliament rather than by the executive, to
ensure the maximum degree of independence and accountability.

40. Lastly, in JUSTICE’s view, one of the strongest checks against the unnecessary resort to emergency
legislation should be a mandatory requirement on government to make public all legal advice it has received
concerning the proposed legislation, especially its compatibility with fundamental rights. Whatever the merits
of the convention governing the secrecy of legal advice in other circumstances may be, we do not think they
are appropriate in cases of emergency legislation. If Parliament is to be asked to legislate in an emergency,
Parliament and the public at large should at the very least have access to the same legal advice as the
government does in order to consider fully its merits. We believe the requirement to publish legal advice in
relation to emergency legislation would be a valuable corrective against the misuse of expedited parliamentary
procedures by government.

The order-making powers under Part 2 of the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 have not been used to date. Have there
been situations where these powers might have been used? Do the scope and process of the order-making powers
in the Civil Contingencies Act remain satisfactory? Should “bespoke” emergency order-making powers created
by other Acts of Parliament (such as those created by Part 3 of the Health and Social Care Act 2008) be based
on Part 2 of the Civil Contingencies Act?

41. Although Part 2 of the 2004 Act has not been used yet, the broad scope of its order-making powers
continue to cause concern. While section 23 of the Act prevents emergency regulations from amending
provisions of the Human Rights Act29 and imposes certain other restrictions (eg preventing compulsory
military service or prohibiting the right to strike),30 we remain of our view that the definition of “emergency”
in section 19 is unnecessarily broad, and may be triggered by events that pose no discernable threat to human
welfare (eg disruption of the internet under section 19(2)(f)). To the extent that other legislation provides for
the use of emergency order-making powers (see eg the information-sharing provisions of Part 8 of the
Coroners and Justice Bill), we consider that all such powers should be as narrowly and as clearly defined as
possible, and strictly limited by the requirements of necessity and proportionality.

Can any lessons be learnt from the way that other parliaments or legislatures deal with emergency legislation?

42. The problem of emergency legislation highlights one of the benefits of jurisdictions with written
constitutions, in that the scope of emergency powers are typically defined by the constitution itself. For
example, section 9 of Article 1 of the US Constitution provides that only Congress has the power to suspend
habeas corpus, and then only when “in Cases of Rebellion or Invasion the public Safety may require it”.
President Lincoln famously sought to suspend habeas corpus during the Civil War and was twice overruled
28 See n10 above.
29 Section 23(5).
30 Section 23(3).
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by the Supreme Court.31 On the second occasion, the Court ruled that even Congress had no power to suspend
habeas corpus in any state “where the courts are open and their process unobstructed”.32 As Justice Davis
remarked, “No doctrine involving more pernicious consequences was ever invented by the wit of man than
that any of [the Bill of Rights] provisions can be suspended during any of the great exigencies of
government”.33

43. Perhaps the most important lesson to be learnt from past experiences of emergency legislation is that, in
times of crisis, the lessons of the past are the first to be forgotten or, at the very least, ignored. It is therefore
incumbent upon Parliament to order its own procedures in such a way as to make the resort to emergency
legislation not as diYcult as possible but rather as unpalatable as it ought to be in a democracy governed by
the rule of law.

25 February 2009

Annex 1

EXTRACT FROM STATES OF EMERGENCY: THEIR IMPACT ON HUMAN RIGHTS
(INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION OF JURISTS, 1983)

Summary of Recommendations

Recommendations for Implementation at the National Level

1. The constitution should clearly state and limit the eVects of states of emergencies on legal rights and on the
powers of the branches of government. As a minimum the constitution should specify that the rights
recognised as non-derogable in international law may not be aVected by a state of emergency.

2. The constitution should enumerate and define the situations, which justify departure from the normal legal
order, preferably distinguishing between various types of emergencies.

3. The constitution should define the procedure for declaring a state of emergency; if the executive has the
authority to declare an emergency, legislative approval with in a defined period of time should be required,
preferably by an enhance majority.

4. The constitution should specify that no state of emergency have legal force beyond a fixed period of time,
which should not exceed six months. Every declaration of emergency should specify the duration of the
emergency.

5. Normal judicial remedies should remain available during an emergency for all rights which are not
suspended by virtue of the state of emergency.

6. The ordinary courts should have jurisdiction over charges of abuse of power and human rights violations
by security forces.

7. The civilian judiciary should retain jurisdiction over trials of civilians charged with security oVences.

8. The use of emergency powers to remove judges, to alter the structure of the judicial branch or otherwise
restrict the independence of the judiciary should be expressly prohibited in the constitution.

9. The national legislature should not be dissolved during a state of emergency, or if dissolution of a particular
legislature is warranted, it should be replaced within the briefest possible time by a legislature elected under
conditions which ensure that it is freely chose and representative of the entire nation.

10. The right to take emergency measures should be limited by the duty not to take measures, which threaten
the viability of a free press, independent trade unions, professional organisations and popular organisations.

11. Whenever adoption of a measure suspending or derogating from a legal right is introduced, eVorts should
be made to identify and implement safe-guards against its abuse.

12. The termination of a state of emergency should automatically lead to the full restoration of suspended
rights and freedoms, and a review of continuing consequences of emergency measures should be made as soon
as possibly in order to identify and correct or compensate continuing injustices.

13. The recruitment, leadership, organisation and training of the armed forces and security authorities should
be studies with a view to taking practical measures to reduce the risk of abuse of states of emergency.
31 The first attempt by way of executive order was ruled invalid (Merryman v United States 17 F. Cas. 144 (1861)), following which Lincoln

asked: “are all the laws but one to go unexecuted, and the government itself go to pieces, lest that one be violated?” (Address to Joint
Session of Congress, 4 July 1861).

32 Ex Parte Milligan 71 US 2 (1866) at 126.
33 Ibid.
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14. Special safeguards should be adopted for the protection of administrative detainees or persons who have
been arrested with a view to prosecution for alleged security oVences.

15. The following due process rights, as a minimum, should be respected in criminal proceedings during states
of emergencies:

— The right to be informed promptly and in detail of the charges.

— The right to have adequate time and facilities for the preparation of one’s defence, including the right
to communicate with counsel.

— The right to a lawyer of one’s choice.

— The right of an indigent defendant to have free legal counsel when charted with a serious oVence.

— The right to be present at the trial.

— The presumption of innocence.

— The right not to be compelled to testify against oneself or to make a confession.

— The right to an independent and impartial tribunal.

— The right to appeal.

— The right to obtain the attendance and examination of defence witnesses.

— The right not to be tried or punished again for an oVence for which one has been finally convicted or
acquitted.

— The principle of non-retroactivity of penal laws.

16. Administrative detention should not be resorted to other than under states of emergency. Accordingly the
constitution or legislation should provide that a formal proclamation of a state of emergency is a precondition
for the use of administrative detention.

17. The introduction of administrative detention should require authorisation by a democratically elected
parliament and the need for its continuance should be reviewed periodically by the parliament at intervals of
not more than six months.

18. When a state of emergency is terminated, the authority to detain administratively should cease
automatically and administrative detainees should be released.

19. The permissible grounds for detaining a person administratively should be clearly stated in the
constitution or legislation.

20. Resort should be had to administrative detention only when absolutely necessary to protect national
security or public order. Persons suspected of economic or other crimes should be dealt with in accordance
with the ordinary laws of criminal procedure, and not be subjected to administrative detention.

21. A detention order, containing the grounds of detention together with a statement of the facts and
circumstances justifying it, should be issued before arrest or, at latest, within 24 hours of arrest, and the
detainee should be provided immediately with a copy of the order.

22. The civilian judiciary should retain jurisdiction during a state of emergency to review individual cases of
detention at least (i) to ensure that the stated grounds for detention are valid and suYcient (ii) to ensure that
proper procedures have been complied with and (iii) to ensure that the conditions of detention are lawful.

23. A detainee should be able to consult in private with a lawyer of his choice immediately after arrest and at
any time thereafter.

24. An order for administrative detention should lapse unless within one month of its issue it is confirmed by
an independent and impartial tribunal or committee presided over by a judge of a superior court.

25. A detainee should have a right of representation in proceedings before any court, tribunal or committee.

26. Regular visits by his family or friends should be permitted.

27. All persons involved in detention and interrogation should be held strictly accountable for the physical
well-being of persons in their charge. Specific guidelines or administrative instructions regarding interrogation
procedures should be issued to all concerned and these should be made public.

28. The law or evidence should not be altered so as to give additional incentives to obtaining confessions.

29. A detainee should be examined by a doctor soon after arrest and his physical and mental condition should
be recorded and signed by the doctor. Thereafter periodical medical examination should be provided and
records should be maintained.
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30. Women oYcers should always be present during the interrogation of women prisoners or detainees.

31. All persons participating in interrogation should be properly identified.

32. Rules should be established limiting the hours during which interrogation may occur, and records should
be kept of all periods of interrogation with the names of all persons present.

33. Interrogation should be subject to direct supervision by superior oYcers, and should occur in conditions,
which permit this control to be exercised.

34. A central registry of all persons detained should be maintained.

35. Administrative detainees should be entitled to the most favourable conditions of detention and treatment
consistent with security and in any event not less favourable than those aVorded to convicted prisoners.

36. Names of detainees, with the date of the order, should be published in an oYcial gazette, and the names
of persons released should be similarly published, with the date of release.

37. Regular visits to places of detention by independent authorities and by international bodies such as the
International Committee of the Red Cross should be permitted.

Annex 2

Pdf copy of Executive summary of Assessing Damage, Urging Action: Report of the Eminent Jurists Panel on
Terrorism, Counter-terrorism and Human Rights (International Commission of Jurists, 2009) attached. (not
attached.)

Memorandum by Liberty

About Liberty

Liberty (The National Council for Civil Liberties) is one of the UK’s leading civil liberties and human rights
organisations. Liberty works to promote human rights and protect civil liberties through a combination of test
case litigation, lobbying, campaigning and research.

Liberty Policy

Liberty provides policy responses to Government consultations on all issues which have implications for
human rights and civil liberties. We also submit evidence to Select Committees, Inquiries and other policy fora,
and undertake independent, funded research.

Liberty’s policy papers are available at:

http://www.liberty-human-rights.org.uk/publications/1-policy-papers/index.shtml

Introduction

1. Liberty welcomes the opportunity to give evidence to the Constitution Committee in respect of Emergency
Legislation. This is an important and timely inquiry as there have been a number of Bills rushed through
Parliament in recent years with insuYcient time for proper scrutiny. In particular, the threat of terrorism has
been used as a justification for expediting Bills through parliament and there has been little review as to
whether the measures passed were appropriate and necessary. While we do not in any way seek to downplay
the potential threat of terrorism, and can understand there may be rare circumstances in which emergency
legislation may be necessary, it is important to ensure that there are limits on what can be done in emergency
legislation.

2. Human rights law recognises that there may be situations in which it is possible to derogate from some
rights, but that there are certain non-derogable rights, such as the prohibition against torture. Article 15 of the
European Convention on Human Rights, which is to be considered as part of the Human Rights Act 1998
(HRA),34 provides that in times of war or “other public emergency threatening the life of the nation”
derogations from the obligations under the Convention can be made “to the extent strictly required”35 The
34 Note the acceptance in A v Secretary of State for the Home Department [2005] 1 AC 68 by the House of Lords that article 15 applied

in the UK domestic context, but cf Lord Scott’s comments.
35 This applies to most of the rights in the Convention, but there can be no derogation from the right to life (except in respect of lawful

acts of war), the prohibition against torture, the prohibition against slavery and the requirement that there should be no punishment
without law.
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courts have been quick to defer to the government in determining whether there is a public emergency.36 The
problem of course is how to define an “emergency”, when does it start and end? The notion of “emergency”
is inherently linked to the concept of “normalcy”, as for something to be considered an emergency it must be
outside the ordinary course or events: it must only last a relatively short time and yield no substantial
permanent eVects.37 The problem occurs when emergency powers are used when there is arguably no real
emergency or when powers invoked in an emergency are continued once the emergency has passed.

History of Emergency Legislation in England & Wales

3. Rushed legislation is not a new phenomenon. Leading up to the outbreak of both world wars legislation
was rushed through giving sweepingly broad powers to the executive (see the 1914 Defence of the Realm Act
and the 1939 Emergency Powers (Defence) Act). The first Prevention of Terrorism (Temporary Provisions)
Act 1974 was enacted in a 24 hour period within seven days of the Birmingham pub bombings (although the
“Birmingham six” were arrested before its enactment). A number of other measures in relation to the situation
in Northern Ireland were rushed through following terrible events. As Brice Dickson said in a 1992 article
about this type of legislation:

“On occasions such as these the government of the day, and Parliament too, have wanted to give an
impression to the public that the law has at its disposal eVective means for dealing with terrorists, even if no-
one can honestly point to an obvious connection between the atrocities in question and the legal reforms.”38

4. Following press reports of a spate of dog attacks, the Dangerous Dogs Act 1991 was rushed through
parliament in six weeks. The result was legislation that contained an ill-thought out definition of the breeds
of dangerous dogs and a large number of court cases and subsequent amendments were required to clear up
some of the problems. More recently, the Anti-Terrorism Crime and Security Act 2001 (ATCSA) was rushed
through Parliament in less than one month after the attacks in America on 11 September 11 2001. The Bill was
first published on 13 November 2001 and the Act received royal assent on 14 December 2001, with the first
foreign nationals detained under Part 4 of the Act on 19 December 2001. While the tragic events of 11
September were understandably of the gravest concern, there was no apparent need for an immediate
legislative response. The Terrorism Act 2000 had come into force only months earlier; designed to tidy up the
powers in relation to terrorism and intended to be the last word on anti-terrorism powers and procedures for
the foreseeable future. Despite this, the ATCSA was rushed through Parliament and there was no proper
opportunity for reasoned parliamentary debate.

5. The ATCSA not only included measures designed to deal with terrorism but also included provisions
relating to disclosure of information for the purposes of general criminal investigations and allowed the
freezing of certain assets if action to the detriment of the UK’s economy had been or was likely to be taken
by a government or person outside the UK.39 Although these were not terrorism related powers, their
inclusion in “emergency” legislation, means it is not diYcult to see why it has incorrectly been assumed that
the freezing of assets using this power (ie of Icelandic banks) was done using “terror laws”. In our Bill briefing
we stated:

We are particularly concerned to see a number of measures smuggled into this Bill which either have nothing
to do with terrorism or the events of 11 September or are very much more wide-ranging in their remit. These
measures should be removed from the Bill and added to [the] next Home OYce measure so that they can
be properly considered and debated outside of the current crisis.40

6. The next time legislation was rushed through Parliament without the opportunity for a full and proper
debate followed from a House of Lords decision41 on 16 December 2004 which (unsurprisingly) declared that
parts of the ATCSA were incompatible with the HRA. The Prevention of Terrorism Bill was introduced on
22 February 2005 and the Prevention of Terrorism Act 2005 (PTA) received Royal Assent on 11 March 2005.
Among other things, this Act introduced control orders; indefinite house arrest without trial. As we said at the
time the Bill was introduced:
36 See A v Secretary of State: (Lord Bingham at [29] “a pre-eminently political judgment”; Lord Hope at [112] “great weight must be given

to the views of the executive”; Lord Scott at [154] “the judiciary must in general defer to the executive’s assessment”; Baroness Hale at
[226] “Assessing the strength of a general threat to the lift of the nation is, or should be, within the expertise of the Government”.

37 See Oren Gross and Fionnuala Ni Aolain, Law in Times of Crisis: Emergency Powers in Theory and Practice, 2006, page 172.
38 Brice Dickson, “Northern Ireland Emergency Legislation—the Wrong Medicine?” [1992] Public Law 592 at 597.
39 See now section 4 of the Anti-Terrorism Crime and Security Act 2001.
40 See Liberty’s Briefing on Anti-Terrorism Crime and Security Bill 2001, November 2001, available at: http://www.liberty-human-

rights.org.uk/pdfs/policy01/nov.pdf
41 In A v Secretary of State for the Home Department [2005] 1 AC 68.
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The Government plans to pass this bill through Parliament in approximately two weeks. It is completely
unacceptable that legislation of such constitutional importance, allowing British citizens to have severe
restrictions placed on their liberty, is being allocated negligible parliamentary time.42

We also observed at the time that it should have come as no surprise that the House of Lords declared that
indefinite detention without charge breached the right to liberty. In December 2003 the Newton Committee
of Privy Counsellors had called for the Government to end detention under the ACTSA, as had the JCHR
and at least two UN Committees. The Government had had plenty of time to consider alternatives to the
detention regime in the ACTSA.

7. Liberty advocated opposition to the control order regime in its entirety, but as an alternative, argued that
the Bill should contain a sunset clause similar to that contained in ACTSA. The result was a regime that
requires an order by the Secretary of State continuing the relevant sections relating to control orders to be
approved by Parliament. While this is more welcome than a permanent provision, it certainly does not ensure
that “temporary” measures remain temporary. Control orders have now been in force for four years. Most
worryingly, the Government has made no indication that they intend to scrap the regime any time soon. In
2009, the Government asked parliamentarians to renew the control order regime for the fourth year running.
There is, of course, the danger that the longer the control order regime stays in place the easier it is to renew
year on year without proper consideration.43 Even worse, the Government has sent clear signals that they
intend the control order regime to become a permanent “parallel” fixture of our legal landscape.

8. This is evidenced in part by subsequent Acts of Parliament which continue to strengthen and reinforce the
control order regime. Section 78 of the Counter-Terrorism Act 2008 inserted additional provisions into the
PTA allowing police powers of entry and search for those under control orders as well as a host of other
strengthening and enforcement powers. Meanwhile, the control order model is currently being extended into
other areas. Government amendments introduced into the Policing and Crime Bill only last month provide
for “injunctions to prevent gang-related violence”. In eVect these are a mix of control orders/ASBOs for anyone
suspected of engaging in or encouraging or assisting gang-related violence.

9. Another example of rushed legislation, but this time outside the context of terrorism, was the Criminal
Evidence (Witness Anonymity) Bill which was introduced on 3 July 2008 and received Royal Assent on 21 July
2008. All of the Commons stages of the Bill were concluded in a single day (8 July) and two days later all of
the Lords stages of the Bill were concluded on a single day (10 July). This was again in response to a House
of Lords judgment, which was delivered on 18 June 2008.44 In the only briefing we managed to produce in
the short time between introduction of the Bill and its enactment, we stated:

The opportunity for careful consideration and detailed debate are incredibly important, especially where, as
in the current Bill, civil liberties and the protection of the public are at stake. Sadly, Parliament’s ability to
perform this vital task will be severely curtailed in the current context, with the Bill rushed through in just
a few days. Given the very tight parliamentary timescale, this is likely to be Liberty’s sole briefing on the
Bill and we do not have the opportunity to propose detailed amendments to it. We do, however, suggest one
amendment: a sunset clause to ensure that Parliament is able to look at the issue in more detail in the near
future.45

A sunset clause was included in the final version of the Act, and these provisions have now been introduced
in the Coroners and Justice Bill currently before Parliament, so are now subject to a proper period for debate.
The much criticised House of Lords’ decision which prompted the Bill (R v. Davis) met with an impassioned
and in some cases misleading response from some police and sections of the media. On this occasion Liberty
was relieved that the response of Government and opposition parties to the decision did not follow suit. It was,
in contrast measured and informed. Accordingly, the provisions introduced in response to the judgment were
relatively uncontroversial—indeed it is likely that if the same case went before the court with these measures
in force the court would be likely to come to the same conclusion. As such, it is diYcult to see the need, other
than a political imperative, for such legislation to be rushed through Parliament.
42 See Liberty’s briefing for Second Reading in the House of Lords, Prevention of Terrorism Bill, February 2005, available at: http://

www.liberty-human-rights.org.uk/pdfs/policy06/ptb-2nd-reading-commons.PDF
43 For more information on the evolving permanence of the control order regime see Liberty’s Briefing on the draft Prevention of

Terrorism Act 2005 (Continuance in force of sections 1 to 9) Order 2009, March 2009 available at: http://www.liberty-human-
rights.org.uk/pdfs/policy-09/liberty-s-briefing-on-control-order-renewal-2009.pdf

44 R v Davis [2008] UKHL 36.
45 See Liberty’s Briefing on the Criminal Evidence (Witness Anonymity) Bill, July 2008, available at: http://www.liberty-human-

rights.org.uk/pdfs/policy08/liberty-briefing-witness-anonymity.pdf
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Impact of “Emergency” Legislating

10. When legislation is introduced into Parliament and passed within a few weeks or even days it is impossible
for Parliament fully to analyse and debate the proposals put before it. It is also extremely diYcult for NGOs
and civil society to have the time to examine the proposals and brief parliamentarians on the likely impact of
such legislation. Legislation drafted in haste will inevitably contain errors be they minor or more substantial.
Even more worryingly, the policy behind such legislation will at best be ill-thought out and at worst may be
motivated by political objectives to be “seen” to be responding to an event or judgment. Legislation of this
kind should never be devised as a blunt tool for expressing political revulsion at terrifying acts. Statutes must
be drafted with greater care than speeches. It is not suYcient that the passing of a new law would send tough
signals to Britain’s enemies, nor that it somehow makes some of us feel safer. Each proposed interference with
democratic rights and freedoms must be carefully weighed against its purported benefits. Experience shows
that such laws are likely to be with us for a very long time.

11. The Terrorism Act 2006 (TA) was the direct legislative response to the attacks on London in July 2005.
The State is, of course, under an obligation to take appropriate steps to safeguard people within the United
Kingdom. Following a direct terrorist attack it is inevitable that there be consideration of laws and powers
available to agents of the state. However, as so often in the past, there was a hasty assumption that new
legislation must be at least a considerable part of the answer. The original draft Bill contained a strict liability
oVence of glorification of terrorism and proposed an incredible 90 days detention without charge. These
proposals were, of course, modified during the parliamentary stages of the Bill but both of the compromises
eventually reached remain unsatisfactory and arguably counterproductive. It is also important to remember
that legislating directly in response to terrorist outrages can be interpreted as a victory for those who seek to
undermine our democratic values and our way of life.

12. Liberty also has concerns about court decisions being used as an excuse to bypass the ordinary legislative
process on the basis that the decisions leave a gap in the law. In the case of indefinite detention under Part 4 of
the ACTSA the court’s decision did not and could not aVect the validity of the legislation.46 Moreover, the
court’s decision was not unexpected—the government had been advised by a number of eminent bodies that
indefinite detention without charge would be in breach of the right to liberty under the HRA and any
derogation from that right would not be valid as it was not strictly required. The introduction of rushed
through legislation in response to the House of Lords decision in R v Davis similarly was not necessary. While
some legislation may legitimately have been considered necessary (indeed, it was surprising that the statute
book had stayed silent on the issue for so long, leaving it to the courts to decide) there was no “emergency” that
required the fast-tracking of this legislation. Knee-jerk legislation that undermines fundamental principles is
often the least best type of proactive response. Unfortunately it is often the most politically attractive.

13. It is particularly concerning when additional provisions are included in “emergency” legislation which do
not relate to the event or judgment that the Government is purporting to address. This has occurred on a
number of occasions as outlined above. It appears that there may be times when emergency legislation has
been seen as a potential vehicle to include other proposed measures that have not yet been allocated a spot in
the legislative programme. This is totally unacceptable, and a clear perversion of the parliamentary process.
Similar concerns arise when substantive amendments are introduced into Bills at a very late stage thereby
bypassing much of the time for debate and eVectively ensuring that interest groups are unable to properly
comment or lobby parliamentarians.47

14. There are, of course, valid questions as to when it might be necessary for “emergency” legislation to be
introduced. The parliamentary process and timelines for debate and consideration form an essential part of
the democratic system. It is an essential feature of the UK’s constitutional structure that Bills be properly
debated and scrutinised. We do not deny that there are circumstances in which emergency legislation may need
to be passed when national security is actually threatened or there is a real pressing legal (as opposed to
political) need to respond to a court decision that may aVect a large number of cases. These situations should
be extremely rare. If the emergency legislation impacts on human rights a higher threshold should be passed
before parliamentary processes can be curtailed. At the very least, emergency legislation passed in haste should
always include a sunset clause of no more than 12 months to ensure that the legislation is properly considered
and debated at a later stage.
46 The court was only able to strike down the secondary legislation derogating from article 5 of the European Convention of Human

Rights, and to issue a declaration of incompatibility in relation to Part 4 of the ACTSA– which does not aVect the validity of the
ACTSA (see section 4(6) of the HRA “A declaration [of incompatibility] odes not aVect the validity, continuing operation or enforcement
of the provision in respect of which it is given”).

47 See for example the provisions on terrorist financing introduced at a very late stage in the Counter-Terrorism Bill.



Processed: 07-07-2009 18:56:06 Page Layout: LOENEW [E] PPSysB Job: 427327 Unit: PAG4

52 emergency legislation, constitution committee: evidence

Civil Contingencies Act 2004

15. The Civil Contingencies Act 2004 enables the executive to make regulations when there is an emergency
and the person making the regulations is subjectively satisfied that they are appropriate to prevent, control or
mitigate an aspect or eVect of the emergency. The Act gives sweepingly broad powers to the government to
pass secondary legislation which can amend primary legislation and, among other things, allow for the
confiscation or destruction of property without compensation, forcibly move people to or from a place or
prohibit travel at certain times and prohibit peaceful protest. Clearly if such powers are to be used then the
trigger for their use should be limited to ensure they are invoked only when absolutely necessary. Liberty
believes that the definition of an “emergency” in section 19 of the CCA is, currently too widely drawn.48

16. “Emergency” in section 19 of the CCA is defined as meaning “an event or situation which threatens serious
damage” to human welfare or the environment or war or terrorism which threatens serious damage to UK
security. However, this means that the event or situation itself need not be of any seriousness. This means that
a relatively innocuous event may be considered to have implications of damage suYcient to trigger the
emergency powers. The decision as to whether the definition of emergency has been satisfied is eVectively made
by a Minister.49 As the damage needs only be threatened, rather than actual, this may be a highly subjective
decision based on assumptions as to cause and eVect. Although parliamentary scrutiny is required, this is not
likely to occur for several days, by which time the regulations may already have had considerable impact. The
nature of the regulations—such as movement to or from a place, or the destruction of property—means that
their eVect is required to be immediate (ie before parliamentary consideration can take place).

17. Part 2 of the CCA should not be used unless the government can demonstrate the seriousness of an event
or situation and its eVect on the UK. There are a number of constitutional safeguards contained in the CCA
however, which could make its use in very tightly defined circumstances appropriate. It is important that
section 23(5) provides that emergency regulations cannot amend Part 2 of the CCA itself or the HRA.
Emergency regulations have to be laid before Parliament as soon as is reasonably practicable, will lapse if
Parliament does not approve them within seven days, and once approved will lapse after 30 days (although
new regulations can still be made). Importantly, there is a power for Parliament to amend the regulations.
While on the face of it emergency regulations could amend any Act of Parliament (other than the HRA and
CCA), it is arguable that amendments to acts of constitutional significance could not be made via regulations
if there is no clear power to do so.50

Counter-Terrorism Act 2008

18. Last year, as part of our campaign51 against proposals to extend pre-charge detention to 42 days Liberty
raised concerns at the way in which the Government used “emergency rhetoric” in an attempt to lend
credibility to their plans. Ministers repeatedly claimed that the proposed powers would only be invoked in an
emergency scenario.52 Similarly, the original Counter-Terrorism Bill 2008 and the Government amendments
that followed sought to dress the 42 day pre-charge detention proposal in language similar to that contained
in the CCA. The Home Secretary claimed that the Bill would only create exceptional “reserve powers” that
could only be used where longer detention is urgently needed to deal with a “grave and exceptional terrorist
threat”.53 In response to increased scepticism, the Government introduced amendments that included
prominently placed and chilling language about “grave and exceptional terrorist threats”. However, looking
beyond emotive use of language and clever drafting, it was clear that, in reality, the power would still have
been triggered for operational convenience in individual cases. David Pannick QC (now Lord Pannick)
confirmed at the time that the decision to trigger 42 days would have been lawful even if there were no “grave
and exceptional terrorist threat”. The only real legal limit on the Home Secretary’s power to trigger 42 days
was that a report be received from the DPP and a chief police oYcer saying that there were an “operational
need for further detention” to help with the terrorist investigation.54 Lord Pannick described this report as a
low hurdle that would be “easy to satisfy”. Despite Government claims to the contrary, the proposed powers
remained concerned with individual prosecutions rather than preventing or controlling an emergency. The
48 See Liberty’s Second Reading Briefing on the Civil Contingencies Bill in the House of Lords, June 2004, available at: http://

www.liberty-human-rights.org.uk/pdfs/policy04/civil-contingencies-bill-2nd-lords.pdf
49 Although the Queen is the primary decision maker she will eVectively be acting on the instructions of one or more Ministers.
50 See Thoburn v Sunderland City Council [2002] 4 All ER 156 per Laws LJ (recognising “constitutional statutes”) and the Government’s

response to the Report of the JCHR on the Draft Civil Contingencies Bill.
51 For more information on Liberty’s Charge or Release campaign see: http://www.liberty-human-rights.org.uk/issues/2-terrorism/

extension-of-pre-charge-detention/index.shtml
52 For example, the then Minister of State for Security, Counter-Terrorism, Crime and Policing (Rt Hon Tony McNulty MP) wrote in

the Daily Mirror: “As an extreme example, imagine two or three 9/11s. Imagine two 7/7s.” “Minister warns of ‘peril’ as he pushes for
42 day lock-up”, 23 January 2008.

53 In her interview on the Today Programme on 3 June, for example, the Home Secretary said “this is a power that would be used at a time
when frankly, as we will describe it in the bill, there will be a grave and exceptional terrorist threat”.

54 New Clause 5 (Report Stage in the House of Commons).
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powers would certainly not have been restricted to the kind of real emergency covered by the CCA. It was on
this basis that Liberty has argued55 that in the extremely rare instance of a “nightmare terrorism scenario”
the CCA would allow for emergency regulations which would extend the period of pre-charge detention in
terrorism cases.56 This does not mean that these powers should in fact be used, but if such an extension in
such circumstances were to take place derogation from the ECHR would be required on an extremely time
limited basis with the powers continually required to be renewed by Parliament, rather than made as a
permanent change to the law.

Conclusion

19. In our view the powers permitted under the CCA (and discussed in greater detail above) are too broad
and demand considerable amendment. Use of the CCA in a true emergency for a temporary change to the law
(that must be consistent with the HRA) is however preferable to permanent and knee-jerk erosions to
fundamental rights in primary legislation. In recent years we have, unfortunately, seen too much of the latter.
This is when notions of emergency and normalcy merge. Our recent legislative history powerfully
demonstrates how powers introduced to deal with an “emergency” are continued long after the emergency has
passed. It is after all, far easier to introduce such legislation than it is to repeal.

March 2009

Examination of Witnesses

Witnesses: Dr Eric Metcalfe, Director of Human Rights Policy, JUSTICE, and Ms Isabella Sankey, Policy
Director, Liberty, examined.

Q130 Chairman: Dr Metcalfe and Ms Sankey, thank
you very much indeed for coming to join us and
welcome to the Committee. It is very much
appreciated that you are with us. The meeting is being
audio-recorded. Therefore, I shall ask you to identify
yourselves for the record and then, if you would like
to make a short statement, please, feel free to do so
though you are under no obligation to do so, after
which we will have an exchange of views. Could I ask
you, please, to identify yourselves for the record.
Ms Sankey: My name is Isabella Sankey and I am
Director of Policy at Liberty.
Dr Metcalfe: I am Eric Metcalfe and I am the Director
of Human Rights Policy at JUSTICE.

Q131 Chairman: Would either of you like to make a
short opening statement?
Ms Sankey: Only to say that we are delighted that the
Committee has decided to consider emergency
legislation. We consider the inquiry to be very timely.
The Government’s response to the terrorism threat
over the last eight-or-so years has been characterised
by what we regard to be ill-thought-out and rushed
legislation. So, we think that this inquiry is very
timely and necessary.
Dr Metcalfe: We completely agree with those
comments.

Q132 Chairman: May I begin by asking in what
circumstances do you think that it is justifiable for the
Government to seek to fast-track a bill through
55 See Liberty’s Second Reading on the Counter-Terrorism Bill in the House of Commons, Part 1—Pre-Charge Detention, available at:

http://www.liberty-human-rights.org.uk/publications/pdfs/counter-terror-bill-detention-provisions-2nd-reading-commons-final.pdf
56 For example, where it could be shown that there was multiple grave terror plots which come to notice and/or fruition so suddenly and

simultaneously that the police are simply unable to gather the evidence required to charge such a large number of suspects within the
current 28 day time limit.

Parliament? Over the past 20 years, there have been
about 34 bills that have been fast-tracked on grounds
of urgency. Are you concerned at this number?
Dr Metcalfe: We are concerned at the overall number.
It seems to us from inspecting the list that there are
certainly some pieces of legislation where it is diYcult
to see why it was necessary to fast-track them.
However, I would say that the main issue is quality
not quantity. It is diYcult to say that there should be a
specific number of bills a year or bills a session which
should be fast-tracked and which should not. I think
that it is more important to focus on each individual
case rather than the justification. It is diYcult to
identify a general principle beyond, is it necessary to
do so and what were the alternatives of not
legislating? I think that, in terms of the
circumstances, it is a diYcult question to answer
except in the most abstract way.
Ms Sankey: We completely agree with all the
comments that Dr Metcalfe makes. As he says, it is
very diYcult to analyse a number. Thirty-four does
seem particularly high but, as Dr Metcalfe said, it is
really about the individual cases and the justification
that has been made. We completely agree that there
needs to be flexibility to allow for emergency
legislation and it is incredibly diYcult to predict, by
its very nature, when such legislation would be
required. It really is a question of judging on a case-
by-case basis whether the justification has been made
out and looking at potential repercussions if
legislation is not expedited.
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Q133 Lord Norton of Louth: If you take the case that
bills are introduced for accelerated passage though it
is a matter for Parliament or each House to determine
the process, but are there any constitutional
principles that should govern it and can you discern
any constitutional conventions that have applied? In
your paper, Dr Metcalfe identified things that should
be excluded but what are the principles that should
govern when something is brought forward how
Parliament or each House should deal with that?
Dr Metcalfe: In terms of constitutional conventions,
we have not been able to identify any. That is not to
say that they do not exist but I think it would be for
wiser minds than ours to discern their existence. In
terms of the conventions which we believe should
exist, I think again we fall back on the general
principles which are unfortunately unsatisfactory
because of the generality. One which we suggested
and said it is not appropriate to bring forward
emergency legislation for was where the situation can
be dealt with eVectively using existing powers, but the
judgment as to when it will be eVective is inevitably
going to be left to the Executive to argue and for
Parliament to make its own decision on. It is possible,
looking at the Civil Contingencies Act, to identify
certain areas of legislation which should not be
subject to emergency override for example, which
itself suggests that it is not appropriate to use
emergency legislation to for example abridge
fundamental rights, not necessarily to aVect them,
but also to for example prohibit the right to strike.
Beyond that, it is actually quite diYcult to say that
there are constitutional conventions concerning how
emergency expedited procedures should be used.
Ms Sankey: We also have not identified any
constitutional conventions or concrete principles.
For us of course the principle is that Parliament is the
law-making body of this land and that any expedited
process compromises Parliament’s ability to
scrutinise legislation. We see with all of the fast-track
terror legislation that has been brought forward over
the last eight years that the ability for scrutiny is
heavily compromised and then you see subsequent
legislation which is attempting to tweak what has not
been thought out in previous legislation. For us the
principle of greatest constitutional significance is that
Parliament is the supreme law-making body and that
it must not be pushed unnecessarily.

Q134 Lord Norton of Louth: Essentially it has to be
a case-by-case basis, there is no checklist that this
Committee could use when something is brought
forward for accelerated passage other than certain
measures you would identify that one should not be
subject to emergency legislation, but otherwise what
you are saying is that it is the rigour of parliamentary
scrutiny that then becomes very important within the
narrow timeframe.

Dr Metcalfe: Unfortunately, yes. We would like to
oVer or suggest a checklist, but I think that the
checklist would fall back on a checklist of general
principles. Is it proportionate? Is it necessary? Can we
use existing powers to address the situation? I do not
think that it is as particularly helpful in the way that
checklists operate in some other situations. I am not
sure if my colleague has something to add.
Ms Sankey: I would agree that the checklist would
fall back on very general principles but, as Dr
Metcalfe already identified, when legislation is
proposing to restrict fundamental core rights, there
needs to be some sort of higher standard of scrutiny.
Other than that, I would not suggest anything too
prescriptive or restrictive in terms of when emergency
legislation should be allowed.

Q135 Lord Morris of Aberavon: Thank you for
indicating that there can only be general principles.
We may be, as a committee, groping for the
impossible at trying to get a box which can be ticked:
this justifies fast-tracking legislation. That is what I
gather from your evidence so far. So, it does mean
that you have to look at each case on a case-by-case
basis—and contradict me if you can or if you want
to—and basically there is a bit of a Lewis Carroll feel
about this in that, when I say that it is emergency
legislation, it is emergency legislation. Is that it?
Ms Sankey: As you say, it is a problematic issue. The
best test may be to look at the legislation that already
exists and to attempt to interrogate whether the
response that is proposed is more of a political
response, ie the Government needs to be seen to be
doing something, which has been very apparent over
the last few years, or whether there is a gap in the law.
Other than that, it is a very tricky one.
Dr Metcalfe: I should hope that it is not the Lewis
Carroll situation that an emergency exists simply by
virtue of the Executive saying that there is. I should
hope that each House of Parliament scrutinises the
case for an expedited procedure or emergency
legislation in each case on its own merits, but I am not
aware of a situation in the last 20 or 30 years in which
the Executive has indicated a wish to use the
expedited procedures and Parliament has refused.
Again, that is not to say that the situation has not
occurred but we are not aware of it.
Chairman: It is rather like when I was Chief Whip
being asked when there was an ethical issue when
there would be a free vote rather than a whipped vote
and my only answer was, “When I say so”!
Lord Morris of Aberavon: Lewis Carroll again!

Q136 Lord Rowlands: Are you aware of Professor
Clive Walker’s work on the terrorism powers?
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Dr Metcalfe: Yes.

Q137 Lord Rowlands: He has had a go at devising
what he called limiting principles. Have you seen
his work?
Dr Metcalfe: I have seen his paper once on a read-
through once but I have not had an opportunity to
consider the limiting principles in detail.

Q138 Lord Rowlands: He lists a few: quality of
relevance and impact, a rights audit, accountability
and constitutional governance.
Dr Metcalfe: From the labels, they seem like very wise
principles to adopt and I would be happy to provide
a follow-up note on what we think of them. I imagine
that we are very likely to agree with him. We cited the
work that he did in relation to the Icelandic Banking
Order for example, so I imagine that we would be
likely to agree with his analysis.

Q139 Lord Rowlands: So, you could provide some
information on how relevant you think these limiting
principles are from your perspective.
Dr Metcalfe: It certainly seems to me a sensible idea
to identify and analyse the principles which are
involved and it sounds, from what you say, as though
he has done that and I would imagine that we would
agree with that. It seems like a good idea. Whether
they provide any kind of checklist as such, I am not
so sure. I am not sure whether that was what he was
proposing.

Q140 Lord Peston: I do not whether you have seen
the evidence that Lord Baker gave to us last week.
Anyway, we seemed to spend an enormous amount of
time on dangerous dogs, but one thing that came up
which I would like your view on is, would you regard
as a constitutional principle that if the public via
certain newspapers demand action, action ought to
occur? What is your view of that? I raised with him
the fact that dogs did not become dangerous
suddenly by genetic change, yet he felt that he had
to act.
Dr Metcalfe: I think as a constitutional principle that
is one of the worst I have heard. It of course begs the
question of what mechanisms there are for the public
to express its displeasure or its desire for action and
also what constitutes the public. In the case of the
dangerous dogs, was there a referendum? That was
obviously impractical. Obviously government has to
take its own view as to the desirability of responding
to public outcry on a particular issue, but one hopes
that it always looks beyond and in fact it has to
always look beyond the outcry and address itself to
the question of what action needs to be taken. That is
the criticism that we would make of a great deal of
recent legislation. We find in the areas of counter-
terrorism and in the areas of criminal justice and also

immigration that an awful lot of law is made not
because it is necessary to do so or even desirable to do
so, but simply because the Government feels that it
should be seen to be doing so.
Ms Sankey: I agree with Dr Metcalfe that, in terms of
constitutional principle, that sounds absolutely
disastrous. I think that it goes to the very heart of the
problem with much of the emergency legislation that
we have seen. Looking at a more recent example with
the Criminal Evidence (Witness Anonymity) Act of
last year headlines in response to the Davis judgment
by the House of Lords said that anarchy would be
unleashed, terrorists, murders and other violent
criminals would escape justice and there was very
much a feeling of hysteria in the media response to
that judgment. In actual fact, the piece of legislation
that was brought forward would not necessarily have
changed the judgment in that particular case and it
was very much a kind of created emergency/a
superficial type of emergency. I think that the
Government felt pressured into responding quickly,
but I think that goes right to the heart of the diYculty
with this area.

Q141 Lord Morris of Aberavon: I am very interested
and I attach importance to those who influence
legislation. Time must be given to the Government of
the day to consider its legislation and have it
produced in another place. How do you feel about
fast-track legislation and the ability of organisations
to influence the parliamentary process? Frequently,
indeed almost every time, you see some amendments
being made as a result of lobbying, lobbying by
employers, lobbying by trade unionists and lobbying
by organisations such as yours. How do you feel
about your organisations? Where there is fast-
tracking, does it hamper you significantly?
Ms Sankey: It does. We feel significantly hampered by
fast-track legislation. To take the example of the
piece of legislation that I have just mentioned, the
Criminal Evidence (Witness Anonymity) Act 2008,
while we were able to produce a briefing in the short
timeframe that we had, we did not propose any
detailed amendments save to include a sunset clause,
which was thankfully done, but we did not have the
opportunity to actually propose amendments. That is
very much in contrast to the approach that we take
with other pieces of legislation that touch on areas
within our remit. To take an example, the Policing
and Crime Bill which is currently going through the
House of Commons. We have proposed several
amendments which have been made at committee
stage and we do this as a matter of course for all
pieces of legislation that do come within our remit.
So, there is a significant diVerence in our ability to
propose amendments and to lobby parliamentarians.
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To take another example, the proposed 42 days pre-
charge detention, which was not in fact part of a fast-
tracked bill but which was actually part of a very
much a delayed bill in the end. During the course of
the passage of the Counter-Terrorism Act, we were
able to meet individually with parliamentarians, we
briefed extensively at all stages of the process and we
were also able to undertake comparative research,
receive opinions from counsel on the proposals and
the arguments that we were making, and we feel as a
result were able to significantly impact the outcome
of the vote on those particular proposals. This was
not able to be done in 2005 with what eventually
became the Terrorism Act, 2006. Although that was
not necessarily as rushed as other pieces of counter-
terrorist legislation, it was very much seen as being an
emergency legislative response to a terrorist attack
and there were all sorts of political pressures that were
in play there which definitely restricted our ability to
counter the Government’s arguments.
Dr Metcalfe: Just to add a point to that which we have
made in our written evidence, the fact that
organisations like Liberty and JUSTICE are able to
actually even produce briefings should not be taken
as any kind of indication that the use of expedited
legislation is eVective. Both organisations are staVed
by lawyers who are familiar with the policy process
and we draft suggested amendments for each stage
and so forth. I think that it is important to bear in
mind that the general public and also the large
numbers of non-government organisations and
charities which are not staVed by lawyers will be in a
far worse position. It is diYcult enough for
organisations like Liberty and JUSTICE to respond.
It is much harder if you are a non-government
organisation which does not have any day-to-day
engagement with Parliament or dealings with
Parliament.

Q142 Lord Rowlands: If you had had a chance to
amend the Criminal Witness Bill, what kinds of
amendments would you have proposed and do you
think that the legislation as a result of the absence of
those amendments is defective or wrong?
Ms Sankey: In that particular case, we broadly
welcomed the approach that the Government took.
The clauses have now been reintroduced in the
Coroners and Justice Bill and we have proposed a few
tweaking amendments. I do not have them to hand
but they are essentially additional safeguards for fair
trial considerations. On that particular occasion, we
did not take issue with the response.
Dr Metcalfe: In the House of Commons briefing, we
had identified some measures that were subsequently
put forward by the Government in the House of
Lords. As I recall, Liberty’s briefing did the same.

Q143 Lord Rowlands: So no damage was actually
done as a piece of legislation for the absence of
amending in the way that you suggest?
Dr Metcalfe: Although, within the fullness of time,
had there been more time, there may have been
additional amendments that we could have provided.
We are extremely critical first of all of even the need to
introduce the legislation in the first place. So, a basic
amendment would have been that they would not
have proceeded with the legislation at all although we
have seen very diVerent provisions for diVerent kinds
of witness protection measures not involving
anonymity, for example. So, had this gone through at
a much more considered pace, you would have seen
perhaps a Joint Parliamentary Committee on the
draft bill such as you had with the Civil
Contingencies Act and there would have been a lot
more opportunity for Parliament and for the
Executive to determine the correct policy in this kind
of area. As it was, both organisations were able to
identify flaws at the House of Commons stage, some
of which were corrected at the House of Lords stage.
I would not say that it was a desirable process for
that reason.

Q144 Lord Peston: I think that you have covered a
great deal of what I wanted to ask you about which
was whether bills have been fast-tracked on the
grounds that there was an urgent need, but I ought
really to ask whether you can enlarge on what you
have already said and give us some absolutely clear
examples of where you think the bill definitely should
not have been fast-tracked.
Ms Sankey: Perhaps a good starting point is the Anti-
Terrorism Crime and Security Act 2001. Of course,
when that came in, the Terrorism Act of 2000 had
only been on the statute book for a matter of months.
We understood that the Terrorism Act itself was
intended to be a consolidating act and the last word
on terrorism legislation for some time. The 2001 Act
was, if you like, a legislative response to the tragic
events of 9/11. At the time, we said that we absolutely
understood the Government’s concerns and the
Government’s sense of responsibility to make sure
that it was responding in terms of national security
and so on, but that there were already a plethora of
criminal oVences on the statute book and that quite
recently there had been this consolidation exercise. I
think that is perhaps the classic example of rushed
legislation which was in fact largely unnecessary. As
far as we are concerned, many of the provisions
introduced relating to terrorism were not plugging a
gap in the law and were not proportionate or required
as we of course then saw with the Belmarsh judgment
in 2004. I think perhaps we will come on to this later
but there was also in that Act a classic example of
other measures not related to terrorism being
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included in a fast-tracked procedure which was
inappropriate.

Q145 Lord Rowlands: One of the things that we have
been focusing on is the question of additional clauses
that are slipped in which do not really relate directly
to the urgency of the original core of the bill. You
have given one example but are there any other
examples that you would like to advise the
Committee of?
Dr Metcalfe: The 2005 Act which in fact followed the
Belmarsh judgment in a way remedying the original
flaw in Part 4. If you remember, the 2004 Act allowed
for indefinite detention of foreign nationals suspected
of involvement in terrorism and, following the
Belmarsh judgment declaring this incompatible, the
Government agreed to introduce new legislation.
What is interesting about the 2005 Act is that whereas
the 2001 Act was only pushed through Parliament in
32 days, the 2005 Act was pushed through in 17 days
and one of the striking features about that was that
the debate was, if you like, guillotined because of the
sunset clause contained in the 2001 Act relating to
indefinite detention. So, the Government’s
justification for rushing through the 2005 Act using
expedited procedures was because of the sunset
clause provided by the indefinite detention provisions
of the 2001 Act. It is a complicated arrangement, but
it shows that emergency legislation can itself produce
knock-on eVects so that, four years down the line,
you find that you are rushing through additional
legislation in order to struggle to catch up.

Q146 Baroness Quin: The 2001 Act was subject to
the Newton Privy Counsellors Committee Review
which I was a member of and we did look at it in
detail for a number of months. I wondered whether,
if something is passed through as emergency
legislation, there are mechanisms such as that of
actually then evaluating its eVects subsequently. It is
a kind of post-legislative scrutiny which this
Committee takes a big interest in anyway, but I just
wondered if you had any thoughts about how that
process had worked.
Dr Metcalfe: Yes and in fact I think that the Newton
Committee Report stands as a model for post-
legislative scrutiny of emergency legislation. It is
incredibly valuable in identifying many of the
problems in using the 2001 Act in the first place and
the large number of measures that were included, not
because they were seen as necessary to combat the
perceived threat but because these had been measures
that had been left out of the 2000 Terrorism Act and
the Home OYce had decided to bring them back
down oV the shelf. It is also disappointing because the
Newton Committee’s very considerable
recommendations were then not acted upon and I

think that shows one of the problems of oVering post-
legislative scrutiny and sunset clauses as themselves
safeguards against the problems posed by emergency
legislation. It is disappointing also that, in
subsequent terrorism legislation, for example the
2005 Act which introduced control orders, there was
no kind of committee and I understand that the
Government relied simply on the appointment of the
reviewer of terrorism legislation, who does a very
diligent job but is only one man and we think it is
important, in the counter-terrorism field in
particular, that there ought to be a committee of
opinions and views considering this kind of
legislation.

Q147 Lord Peston: I would like you to clarify the
logic of your position. Let us assume that there is in,
for want of a better expression I will call, the real
world a threat or an emergency, so you really do have
to have some legislation passed hurriedly. You do it
hurriedly and then it turns out, as you rightly say, that
it does not do the job or does not fully do the job that
you wanted it to do. Therefore, you have to get it
rectified. Surely, logically, the original emergency that
justified it carries on into the new bit of legislation.
Dr Metcalfe: It depends;

Q148 Lord Peston: I know that it depends but you
would expect, if your intervention did not work,
unless the emergency has gone anyway but, if the
emergency is still there, a new intervention also has to
be treated as an emergency.
Ms Sankey: I guess it depends on what you perceive
the defect with the legislation to be. We would say
that the 2005 Act which brought in control orders is
highly defective. The orders have proved to be
ineVective with the number of abscondees that we
have seen, but most pressing is the human rights
concerns that we have about indefinite house arrest.
As Dr Metcalfe identified, this idea that emergency
legislation breeds more emergency legislation is very
evident with the control order regime. You now have
a situation, which we of course saw last week with
both Houses renewing control orders, of them being
up against another deadline where control orders
would cease to exist if the renewal did not take place,
but yet there being no alternative mechanisms being
proposed by government to deal with those people
they consider to be a threat who are currently under
control orders. So, there is this defect, if you like, that
even when emergency legislation contains sunset
clauses and renewel orders and so on, if the
Government does not think ahead and provide
parliamentarians with an alternative, it is bound to
just be replicated.
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Q149 Lord Peston: You are assuming that it is your
area of interest that all this legislation is about—and
I am not criticising you for that because that is your
area—but, if you take another area where we are in
the middle of an emergency, namely the state of the
economy, if the Government had to introduce
economic legislation where, I can tell you as an
economist, we actually do not know what to do but
it is of the sort “let’s try this and see if it works”, if it
does not work, then what we need to do is try
something else and we have to get it through quickly
because, if we do not do it quickly, our whole
economy may disappear. In other words, without
criticising you, as I repeat, there are other areas that
we can call emergencies that require action other than
human rights.
Dr Metcalfe: Certainly, but the point we would make
is that fundamental human rights go far more
broadly than simply counter-terrorism or criminal
justice or the traditional areas.

Q150 Lord Peston: Yes.
Dr Metcalfe: Neither submission criticises the idea of
emergency legislation. In fact, we have been quite
careful not to make recommendations that would
limit the ability of Parliament to take exceptional
measures where it seems it necessary to do so.

Q151 Lord Rowlands: Dr Metcalfe, I quote you: “. . .
measures taken in an emergency have frequently
proved to be grossly disproportionate,
unconstitutional and/or incompatible with
fundamental rights” which is a very sweeping
statement. Can you illustrate, other than the case you
have given us, any further restrictions that would
justify such a statement as that.
Dr Metcalfe: This was in the introduction to our
briefing which I think went from the days of the
Roman Republic right through to the Weimar
Republic, so I think we were taking a rather broad
view of emergency measures over history.

Q152 Lord Rowlands: You are not really going to
justify as tough a statement as that, are you?
Dr Metcalfe: In our written evidence, we give
evidence of three examples but all three of those
examples have already been covered. I think those
would be the leading ones, the most problematic ones
from our point of view. It is interesting. The list of
emergency measures that has been drawn up by the
Committee staV indicating all the use of emergency
legislation over the last 20/30 years, I think that that
description should certainly apply to at least some of
those measures, I think again that a lot of the
counter-terrorism measures which were introduced.

Q153 Lord Rowlands: Other than those which you
have identified, you cannot think of any other ones
that you would like to point a finger at so that we can
look at it?
Dr Metcalfe: Not immediately to hand but I would be
happy to write further and follow that up.

Q154 Chairman: Does Liberty have anything to add
to that having expressed similar concern?
Ms Sankey: As Dr Metcalfe said, the examples we
have already discussed, while may not be vast in
number—

Q155 Lord Rowlands: In justifying that observation,
the language used is pretty strong.
Ms Sankey: It is pretty strong but so is internment for
foreign nationals a pretty heinous measure. So, I
think that the language can absolutely be justified
even with the few examples that we have already
given.

Q156 Lord Peston: Again, my question follows very
much on what you have already been saying. As
parliamentarians, we do notice during the course of
bills of this sort going through Parliament, that they
suddenly get amended to include some wholly new
provisions which certainly people like me never
thought were going to be relevant. Do you have a
view on that? Can you again give us examples?
Ms Sankey: We agree with the diYculty that presents.
I think in the most recent example, the Counter-
Terrorism Act of last year, we had terrorist financing
provisions introduced at the final stages of the House
of Lords parliamentary process which we were
unable to comment on, were not expecting in the
slightest and really did seem to come out of the blue
and it is something that we find extremely
problematic. I think it is perhaps also worth pointing
out that this does not just happen when bills are fast-
tracked. We see governments proposing last minute
amendments constantly with no suYcient
justification for them coming at a later stage. Most
recently with the Policing and Crime Bill, we have
seen what we have termed as control orders for
children, GANGBOs, introduced at Committee
Stage in the House of Commons after of course the
Second Reading has already passed. Admittedly, this
is not at the final stages of the Bill, it has to come back
to Report and then go to the House of Lords, but I
think that Second Reading is a key moment in both
Houses when parliamentarians have time to really
reflect on the kind of measures that they want to give
most attention and I think that introducing measures
after that point, with no justification as to the delay
other than bad planning in whichever ministry it is, is
really inexcusable.
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Dr Metcalfe: I think that the provisions in Part 5 and
Part 6 of the Counter-Terrorism Act 2008 are an
excellent example of these kinds of problems. It is a
scheme of appeals in relation to terrorist financing
restrictions and so on. It is in fact in many ways
something that the Government should have thought
about a long time ago and it was actually noted I
think in the Newton Committee’s own
recommendations that there were no kind of appeal
procedures and it was not until recent judgments of
the Court of Appeal and also the European Court of
Justice that the Government thought it necessary to
take action. So, it is an example of something that
was introduced at the last minute but, if the
Government had thought about, it would have taken
measures far in advance. I think that this is a criticism
that we would also make of the Criminal Evidence
(Witness Anonymity) Act 2008 in that this was a
problem a long time in the making. There had been a
string of Court of Appeal cases which the
Government could have anticipated were likely to be
overturned had it had ever gone to the House of
Lords of the European Court of Human Rights. So,
the Government bears a great deal of responsibility
for not anticipating, looking down the path and
seeing which areas were likely to prove problematic,
not necessarily now but in the future.

Q157 Baroness Quin: My question is about a
situation where the Government is bringing in
legislation to deal with a particular issue but it is the
kind of issue where possible changes may have to be
brought in quickly because of events. Do you have
any views in such a situation whether it is preferable
for the legislation to confer broad powers on a
minister to legislate in order to deal with urgent
modifications or is it better to insist that any such
modification has to be through primary legislation
even if that has to be fast-tracked through
Parliament? Do you have any views on that and what
principles should guide ministers?
Dr Metcalfe: I think that it is a diYcult question to
answer in the abstract because a great deal is going to
depend on the factors of the specific case. Generally
speaking however, we think that it is always
preferable to go through Parliament rather than to
confer broad discretionary powers. Not merely in
emergency legislation but generally: it creates
problems about the predictability of the law and it
creates significant problems about accountability
because the exercise of the powers is less directly
accountable and there is less opportunity to consider
how the powers may be exercised and so forth. So, we
are broadly very concerned about the conferral of
discretionary powers, but then again there will be
some situations when it is operationally preferable to
do so.

Q158 Lord Pannick: May I turn your attention,
please, to the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 which is
dealt with in your, if I may say, very helpful evidence.
Can I ask you if you can help us on why you think the
order-making powers under Part 2 of that Act have
never been used and can you give us your views on
whether the Act is satisfactory in the procedures it
contains for order-making powers.
Ms Sankey: In terms of the first question that you
pose as to why it has not yet been used, as has already
been pointed out, we are not experts on all of the
functions for which the Act might be used but our
particular experience as an organisation was in the
debate that I have already referred to over 42 days
pre-charge detention. My particular inclination is
that there is a political imperative, if you like, for the
Act not to be used as the Government is not keen on
making a statement on the issue as to whether the
country is facing a national emergency or bringing in
powers under the Act. I say that there is a political
imperative for the Act not to be used. One of the
arguments that we made in relation to 42 days was
that the kind of scenario the Government was talking
about as to when extended pre-charge detention
might be required was a scenario which in our view
would justify measures under the Civil Contingencies
Act and we said, “The Act is already on the statute
book and we cannot see any reason for changing
primary legislation to account for the type of
situation you describe where multiple plots are
uncovered and the Government is unable to use what
is already at its disposal”. We found the Government
particularly reluctant to accept that opinion and
particularly keen to push through another piece of
primary legislation which could amend pre-charge
detention length.
Dr Metcalfe: I would agree with that. I think it is
extremely interesting that, following the debate over
42 days pre-charge detention, there has been even
more concern on the part of the Government not to
be seen to be using the emergency powers legislation
too readily and, to an extent, that is extremely
welcome because that is the proper approach. It
should not be prepared to use emergency powers
legislation to address things willy-nilly. As regards the
point about 42 days where potentially it could have
been used, the Government foreswore it and said that
it would not use it or that it did not want to use it,
which is very much the opposite of the position which
was expressed to us by the Cabinet OYce. Both
Liberty and JUSTICE, in the run-up to the Civil
Contingencies Act being put through Parliament,
had a number of meetings with the Cabinet OYce to
discuss the scope of emergency powers legislation
and, at the time, the Cabinet OYce was extremely
adamant that they were looking for a very broad and
flexible instrument that would help them cope with a
much broader range of emergencies that had existed
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in the past. So, it seemed striking that, having
introduced this far more flexible and, as they argued
at the time, far more proportionate piece of
emergency legislation, they have not used it in the five
years since.
Ms Sankey: I would like to add to my comments that
I also welcome the fact that it has not been used, in
case that was not clear. It was not at all that we were
expressing a view that the Civil Contingencies Act
should be used but more that it was there if it was
considered necessary.
Dr Metcalfe: I realise that I did not provide a follow-
up answer about the actual process about the Civil
Contingencies Act. We have identified in our written
evidence that we believe that the definition of
emergencies is itself too broad. I have seen Professor
Walker’s paper in which he also identifies a number
of additional criticisms about the process and, rather
than go through them in detail, I would simply say
that I agree with his analysis, but Professor Walker
was also someone who gave evidence to the Scrutiny
Committee, the Joint Committee on the Draft Civil
Contingencies Bill, and I think that his analysis of the
defects in the procedure, particularly relating to the
level of proportionality, the seniority of the minister
involved, the objectivity of the test required and the
objectivity of the need to take emergency steps, seems
to me a correct one.

Q159 Chairman: Ms Sankey, I did not give you the
opportunity, for which I apologise, to comment on
Lady Quin’s question about order-making powers as
contrasted with primary legislation. Is there any way
in which you would like to distinguish Liberty’s view
from what Dr Metcalfe said?
Ms Sankey: If I remember, I agreed with Dr
Metcalfe’s comments. Liberty of course favours
primary legislation as being the tool, the proper
democratic tool of legislation making. Of course, in
the abstract, it is very diYcult to always discern which
would be most appropriate but I would like to
observe that, over recent years. Over reliance on
secondary legislation has been an increasingly
unwelcome trend, not just in fast-track legislation but
in much of the proposed legislation which this
Government has brought forward, whether it is in the
immigration sphere or in the criminal justice sphere.
There is increasing use of very broad order-making
powers in primary legislation where we consider it
inappropriate to do so. Ultimately, secondary
legislation should, in our view, be about
operationalising policy which has been included in
primary legislation and not about substantial policy
making as part of the regulation-making process. The
most recent example is the amendments to the
Policing and Crime Bill which we understand are
going to be implementing the judgment against the
Government last December in the case of S and

Marper v UK. We understand now that the
Government’s response will be a secondary
legislation. Of course, the problem there is that there
is much less ability for scrutiny and for amendment,
so Parliament is faced with the choice of either
striking something down or, even if people only agree
with 80 per cent of what is proposed, having to nod it
through.

Q160 Lord Shaw of Northstead: We are all probing
around what is a very tight point but nonetheless a
very important one. Can there be any changes made
in the way in which the preparation of bills that are
fast-tracked can be made? For example, can you give
any examples of situations where either the policy or
the drafting of a bill fast-tracked through Parliament
has led to diYculties?
Dr Metcalfe: In general terms, the preparation of the
policy and the drafting of the fast-tracked bills is
probably one of the most opaque areas in which we
have to deal with as we have indicated. In the normal
course of events, there is generally a great deal of
opportunity to consult: you see a green paper and
then a white paper and sometimes there will be a draft
bill, a scrutiny committee and inquiries by various
parliamentary committees. If a bill has been fast-
tracked, then the first you know about it is generally
the newspaper report or the statement in Hansard
and the Bill will be there the next day. I think that the
examples we have already given, the 2001 Act and the
2005 Act relating to terrorism and also the Criminal
Evidence (Witness Anonymity) Act 2008 are
probably the best examples I can think of where in
policy preparation and the drafting of bills it is
impossible for us to see on the outside how they are
addressing these things. I think that it would be a very
interesting story to see how the policy developed and
we would like to know a great deal more about how
for example control orders were devised or where
many of the provisions of the 2001 Act came from.
We indicated in our written evidence that we would
be very keen to know what legal advice the
Government received in relation to the Criminal
Evidence (Witness Anonymity) provisions because it
seemed to us that this was a problem that could have
been anticipated far in advance. Generally speaking,
we know nothing about how these bills are prepared.

Q161 Lord Shaw of Northstead: There are no ground
rules that you have prepared because the thing is
entirely sudden?
Dr Metcalfe: In an ideal world, you would ask that
they provide you with consultation, but the nature of
emergency legislation is precisely that there is no time
for that.
Ms Sankey: I would agree with all of Dr Metcalfe’s
comments on that point. It is an extremely opaque
process and, as we have indicated, it severely restricts
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our ability to have any kind of input or amend or
tweak what is being proposed. It sits in sharp contrast
to what is normally quite a consultative approach by
this Government with legislative proposals.

Q162 Lord Norton of Louth: I would like to follow
that up. You are saying that, when it is introduced, if
it is a normal bill and not been fast-tracked, you
would normally be involved in the consultation
process you would be approached, but you are saying
that, when a bill is being fast-tracked, you pick up on
it from announcement and you are not then
approached and told, “Look, we have to move very
quickly. Do you want to have some input?”
Dr Metcalfe: No and I have to make it clear that we
are not even consulted nor can we reasonably expect
to be consulted on all bills or even the ones squarely
in our area. We have had meetings for example in
relation to the Coroners and Justice Bill which is
going through and, at diVerent levels, meetings about
the Policing and Crime Bill, but we have not had any
meetings about the Borders, Citizenship and
Immigration Bill. There are areas of our work where
we do not always get consultation, and it depends on
which department has taken the lead and again how
much time has gone into preparing the bill in the first
place. I can see in the situation of emergency
legislation that certainly consultations with non-
government organisations is very way down on the
list and probably understandably so.

Q163 Lord Pannick: A very important subject for us
is the safeguards which should exist if emergency
legislation is being put forward and Ms Sankey has
already mentioned sunset clauses as one important
feature. Can I ask you about the specific suggestion
that we have been considering in the earlier sessions
and that is that, if there is to be emergency legislation,
the minister should attach to the Bill a certificate
comparable to that one has under the Human Rights
Act certifying why this legislation is of an emergency
nature and that all of the contents of the Bill are of an
emergency nature. Do you think that this would serve
any valuable purpose? We have heard previous
evidence that this would certainly focus the minds of
civil servants and hopefully also ministers as well, but
one should only use this process if it truly is necessary
and appropriate. What is your experience as to
whether this would assist and are there other
safeguards that you would emphasise to us?
Dr Metcalfe: We would not reject the idea of
certification. Section 19 of the Human Rights Act
requires ministers to certify that an act is either
compliant with the European Convention or in some
exceptional cases not compliant. What is interesting
is that there has been at least one case in which the
minister has declared legislation compatible and
subsequently a court has found it to be incompatible.

So, that calls into question the weight that can be
attached to a certificate. A longstanding complaint of
the Joint Committee on Human Rights has been the
level of reasoning. For a long time, ministers would
simply certify something as compatible but there
would not be argumentation to follow it up. More
recently, we have seen slightly more expanded reasons
provided in the explanatory notes and I think that the
explanatory notes to the Coroners and Justice Bill in
relation to secret inquests are an example of a great
deal more argument that has been put forward by the
Government as to why it thinks something is
compatible with human rights or not. We would
welcome certification but whether it is by itself a
suYcient safeguard I would be very sceptical about.
One thing that we had proposed is that, if there is to
be emergency legislation, the Government should
disclose its own internal legal advice. Of course, the
normal convention is that this is not disclosed for
reasons of policy formation and Civil Service
neutrality and so on but, if a legislation is to bypass
normal procedures, we think it is imperative that
Parliament has the benefit of all the legal advice that
the Government does and, if the Government feels
that the legislation and its merits are so strong that it
justifies emergency steps, then it should make clear all
the advice. That would be a good convention to have
in relation to emergency legislation not being abused
for party political purposes because of course
emergency legislation should be above party politics.
If this issue is so important that it justifies Parliament
rushing an act through, then surely everyone, the
public and parliamentarians, should be able to see the
merits of the Government’s own position. That is one
suggestion. The other, which I believe is a question
coming up, is that we have suggested that there
should be automatically a parliamentary committee
to scrutinise as a follow-up emergency legislation.
The idea that we had in our written evidence is that
you should not constrain Parliament’s ability to take
emergency steps and to make emergency legislation,
but you should make it as unpalatable as possible and
the most eVective way we could think of doing that
was to make the cost higher. It is very easy for
Parliament or the Government to resort to
emergency legislation but if it knows that, in order to
do that, it is going to have to satisfy-you should not
make the hurdles in front of the emergency legislation
but you should make clear that there were always
going to be consequences which follow. The problem
at the moment is that there may in certain
circumstances be a political cost, the Government
may have to make a deal with the opposition parties,
but there are no constitutional costs and we believe
that there has to be some kind of constitutional price
to be paid for pushing legislation through.

Q164 Lord Peston: Again, arguing that your kind of
emergencies are not the only emergencies, it could be
argued that in dealing with the present state of the
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economy the correct thing to do is to cut direct taxes
which requires, in our country, legislation, but there
can be profound diVerences between the parties as to
whether that is right or wrong as the correct
intervention and I therefore got a little lost on your
view that, in an emergency, these things ought to be
done on a non-party political basis. In some cases, the
party politics is the essence of what the thing is all
about and it would be ridiculous to suggest that sides
which have a completely opposing view on the
correct intervention (a) that somehow it should be
done non-politically and (b) that all the internal
technical analysis ought to be made available to
everybody, particularly as everybody knows that
internally there would be a row going on as well. So,
I am a little puzzled as to this ‘rising above politics’
thing.
Dr Metcalfe: I should hope that there is always—

Q165 Lord Peston: I am not saying that in your area
it might not be right but I still emphasise that there
are other areas.
Dr Metcalfe: I suppose that I am slightly cautious
about agreeing to the idea that that area of human
rights does not aVect all areas. I appreciate that
something like say—

Q166 Lord Peston: I cannot see why taking three
million people outside the tax system is a matter of
human rights; it is a matter of technical economics.
Dr Metcalfe: But economic issues may obviously
have human rights implications.

Q167 Lord Peston: Of course. There is a public
record of them.
Dr Metcalfe: Measures involving unemployment or
restitution or whatever. More generally yes, there is
always disagreement. Whether that disagreement has
to be on party lines is another question entirely, but
we think that there should be healthy debate in
Parliament even on emergency legislation or
especially on emergency legislation. The idea is that it
should not in the normal course of events. Although
the Government is pursuing a political programme as
its agenda, the policy issues have been settled well in
advance. There has been an election manifesto for
example. If it is a non-manifesto emergency issue,
why is the legal advice not disclosed? Why make this
a measure of—

Q168 Lord Peston: I am not disputing on legal
advice; I happen to entirely agree with what you say
on legal advice. I am just pointing out to you that
there is a world out there separate from your world
which the Government must deal with. All the
problems are not legal issues and all the problems
that exist in the world are not human rights problems.

Dr Metcalfe: I would allow that party interests may
have a role to play in even an emergency debate, but
it seems to me that that has to be a lesser interest when
Parliament is being asked to sidestep its normal
procedure.

Q169 Chairman: I remember Tony Benn always used
to say that when two front benchers were in
agreement, Parliament’s suspicions ought to be
aroused. Ms Sankey, do you have anything to say on
this subject?
Ms Sankey: Simply to say that the proposal for
certification by a minister as to the need for expedited
process would of course be welcomed, the more
safeguards the better in this area I think. However, as
Dr Metcalfe pointed out, I do not think that this
would act as a silver bullet necessarily. It would be
another potential safeguard of which I think there
could be several more which could potentially be
beefed up. Dr Metcalfe touched on post-legislative
scrutiny. I think all fast-track legislation that needs
eVective in-built review mechanisms. In our view, the
post of the independent reviewer of terrorism is not a
role that has been sustained successfully. We are of
the opinion that there has a loss of confidence in the
role itself and I think that that comes out of a number
of things. The fact that it is one individual who is
fulfilling the function I think is particularly unhelpful
especially when the remit and the role that individual
serves is not necessarily clear to say the least. I think
that the current independent reviewer has accepted
on several occasions that his interventions, shall we
say, have gone beyond the scope of what his statutory
remit allows and I think that the loss of confidence in
the independent role of the reviewer can be traced to
that. The Newton Privy Counsellors Committee has
already been mentioned and that kind of model for us
is far preferable than leaving the task of review of
expedited legislation to one person. Similarly, as Dr
Metcalfe mentioned, a cross-party Parliamentary
Committee could also potentially be preferable to
one independent reviewer.

Q170 Lord Morris of Aberavon: I may have, though
I may have done so wrongly, detected a slight
diVerence between you as regards the value of
certification. Neither of you threw it out and you, Ms
Sankey, welcomed it as an additional hurdle. At the
end of the day, it is only a badge really which a
minister may or may not append to a legislation. It is
really what you should be saying at Second Reading
or pre-bill briefing. It has no real significance but it is
just a subjective judgment, something which he
thinks may be of help in getting through the
legislation, no more than that.
Ms Sankey: I do not think that there is a diVerence of
opinion. I think that both Dr Metcalfe and I would
welcome it, as I said, as an additional hurdle, as you
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put it, but you are absolutely right and I would agree
that it is not going to provide necessarily an
enormous extra test for a minister to demonstrate. I
think that potentially it might, depending on how it
is phrased and how much detail is required, give those
groups who are seeking to amend or suggest
alternatives additional information to help pose their
argument, but, as you say, it would be a badge and
not necessarily enormously helpful.
Dr Metcalfe: I think that we are on the same page; I
think we are in agreement that we would welcome
certification. In principle, it has a great deal of
potential. We are identifying some practical
deficiencies in the way in which the Government has
previously approached certification under the
Human Rights Act, but there has been some
improvement in recent sessions. However, there is
room for a great deal more improvement. We would
like to see a lot more reasoning provided. I would
hope that if certification were to be introduced for
emergency legislation—and that is something that we
would welcome and would support—there would be
greater eVorts by the Government to justify the
necessity.

Q171 Lord Rowlands: I was interested in your
observations about the role of the individual adviser
in counter-terrorism. Would your lack of enthusiasm
for that role extend to the other notion that cropped
up in the Counter-Terrorism Bill, the 42 day bill,
where two Chairmen of Select Committees were
going to be specially advised and empowered and
informed? Would your lack of enthusiasm extend to
that idea as well?
Ms Sankey: Absolutely. This was part of the
Government’s attempt to window-dress what was a
disproportionate, unnecessary and unjustified
proposal and the particular example you pick up on
of notifying Chairmen of Committees was a red-
herring. They would, as parliamentarians, already be
part of the process in any event. So, we really did not
see on that occasion what was being added other than
the Government seeking to grapple around for
additional safeguards, which I would put in
quotation marks.

Q172 Lord Rowlands: The Joint Committee is a
much better idea than any of these other notions?
Dr Metcalfe: That is one model and I should stress
that it is not the only way forward. It may be
appropriate in some cases for quite minor emergency
legislation and there are some examples in the
schedule that has been provided simply to have a
Standing Committee but I know that there has
already been a proposal for a Standing Committee on
post-legislative scrutiny, so maybe you could roll
those functions up into that. For a particularly large
bill, for example like the 2001 Act, it would be

appropriate to have a Joint Parliamentary
Committee established to follow up on the issue.
That is one way forward. A particular point to follow
up Ms Sankey’s point about the disclosure to the
Committee chairs in relation to the 42 days measure,
one very problematic aspect of that was the
disclosure of closed material and I think that raises a
much large constitutional issue about whether the
House has a debate, either House has a debate, by
reference to material that is not made clear to the
public.

Q173 Lord Norton of Louth: To follow up on the
point that you just made, Dr Metcalfe, on post-
legislative scrutiny, there is clear acceptance that
there is a value in that. The Government itself has
now accepted that acts should normally be reviewed
three to five years after their enactment, reviewed by
the department, 13 per cent of the relevant
departmental Select Committee in the Commons.
Would you agree that where there has been fast-track
legislation, then the post-legislative scrutiny should
come at an earlier stage and perhaps it will also be a
role for the Joint Committee that you are suggesting
or something could be wrapped up with a dedicated
committee on post-legislative scrutiny?
Dr Metcalfe: Either a dedicated committee on post-
legislative scrutiny or a delegated committee
specifically on emergency legislation. If my maths is
correct, it is roughly two a year, two emergency bills
a session, in the last 20 years. So, it may be that that
would be enough work for a Standing Committee on
emergency legislation or whether you would have a
specific committee in each case. Yes, in general, that
is the kind of scrutiny we would like to see. I should
add that it was originally in the Law Commission’s
consultation that had suggested that consultation
should be three to five years afterwards. At the time,
we said it should be much shorter and I think that the
2001 Act provides an excellent example of that
because it was not until 2004 that the House of Lords
made its ruling that indefinite detention was
incompatible with fundamental rights. Parliament
had by that point had three opportunities to repeal
indefinite detention including one following the
Newton Committee’s report that it should be
repealed as a matter of urgency and this points to the
problems with sunset clauses and renewal provisions
in that they are certainly desirable as a mechanism
but look at their track record when it comes to the
indefinite detention without trial. Very often, it falls
to the courts to provide the scrutiny and the courts
move very slowly. We have only just had a ruling from
the European Court of Human Rights finally on the
2001 provisions.
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Q174 Lord Norton of Louth: So, if post-legislative
scrutiny was provided for within a year or two of
enactment, that would be the slight additional cost,
which is back to your earlier point.
Dr Metcalfe: We would say that a year would be
maximum; it should meet sooner in our view in most
cases, but it will of course be some time because
parliamentary committees are not easy to set up on
the hoof, but we would hope that they meet much
sooner.

Q175 Lord Norton of Louth: That is the only
dedicated committee in place to get the work under
way.
Dr Metcalfe: Yes.

Q176 Lord Pannick: Dr Metcalfe, you mentioned in
an earlier answer an obligation to disclose legal
advice, but surely the arguments for and against
disclosure of legal advice—and they are diYcult
arguments on both sides—do not depend on the
emergency legislation context, do they? I find it
diYcult to see how one can have a separate rule for
emergency legislation. Is it not also the case that it is
rare—it does exist but it is rare—for the arguments
for an emergency legislative process to depend upon
disputed legal advice? The argument is normally
rather a practical one as to the need for the emergency
piece of legislation, is it not?
Dr Metcalfe: To take the second part first, I think it
will be extremely helpful for parliamentarians to be
able to see the assessment of the Government’s own
legal advisers as to the necessity and the
proportionality of the measures and it seems to me
that where measures engage fundamental rights, that
is precisely the kind of analysis that they are going to
want to see because these are the essential hurdles
that the Government will itself have to pass when the
measures are challenged in court, if they are. As to the
idea that the emergency context really does not add
anything, I suppose it would be fair to say that we
believe that disclosure of legal advice should be made
public as a general rule and that would be something
that we would certainly favour. We see that they are
the public’s lawyers, that the Government acts on the
public’s behalf in these matters, and so the public
should be able to see as a matter of basic democratic
transparency the legal advice that the Government is
receiving on particular issues. However, I think that
the emergency context seems to us to create a special
case for disclosing legal advice because of the
arguments I have made before about rising above
party issues and, if we accept that the Government of
the day has the right to pursue its manifesto and
command its majority in both Houses, then that is the
way our political system is set up but, when it comes
to emergency legislation, you are stepping outside the

normal bounds and I think that increases the case for
disclosure of legal advice.
Ms Sankey: I have no particular comments to make
on the disclosure of legal advice but if the Committee
would like further input from Liberty on that specific
point, that can be provided.

Q177 Lord Morris of Aberavon: To disclose the legal
advice the Government has would be a major
departure from the existing situation and indeed from
the convention. It is almost a constitutional
convention that an attorney’s advice is not disclosed
except in extremely rare circumstances or even the
existence of it.
Dr Metcalfe: I think that the existence of it can
probably be inferred in most cases of constitutional
importance. I would like to think that legal advice has
been taken on emergency legislation automatically as
a matter of course. I accept that it is a major
departure, but this goes back to our earlier point that
there has to be some way that Parliament can make
the resort to emergency legislation unpalatable. You
do not want to prevent Parliament being able to be
free to resort to emergency legislation, but you have
to find some way to prevent an executive from
abusing its majority in Parliament by resorting to
emergency legislation when it is not necessary to do
so. It seems to me that disclosing the legal advice may
in fact reveal that the Government’s case for the
assessment of necessity is much weaker than it
maintains in public is one way of doing that. It may
not be the only way and there may be other ways of
increasing the constitutional cost of resorting to
emergency legislation. It seems to us—and I speak as
a former government lawyer, although not a policy
lawyer but a litigation lawyer—that the arguments
for maintaining the privacy and confidentiality of
legal advice received by the Government are rather
weak. There is probably not suYcient time to go into
that but I have never been persuaded, even having
worked in the Government Legal Service, of the idea
that my work on behalf of the Government and by
extension the public at large should not be disclosed
in the way that other public documents are routinely
disclosed.

Q178 Lord Morris of Aberavon: The heart of the
problem is not the legal advice, it is the policy and the
facts. It is not the legality.
Dr Metcalfe: As I indicated in my answer to Lord
Pannick, where measures engage fundamental rights,
an analysis of the necessity and the proportionality of
the measures is part of the legal advice itself. If you
want to for example interfere with someone’s right to
privacy, you have to show that you are pursing it for
legitimate aim, that is it provided by law, that it is
necessary to pursue that aim and that it is not
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interfering with basic rights than it needs to be in the
pursuit of that aim.
Ms Sankey: We have no particular comments to
make at this point on disclosure of legal advice given
to the Government in the emergency legislation
process, but we can follow up to the Committee if the
Committee so wishes.

Q179 Chairman: Do you think there are any lessons
to be learnt from the way in which other legislators
deal with emergency legislation?
Dr Metcalfe: We have not had the opportunity to
undertake a broad comparative study. We did note a
study that was undertaken in 1983, so some time ago,
by our parent organisation, the International
Commission of Jurists, which did a survey of states of
emergency and identified a range of constitutional
principles, most of which I think will be fairly
unsurprising, things like, you should not abolish the
judiciary in an emergency! More recently, the
Eminent Jurists Panel on terrorism, counter-
terrorism and human rights identified some specific
principles that should be followed in relation to
counter-terrorism legislation, that is counter-
terrorism legislation in general but I think some of
the advice they make and the recommendations they
make, which are outlined in our written evidence, are
also applied to emergency legislation. We did say that
there is obviously desirability in having a written
constitution and we gave the example of President
Lincoln’s suspension of habeas corpus during the
American Civil War and how that was struck down
twice by the US Supreme Court. I think that the
debate about a written constitution is for another day
but there are obviously mirrors. We would not press
this point because I think even the war on terror on 9/
11 has shown the limitations of written constitutions.
There has been an argument that a great deal of the
emergency powers employed by President Bush were
justified under the US Constitution but even written
constitutions do have gaps and do have defects. If
there is a lesson from other jurisdictions, most of
which have written constitutions, it is generally
speaking that the clearer the limits on emergency
powers the better.
Ms Sankey: We agree with Dr Metcalfe’s comments.
Obviously, the comparison is complicated by the
written constitution diVerence, but I do think it is fair
to say that we can draw enough lessons from our own
experience since the troubles and into our present
circumstances now and the threat that we face. The
way in which the Government has responded
especially over the last eight years in particular can
definitely be improved on using the processes we have
talked about today in terms of a ministerial
statement; in terms of more eVective post-legislative
scrutiny; and amending the way in which sunset
clauses and renewal orders are operated in practice. I

think that there are more than enough lessons to be
drawn from our own experience.

Q180 Lord Norton of Louth: As things stand, the bill
has to go through one House and then goes to the
other. Do you have any views as to whether there is
any value in a bill being taken simultaneously by the
two Houses? Would that have any benefits?
Ms Sankey: That is not something which we have
particularly considered in detail. I can see problems
in terms of what would happen when diVerent types
of amendments are tabled in both Houses and
perhaps contradictory amendments are passed. I
foresee very practical problems with that. I do not
particularly see an advantage in that approach.
Dr Metcalfe: I agree with Ms Sankey’s analysis. It
seems to me that we would end up with a diYculty
with which version took precedence and inevitably
one House would be concerned about being
overridden by another House.

Q181 Lord Norton of Louth: So, it would not
actually save time because you would have to resolve
diVerences between the two Houses.
Dr Metcalfe: Yes.

Q182 Lord Rowlands: It is perhaps ironic that we are
having this hearing this morning and this afternoon
we are going to railroad a bill through committee on
Report Stage, the Northern Ireland Bill, all in one go.
Have you managed to look at that bill and come to a
conclusion whether it deserves fast-tracking and can
be justifiable on emergency grounds?
Ms Sankey: I am afraid that in this parliamentary
session we have been inundated with several bills
which touch more firmly on the areas in which we
operate, so I have not had the opportunity of looking
at that Bill in detail.
Dr Metcalfe: Our position is the same. As I have
indicated, we are working on a number of bills and
the Northern Ireland Bill is simply one that we have
not had the opportunity to consider.

Q183 Lord Norton of Louth: A final question on
something that I think is more important which
relates to the House of Lords. Do you think that the
House of Lords has any special role in relation to
legislation that is being fast-tracked?
Dr Metcalfe: I would say no more than its traditional
role as the Upper House in reviewing the House of
Commons’ actions and ensuring that they do not act
too fast and too incautiously. There has always been
the view that the Lords is a check on the Commons
and a more deliberative body and there is no less need
for that role in an emergency than not.
Ms Sankey: We would agree absolutely with Dr
Metcalfe. The role that the House of Lords plays as a
constitutional watchdog, if you like, is much the same
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11 March 2009 Dr Eric Metcalfe and Ms Isabella Sankey

whether a bill is fast-tracked or not. Of course the
Upper Chamber does not feel the same type of
political pressure which you see in the House of
Commons obviously, in a fast-track procedure, that
kind of arm’s length, discursive and more reasoned
approach is even more necessary and very welcome.

Supplementary memorandum by JUSTICE

1. In our oral evidence in March, we promised to provide the Committee with a written follow-up to certain questions.

Questions 136–139

2. We were asked to comment on the “limiting principles” that Professor Walker identified in his written
evidence to the Committee. Although we had seen a copy of his evidence before giving oral evidence to the
Committee, we had not had the opportunity to consider them in detail.

3. In relation to the expedited passage of primary legislation, Professor Walker suggests that three standing
“limiting principles” can be identified, which may serve as a “parliamentary check-list against which future
legislation can be judged in a more systematic and rational way than at present” (para 12). These are:

— Policy relevance and impact—emergency legislation should show a rational connection to an existing
strategy and the potential to advance that strategy

— Rights audit—emergency legislation must respect fundamental rights as defined in national and
international human rights instruments (not limited to the European Convention on Human Rights).
However, the existing mechanism under the HRA for derogations under article 15 ECHR is too weak.
Also, Parliament frequently fails to address the concept of proportionality, which contains its own
constituent principles.

— Accountability—emergency legislation should clearly identify mechanisms for ongoing
Parliamentary scrutiny and periodic review, as well as more general opportunities for those aVected
to participate in decision-making and challenge adverse decisions.

— Constitutional governance—emergency legislation should be compatible with existing codes, and
should aim for the restoration of “fundamental features of constitutional life”. In particular,
“Parliament should check that Ministerial promises are kept”.

4. Having had the opportunity to consider the principles, we are happy to endorse them. Although we were
reluctant in our oral evidence to suggest a “checklist” per se, we think the principles identified by Professor
Walker are cogent and a sound basis for analysing any proposed emergency legislation.

5. Although not among the “limiting principles”, we also endorse Professor Walker’s other suggestions:

(a) that government departments provide drafts of proposed emergency regulations well in advance. We
agree that, for example, we see no reason why draft regulations for many kinds of emergencies could
not be made public. Indeed, we think that extended public debate is more likely to improve their
quality;

(b) that late urgent amendments to primary legislation be subject to standing orders on the
“admissibility” of amendments; and

(c) that the framework of the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 be tightened to prevent unnecessary and
disproportionate use of emergency regulations.

Questions 151–3

6. We were asked by Lord Rowlands to justify the statement in the introduction to our written evidence that
“measures taken in an emergency have frequently proved to be disproportionate, unconstitutional and/or
incompatible with fundamental rights”. In addition to the Anti-Terrorism Crime and Security Act 2001, the
Prevention of Terrorism Act 2005, and the Criminal Evidence (Witness Anonymity) Act 2008 we identified,

Q184 Lord Norton of Louth: It may be the case that,
say, if agreement could not be reached on a Joint
Committee along the lines you have indicated that it
may fall back to a Lords Committee.
Dr Metcalfe: That may be an appropriate way
forward, yes.
Chairman: Ms Sankey and Dr Metcalfe, I thank you
on behalf of the Committee very much for your
written evidence and the evidence you have given.
Thank you very much, indeed.
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we would also include the following further examples of legislation that was disproportionate or incompatible
with the ECHR:

(a) Prevention of Terrorism (Temporary Provisions) Act 1974.

(b) Criminal Justice (Terrorism and Conspiracy) Bill 1989.

(c) Dangerous Dogs Act 1991.

(d) Prevention of Terrorism (Additional Powers) Bill 1996.

(e) Criminal Justice (Terrorism and Conspiracy) Act 1998.

29 April 2009
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WEDNESDAY 18 MARCH 2009

Present Goodlad, L (Chairman) Rodgers of Quarry Bank, L
Morris of Aberavon, L Rowlands, L
Norton of Louth, L Shaw of Northstead, L
Pannick, L Wallace of Tankerness, L
Peston, L

Memorandum by the Northern Ireland Office Constitution Committee on legislation pertaining to
Northern Ireland that has been subject to expedited passage through Parliament

Since199513Bills havebeen taken throughParliamentbyNorthern IrelandOYceMinisterswhichwere subject
to expedited passage. A total of 29 Northern Ireland related Acts received Royal Assent in the same period.

Amongst the various reasons necessitating expedited passage, the security situation arising from Northern
Ireland related terrorism has in the past created the need for urgent legislation. More recently keeping the
political process on track has been the main reason leading to expedited passage of legislation.

This memorandum describes briefly the purpose of each of the thirteen pieces of legislation subject to expedited
passage since 1995. They are:

1. The Northern Ireland (Remission of Sentences) Act 1995

2. The Northern Ireland (Entry to Negotiations, etc) Act 1996

3. The Northern Ireland (Elections) Act 1998

4. The Northern Ireland (Location Of Victims Remains) Act 1999

5. The Northern Ireland Act 2000

6. The Northern Ireland Assembly Elections Act 2003

7. The Northern Ireland Assembly (Elections and Periods Of Suspension) Act 2003

8. The Northern Ireland (Monitoring Commission Etc) Act 2003

9. The Electoral Registration (Northern Ireland) Act 2005

10. The Northern Ireland Act 2006

11. The Northern Ireland (St Andrews Agreement) Act 2006

12. The Northern Ireland (St Andrews Agreement) Act 2007

13. The Northern Ireland Act 2009

Two further Bills (the Prevention of Terrorism (Additional Powers) Act 1996 and the Criminal Justice
(Terrorism and Security) Act 1998) were taken through Parliament following incidents related to Northern
Ireland.TheywereHomeOYce rather thanNorthernIrelandOYceBills.Briefnoteson theseare includedat the
end of the memorandum.

1. The Northern Ireland (Remission of Sentences) Act 1995

Q: What was the purpose of the Act?

The Act restored the practice that all prisoners, regardless of the nature of their oVence, became eligible for
release at the halfway point of their sentence. The Act also provided that those released in accordance with these
provisions would be liable to recall to prison if their continued liberty would present a risk to the safety of others
or if they were likely to commit further oVences. The change in policy followed the first IRA ceasefire.
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Q: Why was the Act required urgently?

The Act was introduced at the end of the Parliamentary session. At second reading the then Secretary of State
said: “In my opening speech I explained that at the earliest opportunity—given that it is 12 months since the
ceasefires—it is necessary for the Government to show that they are not reluctant to respond in a positive,
prudent and practical way to the perceived reduced risk. That is why I did not want to wait to introduce the
legislation in the new session when the House will be anxious to proceed with the highly desirable measures that
will be set out in the Queen’s speech.”

2. The Northern Ireland (Entry to Negotiations, etc) Act 1996

Q: What was the purpose of the Act?

TheActprovidedagateway intoall-partynegotiations. It enabledelections to takeplace inNorthernIreland for
the purpose of providing delegates from among whom participants in political negotiations would be drawn.
The Act also provided for a forum for these negotiations and for referendums.

Q: Why was the Act required urgently?

The Act was introduced in April 1996 with the intention of enabling all-party negotiations to start on 10 June
that year. At that time the IRA was not on ceasefire, having broken its ceasefire in February. The Government’s
view was that Sinn Fein would not be able to participate in the talks until the IRA had restored its ceasefire. The
judgement at the time was that moving quickly with the legislation was essential to keep the political process
moving and to enhance the prospect of an early resumption of the IRA ceasefire. The talks led eventually to the
Belfast (Good Friday) Agreement.

3. The Northern Ireland (Elections) Act 1998

Q: What was the purpose of the Act?

The Act was the precursor to the Northern Ireland Bill introduced later in the year, which set out new
constitutional arrangements for Northern Ireland reflecting the Belfast Agreement concluded in April 1998. It
provided for the first elections to the new Northern Ireland Assembly on 25 June, and for the Assembly then to
embark on a preparatory or “shadow” phase, without powers.

It thus permitted implementation of the Belfast Agreement to begin rapidly, conditional on a positive outcome
to the referendum on the Agreement in Northern Ireland on 22 May (which was in fact achieved). It was judged
important in the circumstances of Northern Ireland at the time that the greatest possible momentum should be
maintained in the implementation of the Agreement, if, in a climate that remained very tense, support for it was
not to unravel. The early start permitted by the Bill was important in sustaining a degree of cohesion among
proponents of the Agreement against sustained criticism from opponents on both sides of the community, in a
security situation that was still diYcult.

Q: Why was the Act required urgently?

Legislation was required urgently in the aftermath of the Belfast Agreement to allow the Northern Ireland
parties to prepare for the elections in June and the forthcoming referendum campaign.

The Bill’s provisions were temporary in nature and were supplanted when the main Bill implementing the
Agreement (theNorthernIrelandAct1998,whichwasnot subject toacceleratedpassage)wasbrought intoeVect
the following year.

4. The Northern Ireland (Location of Victims Remains) Act 1999

Q: What was the purpose of the Act?

The Act had three main purposes in providing for:

— the Commission established by agreement between the United Kingdom Government and the
Government of Ireland;

— various forms of protection for information provided to the Commission (and any evidence which
came to light as a result) about the whereabouts of the remains of victims; and

— the entry and search of premises where remains were likely to be found.
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The Act provided three types of protection for information provided to the Commission about the whereabouts
of the remains of victims of violence (and for any evidence which was obtained as a result). First, such
information and evidence became inadmissible in criminal proceedings. Second, restrictions were placed on the
forensic testing of human remains and other items found as a result of the provision of information to the
Commission. Third, the disclosure of information provided to the Commission was restricted.

Q: Why was the Act required urgently?

The Bill, which was mirrored by similar legislation in Ireland, was the culmination of the two Governments’
response to the statement by the Provisional IRA on 29 March 1999 that it believed it had established the
whereabouts of the graves of nine people. The Government brought the legislation forward as quickly as
possible to ensure that the families of the so-called “disappeared” did not have to wait any longer than was
absolutely necessary to bury the victims’ remains. As the Minister of State said during the Bill’s second reading
“No-one with any humanity in his heart has the right to deny the families the right of laying their loved ones to
rest with the dignity they deserve. The humanitarian need to introduce this legislation with such urgency is
therefore obvious.” Similar sentiments were expressed by the Opposition and Liberal Democrat spokesmen
during the debate.

5. The Northern Ireland Act 2000

Q: What was the purpose of the Act?

The Act provided for the suspension of devolved government in Northern Ireland and for executive
responsibility for Northern Ireland to revert to the Secretary of State during the period of suspension. This was
a return to Direct Rule.

The Act also gave the Secretary of State the power to end the period of suspension by making an order (referred
to as a “Restoration Order”) and also to eVect further suspensions via Order.

Schedule 1, paragraph 1 of the Act enabled legislation that would under devolution have been made by the
Northern Ireland Assembly to be passed by Order in Council for the first six months of any suspension period.
Sub-paragraph (4) allowed the Secretary of State to increase that period in extensions of not more than six
months at a time. Any order to extend the period was subject to the aYrmative procedure in both Houses of
Parliament.

Q: Why was the Act required urgently?

The legislation was required to enable the temporary suspension of devolution in order to provide some
breathing space todiscourage the resignation of FirstMinister, a move that wouldhave automatically collapsed
the Executive and made it much more diYcult to get the institutions up and running again. Legislation to enable
the suspension of devolved government was required since under the Northern Ireland Act 1998 there was no
such provision. In circumstances in which the Executive collapsed the only recourse under that legislation was
tocallAssemblyelectionsafteran intervalof sixweeks, aprocess thatwouldbe repeatedpotentially ad infinitum
if a new Executive could not be formed.

6. The Northern Ireland Assembly Elections Act 2003

Q: What was the purpose of the Act?

The Act postponed the date of the election for the next Northern Ireland Assembly election from 1 May 2003 to
29 May 2003. The Act also postponed the date for the dissolution of the Assembly from 21 March 2003 to
28 April 2003.

Q: Why was the Act required urgently?

The Act followed intensive negotiations at Hillsborough on 3 and 4 March 2003 between the UK and Irish
Governments and the Northern Ireland political parties. These negotiations were aimed at restoring power to
the devolved institutions in Northern Ireland, which were suspended under the terms of the provisions of the
Northern Ireland Act 2000, and the full implementation of the Belfast Agreement.

The Government’s judgement at the end of negotiations was that there was a shared understanding of how the
process could be moved forward, but some issues of diYculty remained to be dealt with; and that all parties
needed time to reflect. The Government hoped that a brief postponement of the Assembly election would
provide an opportunity for a way forward to be found in advance of elections which would on that assumption
lead to the restoration of devolution.



Processed: 07-07-2009 18:58:08 Page Layout: LOENEW [O] PPSysB Job: 427327 Unit: PAG5

71emergency legislation, constitution committee: evidence

7. The Northern Ireland Assembly (Elections and Periods of Suspension) Act 2003

Q: What was the purpose of the Act?

The Act postponed the date of the election of the next Northern Ireland Assembly from 29 May 2003 (the date
that had been set by the Northern Ireland Assembly (Elections) Act 2003) and provided a mechanism for setting
the date of the next poll. The Act also contained consequential provisions which were necessary because the
postponement took place after the commencement of the statutory electoral timetable.

Q: Why was the Act required urgently?

The Government’s judgement was that the Provisional IRA had not provided clarity on an end to paramilitary
activity so that therewas insuYcient trust andconfidence among theNorthern Irelandpolitical parties to expect
the restoration of functioning devolved institutions immediately following an election on 29 May as previously
envisaged.Thepostponementwas intendedtoallowthe twoGovernments tocontinueeVorts to rebuild the trust
and confidence necessary for the restoration of stable devolved institutions.

8. The Northern Ireland (Monitoring Commission etc) Act 2003

Q: What was the purpose of the Act?

The Act had two main purposes. The first was in relation to the Independent Monitoring Commission (IMC),
which was established under an International Treaty between the UK and Irish Governments with a view to
monitoringprogressonbringinganend toparamilitaryactivity andon theBritishGovernment’s programmeof
securitynormalisation.TheIMCrequired legalpersonality, immunitiesandprivileges indomestic law;ancillary
provisionwasalsomade in relation to IMCreports. The secondpurposewas toamend theNorthern IrelandAct
1998 so as to provide for a range of responses or measures to be imposed on Northern Ireland Ministers, junior
Ministers, or parties in the Northern Ireland Assembly in the event of adverse reports from the IMC.

Q: Why was the Act required urgently?

At the time of the Bill’s introduction in September 2003 almost a year had elapsed since the Government had
suspended devolved Government in Northern Ireland. Political talks in Northern Ireland earlier that year had
resulted in the publication on 1 May by the British and Irish Governments of a Joint Declaration on the way
forward. A key element in the range of steps considered necessary to move the process forward was the
establishment of an International Monitoring Commission with various monitoring and reporting functions.
By providing a level of assurance to the Northern Ireland political parties in relation to the fulfilment of
obligations to end paramilitarism and to operate the Belfast Agreement in good faith, the IMC was intended to
help foster a climate of trust and confidence necessary for the stable functioning of devolved government. The
urgency was engendered by the judgement that there was a real possibility of making political progress in the
autumnandconversely that the longer thedelay inmoving thepolitical process forward, themore likely itwould
collapse altogether.

9. The Electoral Registration (Northern Ireland) Act 2005

Q: What was the purpose of the Act?

TheActput inplacea temporaryarrangementwherebyaround80,000 individualswhohadbeenontheelectoral
register in September 2004, but did not re-register during the annual canvass of 2004, were put back on the
register on 1 April 2005 in time to vote at elections taking place that year. The Act also gave the Chief Electoral
OYcer the authority to carry forward those who were currently registered but who did not re-register in the
annual canvass of 2005

Q: Why was the Act required urgently?

The Electoral Fraud (Northern Ireland) Act 2002 had put in place anti-fraud measures in order to re-establish
the integrity of the electoral process in Northern Ireland, which had been badly damaged by allegations that
democracy was being undermined by fraud and, in particular, an inflated electoral register. Although there was
general agreement that the 2002 Act had been successful in combating fraud, by 2005 it was clear that an
unfortunate consequence of the Act was an initial decline in the numbers of (legitimate) electors registering. The
Government made a commitment to address the problem—and did so, substantively by, amongst other things,
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provisions in the Northern Ireland (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 2006 (which was not subject to accelerated
passage). However, the political parties in Northern Ireland had asked Ministers to legislate, on a temporary
basis, in advance of this in view of the then forthcoming May 2005 local elections (which was, it turned out, also
the date of the 2005 general election) to ensure that as many eligible individuals as possible were on the
electoral register.

The Act, therefore, put in place a temporary arrangement whereby around 80,000 individuals who had been
registered in September 2004, but did not re-register during the annual canvass of 2004, were put back on the
register on 1 April 2005 in time to vote at these elections.

10. The Northern Ireland Act 2006

Q: What was the purpose of the Act?

This was a piece of legislation in pursuit of restoring devolved government in Northern Ireland. The Northern
Ireland institutions, including the Northern Ireland Assembly, had been suspended since October 2002. The
Government’sproposals, incorporated in thisAct, involvedbringingtogetherAssemblymembers toparticipate
in a process to select a Northern Ireland Executive on or before 24 November. If the process was successful, full
restoration of devolved government would take place. If it was unsuccessful, the Assembly would have been
dissolved without the prospect of fresh elections.

Q: Why was the Act required?

In April 2006 the Prime Minister and the Taoiseach announced a fresh strategy aimed at restoring the Northern
Ireland Assembly and other institutions. This strategy involved Assembly members meeting to participate in a
process that would, it was intended, result in an Executive being selected on or before 24 November 2006. The
Actprovided for theAssemblyandother institutions tobe fully restored if theExecutivewasselectedbythatdate
or to be dissolved if it was not. Assembly members did meet in the period up to 24 November to make
preparations for a restored Assembly.

Following significant progress at the summit in St Andrews in October 2006, the Northern Ireland (St Andrews
Agreement) Act 2006 repealed the Northern Ireland Act 2006 and set up a new timetable for the restoration of
the institutionswhichoccurred in the followingyear.TheBillwas introduced inApril. Itput inplace thedeadline
agreed by the two Governments such that if political had not been made before 25 November the Northern
Ireland Assembly would be dissolved. Expedited passage was judged necessary to give maximum time for
political progress.

11. The Northern Ireland (St Andrews Agreement) Act 2006

Q: What was the purpose of the Act?

The Act was to give legislative eVect to elements of the St Andrews Agreement, reached on 13 October
2006 following negotiations between the British and Irish Governments and the Northern Ireland political
parties, with a view to the restoration of power sharing political institutions in Northern Ireland. The Act
provided for a number of changes to the operation of the institutions, which had been established under the
Northern Ireland Act 1998 (including changes in relation to Ministerial conduct and appointments, statutory
committees, the North-South Ministerial Council and British-Irish Council and other miscellaneous issues).

In addition to these measures the Act created a Transitional Assembly to prepare for the restoration of the
devolved Northern Ireland Assembly and set a deadline of 27 March 2007 for the selection of an Executive or
dissolution of the Assembly. Ultimately this deadline was extended to 8 May 2007 under the provisions of the
Northern Ireland (St Andrews Agreement) Act 2007.

Q: Why was the Act required urgently?

The Act enabled the Northern Ireland political process to progress, based on the twin foundations of power-
sharing and support for policing and the rule of law. Along with the St Andrews Agreement itself, the Act
demonstrated the Government’s commitment to the devolution of policing and justice functions to Northern
Ireland and in doing so, it created an environment within which Sinn Fein committed to support the Northern
Ireland policing and justice institutions and, significantly, took up their places on the Policing Board.
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Importantly, it also established a timetable for the selection of an Executive and the restoration of the Northern
Ireland Assembly and, although this timetable was ultimately superseded by that of the Northern Ireland (St
Andrews Agreement) Act 2007, it directly led to the restoration of the devolved institutions on 8 May 2007. In
order for progress to be sustained following the St Andrews Agreement it was essential to get the legislation in
place quickly because without it provisions of the earlier 2006 Act would have led automatically to the
dissolution of the Assembly.

12. The Northern Ireland (St Andrews Agreement) Act 2007

Q: What was the purpose of the Act?

The purpose of the Act was to extend the deadline for the restoration of the Northern Ireland Assembly and
formation of a power-sharing Executive, as set by the Northern Ireland (St Andrews Agreement) Act 2006 from
26 March to 8 May 2007.

Q: Why was the Act required urgently?

Since a power-sharing Executive was not formed by 26 March 2007, the Secretary of State would (but for this
Act)havebeenunderadutyunder the termsof the2006Act tomakeanorder revokingrestoration,andSchedule
3 to the 2006 Act would (but for this Act) have come into force on 28 March 2007. Had Schedule 3 come into
force, the Northern Ireland Assembly would have been dissolved, the next election postponed indefinitely and
most of the changes to the devolved institutions eVected by the 2006 Act repealed.

Following a further commitment between the Northern Ireland political parties to participate in the power-
sharing arrangements agreed at St Andrews, a decision was taken to amend the timetable for restoration of the
institutions. Against that background and with an inherent need for urgent legislation if the political agreement
was to be sustained this Act amended the deadlines provided for under the 2006 Act to facilitate restoration of
theNorthernIrelandAssemblyon8May2007.Aswith theNorthernIreland (StAndrewsAgreement)Act2006,
this legislation was required in order to avoid the automatic dissolution of the Assembly.

13. The Northern Ireland Act 2009

Q: What was the purpose of the Act?

The Act paved the way for the future devolution of policing and justice in Northern Ireland by giving legislative
eVect to the agreement announced by the Northern Ireland First and deputy First Ministers on 18 November
2008 and to the report of the Northern Ireland Assembly’s Assembly and Executive Review Committee
(AERC), endorsed by the Assembly on 20 January 2009.

The Act did not devolve policing and justice: the trigger for this is already provided for in section 4 of the
Northern Ireland Act 1998. Devolution will not happen until the Assembly has formally requested the transfer,
following a motion being tabled there by the First and deputy First Ministers. After that, Parliament will
consider a series of Orders in Council to transfer powers.

Q: Why was the Act required urgently?

The Act was required urgently both to maintain political momentum and give eVect, at the earliest opportunity,
to theagreement reachedbetween theFirst anddeputyFirstMinisterand, following the reportof theAERC, the
Assembly and to make possible the completion of the further stages in the process of devolving policing and
justice powers before the summer recess 2009 if this is the Assembly’s wish.

The next stage would be a Bill in the Assembly to establish a new Northern Ireland Department of Justice. Then
the Assembly would need to pass a resolution to request the transfer of the relevant powers. Finally, Parliament
would consider a series of Orders in Council to eVect the transfer of powers. To make possible completion of
these steps during the period between now and the summer recess it was necessary for the Northern Ireland Bill
to receive Royal Assent by mid March.
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The Prevention of Terrorism (Additional Powers) Act 1996

What was the purpose of the Act?

The Act was passed following the end of the IRA’s first ceasefire in February 1996. The Act enabled the police to
stop and search pedestrians for articles that could be used in the commission, preparation or instigation of
terrorist acts; search non-residential premises for evidence that was of value to a terrorist investigation; search
unaccompanied freight in ports; cordon oV areas to look for a bomb or to collect forensic evidence after a bomb
had been found or had exploded; and impose temporary parking restrictions in response to a general threat to
vulnerable sites, such as Government buildings.

Q: Why was the Act required urgently?

Following the Docklands bombing on 9 February 1996, the Government considered that it was necessary to
bring in additional powers to strengthen the ability of the police to protect the public against the security threat.
The legislation was introduced just before the Easter recess and the Government considered that it was
important for it to receive Royal Assent before the House went into recess.

The Criminal Justice (Terrorism and Security) Act 1998

Q: What was the purpose of the Act?

The main provisions of the Act concerned evidence which might be given in criminal proceedings for terrorist
related oVences. The Act made admissible a statement from a senior police oYcer to the eVect that the accused is
orwasamemberofa specifiedorganisation (althoughsuchastatementwouldnotbesuYcient in itself to securea
conviction). The aim was to enable prosecutions for membership oVences which were at the time diYcult to
prosecute. To achieve this, the Act amended the existing counter-terrorism legislation (the Prevention of
Terrorism Act, and the Emergency Provisions Act for Northern Ireland).

The Act also gave the courts new powers to order the forfeiture of property following conviction of membership
of, or support for, a proscribed organisation if it was satisfied that it had been used in connection with the
activities of such an organisation.

The conspiracy provisions were designed to ensure that individuals who had conspired to commit terrorist
oVences in countries outside the EU could be tried in the UK.

Q: Why was the Act required urgently?

This Bill was introduced in response to the Omagh bomb in August 1998 and following attacks on US embassies
inNairobi andDar esSalaam.29 civilians and twounborn twins died in theOmaghbombing,which remains the
largest casualty figure from a single incident in the Northern Ireland troubles. The Irish Parliament was recalled
on the same day to consider legislation to strengthen anti-terrorism legislation.

March 2009

Examination of Witnesses

Witnesses: Sir Jonathan Phillips, Permanent Secretary, and Sir Joseph Pilling, former Permanent
Secretary, Northern Ireland Office, examined.

Q185 Chairman: Sir Jonathan and Sir Joseph, I
would like to welcome you very warmly to the
Committee. We are being audio recorded, so perhaps
I could invite you to identify yourselves for the
record. Thereafter, if either of you or both of you
would like to make an opening statement, please do,
otherwise we will enter into discussion.
Sir Jonathan Phillips: Thank you. I am Jonathan
Phillips, Permanent Secretary of the Northern
Ireland OYce.
Sir Joseph Pilling: I am Joe Pilling, the former
occupant of that post.
Sir Jonathan Phillips: For my part, I am very happy
to follow the questions you have given us on
advance notice.

Sir Joseph Pilling: So am I.

Q186 Chairman: Thank you. Since about 1995 a
very large number of Northern Ireland bills have
been subject to an expedited passage through
Parliament. The Committee would be most interested
to hear if you could summarise the reason why it was
necessary to fast-track the bills.
Sir Jonathan Phillips: Thank you. I hope that the
memorandum which we have produced gives a
coherent account of each of the 13, at least in brief. I
think that what comes out significantly from that is
that in each case context is very important. In a
minority of cases the security background is a factor,
but much more significantly if you look at the list of
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13 -it is 13 out of 29 over that period—the political
context is the really dominating factor. I think
creating categories is diYcult, but if I had to go for
two, I would identify maintaining momentum in
what was always and remains a diYcult political
process, a rather fragile political process, and where
it is not a question of maintaining momentum, it has
been on a number of occasions a question of avoiding
a collapse in that process. One can, if one wants to,
create categories of that kind. There is one exception,
I think, to those broad categories I have cited, which
is the Location of Victims Remains’ Bill, the 1999
Act; I think the humanitarian aspect of that
legislation sets it in a category of its own.

Q187 Chairman: There are obviously reservations in
Parliament about emergency legislation. Are there
any of the bills that you have listed for us that you
think in retrospect might not necessarily have been
fast-tracked or, indeed, might have benefited from
greater parliamentary scrutiny?
Sir Jonathan Phillips: Perhaps I can take that
question, as it is, in two parts. First, were there any
which might not have been? I think the only one, in
context, if you use my categories of security and the
political process broadly defined, where the piece of
legislation is not clearly required to maintain the
momentum of the process, would be the 1999
Location of Victims Remains’ Bill. That having been
said, as we say in the memorandum and as was clear
from the Parliamentary debates at the time, none of
us would have wanted to stand in the way of the real
humanitarian issue that arose once the IRA had said
that they knew the whereabouts of a certain number
of bodies. That is an odd exception. On your second
point, I think it is important to make sure that one is
clear about the diVerence between an expedited
passage in general, which might mean simply a
shortening of the normal periods of time on the one
hand, and a piece of legislation which is taken
through with great haste. Looking through this list in
preparation for this Committee, I am struck by the
obverse observation, which is that Parliament has
been able to influence or make sure that the
legislation put before it was amended. The best
example of this, the outstanding example really, is
2003, where two bills were introduced in close
succession. There had been diYcult political
negotiations in March. The two governments
thought there was a way forward but there was an
election set for the beginning of May and the bill was
introduced to postpone that election until the end of
May. As it happened, the expected developments in
terms of IRA commitments to the complete cessation
of violence did not emerge in the interval, and a
second piece of legislation was introduced. The view
was taken in Parliament that it was inappropriate to
leave that legislation with the Secretary of State

having an open-ended power, without parliamentary
scrutiny as to the setting of a later date for an
election, an election which eventually happened in
November 2003. Despite the expedited passage of
that legislation, that important change was made.
Sir Joseph Pilling: I would just add that I looked for
evidence that this body of 13 bills, then acts, had been
unduly amended by comparison with other
legislation I have been familiar with through my
working life, and I think it is fairly clear that they
stood up quite well to being tested in reality.
Although there were reasons for coming back and
amending them in due course, those reasons do not
seem to have been because they failed to achieve what
they were intended to achieve in the first place. This
may be merely an illustration that Northern Ireland
legislation is rather simpler than that of other
government departments, I do not know, but I think
that some legislation that goes through an exhaustive
process in both Houses does sadly turn out to be
faulty when it is tested in the harsh light of day. I
think the record of these bills has really been quite
good.

Q188 Lord Rodgers of Quarry Bank: I would like to
ask a question about a process of government, and it
might be easier for Sir Joseph to reply than Sir
Jonathan. Perhaps I could ask a preliminary question
first. Does the structure of government in dealing
with Northern Ireland business follow the usual
routine of going through legislative committee, or has
there been a new process over the years because of the
nature of the matter and the need for doing things
very quickly? Is the process diVerent? There is
another question, a bit more delicate again, about the
role not only of the Northern Ireland OYce and the
minister but outside. Again, one assumes that the
legislation goes through the Cabinet, but could you
say too, Sir Joseph, that the views about the need and
the character of this legislation was principally
involved in the Secretary of State or did the Prime
Minister of the day have an obviously much larger
role? You had experience of the Home OYce and a
much wider experience. Was it diVerent and more
diYcult, more complex, more controversial?
Sir Joseph Pilling: First of all, in my own time I do not
recall any example of legislation not being treated in
the normal way within government so far as
legislation committee is concerned. That is not a
point I have checked and I have no way of knowing
what has gone on since 1 December 2005, but I would
be surprised if government had departed from the
normal practice. I do not think that the involvement
of the Prime Minister in the aVairs of Northern
Ireland, which was noted by everybody from 1997
onward, though his predecessor was also pretty
heavily involved in Northern Ireland before 1997—I
was not at that point in the NIO but I know from
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people with whom I later worked that that was so—
did have any bearing on the way the legislation was
framed. I do not think it made it any more diYcult or
any easier. Pretty well in each case these bills were a
reflection of an outcome of a negotiating process.
Once, as it were, the negotiating process had been
completed, there was then a technical challenge to try
to reflect that agreement in the form of legislation,
and parliamentary counsel and legal advisers and the
policy makers at working level in the NIO would
work together to try to get that right. I do not think
the way the negotiation had been conducted, and
whether it had involved principally the Prime
Minister or had been done by other people within the
government, on our side of the negotiation was
material.
Sir Jonathan Phillips: I agree with that. There are
instances one can cite where perhaps the process was,
one might even say, a little more extensive. For
example, the main legislation implementing the St
Andrews Agreement in 2006 made some significant
changes to the 1998 Act in so far as it aVected the
Assembly and the way it operated in the Executive
and the way it operated. As it happened, the main
elements of those changes were pre-figured in
negotiations which took place in 2004 and which
resulted in the publication of a set of proposals by the
two governments, the British and Irish governments,
called the comprehensive proposals. Those
proposals—and here I get back to your point—were
turned into draft clauses well before the St Andrews
legislation was introduced. It is an interesting
illustration of a slightly diVerent approach to the one
with which you are more familiar in this list, and I
think it was quite helpful. Perhaps there is one other
thing I might say in this context. Of course your
focus, given the terms of reference of this inquiry, is
on the 13. In my view, the really substantial changes
that have been made both constitutionally and more
generally—and I am thinking of policing and
criminal justice reform in Northern Ireland—have all
been in the form of legislation handled in the normal
way. I think that is quite an important point to bear
in mind as you reach conclusions about the way in
which the Northern Ireland team have sought
expedited passage in relation to the list that you are
looking at.

Q189 Lord Rowlands: You made reference to the
very useful submission that has been submitted to us.
To take example number 9, “The Electoral
Registration (Northern Ireland) Act 2005”, it is
explicitly stated there that “the political parties in
Northern Ireland had asked Ministers to legislate, on
a temporary basis. . . “ Did the Northern Ireland
political parties support the fast-track processes in all
these bills?

Sir Jonathan Phillips: My general answer to that
question is yes. In every single case did every single
party? No.

Q190 Lord Rowlands: But the majority of the parties
supported—
Sir Jonathan Phillips: A majority of the parties in
most occasions. Of course, on occasion, their
opposition may not have been to the expedited
passage but to the fact of the legislation itself,
reflecting the position they were taking in the broad
negotiating process. To illustrate that, in 2003 we
introduced the legislation which supported the
setting up of an independent monitoring
commission. I cannot remember, and I have not
researched in suYcient detail before coming here,
which way the DUP voted on every single decision on
that bill, but it is clear to me from recollection that
they opposed it at that time, even though later they
came to support it, and their opposition was a
reflection of their position in the political negotiating
process in 2003 when they were, if you like, outside
the main negotiating process.

Q191 Lord Rowlands: Generally speaking, taking
these 13 bills as an example, you seek to obtain broad
support from the Northern Ireland parties to fast-
track.
Sir Jonathan Phillips: Yes, is the simple answer to
that, except in circumstances where the Government
itself—and I go back to my category of the
Government seeking to avert a collapse of the
process—reaches a conclusion that urgent action is
necessary. Joe will have a clearer view of what
happened in 2000 in that regard. My recollection,
though I was not in the Northern Ireland OYce at the
time, is that in the end this was a good example of
where the parties which would have wished to see the
suspension of the institution take place, supported
the Government—perhaps with a degree of
reluctance, but they supported it—the SDLP, which
would as a matter of principle not have wanted to
have seen the institution suspended again after 1998,
opposed it. But they would have been opposing the
substance rather than the process, I think.
Sir Joseph Pilling: Perhaps I might use that question
to make a more general point. I would be surprised if
at any point, the British government of either
political party was set on a fast-track process and
tried to talk to people into supporting it; that is to say,
the other participants in the Northern Ireland
negotiations. I think, rather, the way Parliament
would be invited to deal with some provisions would
be part of the negotiating process itself, and
generally—and this is the important point I want to
try to get to because I think it is part of the backdrop
to your consideration—the British Government, on
everything from the very biggest issues to the very
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smallest issues, has been neutral in the Northern
Ireland process for at least a couple of decades. It
began with people now in this House, who were then
in the other House, who made speeches about no
selfish interest, that the British government had no
selfish interest in, as it were, keeping Northern
Ireland within the United Kingdom.

Q192 Lord Rowlands: Are you suggesting that the
pressure for fast-tracking has come from the political
parties within Northern Ireland as much as from a
desire of the British Government to fast-track?
Sir Joseph Pilling: One could examine each case, if
one had enough time, and go through the records to
see where the pressure was coming from. Very often,
it would have seemed obvious to all the participants
that, in order to keep the process going, Parliament
would have to be invited to deal with this rather
quickly when the time came. It would not have been
a subject of prolonged argument or debate within the
negotiations, but it would be wrong to give the
impression that the government of the day
particularly wanted it dealt with this way and tried to
sort of talk people into it. It fell out from the process.

Q193 Chairman: Are there any recollections that
you have or perceptions of the government of the
Republic of Ireland, the Dáil, doing parallel fast-
tracking that we could learn from?
Sir Joseph Pilling: They certainly did it on the
measure that Jonathan has just mentioned to do with
human remains. That was something that aVected
their jurisdiction as well as this jurisdiction, but more
commonly the legislation applied in Northern
Ireland and therefore was a matter for Westminster
and not a matter for the Dáil.

Q194 Lord Wallace of Tankerness: Bills that are fast-
tracked on grounds of urgency sometimes contain
provisions that are not directly related to the urgent
matter that triggered the legislation. One example of
this would be the Criminal Justice (Terrorism and
Conspiracy) Bill 1988 passed in the aftermath of the
Omagh bomb. The Prime Minister of the day, Tony
Blair, told Parliament: “we are. . .. taking the
opportunity of Parliament’s recall put into law long-
held plans to make it a criminal oVence of conspiracy
to commit oVences outside the UK.” Can you
enlighten us as to what the justification was for
including in fast-track legislation a provision that
had been, in the Prime Minister of the day’s words,
“long-held”?
Sir Joseph Pilling: This was not particularly Northern
Ireland legislation and I do not recall being involved
in discussing the subject. From general experience, I
would say that the issue may have been becoming

more pressing because of international events not
connected with Northern Ireland. It has never been
terribly easy to get bills into the normal legislative
programme. The Government may have taken
advantage of, as it were, a passing vehicle to get
something done that they saw as desirable and, I
guess, not particularly controversial. But I am
speaking from general experience rather than specific
knowledge of that particular moment. As far as the
Northern Ireland body of legislation is concerned, it
is a pretty unusual example of something piggy-
backing on something that was, as it were,
genuinely urgent.

Q195 Lord Morris of Aberavon: The trigger for the
1998 bill was the tragedy at Omagh.
Sir Joseph Pilling: Yes.

Q196 Lord Morris of Aberavon: Parliament was
recalled.
Sir Joseph Pilling: Indeed.

Q197 Lord Morris of Aberavon: Which is a very
rare event.
Sir Joseph Pilling: Yes.

Q198 Lord Morris of Aberavon: Parliament sat right
through the night on it. It may not have been
specifically termed Northern Ireland legislation.
Sir Joseph Pilling: I am sorry, it was the conspiracy
provision that I meant. I am sorry to interrupt you.

Q199 Lord Morris of Aberavon: Yes, I understand,
but why were they piggy-backed on a matter which
had to be rushed through Parliament in a very long
night?
Sir Joseph Pilling: As I say, I do not think there was
controversy about the provision. It had been waiting
for a legislative opportunity and somebody, I think
not in the Northern Ireland OYce, must have decided
that this was a suitable opportunity.

Q200 Lord Morris of Aberavon: To slip it in?
Sir Joseph Pilling: Well, yes, that is a way of putting
it. That is your way of putting it rather than mine.

Q201 Lord Morris of Aberavon: I was involved in it
and I saw it happening.
Sir Joseph Pilling: I think in that case, you may be
able to help your colleagues rather more than I can.

Q202 Lord Morris of Aberavon: It is a misuse of fast-
tracking and emergency legislation to put your hand
into the top drawer back in some government oYce
and take out this provision and say, “Ah, we can slip
it in here.”
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Sir Joseph Pilling: I may be slightly more committed
to pragmatism than some people in the room. I would
quite want to know whether use was made of that in
a constructive way to help deal with the phenomenon
of terrorism before it could otherwise have reached
the statute book through a normal Home OYce bill.
This was a Home OYce bill, not a Northern Ireland
OYce bill and presumably that is why the Home
OYce and the Prime Minister got it into the bill. Its
scope, in other words, allowed it to be included. The
scope of the bill was not restricted just to Northern
Ireland. That is what created the opportunity. It
could be that some good things flowed from taking
that opportunity. If, as I believe, the matter was not
particularly controversial, and it did have to pass
through all the stages, I think I would be a little slow
to say that there was no case for including it and a
completely knockdown, 100 per cent case for not
including it. It is a matter of judgement, I think.
Chairman: Lord Morris, on the 2009 bill.

Q203 Lord Morris of Aberavon: I understand fully,
gentlemen, the need to maintain momentum, but
what troubles me from what I have read is the
rationale for granting the 2009 Act in that way.
Sir Jonathan Phillips: As the Secretary of State has
said in his letter to the Chairman, the rationale is, as
with a number of previous elements in this list, that
we had thought it important to maintain the
momentum of the process. I will come to some dates
in a minute, if I may. The significance of the timing of
getting legislation through was that Royal Assent
was needed by the middle of March in order to
maintain the possibility of justice and policing
powers being devolved before the summer recess.
That is a function of other necessary subsequent
Westminster Legislation; it is also a function of what
needs to occur in the Northern Ireland Assembly.
Perhaps I could address the question: “Well, in that
case, why could the legislation not have been
introduced at an earlier stage?”—after all, you might
say, the First and Deputy First Minister in Northern
Ireland reached their agreement on 18 November and
the Northern Ireland Assembly and Executive
Review Committee reached its view on 20 January. I
could, though I do not have all the relevant pieces of
paper in front of me now, show you how the very
general agreement reached on 18 November, a public
statement by the First Minister and Deputy First
Minister and, indeed, the further consideration in the
Assembly and Executive Review Committee, still left
outstanding quite a number of detailed questions
which needed to be resolved, as it were at the highest
political level in Northern Ireland, before the
draftsmen could produce the product. I fear that we
found ourselves in a position where, if the objectives
set out in the Secretary of State’s letter were to be
successfully achieved (that is to say, leaving open the

possibility of devolution before the summer recess),
an expedited passage was necessary.

Q204 Lord Morris of Aberavon: Thank you very
much. You said earlier that the political parties
generally seek support of the Northern Ireland
political parties to fast-track, but as regards this bill,
the First Minister of Northern Ireland said that the
bill was dealt with in a “constitutionally tacky way”.
It does not impress on me that there was agreement
from the two ministers as regards doing it this way.
Sir Jonathan Phillips: I did observe his comments in
the House of Commons and I think I need to say the
following. First of all, to repeat what I said at an
earlier stage, the political process in Northern Ireland
does remain, for all the tremendous progress that has
been made, a fragile one, and I do not think it would
be helpful for me to comment in that context on a
number of private conversations which reflect the
views expressed between the parties in Northern
Ireland.

Q205 Lord Morris of Aberavon: Understood.
Sir Jonathan Phillips: The second comment is that I
am not sure his remarks were necessarily addressed to
the question of expedited passage itself, or whether
they were addressed to the precise question of the
timetabling in the House of Commons. That is
obviously not a matter for me, but he might well have
been commenting on that. I am clear, however—third
remark—that that legislation reflects the agreement
between the First Minister and Deputy First Minister
in Northern Ireland, and I would have been very
hesitant myself to advise that we should not have
taken that forward at the earliest possible point, in
order, not least, as a number of these pieces of
legislation have sought to do, to crystallise and firm
up the agreement made in a negotiating context.

Q206 Lord Morris of Aberavon: We have all read the
Secretary of State’s letter and his explanation for
expedition, and you have given a few moments ago
the reason for getting the legislation by the end of
March, so that it could be implemented by the
summer. I do not want to go into the detail, I am not
quite sure I understand it, but one of the arguments
put forward by the Secretary of State is that there was
a purdah on legislation during the European
elections. I know from my little experience that
certain announcements cannot be made when there is
a general election imminent. You cannot appoint
people in that little period. But I have never heard
before of European election being paraded as a
purdah, so that you cannot act in Parliament. Is that
novel? Do you have any examples of it happening
before?



Processed: 07-07-2009 18:58:08 Page Layout: LOENEW [O] PPSysB Job: 427327 Unit: PAG5

79emergency legislation, constitution committee: evidence

18 March 2009 Sir Jonathan Phillips and Sir Joseph Pilling

Sir Jonathan Phillips: I think that what was in his
mind is a more general point, which is that elections
in Northern Ireland are occasions for divisions being
asserted rather than consensus being achieved, if I
might put it that way.
Sir Joseph Pilling: It is quite true on this side of the
water too!
Sir Jonathan Phillips: To that extent, getting this
legislation agreed and on the statute book is helpful
before the divisiveness of an election campaign
intervenes. I think the point he was making
technically in relation to using the word “purdah”
was a reflection not of parliamentary activity but of
activity in the Northern Ireland Assembly, which
needs to take a resolution during that period if the
summer deadline was to be met.

Q207 Lord Morris of Aberavon: But you had got that
on 20 January.
Sir Jonathan Phillips: You are absolutely right to say
that the Assembly and Executive Review Committee
produced its report on 20 January. The point I made
earlier, which does stand, is that the combination of
the 18 November statement from the First Minister
and Deputy First Minister and that report did not
together answer every detail that required to be
considered in framing the legislation, and it did take
the period right up to the recent recess to get that
detailed agreement from both the First and Deputy
First Minister in particular.

Q208 Lord Morris of Aberavon: Since I infer,
Chairman, that purdah during the European
elections is without precedent, otherwise he would
have told me, is Northern Ireland being treated as a
special case, so that the authorities and the Houses
are willing to give it precedent? You are in the
marvellous position of having favoured treatment
from parliamentary counsel, who are really supposed
to drop everything to provide for your legislative
needs. Is that a fair summary?
Sir Jonathan Phillips: Joe may have his own view. I do
not think it is entirely fair, no. It is fair to observe that
over a long negotiating period—and it has been a
very long negotiating period, from before the Good
Friday Agreement through to the present, although
we have not, as you know, completed devolution
quite yet—as you go through a period like that, there
is an observation which has been made, I know, by
our predecessor that, if I might put it this way, those
involved in these negotiations become habituated to
the notion that things can be done quickly. That is
certainly a perspective. But I must say, from the
perspective of someone who has been at the heart of
these negotiations for six and a half years now, that is
not how it feels when you are observing the fragility
of what you may just have got agreement to and
which then needs Parliamentary action. Your

judgement from that perspective is that you had
particularly well get on and maintain the momentum
in this process before time applies its eVect and
perhaps diminishes the degree of approval that has
been reached.

Q209 Lord Rowlands: The thing that surprised me
when reading the programme motion debate in the
Commons and, indeed, our debate on second
reading, because we did not have the opportunity to
debate the fast-tracking process, was that it had
virtually no friends, even by Northern Ireland
representatives.
Sir Jonathan Phillips: The programme motion?

Q210 Lord Rowlands: Yes.
Sir Jonathan Phillips: In so far as you take me into
that territory, that is perhaps better explored. . . I
think this Committee will see the leaders of both
Houses at a certain point. The timetabling—

Q211 Lord Rowlands: Okay. Perhaps you might not
want to respond, but it does cast a doubt on this. In
your earlier answer you said that the pressures often
came on the political parties in Northern Ireland. The
fast-tracking did not have support.
Sir Jonathan Phillips: I acknowledged on the record
that the First Minister in Northern Ireland, as a
Member of Parliament, did not support the fast-
tracking.
Sir Joseph Pilling: May I make a couple of points?

Q212 Chairman: Please.
Sir Joseph Pilling: I am a bit anxious that we may have
left the record faulty on the question of purdah,
which is not, in any case, as precise a term as perhaps
we would like. My recollection from up to three and
a bit years ago is that the centre of government
communicated with government departments about
what one might loosely call purdah in relation to
Westminster elections, European elections, local
government elections and the elections of devolved
assemblies. How purdah was interpreted and applied
varied a lot according to what the election was, but
that departments needed to be alert to the fact that an
election was going on and that it might be
inappropriate to say and do certain things during
that election was common across all those elections.
As I say, the use of the word “purdah”, although it is
not a very precise word, was also common. That is
not the point I was going to raise as a result of Lord
Rowlands’ question, and perhaps I might come to
that—unless Jonathan wants to correct me on the
purdah point.
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Sir Jonathan Phillips: No.
Sir Joseph Pilling: Nothing has changed.
Sir Jonathan Phillips: No.
Sir Joseph Pilling: I want to say that it may be a
mistake to look at this issue as a choice between the
expedited or emergency procedure and the normal
procedure. There may be an issue to be explored
about how expedited and how emergency, as it were,
the procedure ought to be. I say that because my own
first experience of a Northern Ireland emergency bill
is really in the deepest recesses of history. The only
one in which I have closely been involved and worked
on was the 1972 Act which suspended Stormont and
introduced Direct Rule for the first time. That bill,
which I remember very well, much better than any of
the bills in more recent years—a sign of extreme old
age, I think—had some extraordinary features, one
of which was that it was introduced in almost
identical form in both Houses simultaneously. This
House had the Northern Ireland (No 2) Bill
introduced, which was later withdrawn, and the bill
that had been introduced into the House of
Commons, which was called the Northern Ireland
Bill, came to this House and was taken through all
stages entirely formally because the otherwise
identical bill had been already debated in this House.
One of the consequences of that particular procedure
was that the Government could not let the bill be
amended. I had the unhappy task of writing the
speaking notes for Willie Whitelaw to explain in the
Commons why the amendments were terrible
amendments and should be rejected, and I could not
include the only real argument, which was: “If this
bill is amended I will not be able to go to Northern
Ireland on Maundy Thursday with the powers that I
need to take over from Brian Faulkner’s
government.” That was the real reason. The
procedure, I hope, has not been repeated recently. I
would not be telling you about it if I thought it had
been repeated recently. I tell it is an illustration of the
fact that it is possible to do these things very badly or
not so badly. Deplorable as it may always be from a
Parliamentarian’s point of view, there are some ways
of doing it that are less deplorable than others.

Q213 Lord Rowlands: Do you begin to detect that
there is a slight growing impatience about the
Northern Ireland administration? Is fast-tracking
becoming a kind of norm?
Sir Jonathan Phillips: Yes. Perhaps I could divide
that. Do I sense a growing impatience? Yes, I do. Is it
the norm? Well, there is a lot of it, but on the other
hand I would go back to a point I made earlier on: the
most significant and substantial measures in the
policing field, in the criminal justice field, in terms of
processions, parades, and, indeed, the major 1998
Act, were not rushed through in that way. They were
treated according to normal parliamentary

procedure. Whilst I understand the impatience—and
why should I stand in the way of that impatience
being expressed to those involved in Northern
Ireland?—I do think, nonetheless, that each of these,
with the one diVerent category that I created earlier
on, has been justified.

Q214 Chairman: During the fast-track proceedings
on the 2009 Act, the Lord President said that she had
looked forward to the unamendable Orders in
Council pursuant to the Act being rubber-stamped
by the Westminster Parliament. Is there an
expectation that the Westminster Parliament should
rubber-stamp things that are decided? Do you think
that is a legitimate explanation?
Sir Jonathan Phillips: It is not an expectation which
exists in my mind or of the oYcials working in the
Northern Ireland OYce.

Q215 Lord Rowlands: Pursuing the point, have you
had a chance to read Sir John Chilcot’s evidence to
the Committee.
Sir Jonathan Phillips: I have seen a broad summary
of it.

Q216 Lord Rowlands: So that I do not do him an
injustice, I will just quote what he said to us. He told
us that his “sense of the successive Northern Ireland
Acts, particularly since I left ten years ago, is that the
bar has progressively been lowered. It has been seen
to be really increasingly easy by other political parties
in Northern Ireland and by other governments—‘Oh,
the UK Government will get some legislation
through in a hurry. If we need another eight weeks, we
can have it and there is no problem about that.’ That
seems to me a weakening of what should be a good
and strong process control over emergency
legislation. It should not be easy to agree in the course
of a taut negotiation, ‘Oh, it is all right, we will
change it and make it all right by Thursday’.” How
do you respond to that sort of lowering of the bar?
Sir Jonathan Phillips: I think it is very easy for me to
look back at Joe’s time and say that things are a jolly
sight better now.
Sir Joseph Pilling: And they are!
Sir Jonathan Phillips: I know that he feels very open
to saying to me that things were better in his day. I do
genuinely think it is quite diYcult to make these
judgements if you are not very conscious of the
context in which they are made. While I have great
respect for John Chilcot, I do not think that that is a
fair way of describing the recent history. To put that
slightly more analytically: I do think the environment
has changed, and most particularly since 1998 and
the Good Friday Agreement and its implementation.
That, as everyone I think acknowledges, was a very,
very major point in the process of bringing Northern
Ireland back to normality. Since then, the
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environment seems to me to have been one in which
the Government has had, as Joe said, not with a view
to taking sides, but has had a fundamental
responsibility for keeping the show on the road. I
think in each of the cases which we have listed, there
is, as our memorandum shows, at least to my
satisfaction, a good case for proceeding with urgency.
I do not accept that because the circumstances are
somewhat diVerent from those which were pertaining
when John Chilcot was Permanent Secretary that
that necessarily means that the bar has been lowered,
though I do accept, as I said a few moments ago in
answer to a diVerent question, that of course you can
observe in a negotiating context that if an expedited
procedure has been used once, then it may well have
created an expectation in people’s minds that it could
be used again. That of course must be a possibility.

Q217 Lord Rowlands: A member in the other House,
when commenting on the programme motion, said
would it not be a good idea to establish legislative
normalcy in Northern Ireland as a symbol and a
proof that things have changed?
Sir Jonathan Phillips: If you were to take me back
through any of the pieces of legislation in this list and
say, “What would have been the consequences of
doing that?” of course, we get into a diYcult
counterfactual, do we not? I would simply observe
that in my judgment—and I hope that Joe will agree
at least to this extent, for the period that he covers, as
it were—there would have been a very significant risk
of losing a still fragile agreement and the
consequences of that downstream would have been
much more significant than the desirability of
sending a tough message that this facility was not to
be available again.
Sir Joseph Pilling: I think John’s point is that the bar
has been lowered; that is to say, one is not using the
need for normal parliamentary procedure as a
pressure on people to bring a negotiation to an end.
I would say that the most recurrent theme in my eight
years as Permanent Secretary of the Northern Ireland
OYce was the problem of bringing negotiations to an
end. Every conceivable way that the human mind was
able to think of to generate pressure, real or artificial,
was resorted to, including, on a number of occasions,
keeping people up all night in the hope that it would
reduce their determination to be obdurate and bring
them to the point of agreeing, at least in order that
they could get to bed. The truth is that this, I am sure,
was used on many occasions, but it is equally true and
inescapably true that it is of declining power as an
argument when people can observe that Parliament
will expedite legislation. I am sure it is not quite a
catch-22, but that is the sort of phrase that occurs
to me.

Q218 Lord Norton of Louth: To follow the point Sir
Joseph was making, which is the very important
distinction between expediting the passage of
legislation and treating it as an emergency; in other
words, it has to be rushed through, say, in a day or so,
as opposed to expediting it, so it is a part within the
process but it is not rushed through in a day or so.
With the 2009 Act we were having diYculty as to why
the Government seemed to treat it in the emergency
category, rushing it through as quickly as it did,
rather than expedited passage. Would allowing more
Parliamentary time for scrutiny, following on from
what Sir Jonathan has just said, prevent the show
from not staying on the road basically? I think that
was at the heart of the discussion about the
programme motion.
Sir Jonathan Phillips: I think it is diYcult territory for
me, to get into the precise terms of the programme
motion.

Q219 Lord Norton of Louth: It is the broad
distinction.
Sir Jonathan Phillips: The broad distinction—and, as
I say, this does not go to whether there would more
desirably be one day or two days—is, as I have said
earlier, that in relation to the 2009 Act the
Government’s view very strongly—and I think
ministers would express this in terms not only of the
Government but the British Parliament as well—was
that they should not find themselves in the position of
carrying responsibility for a delaying of the
implementation of an agreement, such a delay itself
carrying the risk that that agreement might splinter. I
come back to the point that, as a matter of fact,
although it may not appear quite like this from the
dates of 18 November and 20 January, it was not
possible to draft that legislation any more quickly in
advance of its introduction, and the judgment stands
that ministers felt it right to make sure that we were
not the obstacle to implementing the devolution of
justice and policing by the summer recess.

Q220 Lord Norton of Louth: To follow up the point
that it could not be quickly done in advance, Lord
Mayhew made the point when it was debated in our
House that it did have the appearance of “This has to
be done quickly” but that to some extent would make
a stronger argument for Parliament itself having a
little more time to scrutinise the legislation.
Sir Jonathan Phillips: If for the sake of this exchange
you accept as valid my argument that the
Government should not be in a position of being a
blockage to the development of the process in
Northern Ireland, I do think the question of the
precise timetabling in either House is something
which is really beyond my area of competence. I am
happy to signal to those who will give evidence later
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that those are issues you want to explore, but I think
they are better explored in that quarter.

Q221 Lord Peston: My question arises from Sir
Joseph’s interesting and, indeed, important speech.
He was saying that even if things are going well, we
should not be complacent, and Westminster should
not “take its eye oV the ball”. Sir Jonathan has largely
answered the question already by saying that even if
we habitually use an expedited procedure for
Northern Ireland that has not made us complacent. I
think he said words to that eVect. I would like to
check with Sir Joseph whether his answer would be
the same.
Sir Joseph Pilling: Yes. This is a sort of mild obsession
of mine and I seize every opportunity I can in London
to talk about the importance of Whitehall and
Westminster, but perhaps particularly Whitehall, not
getting back into the habit of ignoring Northern
Ireland, that I think applied for 40 years or so until
the current round of troubles began to hit us at the
end of the 1960s. It is a bit diYcult to link that
thought to the choice of legislative procedure for
particular Northern Ireland bills. Parliament must
play a part alongside government in continuing to
watch what goes on in Northern Ireland and to make
sure that people are fully familiar with the
personalities and with the issues of the day there, but
I do not see a connection, to be honest, between that
point—which I could bore on for hours about, but I
will resist the temptation, you will be glad to know
-and what we are here to discuss today.

Q222 Lord Peston: Sir Jonathan also used the word
earlier “fragile” when discussing, I think, the status
quo, wherever it is in the peace process. Is it not true
that anything in Northern Ireland must be fragile?
Those who believe in a united Ireland still go on
believing it and those who want a separate Northern
Ireland still go on wanting a separate Northern
Ireland. What one might call the most fundamental
problem is never solved. The fragility is presumably
to do with, simply, that their methods should not be
killing each other.
Sir Joseph Pilling: We might both have answers to
make to that. I would say that as an England dwelling
newspaper reader who looks at the BBC Northern
Ireland website from time to time, I do not get a sense
at the moment that Direct Rule might need to return
at any moment. But I would accept that the word
“fragile” is appropriate to apply to the arrangements,
particularly as devolution is not yet complete in
Northern Ireland. In the period 1999 to 2002 when
we had devolved government, I think it was
suspended two or three times during that period. I
was then much more closely involved than I am now,
when fragile meant something altogether more
immediate and nerve-racking. But I think there is not

a better word to describe it from my point of view
than fragile, even though there are, as I have just
illustrated, degrees of fragility

Q223 Lord Norton of Louth: I completely take your
point about the 40-year period, that it was seen as
something out there and therefore something that
should not be dealt with at Westminster. But in
relation to the linkage with the Northern Ireland
legislation being expedited, the argument would be
that, because it is expedited, perhaps it has become
part of the culture to see it as being rushed through
and therefore, “Oh, it’s Northern Ireland
legislation.” Therefore that continued to be
something dealt with by the relevant department,
those Members who take an interest in Northern
Ireland, but they will be involved in the expedited
legislation, it is therefore distinct, it continues to be
separate, and therefore sees Northern Ireland, as it
was seen, quite rightly, between the 1920s and the
1960s, as something distinct, it is out there, and
therefore most Members were not interested. The
concern would be that by expediting legislation there
is that same type of attitude: it is diVerent, it is
distinct, it is something we do not have the time,
because it is expedited, to get involved in. That would
be the concern, I think.
Sir Jonathan Phillips: Part of my response to that
would be to remark again that I do not think either
House of Parliament should look at Northern
Ireland in that way. Indeed, the fact that so much of
the really chunky pieces of legislation on Northern
Ireland in the period you are reviewing have gone
through in the normal way seems to me to support
that observation. Moreover, I have not observed that
even in relation to expedited procedure legislation the
range of Members of Parliament or peers
contributing is very narrow. My observation is it has
been reasonably broadly based. But of course I’m not
observing either House constantly in relation to other
pieces of legislation.

Q224 Lord Pannick: Sir Joseph mentioned the 1972
Act. Could I keep you down memory lane for a
moment and invite any brief observations you may
have on the 1974 Prevention of Terrorism
(Temporary Provisions) Act, which, as you will
recall, followed the Birmingham pub bombings, the
appalling bombing on 21 November 1974. The
legislation was enacted some eight days later, on 29
November. It had a profound impact on
governments in this area, proscribing organisations,
introducing exclusion orders, but my question is
whether you think it is appropriate or, indeed,
sensible for Parliament to legislate with such speed,
even in such circumstances.
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Sir Joseph Pilling: I think that question and my likely
answer to the question illustrates the diVerence
between civil servants and politicians of any political
party. I can remember the national mood at that
point. Roy Jenkins was Home Secretary. He was not,
as I recall, unresponsive to the national mood. That
did not make him a bad politician. I can imagine what
the Opposition would have said if he had said, “I’m
going to set up a committee to look at this which will
report in late 1975, and then we may have legislation
on the statute book by the middle of 1977 or 1978.”
He would not have had a very comfortable time. Civil
servants can have an adrenaline rush and they enjoy
doing things in a hurry, but they are always a bit
inclined to say that it is not a good idea to rush into
doing things. I am sure that is what civil servants at
that time would have been saying. I must say I think
the Government was right to ignore the advice of civil
servants, even though Roy Jenkins himself may have
come later to regret some of the features of that
legislation. You cannot altogether ignore a national
mood if you are a member of the Government. There
are risks. Of course there are. I was later involved, in
the early 1980s, in reviewing some of the features of
the 1974 Act and I seem to remember doing my best
to get rid of exclusion orders but failing at that time,
because of other untoward events which also aVected
the national mood. It did seem odd to confine people
to one part of the United Kingdom in principle, but
the Birmingham pub bombings—friends of mine
who served here, representing the Irish Government
at that period, found it very unpleasant to be here in
London after 1974. I have a vivid recollection of
people telling me that and contrasting it with the
experience of being here in the last 10 or 15 years,
when it has been an altogether diVerent experience
for them. Yes, it is undesirable in lots of ways but it
may have been absolutely necessary politically.

Q225 Lord Shaw of Northstead: My question has
been partly answered with regard to the Northern
Ireland Department but, so far as that department
and more generally, could I ask questions regarding
the eVect on the department when this sudden
acceleration of business comes before it—this fast-
tracking? Does it cause chaos? What happens? It
clearly does not in the end. The other thing is this.
When emergency legislation arises, presumably it
arises normally because certain events have taken
place rather unexpectedly; but presumably in some
cases the possibility of their occurrence must have
been thought of. Are there cases where in fact reserve
plans have been made in case a crisis of some sort

occurs, so that they can fall back on some reserve
plans that they have in the back drawer somewhere?
Sir Jonathan Phillips: I think that an important point
to make is that all legislation can, in principle, create
a great sense of urgency and the need for adrenaline.
I am talking now of urgency in terms of the oYcials
and the draftsmen working on it. Some of these bills
listed in our 13 are concerned with matters which
arose at very short notice indeed and the thinking
process had to be very swift indeed. I do not know
that in principle that is a very diVerent process from
the process that occurs if one has months to think
about a piece of legislation. The same steps are gone
through. Yes, of course there are examples where a
good deal of previous thought has been given to what
might form the policy instructions for the legislation.
An example of that I suppose would be the
Monitoring Commission Act 2003, where various
ideas about how such a body might be formed, what
its responsibilities should be, and so on, had been
under debate for perhaps a year. During the process
of political negotiations in the spring and early
summer of that year they were crystallised into a form
which subsequently became the legislation
introduced in September 2003. For the oYcials
working on the detail, I do not see any diVerence in
the process in which they engage with legal advisers
and with draftsmen in relation to creating that
legislation from other pieces of legislation in which in
the past I have been involved, which have been taken
through Parliament in the normal way. To answer
your final point—is there something in the top
drawer or the bottom drawer, ready to be drawn
out?—it is occasionally the case that one can draw on
experience, individuals’ past experience, such that
dealing with an unexpected problem, for example the
need to suspend the institutions, can be dealt with
more easily than having someone turn over and find
there is a blank sheet of paper. In practice, however,
that is not so much having material there ready to go
as having people with experience. As a final point,
there is one particular example, certainly in my
experience of this list to which I alluded earlier, where
we did have the advantage of having done prior
work. This was to give legislative expression to
changes in the Assembly and the Executive’s method
of operation flowing from 2004 negotiations, and
those had been drafted into clauses very deliberately,
as part of a process of further debate on them, in the
course of 2006.
Chairman: Sir Joseph and Sir Jonathan, you have
been extremely generous with your time. Can I thank
you very much on behalf of the Committee for
joining us this morning and for the evidence which
you have given?
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Memorandum by Brice Dickson, Professor of International and Comparative Law

Emergency Legislation

1. This submission focuses on legislation which is enacted in haste after a terrorist incident or related matter.
Examples of this phenomenon occurring are:

— the Prevention of Terrorism (Temporary Provisions) Act 1974, a response to the Guildford and
Birmingham pub bombs in October and November 1974;

— the Criminal Justice (Terrorism and Conspiracy) Act 1998, a response to the bomb in Omagh,
Northern Ireland, in August 1998;

— the Anti-terrorism, Crime and Security Act 2001, a response to the events in the USA on 11 September
2001; and

— the Prevention of Terrorism Act 2005, a response to the Law Lords’ denunciation of indefinite
detention provisions of the Anti-terrorism, Crime and Security Act 2001 in December 2004.

2. There are five main dangers which arise from such emergency legislation:

a) members of the two Houses of Parliament do not have enough time to consider and to debate the
legislation, so provisions may enter into force which turn out to be inappropriate;

b) people outside of Parliament who may have an interest in the subject-matter of the legislation do not
have enough time to consider the content of the legislation after it has been published as a Bill, so
valuable points that they may have been able to make may go unheard;

c) unless the provisions are strictly time limited they may become a semi-permanent feature of the law
and be resorted to in situations for which they were never designed;

d) members of the public may feel that the government is engaging in a knee-jerk reaction so as to be
seen to be “doing something” about the incident that has just occurred, even though existing laws
may be adequate to deal with that incident;

e) the passing of the legislation may lead the government, and others, to believe that all that needs to
be done to deal with the problem has been done, when in fact various measures over and above law-
making may be called for in order to make the recurrence of the terrorism much less likely.

3. There is some evidence that the legislation passed since the 1970s to deal with Irish republican terrorism
led to all of the above dangers being realised. When the PTA was first enacted in 1974, no attention seems to
have been given to the requirements of the European Convention on Human Rights: in 1988 the European
Court of Human Rights held that the Act’s authorisation of police detention of terrorist suspects for seven
days without the need to bring them before a judge or magistrate was in breach of Article 5(3) of the
Convention. The measures enacted in 1974, although timetabled to lapse after six months unless expressly
renewed, were in fact constantly renewed in one form or another year after year, even though the Act still had
“Temporary Provisions” in its short title. Many of the provisions remain in force to this day, having been
transposed into the (permanent) Terrorism Act 2000.

4. Although the PTAs were subjected to sunset clauses, these turned out to be inadequate safeguards against
the perpetuation of bad laws. The time made available for debating proposed renewal orders was very short,
for many years Parliamentarians were presented with very little evidence indicating how the Act had been
implemented up to then, and when, eventually, the government appointed an independent reviewer of the
emergency legislation whose reports would help to fill the information gap these reports did not address a key
question—could the aims of the emergency legislation be just as easily fulfilled through use of non-emergency
laws? The reviewer’s reports, moreover, were often available to Parliamentarians only a few days before the
relevant renewal debates, and were often inaccessible to non-Parliamentarians. In Northern Ireland several
provisions of the emergency legislation were kept in place long after their sell-by date.1

5. The proliferation of “emergency” anti-terrorist legislation has made it diYcult at times to know the exact
state of the law. Versions of consolidated amended legislation have not been made available, even on-line,
making it hard for both law enforcers and defence lawyers, let alone commentators and advisers, to appreciate
what is or is not within the law at any particular time. While this is not a problem confined to emergency
legislation its eVects are much more serious in the context of anti-terrorist legislation because people’s civil
liberties are at stake.
1 See Brice Dickson, “Northern Ireland’s Emergency Laws—The Wrong Medicine?” [1992] Public Law 592.
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6. Today all Bills have to be accompanied by a ministerial statement explaining whether, in the Minister’s
view, the Bill’s provisions are or are not compatible with the Convention rights protected by the Human Rights
Act 1998. But, although these statements (issued under section 19 of the 1998 Act) are fuller than they used
to be, they still do not provide comprehensive reasoning justifying the government’s position. A good example
of this was the government’s failure to justify the proposed extension of the pre-charge maximum detention
period to 90 days in 2006.

7. At the moment there is no legal mechanism to stop emergency legislation being used for purposes for which
it was never intended. Thus, the Labour Party was able to use the legislation to prevent Mr Walter Wolfgang
(82) from re-entering its annual conference in September 2005 after he was evicted for heckling a speech by the
then Foreign Secretary, Jack Straw. Anti-terrorism legislation was also used by the UK government in October
2008 to freeze the estimated £4 billion of British financial assets in the failed Icelandic bank, Landsbanki.

8. On the whole, legislation which is pushed through Parliament in an emergency tends to be bad legislation
because it is ill-considered. If time is short for full Parliamentary debates on such legislation a compensating
mechanism should be devised to allow a joint committee of both Houses to consider the draft legislation
immediately and in detail. Some emergency legislation has been drafted years before and kept in reserve for
when it might be needed.2 In those cases there is even less reason for springing the provisions on
Parliamentarians and not giving them proper time to debate the measure.

This evidence is submitted on an individual basis

23 February 2009

Examination of Witness

Witness: Professor Brice Dickson, Queen’s University Belfast, examined.

Q226 Chairman: Good morning, Professor
Dickson. Thank you very much for joining us today.
We are being audio recorded, so could I ask you to
identify yourself for the record?
Professor Dickson: I am Brice Dickson, giving
evidence in a personal capacity, but I am Director of
the Human Rights Centre at Queen’s University in
Belfast.

Q227 Chairman: Would you like to make a brief
opening statement or shall we go straight into
discussion?
Professor Dickson: I am happy to go straight to
discussion, My Lord Chairman.

Q228 Chairman: Could you tell the Committee in
what circumstances you think it is justifiable for a
government to seek to fast-track a bill through
Parliament, and what constitutional principles
should inform consideration as to whether that
course of action should be followed?
Professor Dickson: By and large I am content to run
with the categories that have been identified by the
Government in the list that was appended to the
questions with which I was supplied for today. I think
that an important principle to bear in mind is that of
participative democracy. The faster legislation is put
through without prior notice, the more diYcult it is
for people outside Parliament, let alone
parliamentarians, to express a view on the proposed
legislation, and that is very regrettable. Otherwise, I
think the general principle should be that emergency
legislation is justified if it is necessary to create
2 See David Bonner, “Responding to Crisis: Legislating against Terrorism” (2006) 122 Law Quarterly Review 602.

certainty where otherwise uncertainty would exist. In
most of the cases that are listed in the schedule to
which I referred, I think that principle would be
satisfied; although I must say that it is not clear to me
why sometimes Parliament reacts quickly to court
decisions but at other times does not. If I may say,
with reference to the evidence to which I have just
listened from Sir Joseph Pilling and Sir Jonathan
Phillips, I think that in the case of Northern Ireland
it is reasonable to expect Parliament to act quickly in
order to support the peace process, but at the same
time one should bear in mind that for a long period
during direct rule in Northern Ireland, and today still
in relation to criminal justice matters, people in
Northern Ireland are used to having laws passed for
them through the Order in Council procedure, which
is not a great way of passing legislation and there
definitely is a democratic deficit in that respect. Very
important pieces of legislation dealing with children’s
issues, police and criminal evidence, et cetera, even
fair employment, have therefore gone through by
way of Order in Council, where the time for debate is
very short indeed. The kind of discussion that has just
been had regarding Acts of Parliament for Northern
Ireland is, if I may say so, rather arcane and purist
from the point of view of people living in Northern
Ireland.

Q229 Lord Morris of Aberavon: We have had
evidence regarding the Northern Ireland Act which
was fast-tracked, very fast indeed. Is Northern
Ireland a special case? You have compared it with
Orders in Council procedures. Could we have
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diVerent speeds for legislation? Some kind of formula
devised whereby some matters can have fast-tracking
and perhaps others speedy but not, as it were,
overnight legislation?
Professor Dickson: I think that Northern Ireland has
been a special case for quite a long time and it has
been very important that the peace process there be
supported by Parliament. At the same time I am
conscious that the political parties there have to some
extent become habituated to the fact that they can
push the British Government to the limits when
pressing for legislation. At the same time, of course,
one must bear in mind that Sinn Féin MPs do not
participate in Westminster debates. For them, the
problem of legislating for Northern Ireland is not
theirs: that is an English/British problem which they
are quite happy to pass to the British authorities.
Generally, however, the legislation that has been
passed—though the list of examples that I have been
given is slightly shorter than the list to which the
permanent secretaries referred previously—by and
large there has been a justification for the enactment
of that legislation quickly.

Q230 Lord Morris of Aberavon: And it is justified in
the case of this particular Act, the 2009 Act? We were
told about a timetable: an agreement in November;
then some decision in January; the need to get the
legislation by the end of March, in order to put it into
eVect by the summer. Is it justified?
Professor Dickson: I have to admit that I am not
completely au fait with the details of the enactment of
the Northern Ireland Act 2009 but I would say that
the devolution of policing and criminal justice is an
exceptionally important issue in Northern Ireland
and a very sensitive one for the political parties there.
In so far as the legislation was, so to speak,
framework legislation that would allow for the
devolution to take place when the time was right, I
think that it was important to have it on the statute
book. I do not think it was particularly politically
controversial for political parties here in Britain, and
therefore I think that it was right to put it through as
quickly as possible.

Q231 Lord Rowlands: I was puzzled by your reply a
minute ago, saying that you thought that the
Northern Ireland legislation that was fast-tracked
was justified, because your submission to us was
pretty stringently critical of any idea of fast-track
legislation. Are you saying that basically Northern
Ireland’s legislation is a very special case and that you
felt that the permanent secretaries justified their case,
particularly as a part of this negotiating process,
which was the big emphasis they placed: that it was
about momentum and the rest of it, and the processes
were backing the momentum of negotiation? Do you

support that thesis generally speaking in the case of
Northern Ireland?
Professor Dickson: I support that thesis in so far as it
relates to the progression of the peace process, yes.
My written evidence to this Committee was primarily
concerned with anti-terrorist legislation, none of
which was specifically targeted at Northern Ireland;
it was UK legislation. I do have severe reservations
about the fast-tracking of some of that.

Q232 Lord Rowlands: Yes, but we have now clarified
the situation: that the Northern Ireland legislation
does not receive the same damning criticism that you
have made, generally speaking, of anti-terrorist
legislation?
Professor Dickson: Yes, that would be true.

Q233 Chairman: Your submission, Professor
Dickson, as you said just now, did talk about
legislation enacted in haste after terrorist incidents.
Would you like to amplify your concerns about hasty
anti-terrorist legislation?
Professor Dickson: I take the point that, very often in
the aftermath of a terrorist atrocity, politicians must
be seen to be doing something, and there is a public
mood often that demands that. However, I do not
necessarily think that means that draconian
legislation needs to be put in place. The Prevention of
Terrorism (Temporary Provisions) Act 1974, passed
in the aftermath of the Guildford and Birmingham
bombings, is a good example of Parliament acting in
haste and repenting at leisure, if I may say so. The fact
that the people convicted of the Guildford and
Birmingham pub bombings were later found to have
suVered a miscarriage of justice I think is itself some
indication of the way that Act was poorly drafted and
hastily enacted. It did not, for example, take proper
account of the requirements of the European
Convention on Human Rights, as far as my
researches disclosed. The Foreign OYce did submit
some advice to the Home OYce at the time, to the
eVect that there may be queries in relation to the
European Convention but Roy Jenkins decided that
politically it was acceptable to override those
objections. Later, of course, it transpired that the
seven-day detention power under the Act was struck
down by the European Court of Human Rights, at a
time when there was no derogation in place for the
UK. The 1974 Act also provided additional arrest
powers for the police, and they applied in Northern
Ireland as much as elsewhere in the UK. However,
Parliament seems to have forgotten that Northern
Ireland had already been provided with a special
arrest power under the Emergency Provisions Act of
the previous year, which to some extent replaced the
special powers legislation that the Northern Ireland
Parliament had used. The police in Northern Ireland
were therefore left with a multitude of arrest powers,
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which was confusing for them and for people who
were subjected to the arrest powers. Of course, the
PTA did nothing to stop the continuation of
internment in Northern Ireland, which went on for
another year after the PTA was passed. For various
reasons, therefore, I think that the PTA in 1974 is a
bad example of hasty legislation on the terrorism
issue.

Q234 Lord Pannick: Can I follow up on the PTA in
1974, enacted of course some eight days after the
Birmingham pub bombings? Can I put to you what
we were told by Lord Baker in his evidence? He told
us that it was his experience as Home Secretary that
the requirement to renew the PTA annually allowed
Parliament to have a debate on the whole process,
enabled all issues to be raised and considered in a
perfectly proper, legitimate way. I would very much
welcome your comments on the adequacy of the
renewal process as a means of dealing with concerns.
Professor Dickson: I am generally in favour of the need
to renew that type of legislation, but I think the
renewal process that was gone through for the PTA
was not satisfactory, in the way that Lord Baker
describes. For a start, the debates in question tended
to be quite short and more about the general situation
in Northern Ireland than about the need for this
special anti-terrorist legislation. Moreover, I would
think that, for the first decade and longer,
parliamentarians were not provided with the kind of
information they needed during those debates to
make a proper assessment of whether the PTA was
actually necessary. There was no information, for
example, as to whether the search powers were
leading to the finding of guns and ammunition, et
cetera. There was no good information on whether
the ordinary arrest powers could not have been used
to bring people before the courts rather than the
special arrest powers in the PTA. Although in later
years Parliament did have the benefit of reports
produced by independent reviewers, very often those
reports came very late in the day; parliamentarians
had only a matter of days to look at them before the
debates took place; and, most importantly of all, for
the most part those reviewers did not address the
crucial question of whether the legislation in question
was necessary. They addressed the question of how it
had been operated but not whether the ordinary
criminal law could have done just as good a job. To
my mind, a certain process was put in train that gave
the impression of being eVective and transparent but,
in the end, was not.

Q235 Chairman: There have been a lot of bills since
1975 that have been fast-tracked. We talked about
the 1974 Act. Are there any examples in your mind
that you think should not have been fast-tracked or

that would have benefited from more parliamentary
consideration?
Professor Dickson: Going by the list that has been
provided to me, My Lord Chairman, in relation to
Northern Ireland first of all, I am not quite sure why
the Remission of Sentences Bill in 1995 was fast-
tracked. I do not think there was a reason for doing
so at that time, to further the very nascent peace
process that was taking place, and indeed that
legislation became very controversial at a later stage.
As regards other types of legislation and in particular
the anti-terrorist legislation, I think that the Criminal
Justice (Terrorism and Conspiracy) Act 1998, passed
when Parliament was recalled in the aftermath of the
Omagh atrocity, again was put through much too
quickly. It was another example of the Government
wanting to be seen to be doing something. The main
provision in it as regards allowing people to be
convicted of membership of proscribed organisations
on the word of a senior police oYcer was, as far as I
know, never used. It has since been repealed by the
Justice and Security (Northern Ireland) Act, and was
never used during its entire life. Even at the time it
was enacted, people like David Trimble objected to it
and said, “No court of law is ever going to convict
somebody on the word of a senior police oYcer
alone”. To my mind, therefore, that legislation was
put through for the optics, not because it was a
genuine security requirement. The fact that
additional clauses were added by the Government to
deal with international terrorism I think was a
disgrace at the time, and should not have been
piggybacked onto the specific clauses for Northern
Ireland.

Q236 Lord Rowlands: You say in paragraph 5 of
your evidence to us, “The proliferation of
‘emergency’ anti-terrorist legislation has made it
diYcult at times to know the exact state of the law”.
Can you give us some illustrations of that point?
Professor Dickson: I would need to have the range of
legislation in front of me to answer that in detail.
However, it became clear when trying to look, for
example, at the eVect of the Northern Ireland
(Emergency Provisions) Act 1987, which had
amended previous EPAs, that it was diYcult to know
exactly what the current state of the law was. That
remained the case until extremely recently, when
consolidated versions of the anti-terrorist legislation
were made available on the internet. Even for
academics it was extremely diYcult to work out the
then state of the law. It must have been equally
diYcult, if not more so, for the law enforcers, and of
course for ordinary people in the street. When it
comes to a matter as important as anti-terrorist
legislation, I think that one has to have a completely
up-to-date, accurate version of the law that you can
refer to very easily. That is the custom in civil law
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countries, where annually they produce printed
versions of the most up-to-date state of play
regarding the various codes. I think that is what we
lack in this country.

Q237 Lord Rowlands: In some ways you may have
answered my point, because we were talking about
the norm and that in Northern Ireland fast-track can
become a kind of norm. From your earlier evidence,
however, that does not concern you so much, in the
sense that you feel that most of it has been justified
and that the permanent secretaries have justified the
process by which it has happened.
Professor Dickson: In relation to the peace process,
yes.

Q238 Lord Rowlands: Which ones would you pick
out that would not fall into that category?
Professor Dickson: Of the list that has been supplied to
me, I do not think that any of them would not fall
into that category. I accept that the Location of
Remains Bill, which was not in my list but which was
referred to by Sir Jonathan Phillips, is diYcult to
justify as requiring fast-tracking; although, as he
explained, the humanitarian aspect of that bill may
have been an alternative justification, and indeed I
would support that. Otherwise, the only Northern
Irish bill which I think falls into that category is the
Remission of Sentences Bill. The other ones to do
with the postponement of elections, the
establishment of the Monitoring Commission, the
putting into eVect of the St Andrew’s Agreement, et
cetera—

Q239 Lord Rowlands: Were justifiable?
Professor Dickson: Were justifiable, yes.

Q240 Lord Shaw of Northstead: Professor Dickson,
in your submission you refer to the problem of
“emergency legislation being used for purposes for
which it was never intended”. I wonder if you could
give us one or two examples as to what you were
meaning by that.
Professor Dickson: I referred to a couple of examples
in my written submission. One was the use of the
terrorism legislation to justify the exclusion of Walter
Wolfgang from the Labour Party conference in 2005;
another was the use of the legislation to confiscate the
assets of the Landsbanki assets from Iceland. More
generally on the terrorism front, however, the
availability of the emergency arrest powers meant
that the ordinary criminal law arrest powers, both in
Northern Ireland and in the rest of the UK, were not
availed of when they could have been availed of. That
is evidenced by the fact that a number of people who
were arrested under the emergency laws, the anti-
terrorism laws, were then not subjected to Diplock
Court trials; they were charged with ordinary

oVences and put through the ordinary courts, which
suggests that they could have been arrested under the
ordinary criminal law, not under the anti-terrorism
law, or might even suggest that they were unlawfully
arrested under laws which then were not required for
their prosecution. Generally, I think the anti-
terrorism legislation has infected the ordinary
criminal law, certainly in Northern Ireland; the
consequences being that the powers have been
resorted to when they were not always required.

Q241 Lord Shaw of Northstead: Does this mean that
in drawing up this legislation in haste it has been ill-
defined, so that its eVect can be more widespread than
was ever intended? Does it mean, in other words, that
they should have more closely defined the enactment
at the start?
Professor Dickson: I think it means that, when the
police in Northern Ireland and then the army were
given additional powers, the legislation should have
made quite clear that they were only entitled to resort
to those powers when the ordinary powers under the
criminal law were inadequate or unavailable to them.
I think that when the anti-terrorism legislation was
reviewed, the necessity for the law should have been
much more clearly focused on, rather than the way in
which they were operated.

Q242 Chairman: Professor Dickson, could you give
us any views you might have on the Civil
Contingencies Act 2004—its workings or otherwise?
Professor Dickson: Again, My Lord Chairman, I am
by no means an expert on the 2004 Act. I have
reviewed Part 2 of it for the purposes of this session
and, on the whole, I think the safeguards that it
contains are adequate. I note that the regulation-
making power in Part 2 has not yet been resorted to
and we wait to see, if and when it is resorted to, if
there is proper justification for it. I note that one of
the reasons for resorting to it can be terrorism which
threatens serious damage to the security of the UK,
and I am glad to see that that has not been resorted
to since then. The fact that, as far as I understand it,
regulations made under the Act must lapse at the end
of the period of seven days unless each House of
Parliament has passed a resolution approving them is
a very important safeguard, and I am pleased to see
that in the legislation. I note that that seems to
contrast with other, comparable emergency
regulation-making powers, such as in the Health and
Social Care Act 2008, where the regulations can
persist for 28 days. On the whole, therefore, it seems
to me that the Civil Contingencies Act provides for
an approach to emergency powers which is consistent
with the rule of law.
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Q243 Lord Pannick: One of the most important
topics for us is to consider the safeguards that should
be in place when legislation is fast-tracked through
Parliament. Some witnesses have expressed the view
to us that a valuable safeguard would be to require
the minister to certify, in the same way as he must do
under the Human Rights Act, that there is good
reason for fast-tracking and what it is. I would
welcome your views on whether that would be a
useful safeguard and what you think the other
important safeguards are that we should be
recommending.
Professor Dickson: I think that I would be rather
sceptical about the eVectiveness of requiring the
minister to certify that the fast-tracking procedure is
necessary. I do not think that the equivalent process
under the Human Rights Act, the so-called Section
19 statements, has been particularly eVective in
ensuring that Convention-compliant legislation is
enacted, mainly because the minister is not obliged to
give detailed reasons for why he or she thinks the
legislation is consistent with the Act. I would rather
put in place a safeguard such as the sunset clause
provision. I think it is good that emergency
legislation be automatically reviewed after, say, six
months or 12 months and that, prior to those reviews,
parliamentarians be provided with reports by
independent reviewers concerning both the operation
of the emergency legislation and whether its necessity
has indeed been demonstrated during the intervening
period. If it were possible—though I am not as
familiar with parliamentary procedures as people in
this room—for select committees or other
committees of Parliament to conduct comparable
reviews prior to the renewal debates, I think that
would be very appropriate as well. That would give
them the opportunity to collect evidence from people

who have had personal experience of the operation of
the emergency legislation, and therefore any renewal
debate would be based on a much more informed set
of information.

Q244 Lord Rowlands: I think that you have given us
an illustration of one example previously. Reviewing
the anti-terrorist legislation as a whole, how many
parts of it, legislated in haste, have been either
redundant or just unworkable? Do you have a list?
Professor Dickson: I am afraid that I do not have a list.
That would be a very interesting piece of research to
conduct. I would hazard a guess that quite a few of
the provisions in the existing anti-terrorism
legislation have been very rarely, if ever, used in
practice. There has however been a proliferation of
the creation of oVences that fall under the anti-
terrorism heading, if you like.

Q245 Lord Rowlands: OVences have increased but
not prosecutions?
Professor Dickson: Again, I am unsighted on that. I
would need to do research to—

Q246 Lord Rowlands: If you come across some
examples, I think that the Committee would find that
interesting.
Professor Dickson: There is no doubt, however, that
the impenetrability of anti-terrorism legislation has
increased. It is now very detailed and very diYcult
even for those used to legislation to understand and
to work with; so if it could be simplified in some way
that would be a great boon.
Chairman: Professor Dickson, you have been
extremely generous with your time. May I thank you
very much on behalf of the Committee for joining us
today and for the evidence which you have given.
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Memorandum by Anthony Bradley1

Summary

The paper explains why the need for rapid legislation by Parliament may arise and illustrates the eVect of fast-
track legislation on the normal procedures of Parliament. The diYculties of such legislation are summarised:
in the absence of formal constitutional limits upon the authority of Parliament, the government’s demand for
a rapid royal assent places pressure on the parliamentary processes that normally seek to guard against
inadvertent and undesirable constitutional consequences. The conditions that should apply to such legislation
are summarised, and the diVering roles of the two Houses are examined. The distinct role of the House of Lords
is emphasised, and the paper asks whether there are any parliamentary conventions that govern relations
between the two Houses in this area. The paper considers whether there are reforms to be made that could
guard against excessive use of rapid legislation, and suggests that it might be valuable for there to be an agreed
framework within which the House of Lords should consider how it will respond to government requests. A
brief final section observes that there may be other situations (in particular, the late addition of weighty new
clauses to pending bills) in which the government is seeking approval from Parliament for new policies without
allowing adequate time for them to be considered.

Introduction

1. In the United Kingdom, as in many other democratic states, there is permanent provision for the
government to take action when events occur that give rise to a national emergency. Formerly, this was found
in the Emergency Powers Act 1920, now replaced by the Civil Contingencies Act 2004. The primary purpose
of this Act is to enable the government by means of Orders in Council to issue immediate regulations to deal
with the emergency, without waiting for Parliament to approve them. Such regulations cease to have eVect
when the emergency is over. The 2004 Act re-stated the definition of an emergency to mean an event or
situation which threatens serious damage to human welfare or to the environment, or war or terrorism which
threatens serious damage to the security of the United Kingdom, and these terms are themselves further
defined.

2. The need for rapid changes in the law can arise in many other situations that are not an emergency within
the meaning of the 2004 Act. Where such a need arises in an area of government where ministers have power
to make delegated legislation, it may be possible for new or amending regulations to be made, subject to any
statutory requirements of consultation, and for the regulations to have eVect as soon as they have been laid
in Parliament. Some Acts of Parliament confer additional power to make regulations in the event of an
emergency. But the executive has no residual power to legislate by decree, even where there is an acute need
for a change in the law. Very little has survived of former claims to legislate under the prerogative.2

Accordingly, the only way of meeting that need is for the government to seek urgent approval from Parliament
itself. It may be possible for an extra clause to be added to a bill that is already before Parliament.3 But if
necessary each House can adopt a fast-track procedure that cuts short the customary stages by which bills pass
through Parliament. Standing Orders may be dispensed with and, in the Commons, a timetable motion can
be adopted that drastically curtails or even excludes any debate. The courts have no power to review the
1 Emeritus Professor of Constitutional Law, University of Edinburgh; barrister, of the Inner Temple; visiting fellow, Institute of

European and Comparative Law, University of Oxford; specialist adviser to the House of Lords Select Committee on the
Constitution, 2002–05.

2 See Case of Proclamations (1611) 12 Co Rep 74. On judicial review of prerogative Orders in Council, see Council of Civil Service Unions
v Minister for the Civil Service [1985] AC 374 and R (Bancoult) v Secretary of State for Foreign and Commonwealth AVairs [2008]
UKHL 61; [2008] 4 All ER 1055.

3 See para 15 and Annex 2 below.
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validity of an Act of Parliament on procedural grounds, provided only that the measure has been approved
by both Houses and has received the royal assent.4

3. The use of instant (or fast-track) legislation occurs more frequently than is often realised.5 A recent
instance is provided by the Criminal Justice (Witness Anonymity) Act 2008. I have summarised the chronology
in Annex 1. In the Commons, the Opposition accepted the need for swift legislation, but did not agree that the
Bill should pass through all its stages in the House in six hours (an allocation of time that included the time
for debate on the time-table motion itself). While the Bill was generally welcomed, by among others the Joint
Committee on Human Rights and the House of Lords Committee on the Constitution, aspects of the Bill were
criticised and significant amendments were made to the Bill during its limited parliamentary life.

4. When he informed the Commons on 26 June 2008 of the need for urgent legislation to empower the criminal
courts to protect the anonymity of witnesses, the Secretary of State for Justice (Mr Jack Straw) said,

“Parliament should never legislate at the speed at which I am proposing unless it is convinced that there
are overwhelming reasons for doing so”.6

He added that the requirement was satisfied in this case. Given the degree of support for the need to place
witness protection on a sound legal basis, we might conclude that this was an exceptionally clear-cut case in
which the need for rapid legislation outweighed the potential disadvantages of such legislation. However, even
in this instance, some forceful points were made by critics of the process.7 Not all cases in which exceptionally
rapid legislation occurs are so clear-cut (see for instance the Dangerous Dogs Act 1991). It ought not to be
assumed without question that the possibility of rapid legislation is an attractive feature of the United
Kingdom’s flexible constitution

Difficulties Relating to Rapid Legislation

5. It is easier to state the diYculties relating to rapid legislation than it is to solve them. The defects of such
legislation include the following:

(1) The government’s desire to proceed so rapidly, causing a bill to jump the usual queue for legislative
time within Whitehall, must put great pressure on the drafting process and on the time available for
examining successive drafts before a bill is published. This pressure must apply also to preparation
of the ministerial statement regarding the bill’s compliance with Convention rights that is required
by the Human Rights Act 1998, s 19. The content of some bills may also require consultation to take
place with the devolved authorities in Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland.

(2) The desire to legislate rapidly may be a response to an event of current prominence in the media. It
may be diYcult to separate the need for rapid legislation from the government’s interest in being seen
to respond decisively to current issues. Critics of such legislation may argue that the government
could and should have asked Parliament to legislate at a much earlier date.

(3) The decision to legislate rapidly reduces the time available for consideration of the bill by bodies
outside Parliament, such as economic, social, professional and other interest-groups, and by the
media and the public at large. This may aVect the ability of MPs to make informed contributions to
the process.8

(4) It is likely to cut down the practical scope for debate in Parliament and it may eVectively eliminate
the committee stage of the bill, at least in the Commons. This goes against the recent practice of
enabling Public Bill committees to receive evidence about the contents of a bill before looking at its
clauses in detail. The government’s desire for rapid legislation may cause legitimate scrutiny of a bill
to be regarded as covert opposition to the principles in the bill. In the wake of a media event, powers
may be conferred that might have diYculty at other times in passing through Parliament without
amendment.

4 Edinburgh & Dalkeith Railway v lWauchope (1842) 8 Cl & F, 710, 725; Pickin v British Railways Board [1974] AC 765.
5 See the list of Government bills since 1979 passing through their Commons stages in one day, prepared by the House of Commons

Library.
6 HC Hansard, vol 708, col 516.
7 Baroness Mallalieu said: “We are being asked to pass a deeply troubling piece of legislation at enormous speed and, because of the

political pressures on all three political parties, there has been an agreement that the Bill, with very little amendment, will reach the
statute book next week”. HL Hansard, col 883 (10 July 2008).

8 On the Dangerous Dogs Bill, on 10 June 1991, Mr Nicholas Budgen said: “Does the hon. Gentleman agree that the really important
gap of time is that between Second Reading and the Committee stage? It is not just hon. Members who want to consider the Bill’s
principle. The Government have changed their mind on several occasions and it is important that the various interested parties, some
of which are in the minority, should be able to consider the Bill and make representations to their Members of Parliament. Hon.
Members do not encompass the whole wisdom of the nation; nor do the Government. If we are to be a proper representative body,
we must hear the representations of the people and consider them between Second Reading and Committee. It is wholly unnecessary
to introduce legislation in this way. It makes a mockery of the House and it gives the impression that the Government are acting in an
ill-considered way.”
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(5) It places pressure on watchdog committees at Westminster, such as the Joint Committee on Human
Rights, and (in the Lords) the Committee on the Constitution, the European committees and the
Delegated Powers and Regulatory Reform Committee. Given Parliament’s commitment to the
Human Rights Act 1998, it is wrong that the Commons should deal with all stages of a bill without
having the benefit of the considered views of the Joint Committee on Human Rights.

(6) The use of fast-track legislation runs contrary to some recent trends in the legislative process that have
improved the consideration of proposed legislation, in particular the use of pre-legislative scrutiny
and the circulation of draft bills.

(7) By reason of the legislative sovereignty of Parliament, an Act passed in 24 hours has the same legal
eVect as other Acts and (apart from EU law and the Human Rights Act) the courts have no power
to review the contents of legislation. The most cherished liberties in the common law can be taken
away as rapidly as the freedom to keep dangerous dogs, and unprecedented powers may be given to
the executive or the police. One of the main reasons for the existence of the Committee on the
Constitution is, indeed, that any Act of Parliament may, whether by design or inadvertently, raise
questions of constitutional principle. Having set up the Committee, the House of Lords should
wherever possible not complete consideration of a bill without knowing the views of the Committee.

Conditions that Should Apply to Rapid Legislation

6. What then are the conditions that should apply if accelerated legislation of the kind under discussion is to be
acceptable?

(i) There must be a clear and demonstrable need—

(a) for specific legislation that will meet the immediate need (for instance, to reverse a judicial decision
that will have damaging eVects if the law is not changed), and also

(b) for the change to be made urgently, so that the ordinary legislative process should be curtailed.

(ii) Where there is a clear case for rapid legislation, support for it ought if possible to be secured from the
shadow Front Bench and from elsewhere in the House. (But Opposition support in itself is not conclusive,
since unpopular minority interests may be at stake.)

(iii) The change in the law should be narrowly defined, and the bill should be as short as possible.

(iv) The accelerated procedure should not be used as a means of enacting other provisions for which the same
urgent need does not exist, or of making an extensive reform of the law.

(v) The use of accelerated procedure should be conditional upon government willingness to include a “sunset
clause” of some kind in the legislation, to ensure that the government will provide an opportunity for
Parliament to re-visit the matter, failing which the legislation will lapse at a stated date. And relevant
committees at Westminster may wish to monitor the operation of the new law.

(vi) Where the accelerated bill confers wide legislative powers on ministers, use of these powers could be
subjected to more stringent parliamentary scrutiny than would usually apply.

Safeguards against Excessive Use of Rapid Legislation—The Role of the Two Houses

7. What safeguards exist or could be provided to ensure that a government does not resort to accelerated legislation
where a “clear and demonstrable need” for this does not exist?

8. Since the adoption of accelerated procedure requires the agreement of each House, the primary safeguard
against fast-track legislation lies with the separate Houses. So far as the House of Commons is concerned, the
government will expect to carry the requisite programme motion through the House. This may appear to
provide a democratic justification for accelerated legislation, but a better argument is that the electors send
representatives to Westminster so that there may be reasoned and informed debate about proposed laws.
Arguments from democracy are not confined to the holding of a rushed vote, but extend to the customary
procedures by which democratic legislatures proceed. All-night sittings in the Commons are now infrequent,
but it is salutary to recall that the allocation of time motion for the Dangerous Dogs Bill on 19 June
1991 provided for the procedural motion and the second reading debate to end at 10 p.m., with the committee
stage to follow until 3 a.m., and the report stage and Third Reading to be completed by 4 a.m. In defence of
this remarkable motion, which I believe would not be acceptable today, ministers said that this gave the Bill
the “equivalent of two full days”. In 2008, the total time available for the witness anonymity bill was six hours.
The argument from democracy cannot justify a procedural motion that would (for instance) enable all stages
of a bill to be taken and the bill to be approved after a debate limited to 30 minutes or an hour.
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9. The bicameral structure of Parliament is of great significance in this context. The Parliament Acts 1911 and
1949 entrust the House of Lords with a delaying power, but these Acts were not intended to deal with rapid
legislation of the kind now discussed.9 Are there any established conventions that govern how the Lords
should respond when the lower House has adopted a fast-track procedure for a bill that the government
urgently needs?

10. A lengthy discussion of the conventions between the two Houses relating to legislative business is found
in the Report of the Joint Committee on Conventions of the United Kingdom Parliament.10 This committee’s
main task was to consider “the practicality of codifying the key conventions on the relationship between the
two Houses which aVect the consideration of legislation”, including “the convention that Government
business should be considered in reasonable time”. The committee concluded that at the heart of its inquiry
was “how far the Government—any government—is entitled to get its way in the Westminster Parliament on
the basis of its majority in the Commons”.11 It quoted Lord Wakeham’s observation that there are two
principles by which the Lords conduct their legislative business: first, that the government with a majority in
the Commons “are entitled to get their business” and, second, that an Opposition who accept that principle
“are entitled to their rights, and their rights, frankly, are to be very diYcult from time to time”.12 Chapter 2 of
the report explores what the primacy of the Commons means in relation to the role of the Lords in legislation,
dealing with the views of political parties and of academic witnesses.13 The committee concluded that the
primacy of the Commons is accepted on all sides, but that there is “a good deal of shading around what it
means in the context of legislation”.14 To this could be added the basic constitutional point that the
sovereignty of Parliament does not mean the sovereignty of the House of Commons.

11. The committee’s analysis of the “Salisbury-Addison convention” may not often be relevant for present
purposes, since that convention is primarily concerned with government bills that arise from manifesto
commitments (although it is always possible that a “manifesto bill” acquires urgency because of a recent
event). Discussion of the convention that Government business should be considered in a reasonable time
begins with the proposition: “In nearly all conflicts between the two Houses, time is an essential element”.15

The committee gave its main attention to whether an upper limit (for instance, 60 parliamentary days) should
apply to consideration of a government bill in the Lords, and the report does not examine the circumstances
in which rapid legislation would be justified. The committee concluded that while there is a convention that
Government business should be considered in reasonable time, there is no conventional definition of what is
“reasonable” and “we do not recommend that one be invented”.16

12. The joint committee did not address the question of whether or when it would be reasonable for a bill to
be passed in both Houses by an accelerated procedure. However, the report confirms (in passing) that the
question of waiving the minimum intervals between stages of considering a bill is a matter that requires the
agreement of the usual channels.17 I presume that such agreement will, when it is needed, be secured by private
talks between the major parties before the government introduces a bill for fast-track treatment in the
Commons. In this respect, the negotiation of fast-track process may resemble the exchange of amendments
between the Houses (legislative ping-pong), which, said the Joint Committee, “is not a convention, but a
framework for political negotiation”.18 Thus, the constraints upon the adoption of the main parties’
willingness to adopt a fast-track procedure in each House will be pragmatic rather than normative. A close
study of the use of fast-track procedures over 25 or 30 years might make it possible to find out the main factors
in the adoption of these procedures. But even if these were to be used as the basis for formulating conventions,
the Joint Committee emphasised that “conventions are such are flexible and unenforceable, particularly in the
self-regulating environment of the House of Lords”.19 The committee emphasised that even if
recommendations for formulating conventions could be made,

“Nothing in these recommendations would alter the present right of the House of Lords, in exceptional
circumstances, to vote against the Second Reading or passing of any Bill”.20

The committee was also emphatic about the role of the courts:
9 To quote from my evidence to the Joint Committee on Conventions of the UK Parliament, “the Parliament Acts do not provide, save

in the case of money bills, the answer in a situation in which the Commons but not the Lords are satisfied that there is an urgent need
for legislation” (Report, n 8 below, vol II, Ev 119).

10 HL Paper 265, HC 1212 (2005–06), published on 31 October 2006.
11 Report, para 5.
12 HL Hansard, 29 January 2005, vol 668, col 1335.
13 These were Professor Vernon Bogdanor, Lord Norton of Louth, Dr Meg Russell and myself.
14 Report, para 57.
15 Report, para 116.
16 Report, para 154.
17 Report, para 155.
18 Report, para 188.
19 Report, para 281.
20 Ibid.
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“The courts have no role in adjudicating on possible breaches of parliamentary convention. Parliament
is accountable to the electorate, not to the judiciary”.21

13. In summary, when the government wishes a fast-track or accelerated process to be adopted for a bill, this
cannot be done in the Lords unless the House is prepared to concur in the decision of the government, and of
the majority in the House of Commons, that there is indeed a need for urgent legislation and that this is what
the public interest requires. The House of Lords is not obliged to adopt the same fast track procedure as in the
Commons, and it may prove easier than in the Commons to accommodate the stages of the bill in question
within its usual legislative business. Only the usual channels will know whether the granting of a suitable fast
track will be linked with other legislative issues. What must be emphasised, as occurred in the case of the
Criminal Evidence (Witness Anonymity) Act 2008, that the passage of the bill through the Lords enables
necessary amendments to be made to the bill. When the House insists on complying as closely as possible to
its customary process, it is fulfilling its constitutional role as a revising chamber. Even if the House agrees that
the case for acceleration has been established, the House is not reduced to being a rubber stamp for legislation
that has probably not been adequately debated in the Commons.

Other Possible Safeguards

14. Apart from the role of the House of Lords, are there other devices that could be created to guard against the excessive
or abusive use of rapid legislation while at the same time maintaining the possibility of such legislation? Could additional
safeguards be provided without at the same time making rapid legislation more likely by making it easier or giving it
added legitimacy?

A. It would be unattractive to suggest that the government should by new primary legislation be granted what
it at present lacks, namely a residual power to issue decrees where urgent changes in the law are necessary that
fall outside the Civil Contingencies Act. The power would have to be limited in various ways—with some
matters being excluded from it (eg the holding of elections, succession to the monarchy, the maintenance of
human rights, judicial independence etc), a strict time-limit on the life of the decrees being imposed, and
provision for retrospective parliamentary approval. Such decrees would be subject to the possibility of judicial
review, but should the courts have power to review the decision that a need for the decree had arisen? This
power would not be welcomed by the courts and would scarcely make for certainty in the decrees that were
issued.

B. A second unattractive suggestion is for primary legislation that would make inroads upon the space
presently occupied by the Standing Orders in each House, by stipulating the procedure that should be
followed, and the minimum time intervals required, in the event of a resolution by each House that there was
a need for accelerated procedure. Such an Act might, for instance, require that the resolution should require
not a simple majority of those voting on the resolution, but a qualified majority set at a level that would be
likely to require some support from Opposition parties. And it might stipulate that the third reading of a bill
should not be held until the Joint Committee on Human Rights had reported. A strong argument against such
an Act is that this would be liable to involve the courts in reviewing parliamentary proceedings in a manner
that would be wholly new in respect of the Westminster Parliament, even though constitutional review of this
kind occurs in some legal systems.22

C. A more attractive scheme might be to create a framework, within the Standing Orders of each House, for
providing (a) some safeguard against an unjustified decision to adopt fast-track procedure, that might require
some involvement of Opposition parties; and (b) an accelerated procedure for fast-track legislation when this
is needed. At present when it is decided that fast-track legislation is needed, a simple majority in the Commons
may reduce the legislative process to little more than a ritual formality. Did the urgent need for witness
protection in 2008 justify a reduction in the Commons time to no more than six hours? The suggested
framework would be of little value if it could be set aside as readily as may happen at present.

D. A less formal version of the previous option would be for each House to adopt a resolution (on the lines
of that recommended for diVerent legislative purposes by the Joint Committee on Conventions), setting out
the principles that should be followed for accelerated legislation in all but the most pressing cases.

E. Even if none of the foregoing options is likely to be adopted, it could be valuable for the Committee on the
Constitution in its report on the present inquiry to summarise the key principles that should govern the
adoption of accelerated legislative procedures in the Lords. As the Joint Committee said,
21 Report, para 285.
22 A more theoretical objection to such legislation arises from the doctrine that one Parliament may not bind its successors, although

there is often argued to be an exception to this in relation to legislation that deals with the “manner and form” of legislation.
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“We are aware that our remit [as to the practicality of codification of conventions] is to an extent self-
fulfilling. The authoritative statements about conventions, by our witnesses and in this report, will be
cited in future, even if the report leads to no further action”.23

Other Matters

15. The focus of this paper has been on the use by the two Houses of fast-track legislative procedures for
complete bills. But, as the Committee’s call for evidence states, the government’s ability to command a
majority in the Commons on its legislative proposals, its expectation that it will secure its bills by fixed dates,
and the present use in the Commons of timetable motions may well mean that bills reach the Lords that have
not been fully scrutinised in the Commons. Moreover, the addition of new clauses to a bill late in its passage
through Parliament may lead to an Act containing provisions that have not been given adequate
parliamentary consideration, and may have escaped attention from the watchdog committees mentioned
above. An illustration of this problem is given by section 55, Nationality, Immigration and Asylum Act 2002,
the story of which is outlined in Annex 2. The House of Lords insisted on considering the new clause in
committee, and it was approved on a vote before the Joint Committee on Human Rights had reported. In the
Commons, virtually no time was available to consider the clause except to vote on an opposition amendment.
When new clauses are added at a late stage in a major bill’s passage through Parliament, the urgency for
approval of the clauses arises from the need for the complete bill to receive the royal assent before the end of
the session. It is doubtful whether the late proposal of such clauses will always meet the stringent test (that
Jack Straw described as requiring “overwhelming reasons”) that, as we have seen, should apply to bills that
are rapidly passed through Parliament. But the eVects of inadequate time for the legislative process may be
the same.

j16 March 2009

Annex 1

CHRONOLOGY OF THE CRIMINAL EVIDENCE (WITNESS ANONYMITY) ACT 2008

18 June 2008 R v Davis [2008] UKHL 36: the Law Lords hold that the courts have no power at
common law to approve measures protecting the anonymity of witnesses and depriving
the defendant of the right to confront them so that they might be cross-examined, and
their evidence challenged. Lord Bingham said at [27] : “This is not a new problem, … but
it is a serious one. It may very well call for urgent attention by Parliament”. Lord Rodger
said at [46]: “Parliament is the proper body to decide whether … a change in the law is
now required..” Lord Mance said at [98]: “…any further relaxation of the basic common
law rule, requiring witnesses… to be identified … is one for Parliament to endorse and
delimit and not for the courts to create”.

26 June Secretary of State tells Parliament that legislation will be introduced as a matter of
urgency to grant criminal courts the power to order witness anonymity. Lord Woolf
observes (in the Lords) that criminal judges will be in an impossible position if the law is
not changed (HL Hansard, col1609).

3 July The Criminal Evidence (Witness Anonymity) Bill is published.
8 July The Bill passes through all stages in the Commons—the proceedings are limited to six

hours. The timetable motion is passed on a vote of 283–145. An opposition amendment is
rejected by 256–162.
The Joint Committee on Human Rights hears evidence on the Bill.

9 July The Committee on the Constitution (HL) publishes a report on the Bill.
10 July The Bill’s second reading in the Lords.
14 July The report on the Bill by the Joint Committee on Human Rights is published
15 July The Bill passes through its remaining stages in the Lords.
16 July Lords’ amendments are considered by the Commons and new government amendments

are accepted (time taken, 15 minutes).
17 July The amended Bill returns to the Lords and the further amendments are approved.
21 July Royal assent—the Act comes into force.

23 Report, para 255.
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Annex 2

THE LATE INCLUSION OF A NEW CLAUSE IN A GOVERNMENT BILL

Section 55 of the Nationality, Immigration and Asylum Act 2002 was intended to prevent support from being
given to destitute asylum seekers who did not claim asylum “as soon as reasonably practicable” after arriving
in the United Kingdom. However, it authorised the Secretary of State to give support even in those cases “to
the extent necessary for the purpose of avoiding a breach of a person’s Convention rights”. It was the
interpretation and application of section 55 by Collins J that led to a remarkable attack by the Home Secretary,
Mr Blunkett, both on Collins J in particular and on the judiciary in general; the charges included that of
deliberately obstructing policies approved by a democratic Parliament.24

The legislative history of section 55 is instructive. The clause was not part of the Nationality, Immigration and
Asylum Bill when it was first introduced in Parliament. It was one of several government amendments tabled
at a very late stage, when the Bill had passed through all stages in the Commons and had completed its
committee stage in the Lords. Under pressure in the Lords, parts of the Bill were then sent back for further
consideration in committee, the clause was debated and on a vote was added to the Bill.25 In the limited time
available, the Joint Committee on Human Rights considered the human rights implications of the new clauses
and reported that it was diYcult to envisage a case where support could be withheld from a destitute asylum
seeker without there being a breach of his or her Convention rights.26

When the Bill returned to the House of Commons, which for the first time could consider the new clause, a
guillotine motion applied to the consideration of the many Lords’ amendments to the Bill. Less than
15 minutes was available for the House to debate the clause restricting support to asylum-seekers, and a vote
defeating an opposition amendment was taken when debate of the clause had barely started. This problematic
provision gave rise to numerous cases of judicial review, before Collins J and the Court of Appeal, until the
Law Lords eventually held that the section was unworkable, essentially for the reason given by the Joint
Committee on Human Rights.27

Memorandum by The Law Society of England and Wales

In summary, the Society takes the view that it is opposed to the use of emergency legislation, except in
circumstances of certain prescribed situations. The Law Society recognises that there will be instances where
emergency legislation will have to be employed, but believes that a statutory framework is needed to provide
for all circumstances in which emergency legislation would be justifiable.

One particular protection the Society suggests would be a requirement for the Speakers of both Houses of
Parliament to aYrm that any legislation presented by Government fulfils the set criteria for emergency
legislation. Emergency legislation should also include a “sunset clause” and should be subject to Parliamentary
scrutiny after enactment. The seemingly recent trend of the introduction by Ministers of new clauses late in
the Parliamentary passage of a Bill and the reliance upon secondary legislation to flesh out the legislative
detail, needs to be curtailed.

1. The Law Society (“The Society”) is the professional body for solicitors in England and Wales representing
over 115,000 solicitors. The Society represents the interests of the profession to decision makers within
Parliament, Government and the wider stakeholder community, and has an established public interest role in
law reform.

2. The Society believes that all legislation should be of the highest possible quality, well drafted and carefully
considered by Parliament. Legislation has a profound impact upon the citizen, and should in response be
clearly understandable in order to minimise uncertainty regarding questions of meaning and intention.
Legislation that is introduced in a rushed manner is invariably bad, with the standard example being the
Dangerous Dogs Act 1991. The Society believes that as the UK’s sovereign legislative body, Parliament should
be granted adequate opportunity to scrutinise legislation presented by the executive. Ideally there should be
opportunities for interested parties within civil society, particular those aVected by the proposed legislation in
question, to make their views known.

3. However, the Society recognises that the ideal standard of considered and substantive legislative scrutiny is
not always attainable during times of national emergency. As an example, on 8 August 1914 Parliament passed
without debate the Defence of the Realm Act (DORA) which introduced significant restrictions on civil
liberties. The Act provided the Government with wide ranging powers, for example to requisition property,
24 See A W Bradley, “Judicial independence under attack” [2003] Public Law 397.
25 HL Hansard, 17 October 2002, cols 975–1008; and HL Hansard, 24 October 2002, cols 1464 et seq.
26 Joint Committee on Human Rights, 23rd Report (2001–02), para 15.
27 R (Limbuela) v Secretary of State [2005] UKHL 66; [2005] 3 WLR 1014.
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to make regulations creating new criminal oVences and to introduce censorship. The Act was amended on
successive occasions throughout the First World War.

4. At the start of the Second World War, the Government was better prepared for legislative action, and the
equivalent emergency powers legislation to DORA, the Emergency Powers (Defence) Act 1939 passed through
all of its Parliamentary stages on 24 August 1939. In addition, on 1 September 1939, 18 emergency Acts were
passed having been subjected to a total of four and a half hours debate in the Commons and two and a half
hours in the Lords. A further four Acts were passed on 3 September, and the National Registration Act which
introduced identity cards, went through both Houses in two days on 4 and 5 of September 1939. In both cases,
the UK was faced with a crisis and a threat to its national security, which justified these measures, at least
temporarily.

5. The Society believes that while there may be strong reasons for emergency legislation, the nature of our
democratic values requires accountability for such legislation and associated safeguards to ensure that the
principles of the Rule of Law prevail. Thus, all such legislation should be subject to Parliamentary scrutiny,
however cursory as this would preserve the principle of parliamentary sovereignty and the accountability of
the executive to Parliament. The society believes that primary legislation is always preferable executive
legislation by means of Orders in Council, which permits no scrutiny whatsoever.

6. One particular concern, is that emergency legislation can provide ministers with sweeping powers to use in
further emergencies. While the Society accepts that at times this is necessary, it is essential that there should
be prescribed safeguards limiting their exercise.

7. Fundamentally there needs to be an accepted formula for what constitutes an emergency situation. Recent
legislation, such as the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 and the Health and Social Care Act 2008, has attempted
to create an accepted formula in respect of threats to national security and public health. The Society should
like to see in turn, these provisions built upon to provide a common framework within one single statute, that
would include, for example, situations where the country is facing war, a serious threat to national security or
a significant threat to the economy such as the failure of Northern Rock.

8. Should such an emergency arise, the Society would expect the Government to reaYrm the reasons justifying
the recourse to emergency legislation in a similar fashion to the existing certification of compliance with regard
to the Human Rights Act, that Ministers are now required to provide on the face of each Bill. This could be
strengthened by the independent scrutiny of such statements, before the admission of the legislative proposals
to Parliament and, later, by the judiciary. The Society suggests that this initial certification could be executed
by the Speakers of the two Houses of Parliament.

9. The Society would recommend that every item of emergency legislation should include a “sunset clause”.
This could take the form of the model of the Prevention of Terrorism (Temporary Provisions) Act 1974, which
was required to be renewed annually. The Act contained a provision that stipulated sections of the Act “shall
remain in force until the expiry of the period six months beginning with the passing of this Act and shall then
expire unless continued in force by an order”. In normal circumstances that would require an aYrmative
resolution by Parliament.

10. However, the Act did provide the means to expedite the passage of such an order when “it appears to the
Secretary of State that by reason of urgency it is necessary to make the order without a draft having been so
approved”. The Society would suggest that in these circumstances, the Speakers of both Houses of Parliament
would be required to accept the Minister’s justification for emergency legislation. Once it has received Royal
Assent, such emergency legislation should in turn be subjected to the appropriate post legislative scrutiny by
a Parliamentary committee, and in turn any adverse criticism from that committee should be persuasive in
determining whether an order should be extended or not, once it reaches the limit of its prescribed life.

11. Recourse to emergency legislation is thankfully rare. However, in the everyday business of non-emergency
legislative scrutiny, the Society has a growing concern over the way in which legislation is eVectively scrutinised
by Parliament. All too often new clauses are tabled at the end of the committee stage and adopted without
discussion, particularly when the programming motion does not allow any further physical time for debate.

12. On occasion the new clause will reflect an earlier debate at the end of which the Minister undertook to
give further consideration to a clause and to return with an improved version. The Society has no objections
to that practice in principle.

13. More frequently, the Government seems ready to introduce partially formulated Bills, leaving oYcials to
continue to work on the drafting of further provisions right up until the last possible moment. The result is
that these late tabled clauses are subjected to minimal or no scrutiny in Parliament, and there is little or no
opportunity for interested parties to oVer any eVective comment. In addition to the example of the Counter
Terrorism Act 2008 already cited by the Committee, another good example of the abuse of tabling new clauses
late can be found during the Parliamentary stages of the Planning Act 2008. In spite of taking over 12 months
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to pass through Parliament, dozens of new clauses were tabled by the Government at the end of the committee
stage and were subjected to little or no debate in within Parliament. This example has similarities, to the
example citied by the Committee regarding the money-laundering proposals to the Counter Terrorism Act in
the Lords in November 2008.

14. The Society’s solution to this would the introduction of a requirement that the programme motion
adopted at the start of the committee stage of a Bill should include a date midway through the series of sessions
after which no additional new clauses could be tabled, whether emanating from the Government or the
opposition, unless it follows an undertaking by a minister at a previous stage. This could potentially place an
obligation upon those members serving on the committee to allow time to scrutinise the new clauses so as to
prevent whole rafts of legislation slipping through without debate. Since there are almost always two
committee stages, and where appropriate, opportunities to amend during the Report and third Reading stages,
the Government could table any further new clauses that it considers necessary, during these future stages.

15. Another trend which concerns the Society is the increasing reluctance to include the full detail of new
legislation on the face of each Bill. Instead, Ministers are granted powers by the skeletal provisions within a
Bill to make Regulations providing for purposes specified in the Bill. It may be an administrative convenience
for the Government not to have to provide the detail within the Bill, but in practice this will often mean that
Parliament is unable to understand the full implications of the legislation which it is being asked to approve.

16. The Planning Act 2008 again oVers an example of this shortcoming. The Act provides powers to make
Regulations which will determine the detail of the Community Infrastructure Levy, including aspects of such
key issues as liability. On many issues, the Act simply provides the power for the Minister to make Community
Infrastructure Levy Regulations. Although in theory Parliament has the opportunity to consider the statutory
instruments when they are laid before Parliament, in practice the level of Parliamentary scrutiny of secondary
legislation is minimal. This may not be defined as emergency legislation in the strictest sense, but it means that
major changes to enacted legislation are being introduced without eVective consideration by Parliament. The
Society therefore believes that a mechanism is needed both to reduce the recourse to secondary legislation and
to provide for eVective scrutiny of those statutory instruments that are deemed necessary.

20 February 2009

Examination of Witnesses

Witnesses: Professor Anthony Bradley, and Mr Steven Durno, Legal Policy Adviser, Law Society,
examined.

Q247 Chairman: Professor Bradley and Mr Durno,
thank you very much for joining us this morning. I
would like to ask you to be so kind to identify
yourselves formally for the record.
Professor Bradley: I am currently a visiting Fellow of
the Institute of European and Comparative Law at
the University of Oxford and formerly Professor of
Constitutional Law at the University of Edinburgh.
Mr Durno: Good morning. I am Steven Durno and I
am a Policy OYcer at the Law Society. My title is
Policy OYcer responsible for the administration of
justice, and that covers a range of things, like the
Court Service, the Tribunal Service, judicial
appointments and also things like the rule of law and
constitutional matters. It might be worth just saying
a few brief words about the Law Society’s perspective
on issues like this. As an organisation, we monitor as
far as possible a lot of the proposals for law reform
which are coming through, and we tend to
concentrate on the key areas of law which are of
relevance to our members, so criminal law, civil
justice, family law and company law. Then our
objective in that process is to try and make sure that
the policy is good, the law is good and to try and
make sure that the law achieves what the
Government states it is to achieve. As far as our

members are concerned, they like legal certainty and
that is what we are trying to achieve so that there is
no uncertainty when the law comes into eVect, and,
as a spin-oV from that interest in ongoing law reform
work, we also have an interest in trying to improve
the general legislative process. So we had a Better
Law-Making campaign two or three years ago which,
I think, Lord Norton was involved in. That is really
the perspective that the Law Society has on these
issues.

Q248 Chairman: Over the last 20-odd years, there
have been, I believe, 34 bills fast-tracked through
Parliament. Could you both very kindly tell the
Committee whether you think this is desirable, or
otherwise.
Professor Bradley: Well, my Lord Chairman, since I
wrote the paper, I have had the benefit of having some
time to look at Hansard on two bills of the early
1970s, of which, I am sure, the Committee may
already have heard. One was the Northern Ireland
Act of 1972 and the other was the Prevention of
Terrorism (Temporary Provisions) Act of 1974.
Maybe a little later on I might make a few comments
on the points I noticed in reading Hansard of those
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years, but they both seemed to me to be real examples
of emergency legislation in response to matters that
the Government could not have foreseen and where it
was agreed by virtually everyone in Westminster that
some urgent legislation was needed. If one looks at
the list of Acts that have passed through their stages
in the Commons in one day which you have just
mentioned, I would be forced to conclude that some
of those are not emergencies of that kind, whether by
reason of their subject matter or because of the fact
that they could have been foreseen. It would be
overstating my point on this, but I find the term
‘emergency legislation’ a little diYcult to use and I do
not use it very much. In my paper I talk about
‘accelerated procedure’, ‘fast-track’ and so on, but, if
one simply looks at a bill that can pass through both
Houses very rapidly, it might refer to bills that really
are of no great interest to anybody and no politician,
in their senses, would wish to spend time discussing
them. So one occasionally finds a bill which is to
validate a regulation which people have been acting
on, say, a social security regulation for eight or ten
years and then it is suddenly discovered that there
was some technicality which led to it being set aside.
Well, that is an emergency of a kind, but it does not
justify any long consideration. Another kind of bill
which can receive rather accelerated treatment, and I
think this may include some in the list, particularly
from the early 1990s and the Dangerous Dogs Act is
the one that comes to mind, but there are others, is a
bill that is useful which the Government wishes to
include in its programme and has decided at a late
stage of the parliamentary year to do this. So it is very
convenient for the Government for this to be done
with the minimal encroachment on, and adjustment
of, its continuing programme of business, and
sometimes this is done for political advantage
possibly, although that is not for me to judge, but
these seem to me of a very diVerent order from the
two Acts that I mentioned initially.

Q249 Chairman: Thank you very much, Professor.
Anything to add, Mr Durno?
Mr Durno: Obviously our starting point is that it
would be wrong to have fast-tracked legislation
because ideally all legislation should be properly
scrutinised and, if you are passing a piece of
legislation through the Houses in little more than a
day, there is no real opportunity for that eVective
scrutiny. However, looking at the list of bills which
have been fast-tracked, it is possible to make a
reasoned case for them to have been fast-tracked in
most instances. There are half a dozen examples
relating to Northern Ireland where the clock stopped
because there had been no agreement, so you had to
have a piece of legislation on the statute book either
to stop the clock or to start the clock again, and again
the two examples that do stand out would be the ones

in the early 1990s, such as the Dangerous Dogs Act,
where there was no compelling need for a measure to
be fast-tracked so fast.

Q250 Lord Shaw of Northstead: We have heard of
the reasons why perhaps there should be, on
occasions, fast-tracked legislation, but the phrase
‘emergency’ has arisen and the phrase ‘urgency’. Is
there a diVerence between the two and how do you
define ‘urgency’? Finally, do you see any
constitutional conventions that should be governing
such situations because that is what we are here to
consider?
Mr Durno: There was an article in The Guardian last
week which was headed “Emergency Legislation”,
but, when you read the article, it was not emergency
legislation. There is a problem in Scotland whereby
the Scottish Government is facing a lot of claims for
compensation under the Human Rights Act because
of slopping out, and what the Westminster
Government and the Edinburgh Government have
agreed to do is to introduce a very short measure to
suspend the right to make claims that are historically
longer than 12 months and then, once that has been
done, the whole situation will be regularised in
subsequent legislation. However, if you read the
small print of the article, it was that that piece of
temporary legislation had to be on the statute book
by the summer, otherwise there then would be more
claims against the Scottish Government. Now, that is
not emergency legislation. It is something which has
been dealt with much more quickly than normal, but
it is not an emergency, although it has to be put on the
statute book, so there is a clear problem with the
definitions, and I like the way that you have adopted
the term ‘fast-track’; that seems much more sensible
than trying to tackle the much broader concept of
emergency legislation because it does also get
confused with an emergency, legislation to deal with
an emergency or an emergency situation.
Professor Bradley: I would agree with that and there
plainly is a diVerence between an emergency
situation, where legislation is on all sides agreed to be
required, and urgency, where the reasons for the
urgency can vary a great deal, and sometimes they
could have been foreseen and it may be debatable
whether there is urgency. I do, in my paper, refer to
the Joint Committee on Conventions in relation to
legislation between the Houses and I went to it
hoping to find some illumination for the topic of this
inquiry1. Rather to my disappointment, although
there is a chapter devoted to the expectation that the
Government would get its business through the
House of Lords within a reasonable time, this is
discussed by the Joint Committee in terms of
‘excessive delay’ and there is no discussion of any
1 Joint Committee on Conventions, Conventions of the UK

Parliament October 2006 (HL Paper 265, HC 1212, 2005-06)
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substance of the other situation where the
Government wants it through very quickly, where the
House of Commons has passed something through
and the House of Lords wants to take its usual time.
The only convention, I think, that I would oVer, if it
is a convention, is that the House of Lords should
take its own decision as to what is required. As my
paper points out, what is done in the House of
Commons is one thing, but we have a bicameral
legislature and it must be for this House to decide for
itself what it wishes to do. For instance, the
Dangerous Dogs Act, for reasons the Government
gave in the Commons, went through by 3am or
something. It was taken by the House of Lords, by
this House, for second reading debate two or three
weeks later, then the committee stage a week or two
after that and then the report stage and third reading
thereafter, so the House of Lords treated that Bill in
precisely the amount of time that it deserved. I
noticed also an act of a diVerent kind, the Landmines
Act of 1998 which was somewhat unusual in that it
was agreed, I think, on all sides between the parties,
that it should go through on Fridays. It went through
the House of Commons in a single morning indeed on
one Friday, the Lords gave it their second reading a
week later and the third reading a week again after
that, so plainly this House did not think it necessary
to deal with it in that way. One would hope that this
independent decision by the House of Lords is kept at
all costs and is made a real test for the Government
to satisfy.

Q251 Lord Rowlands: Indeed, Professor Bradley,
you have drawn our attention because in our
appendix to the questions we sent round, there are at
least six such acts which this House did not treat so
as to be fast-tracked, it did not treat as an emergency,
so that must cast doubt itself on the question of the
degree of urgency or emergency. Agreed?
Professor Bradley: I would agree with that. I could not
name them, I have not identified them myself.

Q252 Lord Rowlands: You have identified one.
Professor Bradley: There are some, but it may be then
that the problem of emergency legislation is more
about how the Government organises its business in
the House of Commons, and that is a separate issue,
but it certainly should not dominate the decisions of
the upper House.

Q253 Lord Rowlands: You said initially that you
have been through the list of acts that have gone
through the Commons in one day and some of them,
you said, did not seem to justify such a course. Could
you identify them for us?
Professor Bradley: If I could just turn to that list, I
think I have mentioned two already, the Dangerous
Dogs Act and the Landmines Act, but may I say I

have not gone back to Hansard to read the discussion
on all these bills nor to the text of the bills. I am sorry,
I am just needing to find the list that shows it session
by session. If one looks at the 1990s, beginning in
1990, the War Crimes Act, there is a Parliament Act
eVect there that occurred, but the Community
Charges (General Reduction) Act may be a matter of
taxation which is more of primary concern to the
Commons than to the Lords. Social Security
Contributions again was similar and then one has the
Dangerous Dogs and the Caravans (Standard
Charge and Rating), and then, in the following
session, the Welsh Development Agency, Aggravated
Vehicle-Taking, and Social Security. The next is
Parliamentary Corporate Bodies, and it is diYcult to
see why that needed to be taken at such a rapid speed.
I am afraid I cannot be more specific in answer to that
question, but these are the ones that would not seem,
from their subject matter, to be necessarily subject to
this very fast procedure. If indeed these are relatively
unexciting in legislative terms, they might well have
got through with minimum discussion in any event,
and I assume that they did pass through the upper
House in due course with relatively little fuss and
bother.

Q254 Lord Wallace of Tankerness: The Dangerous
Dogs Act and possibly the Aggravated Vehicle-
Taking Act are sometimes given as examples where
the Government responded to events under a
considerable amount of public pressure. If one just
plays devil’s advocate, what is wrong with the
Government responding to public pressure and
actually taking immediate action?
Professor Bradley: As my colleague has explained, I
think the legal profession want certainty, they want
good laws, and so do I, but of course there are other
purposes being served by the legislative process, and
one is certainly, the political scientist would say, a
symbolic purpose. It is valuable for the Government
to be seen to be doing something and of course for
Parliament also to be doing so. If there is a very great
deal of public concern about an issue, then I am not
against there being a response, but what one fears is
that the response may be so hasty that it may be ill-
considered and, even if there is a case for bringing a
bill into the existing programme, there still surely
should be proper time for consideration of what is
said. It may be that, if there is concern about
dangerous dogs, the Government could have met this
quite properly by saying, “We have introduced a bill
into the Commons and we wish to see it through by a
certain period”, which would have allowed time for
consideration in both Houses.

Q255 Lord Morris of Aberavon: Professor, you have
noted the diVerence in the procedures of the two
Houses and you have put the House of Lords on a
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pedestal as regards the Landmines Act. The
realpolitik of that, if I may explain, is that there had
been considerable criticism of the Government and,
in particular, the FCO of their diligence in fulfilling
the Ottawa Agreement which Princess Anne had also
been campaigning for. Something had to be done
and, once it was done in the Commons, then the FCO
were exonerated and then the House of Lords could
take it a little more leisurely, but there was no issue of
principle, as I recall, and I was Attorney General at
the time when the FCO tried to blame me, although
I turned it round in 36 hours.
Professor Bradley: I was not intending to imply
criticism of this, but the Ottawa Agreement had been,
was it, signed in the previous December?

Q256 Lord Morris of Aberavon: Yes.
Professor Bradley: Then six months or so had passed
before the Bill appeared. Now, there could well have
been reasons for that and it was uncontroversial.

Q257 Lord Morris of Aberavon: Exactly.
Professor Bradley: If the Government were seen to be
giving eVect to the Ottawa Agreement, it would have
been controversial if no action had been taken at all.

Q258 Lord Morris of Aberavon: And that is why the
Government of the day tried to put it right really by
doing something at last and trying to get out of the
criticism which they were facing on an
uncontroversial bill, but there was no real magic
about it at all. Something had to be done, so get it
done in the Commons and then a fortnight later the
House of Lords could do it a little bit more leisurely.
Professor Bradley: I would not for a minute question
that, but it might be that the Bill would have gone
through the Commons as quickly had no urgency
steps been taken.

Q259 Lord Morris of Aberavon: Could I ask you
what would both of you characterise as the main
diYculties concerning fast-tracked legislation?
Professor Bradley: Major diYculties?

Q260 Lord Morris of Aberavon: Yes, are there any
problems arising from fast-tracked legislation which
you do not perceive with regards to other legislation,
lack of scrutiny or anything of that kind?
Mr Durno: Anything that is done in haste tends to
constrain the scope for improvement, so, if there is a
situation which dictates fast-tracked legislation, then
there is the possibility of it being drafted in haste and
the drafting may, therefore, be deficient or poor,
creating the uncertainties once the legislation is put
on the statute book. There is much less scope for
external interested parties to have their contribution
on the draft of legislation, and then the other third
problem is that there is much less scope for scrutiny

during the parliamentary passage of the legislation.
So it is under those three headings that the Law
Society sees there being problems arising from fast-
tracked legislation.

Q261 Lord Morris of Aberavon: I take your point
and I attach importance too on outside bodies being
able to lobby and change and improve legislation.
Mr Durno: Yes.
Professor Bradley: Maybe I could just add to that, I do
set out on, I think, page 3 of my paper what I see as
the principal diYculties and I will not repeat what I
say there, but I did recently look at a very interesting
article in the journal Public Law by Professor David
Feldman2, who for several years was Legal Adviser to
the Joint Committee on Human Rights. He, in that
article, explores the purposes of scrutiny in general,
but particularly in regard to human rights, and he
points out the diVerent purposes that scrutiny serves,
and in the human rights case, there is the necessity to
get an informed view on the human rights
implications which can be supplied by the Joint
Committee. If the procedure adopted is not the usual
procedure which allows for a due measure of scrutiny,
but something very compressed, that process of
scrutiny must surely suVer and it must be diYcult for
the diVerent purposes served by scrutiny to be all
fulfilled. This Committee has an interest in
scrutinising government bills for their constitutional
implications and, as I say in my paper, it would be
strange if the House of Lords were to consider a bill
under the circumstance in which this Committee had
not had a chance to consider its constitutional
implications.

Q262 Lord Peston: In fact, the witnesses have largely
answered my question which was about what ought
not to have taken place by way of accelerated
procedures. I think I am probably right, Mr Durno,
that your antipathy to fast-tracking is slightly
stronger than Professor Bradley’s.
Mr Durno: Yes.

Q263 Lord Peston: Perhaps then I could put the
question to you in a diVerent way. Could you give us
some examples, of which I might suggest one in a
minute myself, of where fast-tracking is clearly both
right and necessary? Have there been any examples,
and perhaps I can start with Mr Durno because you
say that it is invariably bad and ‘invariably’ is as close
to always, so you would not be able to give us an
example?
Mr Durno: No, in recent years I would not be able to
give you a precise example, but in the paper that I
submitted on behalf of the Law Society, I identified
the outbreaks of two World Wars where clearly there
2 David Feldman, Public Law, Parliamentary Scrutiny of

Legislation and Human Rights.
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was a situation that necessitated immediate
legislative action. But I think in recent years there has
not been anything that has been so pressing that it
could not have allowed for a little bit more time.
Perhaps the deadlines in the Northern Ireland
scenario maybe justified it and in that situation there
was no real political debate about it, it was just
something that had to be rectified, so there is no real
problem with those sorts of situations. But in the
normal course of events we would hope that, as far as
possible, fast-tracking could be avoided.
Professor Bradley: As I set out in regard to the
Criminal Evidence (Witness Anonymity) Act 2008,
that I would give as an example, a rather beautiful
example, which might suggest that the urgency
procedures did not need attention. There was a real
need for some urgent change in the law, as it had been
held by the Law Lords. What, I think, could still be
doubted is whether it was satisfactory for the House
of Commons to give no more than six hours to this,
including the timetabling motion, for the House of
Commons to deal with this before the Joint
Committee on Human Rights had had a chance to
publish its report and whether there was a need for
such urgency at that point in the passage of the bill.
But it may be that this was an example that shows
that the Palace of Westminster could be trusted to
take urgent action when it is needed. The case that I
was looking at from 1972, the Northern Ireland Act,
concerned the case of the Londonderry magistrates
who had convicted John Hume and others of public
order oVences in refusing to disperse after the Army
oYcers had ordered them to disperse. The matter
then went to the High Court in Belfast, and the Lord
Chief Justice and two other High Court judges held
that the Army could not be authorised by legislation
from Stormont to exercise any powers, because the
Government of Ireland Act did not allow Stormont
to legislate with respect to the Armed Forces. That
apparently surprised the Government and indeed
their predecessors, the Labour Government, in the
1960s who had taken the view that the Special Powers
Regulations could be applied to the Armed Forces,
even though this was under Stormont legislation, and
this was the justification for a remarkably speedy
procedure. The court decision was made public at
around midday and by about three o’clock the
Attorney General was saying, “There will be
legislation today”, and the Lord Chancellor repeated
this in the Lords at four o’clock. The Lord
Chancellor, Lord Hailsham, said he had not had the
advantage of reading the judgment and then
Opposition Members asked to see the judgment
which they were reversing and it was said, “Sorry, we
do not have copies. It is a 30-page judgment and we
couldn’t make copies available in the time”. It was
coming through in instalments by telex and the telex
was not easy to be photocopied, so the leaders of the

Opposition Parties oVered their photocopying
facilities to the Government to help them. There was
some humour of that kind, the point being that in
both Houses procedures were adapted so that, even
before most people had had a chance to read the
judgment, the law was changed and there was
considerable debate as to whether they were changing
the law or declaring it. With the benefit of it being 35
years on and having thought more about the
implications of constitutional limitations on
devolved parliaments, I have to say that those who,
like Lord Foot in this House, said that the bill was
just declaring the 1920 Act to be diVerent from what
it said, had I think, the best of the argument, but it
was an extraordinary case. The argument for getting
it through so quickly, I think, was the fear that at a
very tense time in Northern Ireland protestors would
go on the rampage and the Army would be rendered
impotent. There is an amusing comment from Lord
Longford, who was not persuaded of the need for it,
who said, and he was speaking at 2am, “We are told
that we must pass this Bill, otherwise some ghastly
consequences will ensue by breakfast time. No doubt,
we shall be subdued by superior numbers, but not by
superior reason”. Well, again we know what has
happened in Northern Ireland since, but that is
plainly highly unusual where even the Bill was being
typed up at the last minute and copies made.
Mr Durno: From the perspective of the Law Society,
we regard the Criminal Evidence (Witness
Anonymity) Act as an ideal model of how fast-
tracking should be done. There was a situation
created by a judgment, but there was a lapse of some
six weeks between when the judgment was made and
when the Act came into force, so in that six-week
period there was scope for the Government to
undertake limited consultation. The Law Society was
consulted and it did feel that it had had an eVect on
the legislation which was presented in the House and
there was suYcient time for it to be looked at
eVectively at least by the House of Lords, if not by the
Commons. A point that the Law Society would like
to make is that it ought to be incumbent on the
Government to keep an eye on cases which are
coming before the courts which may have major
constitutional implications. In most of those cases,
the Government will be a party to the case and the
Government ought to be preparing to act should the
judgment go against it. To take another recent
example, when the Belmarsh judgment came
through, the Government was party to that case
before the courts and they did have to act. They
introduced Control Orders under the next Terrorism
Act in 2005, but, if the situation had been so
desperate that action had to be taken straightaway,
the Government was on notice that there was a
possibility of their losing the case and they ought to
be preparing and maybe talking to interested parties
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to make sure that the fast-tracked legislation that
they may have had to resort to was of a good quality.

Q264 Lord Peston: I am not a lawyer and the kind of
examples you have given strike me as being very
technically legal examples, but could I give you an
example that is not like that. The Government has
recently told us that the terrorist threat to this
country has both got more severe and has changed its
nature, and it has indicated that legislation will be
needed, as I understand it. Now, echoing Lord
Wallace, if what the Government is saying is true, and
it is not for us to ever say that it is not true, then any
member of the general public would say, “If that’s the
case, why aren’t you dealing with it by legislation this
minute?” The general public, it seems to me again
echoing Lord Wallace, would not necessarily be
wrong to say, if there is a threat to human life, which
is what the Government seems to be saying, “Why
aren’t you acting?” I would like to know what sort of
view the Law Society takes of this.
Mr Durno: I think the Law Society fears that in the
situation that is prevailing just at present, there is a
real possibility of legislators being bounced into
taking legislative action in response to a situation
which is described to them when they themselves do
not have any way of testing the arguments, so there
is a clear problem there. We would much prefer that
legislation went through its proper, ordinary process
and, thereby, hopefully ending up with better
legislation than would be the case if it were just
pushed through with very little debate and scrutiny.
Professor Bradley: I am not an expert on the
development of anti-terrorist law, whereas someone
like Professor Clive Walker at Leeds University
plainly is, but I did look at the 1974 Act, which was
enacted within a week of the Birmingham pub
bombing, and it was of great interest to me that Roy
Jenkins, the Home Secretary, did give an assurance
that the Bill would be limited to six months, it would
be temporary. He also oVered a general debate on
Northern Ireland in the following week, and the
constituency MP, Mr Brian Walden, said, “The
justification for the Bill is overwhelming. We know
that the legislation means temporarily abridging civil
rights”. Enoch Powell said, “The House is engaged
on a diYcult operation, legislating in haste under the
immediate pressure of indignation”, and he said,
“Both haste and anger are ill counsellors, especially
when one is legislating for the rights of the subject,
but,” he said, “while the committee stage should go
on, as long as the House wishes it to go on, if the
Home Secretary comes to the House and tells us there
is [a security need], then the burden of proof is on
those who wish to challenge what the Home
Secretary wishes to do to satisfy the House that they
are right”. A diVerent interpretation would be that it
is only when there has been a new terrorist event of

some magnitude that the next instalment of anti-
terrorist legislation is passed, and I have no answer to
the question why these further instalments should be
necessary. Presumably, one could say that the
Government does not wish to reduce liberties and
rights further than is necessary, but that, in the light
of these most recent events, it has no alternative.

Q265 Lord Lyell of Markyate: Professor Bradley, I
think you have already indicated it, but the situation
was very, very serious in Northern Ireland in 1972.
My understanding is that between 1972 and 1974
bombings and shootings were running at between
11,000 and 14,000 a year. In the late 1980s/early
1990s, when I was around, they were running at 600
to 800. With 11,000 to 14,000, it did sound like an
emergency.
Professor Bradley: I would not wish for a minute to
contradict the statement that matters were very
serious indeed in Ireland in 1972, and the Bill did
receive overwhelming support in both Houses, but
this was at the time when Lord Widgery was
conducting the first inquiry into the shootings on
Bloody Sunday and members of the public in
Northern Ireland had been encouraged to go to take
part in Lord Widgery’s inquiry. It was pointed out in
the debate in the Commons that, if individuals like
John Hume take the Government to court and win,
they would be exercising their constitutional right to
go to the High Court, and if the Government then
changed the law, that, they said, is a very bad example
to set if one wishes to observe the rule of law. That is
why I think that the verdict of history may be that
yes, there was seriousness, but, from a broader rule of
law perspective, is it necessary to give way? Might I
bring to the Committee’s attention a quotation from
Lord Scarman’s book English Law: The New
Dimension, which was written shortly after 1972. He
said, “When times are normal and fear is not stalking
the land, English law sturdily protects the freedom of
the individual and respects human personality, but,
when times are abnormally alive with fear and
prejudice, the common law is at a disadvantage. It
cannot resist the will, however frightened and
prejudiced it may be, of Parliament”. That was part
of the reason for Lord Scarman to advocate
constitutional changes, some of which, like the
Human Rights Act, of course have occurred.

Q266 Lord Rowlands: Can either of you draw our
attention to any fast-tracked legislation which has
subsequently turned out to be either redundant or
unworkable?
Mr Durno: Well, I have to say, I have read what Lord
Baker had to say in defence of the Dangerous Dogs
Act, but, from our perspective, it was not a very good
piece of legislation and there were tremendous
problems once it was on the statute book. The
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legislation was based on trying to define the specific
types and breeds of dogs which were to be removed
from society. There were subsequent cases, some of
them dragging on for several years with dogs held in
custody while their owners contested whether or not
the particular animal fell within the categories
specified in the Schedule to the Act, so that, to the
Law Society, is an example of a not very good piece
of legislation. It could have been done perhaps in a
diVerent way and a slightly more satisfactory way.

Q267 Lord Rowlands: Any others?
Mr Durno: No.

Q268 Lord Morris of Aberavon: My Lord Chairman,
we have had a most helpful commentary on diVerent
pieces of legislation, and I think it was Mr Durno
who said at the very beginning that clearly there is a
problem of definition as to what is an emergency
which would justify what is termed ‘emergency
legislation’. We have had evidence to this eVect: “It is
ultimately for Parliament to decide when it is
appropriate to expedite a piece of legislation. The
range of circumstances in which it might be necessary
to expedite the passage of a bill is so great that it is not
possible to come up with a rigid set of criteria. The
Government will only be able to do so by cross-party
agreement”. Could you improve on that?
Professor Bradley: That, to me, seems a very fair
statement, and this is not the only matter in which
constitutional fundamentals depend upon political
decisions that are made by elected politicians. The
point that I did advance in my paper is that a
democratic vote, meaning a vote of the House of
Commons, is not enough in every situation to satisfy
a democrat that proper procedures are being
followed. There is, I think, a diVerence between the
attitude that Mr Jack Straw took in relation to the
witness anonymity provision and the statement
which the present Leader of the House of Commons,
Harriet Harman, made in regard to the Banking
(Special Provisions) Bill when there had been
criticism that the single day’s procedure had been
taken and the Member who had advanced that
criticism “. . . has been in this House long enough to
know that on occasions the Government can ask the
House to act decisively when action is needed in
respect of a certain situation once we decide that”,
that is, the Government, “we want to ensure that the
uncertainty is as short as possible and that we will
bring in a Bill that will give the Government powers
to act”. Now, that does not necessarily bring in a test
of an emergency, an external event, justifying this; it
is a government decision that decisive action is
needed and then the House can respond. I did notice
in the course of the debate on that Bill, and one can
clearly see that these were exceptional and unusual
circumstances justifying urgent legislation, that the

Liberal Democrat spokesman (David Howarth) said,
“The House is regularly bounced into timetables on
legislation that are not justified by the facts”. A
Conservative MP, Mr Shepherd, said, “This is truly a
dreadful programme motion, not a case of national
emergency. It’s all very well thinking that a majority
is suYcient to justify the actions of the Government,
but this House is increasingly becoming a place
merely of announcements”, and the late Gwyneth
Dunwoody said, “The programme motion is not
defensible. If the House consistently accepts limits on
its ability to debate legislation irrespective of the
content of that legislation, we shall be responsible for
the poor quality of the legislation on the statute
book”. I think the issue that they were dealing with
there is: why did all stages of the Bill in the Commons
have to be taken by midnight in a total of seven and
a half hours, and why could the Bill, a 24-page bill,
not have justified coming back to it on the following
day? Others have made the point that there should be
even a brief period between the second reading and
the committee stage to enable members to gather
their thoughts and decide what points to take in
committee. Whilst I understand that the citizens want
the Government to take decisive action when decisive
action is needed, one cannot always accept that the
need, as seen by the Government, is one that all
citizens would accept or is necessarily going to
convince others in the House of Commons or in
this House.

Q269 Lord Wallace of Tankerness: Following on
from that, Mr Durno, in his opening remarks, said
that the perspective of the Law Society was the
importance of certainty, and I wonder, Mr Durno,
whether you think, in terms of some of the economic
upheaval that we have recently gone through with
issues of banks and perhaps not knowing one day to
the next, that in these circumstances there is an
argument for fast-tracking so that people at least
have some certainty with regard to upcoming
financial transactions or financial transactions they
entered into the day before, and that maybe in the last
18 months there has been a case for fast-tracking
some of the banking legislation that we have seen?
Mr Durno: I think I would accept your argument to
some extent. My experience of the Law Society’s
involvement with law-making across a much wider
perspective has been that there are often cases where
the Law Society has been able to pinpoint errors that
have been committed in the drafting of legislation
and it has been possible, either prior to the
introduction of the legislation or during the passing
of the legislation, to get those deficiencies addressed.
Now, if you are passing legislation very, very quickly
through, there is just not the scope for that sort of
detailed scrutiny. You are looking at issues as matters
of principle and there is just not the scope for people
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to provide comments either to the Government or to
parliamentarians so that that process can be
undertaken eVectively, so, whilst I accept your point
that in the current financial crisis when things do
move very quickly it is necessary to have something
on the statute book very quickly, I still think that
there are deficiencies that can possibly arise. The
consequence of that, I think the Law Society would
very strongly propose, is that, as I am sure we are
going to come on to, there must be concessions when
you are fast-tracking measures through to make sure
that there is eVective scrutiny afterwards, the use of
sunset clauses and coming back to having a look at
legislation some time after it has come into eVect so
that there are those sorts of protections so that there
is the opportunity to have a look and improve the
legislation.

Q270 Baroness Quin: I just wanted to follow on the
question about the definition of ‘emergency’ and, in
particular, to ask that to Mr Durno. This relates to a
question I was going to ask later on, but the Law
Society’s submission does state there needs to be an
accepted formula.
Mr Durno: Yes.

Q271 Baroness Quin: Yet it is quite diYcult to work
out what that formula is, other than the rather open
definition which Lord Morris has just referred to. Are
you able to give us such a formula for us to consider
or would you rather go along with the fairly open,
vague interpretation that seems to be the alternative?
Mr Durno: At the level of principle, I think the Law
Society would accept the description that Lord
Morris gave. I think that in terms of legislation the
Civil Contingencies Act has provided a useful
starting point. What, I think, the Law Society would
like to see is not, in subsequent years, diVerent pieces
of legislation adopting diVerent approaches to an
‘emergency situation’, but trying to adopt a common
approach across several pieces of legislation. It may
be possible for a subsequent piece of legislation to
cross-refer back to the Civil Contingencies Act rather
than introducing new arrangements in that separate
bill, but we would like to see one standard,
harmonised approach to emergencies and how you
deal with them in legislative terms.

Q272 Lord Rowlands: We have picked up concerns
during the course of our inquiry that fast-tracked
bills sometimes include provisions which are really
nothing necessarily relating to the immediacy or the
urgency of the situation. I wonder whether you share
that concern and, secondly, whether you could
illustrate it in any way for us.
Mr Durno: Well, I have certainly spoken to a
colleague who monitors criminal law and she was
unable to pinpoint any instances either in criminal

law fast-track or terrorism law fast-track legislation
of something that has been added to what needs to be
addressed to tackle the emergency, so, I am afraid, we
have not got an example, no.

Q273 Lord Rowlands: Professor Bradley, have you
come across any?
Professor Bradley: I cannot give any specific
examples, but, if I could revert to the way that anti-
terrorism legislation has developed, yes, there was a
bombing last week, but how does that govern the new
powers that the Government should have and would
it govern identity cards, for example? Is it saying, “If
we had had identity cards, this bombing could have
been prevented”? It may be a case of simply trying to
close the door after the horses have bolted, but it
would need a pretty detailed study of the anti-
terrorism legislation, the four or five acts there have
been since 19743, to see if there is cause and eVect
between what goes into the Bill and the disaster that
occurred a few days before, and I have not, I am
afraid, done that study.
Mr Durno: I would perhaps just add that there may
be a suspicion that the Home OYce has on the shelf
certain clauses in anticipation of a situation arising
where they will have to legislate. I have no way of
proving that.

Q274 Lord Wallace of Tankerness: On a variation of
that question, in the Law Society’s submission,
concern is expressed that “emergency legislation can
provide ministers with sweeping powers to use in
further emergencies”. Indeed, Professor Bradley, in
your written evidence, you have warned that, “The
most cherished liberties in the common law can be
taken away as rapidly as the freedom to keep
dangerous dogs, and unprecedented powers may be
given to the Executive or the police”. I just wonder if
you can give examples where you perhaps feel more
powers have been taken than might have met a
particular situation.
Professor Bradley: More powers?

Q275 Lord Wallace of Tankerness: An example of
the kind of powers that you are warning against, the
specific warnings in your written evidence.
Professor Bradley: I probably was stating there a
rather obvious point of the kind that Lord Scarman
made. We do not have a written Constitution, we do
not have limits upon what Parliament may do and, if
we take countries which do have written
constitutions, then the fundamental rights provisions
could not be taken away, though possibly some
could, but there would be some that could not be
removed and there would be some constitutional
3 Note by witness. The actual number of anti-terrorist Acts since

1974 is considerably greater than this, but not all of these were
passed by fast-track procedure.
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measures which would be impossible. I am afraid I
am not answering your question with any specific
examples. To revert momentarily to the banking
financial provisions, and I know nothing of that, but
powers to make regulations, if necessary, in the public
interest could possibly have been included in the Act,
and they may have been for all I know, but they could
have possibly been phrased in suYciently general
terms to permit regulation to be made about the
award of bonuses to those in companies aVected by
it. That possibly was not thought of, but, in the speed
of the moment and given the pressures on the
Government, can the Legislature be satisfied that the
right decision is being taken of, first of all, what to
include and then what not to include and what
safeguards? One of the safeguards that, to me, is
possibly coming closer to that of a convention is that
there should be a sunset clause that, if Parliament is
asked to legislate so hurriedly, then the Government
should always give an opportunity, or take on itself
the burden of providing an opportunity, for the thing
to be looked at again. If I could revert to the 1972 Act
where one or two Members did ask for there to be a
time limit on the eVect of the legislation, the Attorney
General’s reply was, “As this is an Act to declare the
law, it would be strange to have an Act that was only
in force for 12 months and then something else took
its place”, and there were also these absurd fears that
the Army in 12 months’ time might become unlawful
in Northern Ireland. The arguments against a time
limit can be exaggerated. I think I am right in saying
that the witness anonymity legislation, where there
was a promise early on by the Government that there
should be a time limit, it came out in the wash
somewhat diVerently and it will enable the legislation
to be continued. That, to me, is something that one
should probably include in any bill that is made and,
if six months or 12 months later the Houses feel that
they are happy with the legislation and they got it
right, well, fine, but there should be, I think, a duty on
the Government to give Parliament, particularly the
House of Commons, that opportunity.
Mr Durno: Certainly the basis of the Law Society’s
concern, as expressed in its paper, was the Civil
Contingencies Act itself which has extraordinarily
broad-ranging powers for ministers to make
regulations. As a result of that, the Law Society is
very pleased that the legislation includes the
provisions which require the Minister to present the
regulations before Parliament for ratification,
otherwise the regulations fall, but it was the Act itself
that was of concern to us.

Q276 Lord Lyell of Markyate: Moving on to what
was question 7 on the paper, there is not only the
question of emergency legislation produced from the
start, but introducing at a very late stage into a bill on
the grounds of urgency really new propositions. Can

you give examples of this happening, and would you
agree with my comment which is that, in a sense, it
may be that something has come up which can be
tagged into a bill, but the more real problem is that
all too often governments of all characters have not
really thought through the legislation in time to give
really proper instructions to parliamentary counsel?
Mr Durno: Well, I can certainly give you an example
from a piece of legislation that I followed for the Law
Society, the Planning Bill 2008. They had 18 sessions
looking at the Bill in committee and in the 17th and
18th sessions there were a dozen new government
clauses introduced, and the majority of those clauses
were introduced not by a minister, but by a
government whip, and the explanation for the new
clauses was a paragraph long in Hansard and there is
then no subsequent debate. That seems, to me, to be a
perfect example of producing bad legislation; it is not
being scrutinised eVectively. There does seem to be a
trend increasingly whereby the parliamentary
draftsman does not have enough time to draft the bill
to the final complete stage, to the ideal stage which
the parliamentary draftsman himself would want it
to be in before it is introduced and, as a consequence,
the Government is having to make quite significant
and substantial changes to the legislation to get it into
a decent state as it is going through Parliament and
that seems, to me, to be a very sad state of aVairs.
Having said that, I do think that there is a
justification for certain government new clauses
where, as you are going through the committee stage
and the Government Minister is saying, “I appreciate
your point. I am going to go and take that point away,
discuss it with my oYcials and I may come back with
an alternative approach to that particular issue”, I
think that is perfectly right and that is part of the
democratic debate that should be taking place in
committee, but far too often that is not the
justification for the new clauses; it is just poor
drafting at the outset.

Q277 Lord Lyell of Markyate: Or inadequate
instructions.
Mr Durno: Yes. A problem that I have come across
with many government departments, and you may
correct me, is the constitutional convention that a
government department does not have access to
parliamentary draftsmen until they have got their slot
in the government’s legislative programme. It is
exceptional for a government department to have
access to parliamentary draftsmen. The one that I
know about was the then DTI had access to
parliamentary draftsmen on the last Companies Act
and as a consequence they were able to produce draft
clauses and expose those draft clauses for comment,
which obviously the Law Society responded to, and
as a consequence I think that the legislation is in a
much better state than it would have been in the
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ordinary course of events. I am sure that is part of the
problem.

Q278 Lord Lyell of Markyate: I think you will find a
lot of agreement. Pre-legislative scrutiny is desirable.
Mr Durno: Absolutely.

Q279 Lord Lyell of Markyate: Post-legislative
scrutiny can be desirable.
Mr Durno: Yes.

Q280 Lord Lyell of Markyate: But what is really
important is legislative scrutiny.
Mr Durno: Yes.
Professor Bradley: The example I have given is in
annex two of my paper, which is s.55 of the Act of
2002. The point I would simply add to what I say
there is that after the Bill had passed through all
stages in the Commons and had completed the
committee stage in the Lords, these new clauses were
produced and the government wanted to deal with
them on report, but I think it was the House that
insisted the Bill go back to committee and there was
time for discussion of that in the Lords. When it was
sent down to the Commons the time that was
available for debate on this was derisory. As Lord
Pannick will know, it caused immense diYculties in
the courts thereafter until the House of Lords
eventually held that the section was unworkable.
Why that came so late in the day, presumably the
Home OYce had been working on this, there were
reasons why it was an urgent problem for the Home
OYce, but it was the solution and the way it was
presented to Parliament that were proved to be
unsatisfactory.
Mr Durno: Another example that I can provide which
has a direct impact on the solicitors’ profession is that
at the very end of the Third Reading on the Counter-
Terrorism Bill in 2008 the Government introduced
provisions relating to anti-money laundering and
there was a great uncertainty as to whether or not
those provisions would bite on solicitors, and we had
to seek an urgent meeting with the Treasury to clarify
that these provisions would not have an eVect on
solicitors. Again, very late in the day and not proper
time for detailed scrutiny.

Q281 Lord Rowlands: Was that particularly relevant
to the counter-terrorism legislation?
Mr Durno: Yes, anti-money laundering is part of the
counter-terrorism strategy because money
laundering is a route for the funding of terrorism. It
was appropriate for money laundering to have been
included in the Act, but it should have been included
at a much earlier stage so that people had an
opportunity to scrutinise the provisions and make
sure that the provisions had the eVect they were

intended to have and not catch people, such as
solicitors, unintentionally.

Q282 Lord Peston: Again, you have managed to
answer pretty well everything I want to know about!
Essentially, we live in an uncertain world and,
therefore, no matter how good we are at legislating
we have still got to bear in mind that there will be
problems we have not anticipated. Professor Bradley
talked about safeguards and you, Mr Durno, talked
about sunset clauses. If your choice was between
giving the minister broad powers more or less to
change the legislation as required or going through
fast-tracking, do I understand you would not care to
choose between those two because you would really
rather have, in the first place, the job done properly
and, secondly, a sunset clause is really the way out of
all of this?
Professor Bradley: It is inevitable that modern
legislation will delegate powers to ministers to make
regulations and so on and our system of government
could not operate without that. However, there are
certain forms of these powers which are excessive,
like the Henry VIII power, which properly
understood is a power by regulation to alter the terms
of the Act which confers the power, or at least to vary
it. I find that very unsatisfactory. My answer to the
question is, I would prefer there to be further primary
legislation rather than to have such wide powers that
it does not matter what the Act says because it could
be altered by the minister subsequently.
Mr Durno: The Law Society’s view in principle is
against the use of providing ministers with order
making powers because secondary legislation is not
scrutinised eVectively, there is just not the
opportunity to look at it in detail. Having said that,
we obviously recognise there are situations where it is
sensible to provide some powers. It would be nice if
we could get to a situation where there was a clear
understanding of those situations when it is
appropriate to grant ministers those order making
powers and when it is not appropriate. In an ideal
world we would prefer major significant changes or
legislation made in response to an emergency
situation to be done in primary legislation. If really
pushed, we would prefer to fast-track legislation
rather than provide ministers with powers to make
orders.

Q283 Baroness Quin: This picks up on what was
being said before about the Civil Contingencies Act.
I think I will read the question, because if I try and
paraphrase it I will get completely lost. The order-
making powers under Part 2 of the Civil
Contingencies Act 2004 have not been used to date.
Have there been situations where these powers might
or should have been used? Do the scope and process
of the order-making powers in the Civil
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Contingencies Act remain satisfactory? Should
‘bespoke’ emergency order-making powers created
by other Acts of Parliament be based on Part 2 of the
Civil Contingencies Act?
Mr Durno: I have to say that I have been racking my
brain to try and think what has happened in the last
three or four years which would have justified using
a Civil Contingency Order and I have not come up
with any suggestions. There have been a couple of
emergencies: bird flu in Norfolk and the foot and
mouth outbreak in Surrey, but I am sure that there is
suYcient legislation under the old MAFF
arrangements to be able to deal with those without
resort to the Civil Contingencies Act. It is very
reassuring that ministers have been wary of having
very fast recourse to the Civil Contingencies Act.
They are dealing with it sensibly, not just firing oV an
order to deal with, “It’s raining an awful lot, we are
getting flooding in Gloucestershire, therefore we need
an order”, they are only going to use it in serious
situations and I think that is very reassuring.

Q284 Lord Norton of Louth: Professor Bradley
touched on this in his paper, but it is something you
have both referred to already in your comments
today, and that is the actual preparation and we have
focused on what happens when it reaches Parliament,
but it is clear from what you have said that there is an
issue with the speed with which measures have to be
produced before being placed before Parliament and
the speed Parliament has to deal with it and the
problem of speed of preparation of a measure. Do
you want to elaborate on your concerns and what can
be done—another point you have related to and
given examples—especially ensuring there is
adequate time for consultation with aVected bodies
before the measure is even considered by Parliament?
Mr Durno: The practice of introducing draft bills
which are exposed both to the wider public and also
to committees of both Houses is obviously very good
and we would support that wholeheartedly. The
practice does seem to be very variable. It is not done
on every bill. It tends to be done on relatively non-
controversial legislation which the government is
committed to at a medium-term horizon, not this
current session. It is very diYcult to constrain the
government to insist that there should be pre-draft
bill legislative scrutiny because they cannot see what
is going to enter the Queen’s Speech three years
ahead.

Q285 Lord Norton of Louth: When we are dealing
with fast-track legislation there just is not time to
do it.
Mr Durno: There just is not the opportunity for it, no,
and you have to accept it, that is by the nature of fast-
track legislation. The solution there is, if at all
possible, expose the legislation before it is introduced

to one or two parties. The Law Society, for example,
is a disinterested party, it is not coming from a
particular political perspective, it is trying to aVect
the legislation to make the legislation better. If you
can speak to one or two organisations that you are
going to get sensible input from, it is at least one
opportunity that you have got.

Q286 Lord Pannick: Can I ask you about practical
safeguards on bills that are fast-tracked through
Parliament? Your helpful evidence has already
referred to procedures such as sunset clauses and
your written evidence referred to reviews by
independent bodies and matters of that sort. I have a
question for each of you. Mr Durno, the Law Society
evidence refers specifically to the possibility of
certification by ministers that fast-tracking is
necessary, something comparable to the Human
Rights Act Certificate.
Mr Durno: Yes.

Q287 Lord Pannick: What you suggest in your
evidence is that the certification should involve the
Speakers of both Houses of Parliament. I am puzzled
as to how and why the Speakers are going to be
involved in a process that may be highly
controversial. That is my question to you. My
question to Professor Bradley is that you suggest, as I
understand your evidence, a framework within which
the Standing Orders of each House would contain a
framework for addressing the question of fast-
tracking and procedures to be followed. I am a bit
puzzled as to whether a set of rules is really the most
appropriate way to address circumstances which by
definition are going to be exceptional.
Mr Durno: If I can go first in that case. What we had
in mind was a certificate similar to the certificates that
ministers have to give on a piece of legislation in
relation to human rights. The problem there is that
the certification is obviously open to debate. It may
be the view of the minister who is introducing the
legislation that there are no human rights
implications, but during the course of the debate it is
often the case that those points are addressed and
teased out. Whilst it would be very easy for ministers
to certify on the face of a fast-tracked piece of
legislation that in their view it is necessary to fast-
track it, there is always the possibility that that is a
political judgment rather than an objective judgment.
What we are looking for is to try to find an alternative
to just the self-certification by a minister. The reason
why we came up with the Speaker is the Speaker in
the House of Lords is now no longer the Lord
Chancellor, so you have got an independent
individual in that role. They are there as the
protectors of the rights of the two Houses, so if they
looked at the legislation, looked at the arguments
presented by the minister to justify the fast-tracking
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and they came to an independent judgment, to a
certain degree they are, if you like, ticking oV the self-
certification by a minister and it seemed to us it was
one relatively straightforward, relatively quick
procedure that could be undertaken without really
stopping the fast-track process taking place if it is
absolutely necessary.
Professor Bradley: I agree with so much of what Mr
Durno has said this morning, I wonder if I may be
permitted to say I do not agree with the suggestion
that the Speaker should be involved. I should think
there would be all sorts of diYculties. Could I just say
a diYculty that I foresee is that the Speaker would be
under great pressure to accede to the Government’s
request and would get political opprobrium himself
from some sections of Parliament for that reason. If
I might say in reply to the question that was put to
me, how to create a framework, I thought of this
simply because the Standing Orders say that certain
things should happen. But if there is accelerated
legislation the Standing Orders are put on one side
and in the case of the Commons, and possibly the
Lords, I do not know, it appears to be for the
government to substitute something else. I am not
terribly attracted to this scheme. It is more attractive
than two earlier possibilities in my paper. The point
in my mind is that each House should be its own
master and each House should have its own way of
dealing with this. It may be that in the House of
Commons there is a much stronger role for the
government to play. It might be of value in the House
of Lords if a statement were drawn up setting out that
there should be certain principles that should be
followed in all but the most pressing cases. For
example, that there should be a delay overnight
between Second Reading and committee; that, if it is
appropriate and seems sensible to have a sunset
clause, there should be provision for coming back for
it; that the bill should not contain more provisions
than are necessary and so on, so those in the House
who are reacting to a request for something more
urgent than that would be able to rely on that. It
would be valuable if this could be adopted in the
Commons, but I imagine this Committee will not be
making recommendations to the Commons as to how
they should deal with their own internal aVairs. The
danger is that if you set out a procedure for
accelerating legislation you make it easier to adopt
and you also legitimise it, so that it brings about the
very thing you do not wish to happen. That is why I
do not reach a concluded view on the value of any of
these. If there are conventions within the House
known to this Committee that relate to the House’s
response, maybe it would be a good idea if these
could be given some publicity and could be made
known.

Q288 Lord Rowlands: There is a provision that to
fast-track a bill in this case you have to first of all
suspend the Standing Order governing it, and

surprisingly that does not seem to have been utilised
or debated. You would at least debate the argument
as to whether or not it is suYciently urgent rather
than what we are left with at the moment, which is to
incorporate it in the second reading. Would you find
that of some value?
Professor Bradley: That could be done. One would
expect that the Upper House as a revising Chamber
would wish to go as far as it could to give eVect to the
Government’s wishes but not at any price, as
otherwise revision could not happen at all. It is
certainly something worth pursuing. From my rather
sporadic reading of debates in the Commons, very
often an objection raised by critics of the very fast
scheme is how fast it should be: could it be overnight,
does it have to be six hours? In 1972 it went on until
early in the morning and also in 1974, but the House
of Commons now does not like all-night sessions.
The eVect of that may simply be that you stop the
debate earlier, you stop it at ten o’clock or midnight
to avoid an all-night session, but that is at the cost of
the length of time available.

Q289 Lord Norton of Louth: Particularly Professor
Bradley stressed the importance of the bicameral
nature in dealing with legislation. Do you think there
is any merit in a bill being considered simultaneously
by the two Houses where fast-tracking is involved or
would the demerits be such that the present practice
remains preferable?
Professor Bradley: There might be expedients to
enable a draft bill to be considered in one House
while the bill is being considered in the other. In the
case of the Northern Ireland Act 1972 a debate on the
principles of the legislation took place in the
Commons on the Attorney-General’s request for
leave to introduce the bill and nothing was said on
second reading. In the Lords on that occasion
someone must have suggested that they should
debate it and the House took the view that they
should not have the business motion debated as if it
were the substance of legislation, so they waited until
the bill had actually come from the Commons and
that got them into considering it at two o’clock in the
morning. I must say I think it must be possible to
have a debate on the essence of something like this
even if the bill is still to come. That does assume, I
suppose, that the bill is going to pass through the
Commons at a certain time and in a certain shape and
condition. Although Parliament is bicameral, I do
not think this need prevent one House taking a
sensible look down the corridor at what is happening
in the other place and adjusting its own procedures.
Mr Durno: The problem that the Law Society sees is
if you put a Bill through a fast-track procedure in one
House it is still susceptible to possible amendment. If
you are starting the Bill at the same time in the other
House then you do not know what amendments have
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been made, unless there is a clerk running along the
corridor with the amendments as they are made,
which is just unacceptable. You have to complete the
consideration in one House before the second House
can have a look at the Bill otherwise they just do not
know the complete picture that they should be
examining.

Q290 Lord Norton of Louth: The final question is,
particularly Professor Bradley has touched upon the
role of the Lords in the process that is sometimes
quite distinctive relative to the Commons. Do you
think there is a particular role that the Lords should
play?
Professor Bradley: In the fast-track?

Q291 Lord Norton of Louth: Yes.
Professor Bradley: Yes, indeed. It goes back to the
point about the expectation government has that
business will be considered in a reasonable time. As
the Joint Committee on Conventions pointed out,
what is reasonable is not a convention, it varies so
much in the circumstances. The House of Lords has

to have its own view. What I know nothing about is
whether the usual channels that are brought into play
before a bill gets into the Commons under fast-track
procedure involves the Lords at that time. I assume
they do, and it may be with the instances we heard
about earlier where the House of Lords dealt with a
bill in the usual way, although it had a fast-track in
the Commons, as far as the Lords were concerned,
they did not like that and did not accept it. The Joint
Committee on Convention pointed out that the usual
channels really are a political matter and do not
involve conventions of any kind. I find on a matter of
this kind, as being someone who has not been in
Parliament, that is a bit disturbing and I just wonder
if there are not some principles that the usual
channels in the Lords would usually ask for which
could be made public or that it might be worth
determining what they are.
Chairman: Professor Bradley and Mr Durno, thank
you very much indeed for being so generous with
your time. On behalf of the Committee, thank you
very much indeed for the evidence you have given us.
Many thanks.
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Memorandum by Professor John McEldowney, School of Law, University of Warwick and
Professor David Miers, Cardiff Law School, University of Cardiff

Summary

Emergency legislation covers a wide range of circumstances where exceptional powers are required. In
legislative terms Bills may be expedited, including last minute amendments, with little time for full debate and
scrutiny. Parliament is weakened by its inability to subject emergency legislation to full scrutiny and the
executive retains the initiative. This memorandum is focused on techniques that may allow emergency powers
to be subject to greater scrutiny than currently is possible. A balance must be struck between the need for
adequate scrutiny and the requirement for emergency powers to be operative as quickly as possible in the
public interest. We propose creating a template for emergency powers that may be activated when the
emergency arises. It is useful to consider a number of examples. The Contingencies Fund Act 1974 sets
procedures for repayable advances to be made in anticipation of Parliamentary approval. This provides some
workable principles and these may prove helpful in considering reform to the scrutiny of emergency powers.

1. Introduction

Emergencies come in all shapes and sizes. In the past decade alone, they include the spread of the foot and
mouth disease, terrorist activity, major flooding along the river Severn, the collapse of Northern Rock and the
ensuing implosions in the banking sector. They can be short-lived events but with long-term impact on those
aVected. They can be of longer duration and ultimately reparable or take many years to mature in their
consequences, and the responses available to HMG alone may be insuYcient to address them. Some
emergencies may indeed be unforeseen in their particular occurrence (where will a terrorist cell strike or what
part of the country will be inundated should there be a winter storm), but the potential for the events’
occurrence may well be predictable.

It is in their nature that emergencies arise when least expected, may require urgent and often unplanned for
intervention and may leave Parliament and its normal procedures by—passed. In 1972, after the Northern
Ireland High Court1 held that the then Northern Ireland government lacked the legal powers under the
Government of Ireland Act 1920 to allow the army powers of arrest, search and seizure, the Northern Ireland
Act 1972 was rushed into law at a late night sitting and with all party support. The 1972 Act gave powers to
the army serving in Northern Ireland with retrospective eVect. Despite the urgency, there had been time to
prepare a Bill in advance of the decision being delivered in the afternoon in Belfast by the then Lord Chief
Justice, Lord Lowry.

More recently, in June 2008, the House of Lords’ decision in Davis et al that the witness anonymity orders made
by the trial judge were unlawful prompted an immediate concern that some 40 or 50 other trials in which such
orders had been made would therefore collapse, for want of other evidence. The Government’s response was
the Criminal Evidence (Witness Anonymity) Bill, which was introduced on 10 July and received the Royal
Assent on 21 July. Your Committee’s Ninth Report of the 2007–08 session concluded that the Bill raised points
of constitutional significance (HL 147). That Report also referred to two other recent emergency bills: the
Banking (Special Provisions) Bill in February 2008 (now the Banking Act 2009) and the Northern Ireland (St
Andrews Agreement) (No.2) Bill in March 2007. The Banking Act 2009 was criticised for fast tracking the
legislation without suYcient time for consultation.
1 R. v Londonderry Justices ex parte Hume et al [1972] N.I.25 (Judgment of 23 February 1972).
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2. Planning for Emergencies

Today many emergencies may arise when there is little opportunity for pre-planning. But that does not mean
that some preparation for the fact of an emergency cannot be made, given that there are many precedents for
the outbreak and spread of animal diseases, flooding in poor weather, terrorist activity, and so on. Statutory
provision for emergency action already exists in the Civil Contingencies Act 2004, which imposes duties on
a range of “responders” (principally local authorities) to undertake risk assessments that relate to the likely
occurrence of an emergency. “Emergency” is broadly defined within the Act as including loss of human life,
human illness or injury, homelessness, damage to property, disruption of a supply of money, food, water,
energy or fuel, disruption of a system of communication, disruption of facilities for transport, or disruption
of services relating to health.

This is, as the Act makes plain, contingency planning for local protection, and as a general requirement it
ought equally to be a firm principle that emergency planning and draft legislation should be available as part
of the risk assessment in every department of government.

Our memorandum seeks to address emergency legislation as follows:

— the role of contingency planning;

— adopting a template for emergency powers; and

— post-legislative scrutiny of emergency powers.

2.1 The role of contingency planning by central government

Contingency planning for emergencies should be undertaken as a routine matter. The recent economic
problems in the banking sector are a good example of what is required. The forthcoming Turner Review into
the regulation needed to manage future financial problems is likely to be relevant. In the case of Northern
Rock, the UK financial watchdog, the Financial Services Authority (FSA) found that it lacked the specific
powers to take over and run Northern Rock. Given the sudden and unexpected downturn in the share price
of the Bank it would not have been easy to have asked Parliament for additional powers. To do so might have
created panic and a run on the Bank. This might have had a ripple eVect and caused further problems for the
UK banking system. The need for contingency planning for emergency powers should be a paramount
consideration in departments and agencies and regularly undertaken as part of risk assessment.

2.2 Adopting a template for emergency powers

Adopting a template for emergency powers that engages with the urgency of the emergency and at the same
time brings Parliament and legislative oversight is critical. In this context it may be possible to deal with
emergency powers as part of financial procedures for the control of public expenditure.

The constitutional principle is that parliamentary control over central government expenditure applies so that
no financial resources may be utilised by a Department on a service unless Parliament has provided
authorisation. There are exceptional circumstances where this may not be possible. The operation and use of
the Contingencies Fund in exceptional circumstances allows the Treasury to make repayable advances in
anticipation of authorisation from Parliament. Its use is defined as “exceptional” and “urgent”.

The Contingencies Fund Act 1974 fixes a limit at 2% of the total authorised Supply Expenditure. This is where
the Fund is required to finance expenditure which as a matter of law or constitutional propriety requires
specific legislation. The urgency must be in the public interest and one where it is inappropriate to postpone
the expenditure until the necessary funds have been voted. There are a number of requirements:

— the proposed legislation is in passage and has passed second reading in the Commons;

— that there is a near certainty that the Bill will become law;

— the government is prepared to take responsibility for assuming that Parliament will in fact approve
legislation;

— Parliamentary authority is required to enable repayment to the Fund; and

— The urgency should relate, not to administrative convenience but urgency as defined “in the public
interest”.

The procedures required for the use of the Fund are that Parliament must be told in advance of the intention
to use the Fund and the use of the resources and the amount authorised. This may be through an arranged
Parliamentary Question or an announcement. HM Treasury has detailed application procedures to be
followed through liaison between the Treasury team and the Estimate Clerk. This provides:

— transparency as to the use of the Fund;



Processed: 07-07-2009 20:22:14 Page Layout: LOENEW [O] PPSysB Job: 427327 Unit: PAG7

113emergency legislation, constitution committee: evidence

— an explanation of the amount and the justification; and

— an explanation of why Parliament is likely to agree the relevant legislation.

The example of the Contingencies Fund is that Parliament has approved the procedures for scrutiny and
oversight in anticipation of the need for the use of funds. The principles that apply are:

— There is a clear link between departmental and Parliamentary responsibilities;

— Parliament is informed and given an opportunity to debate and comment on the Government’s use
of the funds;

— Oversight is provided both by Departmental (HM Treasury) rules and guidance as well as
accountability to Parliament; and

— The Contingencies Fund is used for urgent and unplanned expenditure.

2.3 The Role of Select and Joint Committees

We recommend (section 4) that departments should be required to prepare and hold contingency plans for
emergencies similar to those required by the 2004 Act. In that event departmental select and joint committees
could routinely inquire of departments what their contingency plans comprise, and in particular examine any
potential constitutional or other legal diYculties to which they give rise. These may then be amenable to being
addressed by departmental lawyers or parliamentary counsel before the need for the bill arises. Indeed, such
inquiries may show common issues to which common solutions can be found.

3. Other Arrangements for Parliamentary Scrutiny of Emergency Legislation

3.1 The Office of the Parliamentary Counsel

Under the heading Emergency legislation and other legislation to be passed at speed the OPC website notes:

Sometimes legislation is needed in a hurry and has to be rushed through both Houses. This can happen
because of a situation that needs urgent legislative attention or in the wash up before a general election.

In those circumstances, programming in the Commons is seldom enough to guarantee speedy passage.
Other motions and procedural steps will be need to be taken.

For instance, an allocation of time motion (“a guillotine”) may be needed. Unlike a programme order,
a guillotine can timetable the Second Reading of the Bill. The guillotine, or separate procedure motions,
may make provision for other matters (such as enabling more than one stage is to be taken on the same
day, enabling financial motions to be moved between stages or allowing amendments to be tabled before
second reading). Sometimes everything will be dealt with in a composite “business of the House motion”.

The procedural aspects of passing legislation at speed have to be agreed between the OPC team and the
PBOs in both Houses. It is essential for all involved to know what is to happen when. For that reason,
it is necessary to give the OPC team at least some time to talk to the PBOs about what is needed. The
GWOs in both Houses will also need to be involved.

The OPC team will be able to advise on what is necessary, will liaise with the PBOs and the Whips and
will draft and put down any necessary procedure motions.

When things are moving fast, there are obvious advantages in ensuring that drafters are on hand
whenever they may be needed. The departmental team and OPC team should talk to each other about
what arrangements should be made for this.

In a wash up all the diVerent OPC teams involved will liaise with each other.

3.2 Section 27 of the Civil Contingencies Act 2004

By section 20 of the 2004 Act a “senior Minister of the Crown” may make emergency regulations if the
conditions in section 21 are met. Section 27 provides for the parliamentary scrutiny of these regulations when
laid. Clearly the requirements in section 27 have no direct applicability to Bills, but the principles of prompt
notification to Parliament and of the lapse of a proposed measure should Parliament not approve it are.

By section 27 the Minister is required to lay the regulations before Parliament “as soon as is reasonably
practicable”. This requirement may be thought to echo the “urgent” use of the procedures under the
Contingencies Fund Act 1974.

Similarly, the provision in section 27(1)(b) of the 2004 Act, that “the regulations shall lapse at the end of the
period of seven days beginning with the date of laying unless during that period each House of Parliament
passes a resolution approving them”.
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3.3 Checklists

In its 14th Report of 2003–04, Parliament and the Legislative Process, the Committee commended the
development of a “culture of justification” for legislative proposals. Such a culture could in part be based on
clear statements by its proposers of how an emergency bill meets core constitutional (or other) requirements.
This can be done by generating checklists against which government would (and should) be able to prepare.

The Committee’s Ninth Report identified a number of matters of constitutional importance that were raised
by the Criminal Evidence (Anonymity of Witnesses) Bill. These were in particular (paras 3, 18 and 23):

— The common law right to be confronted by named and identified accusers.

— Retrospective legislation.

— Emergency legislation and “sunset clauses” (We see merit in adopting a general practice of including
a sunset clause for provisions that are introduced for reasons of expediency in one Session ahead of
a bill on the same subject that has been announced as part of the Draft Legislative Programme for a
subsequent Session).2

Generalising the point about not abrogating the common law in the absence of a good reason, these matters
could readily be joined with such others as powers of requisition, access to a court or tribunal, delegation of
power to amend primary legislation, using delegated legislation under the protective terms of giving the
delegated legislation “the same force and eVect” as primary legislation; and giving the Executive pro-active
law making powers without any prior authorisation by parliament;

3.4 Post-legislative Scrutiny of Emergency Powers

The Final Report of the Law Commission, Post Legislative Scrutiny (2006) noted (3.70) Lord Norton’s
suggestion that should there be a new joint committee on post legislative scrutiny to determine which Acts
should be subject to a review. It would be for that committee to determine what Acts would be suitable. Lord
Norton suggested that emergency legislation would fall into a category that prima facie should be considered
for review. We agree, and add that the use of checklists (like Smookler Schedules in pre-legislative scrutiny)
provide a ready set of criteria against which to scrutinise the Act.

The arrangements for post-legislative scrutiny are that:

— Any Act is liable to some form of post-legislative review prompted by a Parliamentary Committee or
internally within Government.

— After three to five years the responsible Department must submit a Memorandum to the relevant
Commons Departmental Select Committee.

— The Memorandum will include a preliminary assessment of how the Act meets various benchmarks.

— In the preparation of new legislation, account is taken by the sponsoring department of the various
explanatory notes and relevant statements in the preparation of the Bill as the basis for considering
the objectives of the Bill. This is relevant to the process of post-legislative scrutiny.

— The relevant Select Committee will determine whether a full post-legislative scrutiny should be
undertaken.

The above arrangements apply to Acts passed since 2005 and the expectation is that there should be a routine
consideration of every Act within a cycle of three to five years. From March 2008 it has been agreed that the
promotion of post-legislative scrutiny might take place:

— At the instigation of the department and as part of the Impact Assessment process.

— Through an examination by a Parliamentary Committee based on the decision to conduct an inquiry
into the operation of an Act.

— As part of an investigation conducted by a Parliamentary Committee into a related matter where the
Act is integral to that matter.

The new system addresses similar concerns that arise with emergency powers, namely that once the Act was
passed, whether there was suYcient attention paid to whether or not, and how, the Act could be implemented.
That enquiry could consider instances where the eVects of the Act are such as to suggest that a more systematic
approach might be adopted when the legislation was passed. The new system is intended:

— to give more attention to the preparation of Bills;
2 The Twelfth Report of the Delegated Powers and Regulatory Reform Committee noted of this Bill that “The Ministry of Justice have

provided a memorandum, printed at Appendix 1, on the single delegation of power in this bill, at clause 14(3). The delegation is a well-
precedented provision to extend the life of the Act by order subject to aYrmative resolution and there is nothing in the provision which
we wish to draw to the attention of the House.” (2007–08, HL 148 para 1.
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— to consider implementation as part of the analysis carried out at the stage of the preparation of the
Bill; and

— to gain from lessons learned and disseminate those lessons with benefits for other legislation.

It is clear that the proposals set out in this memorandum concerning emergency powers have a strong
resonance with the role of post legislative scrutiny. The key elements of assessing the objectives of the
legislation and whether they have been achieved gives rise to an onus on the Government to set clarity as the
hallmark of legislation that is likely to be eVective. As a “reality check” on the law making process it also sets
standards that comprise prior commitments on the legislative process as part of pre-legislative scrutiny and
the passage of Bills (“the culture of justification”). This may also help secure consistency and a more “hard
look” at Bills during the various stages of their passage through Parliament.

4. Conclusions and Recommendations

The Hansard Society’s study, Law in the Making (Hansard Society, 2008) draws attention to the value of
parliamentary deliberation in improving the quality of and setting standards for legislation. A major inhibition
to improvements in the general standards of legislation has stemmed from the lack of parliamentary time, the
complexity of legislation and the amount of detail found in legislation itself, as well as in delegated legislation.
In areas where emergency powers are central, the need for appropriate analysis and due deliberation is
required.

We recommend that there should be a standing departmental template in place for use in times of emergencies
that provides a link to departmental select committees and to the appropriate parliamentary debates. In the
case of the need for emergency legislation or the engagement with emergency powers there should be
opportunities for both pre—and post—legislative scrutiny.

— pre-legislative scrutiny has a wider impact in terms of debate about the Bill and this may promote
detailed and analytical reviews;

— post—legislative scrutiny provides an opportunity for the assessment of emergency legislation and its
eVectiveness;

— the Contingencies Fund provides a good model of the way in which eVective parliamentary oversight
is maintained notwithstanding the need for urgent powers; and

— there should be some form of overall analysis of the use and eVectiveness of emergency powers and
lessons gained should be taken forward.

(PS: We have not addressed emergency legislation arising in respect of terrorism, as we understand that the
Committee has invited evidence specifically on that matter).

11 March 2009

Examination of Witnesses

Witnesses: Professor John McEldowney, University of Warwick, and Professor David Miers, University of
Cardiff, examined.

Q292 Chairman: Professor Miers and Professor
McEldowney, welcome very much to the Committee.
Thank you for joining us. We are being audio
recorded, so I would ask you, if you would be so kind,
to identify yourselves formally for the record.
Thereafter, if you would like to make a brief opening
statement, please do, or otherwise we will enter into
discussion.
Professor Miers: Thank you, Chairman. Good
morning. My name is David Miers. I am Professor of
Law at CardiV University, the Law School. You will
know from your briefing notes that I am also
Chairman of the Study of Parliament Group and for
the purposes of the record I would like to say that I
am giving evidence in a personal capacity, not on
behalf of the group.
Professor McEldowney: My name is John
McEldowney. I am Professor of Law at the

University of Warwick. Like David Miers, I am a
member of the Study of Parliament Group but I am
giving evidence today in a personal capacity.
Professor Miers: Chairman, if we may take your
invitation to make a few brief opening observations
about your inquiry, we would like to say something
about our approach to your inquiry, and how we
conceive the nature of your inquiry into emergency
bills, emergency legislation. Our first point is that we
do not regard emergency bills as being a discrete form
of legislation; they are simply a form of legislation. It
just so happens that they bring with them some
features, typically speed but not only that, which
exacerbate or make more diYcult the kinds of
scrutiny that Parliament would wish to exert over any
bill, in particular in respect of constitutional
principles such as the principles that your own
Committee, Chairman, over a number of years has
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sought to elucidate in your annual reports and in
your reports on particular bills. Second, we take the
view that one of the possible outcomes of this inquiry
might be to identify a checklist or set of standards—
and here again I am perhaps reflecting comments
your Committee has made in the past—against which
the two p’s that appear in your reports can be
checked, in terms of constitutional propriety and so
on. In that respect, we think that this particular
inquiry is an excellent opportunity for the Committee
to restate the points that it has made in a number of
your reports, but maybe to bring them together into a
single report which would, in our judgment, reinforce
very well the kinds of deficits, in some way the kinds
of lack of control, that flow from not articulating
properly in the public domain what the criteria are
that ought to apply to bills. On emergency bills there
might be some particular points to add, but, as I say,
we see them as just a form of bill but with particular
diYculties attached to them.
Professor McEldowney: I would add to that that the
flow chart which appears in your annual report 2007-
08, which sets out the Bill of Scrutiny structure and
the way the Committee approaches its task, anything
we are saying today we feel ought to be consistent
with that approach. That means, eVectively, to put it
in succinct terms, making the internal system of
controls and checks which exists within departments,
advisers, draftsmen and so on, in the case of fast-
track bills more publicly known and transparent,
making the circle of control externally more
transparent and, therefore, to that extent more
accountable. To a large extent with, for example, pre-
legislative scrutiny in the first instance, then post-
legislative scrutiny coming in, you could actually
create a circle of control back. If you look at the 34
bills that were fast-tracked, looking back over them
the Committee can then make a judgment as to the
things that they can learn from the experience and so
on. I think that is very much in the manner of our
template, where you can set up for future
government, quality of legislation, terms of
standards, notwithstanding the urgency, and
questions about whether the urgency was met in the
way set out by the claims made in the urgent moment.
That is quite tricky. It is only after some time that you
can reflect on that. I think that is where the ex post-
legislative scrutiny comes in as a way of doing that.

Q293 Chairman: Thank you very much indeed,
Professor Miers and Professor McEldowney. Over
the last 20 years there have been over 30 bills fast-
tracked through Parliament. I am sure the
Committee would be most interested to hear under
what circumstances you think bills should be fast-
tracked through Parliament.
Professor Miers: Thirty-four bills over 20 years.
Broadly speaking, over that period of time, probably
something like 800 Acts of Parliament would have
been enacted. The Hansard Society’s Law in the

Making publication in 2008 noted 404 over a decade,
so we can just double that. That is something less
than five per cent of the total. But I think that is not
necessarily a good comparison. Quite a number of
the examples that you give in the annex to the papers
you sent us are specific matters in specific Acts of
Parliament, and if one were then to look at the total
number of provisions that were enacted over a 20-
year period they would run into the thousands and it
would be diYcult, I think, to try to get a handle on
that. One of the first points, just to look at numbers,
is to ask oneself: “What would you expect? What
would our expectation be as a legislature that
sometimes departments will either get it wrong or
simply not foresee that some urgency will crop up or
through some oversight simply not make provision?”
That is a very diYcult matter to control, I think, or
diYcult to get a clear view on. It is a matter of
expectation. If it is a very small number, then one
might say that is within a tolerable level of
expectation. Just the numbers do not detract from
John’s point, the point we would both make, which is
having a system of control externally viewable.
Numbers are not of themselves, I think, the issue. In
terms of what might be regarded as acceptable or
unacceptable, I think you would probably regard as
unacceptable a bill where the matter that is now being
presented and asserted as an emergency is something
that was predictable or had been flagged—clearly
during pre-legislative scrutiny, but had been flagged
at some point—or, again taking John’s point, with
hindsight was obviously an error in judgment or on
the part perhaps of the instructing department. Just
picking from the list you sent us, one example was to
do with the safety at sports grounds, and you might
think, just looking at that, “Doesn’t the Government
know when the domestic football season starts?” You
might look at that and think that it seems like an odd
emergency. If the ECJ is considering a case on UHT
milk, that is something the Government would know
about and might have thought, “What if. . ..?” Quite
a strong point in our first submission is that we would
expect government departments to ask themselves
that question: “What if something goes wrong here?
What if the court finds against us, what are the
consequences in terms of what we can do?” I think
those might be regarded as unacceptable.
Professor McEldowney: It might be useful to mention
an acceptable example. One that particularly struck
me was the Companies (Beneficial Interests) Bill
1983. A legal lacuna had appeared, legal counsel had
looked at it, there had been opinions sought and so
on. It achieved all-party support. It is quite clear in
the Hansard debates, a very succinct summary is
given as to the rationale for the accelerated procedure
and exactly what the bill was going to do. A model of
good practice, I would say. If you look at Hansard1

on the Caravans (Standard Community Charge and
Rating Bill) 1990, however, it is quite unclear where
1 1990 vol 182 cc119-39



Processed: 07-07-2009 20:22:14 Page Layout: LOENEW [O] PPSysB Job: 427327 Unit: PAG7

117emergency legislation, constitution committee: evidence

the urgency was. It is quite unclear why it was done
in this way. Our analysis is that perhaps there are very
good reasons why that bill was taken at that time but
they are not made transparent to Parliament. This
goes back to the argument that it is the template you
have to look at to ensure that the internal systems of
checks and control, parliamentary draftsmen and so
on, are made more public, so therefore there is a
standard set of expectations when an urgency bill
comes before the House that meet a certain minimum
requirement of explanation and you can drill back to
find out whether the explanation is realistic or not.
But that is not being met at the moment. The reason
it is not being met at the moment is because the
system is ad hoc and pragmatic and is based on the
urgency rather than the principle. We want to turn
the urgency question into a matter of principle, so
that it is linked to principle, and these principles are
to do with some of the things the Committee I think
have been working on and recommending, which is
eVectively a checklist and a sort of standard-setting.
That is the way forward, surely.

Q294 Baroness Quin: You have both touched on
what my question was going to be about, particularly
in terms of bills that have been fast-tracked which
might not, in hindsight, have needed an accelerated
passage, but I wonder if you could give us your
thoughts as to how you would characterise the main
diYculties concerning fast-track legislation.
Professor Miers: The diYculties are systemic, I think
is the first point we are making. They are systemic in
that it is not clear to Parliament, if you take the
example of the Caravans Act, why it is that the
department was bringing forward that emergency
and calling it an emergency at the time it did.
Nowadays that probably would be diVerent—one
would expect it to be diVerent, at any rate, because
the Caravans Act was before explanatory notes
became required to accompany a bill. In that sense
matters may have changed. So I think there is a
systemic issue. Clearly within the department there
will then be an issue of speed: instructions will need
to be prepared very fast for parliamentary counsel.
These things perhaps are fairly obvious but,
therefore, there is likely to be some forgetfulness or
oversight of a matter that needs to be dealt with,
parliamentary counsel have to work quickly with the
Public Bill OYce and so on in order to agree what the
timetable is going to be. Is it a week? Is it just a few
days or just a day? There are obviously going to be
diYculties with that. In terms of parliamentary
scrutiny, clearly lack of time equals lack of scrutiny.
Limited opportunities, I suppose, for Parliament to
improve the bill. One point which perhaps I could
have made in my opening observation but I will make
it now, is that we are talking here about the quality of
legislation. This is not just a matter of making this
particular bill better but the quality of legislation as
a general proposition.

Q295 Baroness Quin: In terms of bills which, with
hindsight, ought not to have had an accelerated
passage, are there any examples you would want to
give or are there any detailed studies of your own
post-legislative scrutiny, if you like, that you have
undertaken? We have had quite a lot of reference to
the Dangerous Dogs Act, for example. The minister
who took that through made a very spirited defence
of it in the form in which it went through the House,
although subsequently did not like some of the
changes that had been made to it. I just wondered if
you either had thoughts on that or any detailed
thoughts on any other legislation that you had
looked at.
Professor McEldowney: The diYculty is primarily
identifying such bills. The Dangerous Dogs Act 1991
is a good example where there is a robust argument
about why it was done in the way it was done and the
criticisms of the bill are well known so, therefore, it is
one that has been flagged up, but how many are there
that we do not know about? The problem is how we
identify it. It is exceptionally diYcult to identify it
because what goes wrong is often behind the scene of
the transparency, and even an academic writer will
only pick up something if it is in the public interest.
Civil servants are very reluctant to tell us publicly
that they have made a particular error or a particular
problem. In fairness to them you can understand
why: they have a responsibility and ministers are
accountable to Parliament. I think you are pointing
your finger through your question at our lack of
knowledge, but that lack of knowledge comes from a
fundamental mistake in the way the system presently
works, which is that there is not a proper audit, I
think.
Professor Miers: That question, in a sense, is asking to
prove a negative, that a measure ought not to have
been, and that is, as John says, an exceedingly
diYcult undertaking unless you happen to be looking
at a particular bill or a particular Act and saying,
“That’s strange. Why did. . . “ The other point that
you invited observations about, Lady Quin, post-
legislative work or academic work, it is quite
remarkable how little academic work there is on
emergency bills as a kind of generic. There is plenty
of work on terrorism, but those kinds of analyses
tend to look at the powers that are granted and that
is perhaps not relevant for this purpose. Perhaps I
might make this point too: if you look at the
practitioner books, if you look at the books on
drafting: Thornton, Dreidger and others, if you look
at Bennion’s magnum opus on statutory
interpretation, there is nothing there about
emergency legislation. The Statute Law Review,
which by its name is devoted to the drafting of
legislation, we looked but could not find anything
that would inform us of possible errors or possible
bills that meet your description.

Q296 Lord Rowlands: You have partly responded to
the question I was going to ask, because in
submission after submission we have received from
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witnesses they baldly state: hastily drafted legislation,
poorly scrutinised is bad legislation. Then we ask for
examples of where that legislation has either been
proved redundant or unworkable and, outside the
Dangerous Dogs Act, we have at the moment drawn
almost a blank. You are saying, “We cannot do it.”
You cannot answer that question.
Professor Miers: You yourselves are doing this
through your scrutiny of the Banking Bill, the
Northern Ireland Bill and others that you have
recently published. Indeed, exactly what you are
doing is what you have just been asking: Can you
identify bills that are sought to be introduced in some
hurry?—or more quickly than would otherwise be the
case, is perhaps the an abler way of putting that.
Again, the fact that a bill contains a clause with
retrospectivity is not going to be fatal. But to go back
to the point, that is something that ought to be clearly
flagged, so that this Committee and in the Commons
that can be seen for what it is: a justification given by
the minister as to why retrospectivity in this instance
or a Henry VIII clause in this instance is appropriate.
Professor McEldowney: One could also say that the
converse is diYcult to prove as well. With a bill that
has been given elaborate debate and discussion and
gone through all its stages very carefully and so on, is
there evidence to show that it is a better bill? Partly
the answer is that of course it is a policy issue, about
how good the policy is and how the policy that will be
implemented may be improved by amendments and
by the fact that more people have a chance to look at
it. But there is a constitutional principle that bothers
me. The constitutional principle is this, that urgency
should not set the principle. The principle should be
that the bill be given a robust, transparent analysis, so
that, therefore, we can answer more fully the points
you are raising. That is the point.
Professor Miers: Exactly so.

Q297 Lord Rowlands: Scrutiny, irrespective of
whether it turns out to be a good or a bad bill.
Professor Miers: The principle of scrutiny has to be
the driver.
Professor McEldowney: It has to be the driver.
Professor Miers: Emergency, urgency, that is the
question which is viewed in the context of that kind
of principal scrutiny.

Q298 Lord Morris of Aberavon: Clearly for me there
is a problem of definition as to what are the
circumstances in which it is appropriate to have
emergency legislation. I think this is what we are all
grappling with and this is why we seek your advice.
One of the pieces of evidence we have had states: “It
is ultimately for Parliament to decide when it is
appropriate to expedite a piece of legislation. The
range of circumstances in which it might be necessary
to expedite the passage of a bill is so great that it is not
possible to come up with a rigid set of criteria. The
Government will only be able to do so by cross-party

agreement.” There does not seem to me to be much
constitutional principle or constitutional convention
in that. Would you agree? Can you improve that
statement?
Professor McEldowney: I think I can contribute to the
discussion about the statement in the following way:
it is very interesting to think about how our devolved
legislators have been working on this. We look, for
example, at Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland.
In the case of Northern Ireland, Assembly Standing
Orders 42(3) and (4) have a particular term which
they use which I think does bear inspection and
scrutiny. First of all, they explain that there is, as it
were, a necessity for a full explanation, reasons being
given, for the accelerated passage of the bill. That is
part of the Standing Orders. Second—which I think
is quite interesting, going back to our post-legislative
scrutiny theme—the consequence of accelerated
passage not being granted has to be addressed, as well
as, and where it is appropriate, any steps that should
be taken to minimise the future use of the accelerated
passage procedure. There you have, as it were, it
seems to me, a hyphen which links through the
reasons, the explanation in evidence, for which we go
to the transparency point, and then the question of
preventing the habit-forming that may come about
by using too much of the accelerated procedure, and
that is therefore built into the statement that should
be made. To answer your question, it would be
possible to say that in a scheme of recommendation
one could expect ministers to come forward with the
bill, as with the explanatory notes, as today with
human rights compatibility, with a statement which
deals broadly with those three areas. I think that
would improve matters a great deal, because it would
then make it clear that you could question, on those
grounds, seeking evidence, probing forensically to
find out more, which would not deflect from the
urgency of the matter one jot, it would simply make
internal knowledge more externally available. It is
not that the information is not there, I believe, it is
that it is not made public as part of the normal
procedure of the bill.
Professor Miers: The question for Parliament is:
“Why, minister, is this bill urgent?” What you want
the minister to tell you is the reasons that he or she is
bringing that bill forward. In that respect, I would
agree with the person from whom you were quoting,
clearly it is a matter for Parliament to say that that is
or is not an urgent matter. For example, if they came
forward and said, “This is an urgent matter because
we don’t have power under the relevant legislation to
do x, which is causing us some diYculty”—in social
security or flood defence or whatever—then what
you want is a clear statement of all of that which you
can scrutinise and say, “Are you right about that? In
fact you do have the power” or possibly even “Do
you need a legal power to do this?” and you do it
administratively. In that sense, it is making external
that which presumably the department, by virtue of
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the requirements on departments to comply with the
parliamentary counsel’s own checklists, especially if
they are going to be introducing delegated legislation
in the bill and so on, must know or, at least, if it does
not know, have a statement as to what it thinks it
knows that it can share. That is the point we are
making here.

Q299 Lord Morris of Aberavon: I tend to agree with
you about formalising the statement parallel to the
human rights declaration, but is this not what a
minister should be doing in any event?
Professor Miers: Sure.

Q300 Lord Morris of Aberavon: There is nothing
new in that, except that there would be a little form
and you would say, “I’ve gone through this and these
are the points I shall put in” and that would be
helpful. If we could leave that for a moment, you
have suggested a checklist of matters which could be
part of the process. From my first impression, the
checklist does not seem to be very robust. When you
compare the matters set out there in the checklist and,
in particular, the one about the Contingency Fund,
that is not really a template, is it? It is basically
matters which should be put into the legislation, not
why have the legislation at all. That is the issue we are
trying to grapple with: can we have some kind of
template, not what it is in it, whether it is a formal
declaration or sunset clauses or whatever, but any
formula as to why this should have, in addition to the
statement I have read out to you, the legislation at all.
That is the key to it.
Professor McEldowney: Yes. That is why the
Contingency Fund is a good example, it strikes me. It
is a good example because it is one of the few
occasions where the circle of control (that is to say,
between parliamentary scrutiny and the internal
system of checks and balances with the Treasury
accounting oYcer) is made constitutionally clear:
“You will not get money from this fund unless. . . “
and the unless is absolutely clear. It is specified: “You
only get it on the basis that there is going to be
legislation to cover it and that you have made a
statement.” If you look, for example, at one recently,
the Serious Fraud OYce one, it is quite clear that it is
much better than you would get in a fast-tracked bill,
because you get the amount, you get the reasons and
you can drill deeper. In other words, the access points
are there. We are suggesting that that model be
adopted as a matter of regularity for all urgency bills;
in other words, that it creates, if you like, a
constitutional imperative. The reason the
Contingency Fund is so critical is because there is no
doubt that there is a constitutional principle.
Parliament and Parliament alone can authorise
parliamentary expenditure: it is public money. You
do not have the same principle on a Henry VIII
clause. You cannot say that the Henry VIII clause is
banned because there is no such constitutional

principle. The Government can simply bring in
legislation. We are suggesting that through the
template of the Committee you can create an
expectation, backed up with post-legislative scrutiny,
which tells the Government later on, “We are going
to check on this,” and your checklist, far from being
rather minimalist, could become quite robust at a
later stage. I think that is the point.
Professor Miers: Professor Dawn Oliver wrote a very
good article in Public Law in the summer of 2006 in
which she argued—and she drew on your
Committee’s work and on DPRR—for the creation
of a set of standards. I make no apology for quoting
that, I think that is an excellent statement that she
made, an excellent analysis that she produced. We did
not do this in our initial response but I am happy, if
you like, to send subsequently the list as I have
extended it and try to cross-refer it to points that you
yourselves have made. You would end up, Lord
Morris, with a long list, broadly under the headings
of Procedural Requirements, Rule of Law
Requirements, Duration, in the case of emergency
bills, and Review, which then leads into Post-
Legislative Scrutiny, and under each of those a whole
series of checklists. Again, our view is that if this were
public and transparent and part of the procedure
through which departments need to go, so that they
have to be signed oV by the minister, signed oV by
parliamentary counsel, they come here and to the
Commons and you can see whether or not the
department has properly dealt with, if it is proposing
a sunset clause or, if it is proposing a retrospective
provision. . .. A good example is last year’s Criminal
Evidence (Witness Anonymity) Bill—and your
Committee again looked at that—which
demonstrates very well how you could just check
these things. What is it the department wants? What
is it going to do? Well, we know what it is going to do:
it is going to produce further legislation. I am sorry,
that is maybe going a little bit further ahead, but it
seems to me it is possible to produce a list which
would be of value for departments. I know this is all
done under time pressure—of course, we are talking
about urgent need—but it would require departments
to advert to these issues perhaps more explicitly
rather than simply within the confines of the
department and it would be available to you.
Lord Morris of Aberavon: I find that very helpful.
Thank you very much.

Q301 Lord Peston: In the summary of your
memorandum you referred to “a balance must be
struck” and yet in your answer to Lord Rowlands
you seemed to be saying something rather diVerent;
namely, that scrutiny is what comes first and that is
the fundamental question. I do not see, therefore,
how you can simultaneously say you have to have
adequate scrutiny but a balance can be struck. Either
you have adequate scrutiny or you have not. Can you
explain the logic of that? That is not my main
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question, but that is the bit that I do not understand.
If a balance is struck, you get less of this and more of
that, or more of that and less of this. I speak as an
economist and that is my trade.
Professor Miers: We do not see adequate scrutiny and
getting bills quickly as being oppositional. You can
get bills quickly but you can subject them to a degree
of scrutiny. How adequate that scrutiny is going to be
is the question. Our answer to that is: In order to
make it more adequate than it presently is—because
there really is not much balance at the moment in
favour of scrutiny—in order to make that scrutiny
better than it is, it would be appropriate to adopt the
kind of model that we are suggesting, that would be
met by the department prior to the bill’s
introduction. It would come with the bill’s papers, so
that Parliament would be alerted—we suggest these
things are all flagged—to the fact that this is going to
be an emergency bill and therefore such scrutiny can
take place perhaps within a very short space of time.
We do not deny that, if it is only going to be a day, you
are not going to have very much time, but that is just
in the nature of the beast. There is nothing much one
can do about that, but that does not mean to say, if
you have a week, that you cannot do something
which is better than what we presently have.

Q302 Lord Peston: I understand that we can do
better but I do not see how you could use the word
“adequate” scrutiny. Just better scrutiny is really
what you are saying.
Professor Miers: Yes.

Q303 Lord Peston: Can I go on then to your example
of the Contingency Fund. If I understand what you
are saying, you get the money but then you go back
to justifying it. Is that how it works?
Professor McEldowney: No, you cannot get the money
until you have put forward a case.

Q304 Lord Peston: Yes, but you make the case—
Professor McEldowney: You make the case, but the
case is made in two ways. This is the key part. It is
made internally, in the first instance, through your
own departmental accounting oYcer. But what is
very important is that it is not a matter of transferring
the funds—that could be done automatically. In
order to secure the final, second part, you have to
assure Parliament that either the estimates will cover
it or the legislation will cover it or that there is a
justification for the urgency. It is not “or” as
excluding one or the other; it is all three. Why that is
a good model, it strikes me: Here you have the
technical expertise of the department working for
Parliament, because it is through their good oYce
and expertise that Parliament is getting the
information, so Parliament wins/wins in both
examples. The department is led by the constitutional
principle, the department gets the money but gets it
through a scrutiny that ensures the money is debated

and discussed, and it is made public. If there is a
query about it or a doubt about it, as an economist
you will recognise the National Audit OYce is in
there like a shot saying, “Why did you ask for it this
time, when last year you could have been in the same
position, and you should have—you know, value for
money—recognised this problem?” It is very clear. It
is the transparency of it that is attractive. Why I think
it has come about is because uniquely Parliament was
able to enforce, through the Treasury, eVectively, and
through the accounting oYcer, the principle—
because the principle is so strong, you see.

Q305 Lord Peston: I understand your point, but
what worries me—and you are not unique in this kind
of approach to things—is that Parliament will then
spend all its time, plus departments, going back over
stuV which ministers want over and done with. If you
do that, then it may be a good idea but we will never
get any new legislation. To take an obvious example,
you will remember the all-seated stadium bill—I do
not think it was an emergency but it was one that was
in response to what they thought was a sort of crisis—
and the bill has one fatal flaw: the stadium has to have
nothing but seats but they forgot to put in that you
have to sit in the seats. There are various clubs,
Manchester United and Liverpool worst of all, where
the fans do not sit in the seats, which is bad for those
who would like to. But that is by the way. The real
point is that ministers do not go back to this because
they do not want to open the subject any more. Is that
not a consideration that you ought to reflect on a
little bit? They would like to get it over and done with.
The last thing ministers at the moment want is to go
back over the banking legislation.
Professor McEldowney: Or the Dangerous Dogs Act
1991.

Q306 Lord Peston: There you are. Is that not an
issue to be weighed in the balance as well?
Professor McEldowney: My response to that is that we
have to keep our head here. Five per cent of all bills
are urgency bills. That is a very small number.

Q307 Lord Peston: Yes.
Professor McEldowney: Going back over the bill, in a
way you are locating two thoughts together, are you
not? That transparency will give rise to much deeper
probing and therefore open up the bits does not
necessarily follow, I think. To a large extent the deficit
is that there just is not enough transparency. I do not
believe that the danger is that the Government is
going to find itself cluttered up with having to go
back over lots and lots of things simply because they
are being asked to be more robust. The answer would
be to be robust in the first place, get your argument
in, people around the table are going to listen to it, a
good argument is going to stand up, it is not going to
change. Do you see what I mean? I think there is a
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good argument for making it there and then and
making it detailed and in-depth.
Lord Peston: I am not disagreeing with you; I just
wanted to be sure I understood what you were saying.

Q308 Lord Rodgers of Quarry Bank: Looking at
your paper, paragraph 2.2 where you are talking
about the template, I wonder if you could perhaps
help me fully to understand what you mean. Would it
be fair to say that what you have in mind is oV-the-
peg legislation rather than bespoke legislation? Is
that a diVerence? If that is the case, perhaps you could
give some examples of how in practice this idea would
work. May I test against this? I was particularly
involved in Transport once upon a time, and a small
department, which is concerned, for example, with
problems about the Heathrow runway, about the
European Union and drivers’ hours, crises on the
railways, which are frequent, and accidents, say,
between oil tankers. They are very diVerent issues, it
seems to me, but there may be an emergency. What
would be the formula? With a template and therefore
the oV-the-peg legislation, do you sort of write in the
gaps? Can you manage to do that when the areas are
very diVerent?
Professor Miers: We had in mind here, Lord Rodgers,
is the notion of departments being asked the “What
if?” question. To take an example from transport:
“What if there is an accident at Milford Haven and
the consequence is that the harbour is swamped with
crude oil?” It seems to us that it would be quite
reasonable to expect the relevant department to have
addressed that question, and similarly questions
about Heathrow, to stick with transport for this
purpose. We would expect the department to address
that kind of “What if?” question, which is speculating
about then: “Do we have the powers that we would
need as a matter of law to do what we want to do in
order to address that problem?”—to close Heathrow,
or to close oV a runway, or to close shipping that goes
up and down the Irish Sea, or whatever it may be.
What I am doing here is just describing an internal
procedure. You look at the law—this is just what
counsel or solicitors might do—“Do we have the
power to do x?” This, of course, assumes that you can
predict the kinds of things that you might have to do
and so on. “No, we don’t have the power to do x” is
the answer. “Okay, we would need to have the power
to do x, and in order to do x we would need some
delegated legislation. We would need to cut across
some common law rights or we would need to dispose
of some settled expectations. We would need to do a
number of things that cut across what we would
regard as constitutionally important principles.”
What you are doing is creating not so much an oV-
the-peg company or oV-the-shelf company which is
going to deal specifically with that issue, but: “If we
want to deal with it, these are the kinds of
mechanisms in law that we are going to need. They
compromise certain things, but we are going to tell

you now what we think they might do,” and then
what we had in mind—and perhaps it moves on to a
later question—is that that could in turn be
scrutinised by, say, departmental select committees,
which would be a form of pre-legislative scrutiny.
They are not looking immediately at the exact
measure of what it is that the Department of
Transport wishes to do with regard to cleaning up an
oil slick in Milford Haven, but it would at least have
the opportunity to say, “If you are going to do this,
this is what you are going to do with shipping. This is
what you are going to have to do with people engaged
in the fishing activities round West Wales” and so on.
You will have had a form of pre-legislative scrutiny
which you do not have presently. Our suggestion is
that you will treat bills of this kind, as your
Committee has in our view rightly said, as if they were
bills of first-class constitutional importance, in the
same sort of category, that they required pre-
legislative scrutiny. I will pause there because there is
some more that would then follow from that. When
the bill then gets brought to Parliament—and it may
well be brought suddenly—at least Parliament would
have seen initially the structure that is now being
filled—the furniture that now is in the room, if you
like—that was identified on this previous occasion,
which might be some years ago.

Q309 Lord Rodgers of Quarry Bank: We refer here to
the fact that in 20 years we had 34 emergency bills.
You can say a lot of bills, but putting it the other way
round, you could say not very many bills if you take
away Northern Ireland. If you think how many
departments there are, a lot may not have any
emergency legislation at all. It sounds tidy to produce
the template but the reality is that we just have to
wait. The Legislation Committee and the draftsmen
have all the knowledge of the past. It does not take
very long to do the actual drafting, does it? If it is an
emergency, it has to be done quickly.
Professor McEldowney: My response to that is,
eVectively, to think about it this way: risk assessment
is part of good policymaking. We are suggesting that
the policymaking should also be linked to the
legislative process. That is the key point. Policies will
change, expectations may be unfulfilled and risks
may occur unforeseen, but it would be a mistake to
think that the policy people cannot put some input
into the enabling legislation that is required on the
day. We are hoping that by encouraging them to do
so, through the work of templating, you will provide
carrots to them because the quality of legislation will
be better and the country will feel that the public
interest, which is after all at the heart of this, is better
served. My feeling is that most civil servants are
aware of this within their departments and are only
too conscious of it. They do not necessarily have a
voice. That goes back to our point about the internal
system being silent if the external voice has not been
heard. The external voice is the parliamentary link.
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Q310 Lord Shaw of Northstead: Dealing with
contingency plans, if the department has these plans,
it is being suggested, as I understand it, that the plans
should be available for review by Parliament in some
form or another. In that case, I presume that would
be an examination by the specialist committees
dealing with those departments. Would that be the
same case for templates? Templates seem to me more
of a principle. Would it be more the duty of a
committee, say, such as this to examine the templates
in that case?
Professor Miers: Lord Shaw, I think the answer to that
is: Why not both? The specialist departmental select
committee would perhaps be in a better position,
though you could call witnesses, no doubt, to speak
to the particular matter—flooding, or an oil slick in
Milford Haven harbour, to take that example—but
the departmental select committee presumably would
be prima facie better informed in terms of that
particular kind of catastrophe and would no doubt
probe the department on the kinds of things in
substance that it wants to do. There is no reason, of
course, why that committee could not also test the
generic properties of the procedure. But that should
not, surely, stop this Committee from reviewing that,
if, as this Committee has clearly taken the view, it has
a responsibility for and wishes to examine proposals
by departments that do, as you put it in your annual
reports, “compromise the two p’s.” If these plans
would appear to compromise the two p’s, then it
would be entirely appropriate for this Committee to
look at them, of course.

Q311 Lord Shaw of Northstead: I am getting a bit
confused—I am probably really dense. What is the
diVerence between a template and a contingency
plan?
Professor Miers: By template we simply mean that you
need to address a sequence of questions with regard
to the legal powers that you will need to have in order
to meet a particular catastrophe. The contingency
plan would go broader than that: “It is going to cost
us £1 million to clean up this,” or “It is going to
require some other deployment of, say, the police.” A
contingency plan would have matters to do with
resources in it. It would go beyond the legal
requirements. Our focus is on the legal requirements
that this particular contingency would create.
Professor McEldowney: The template, Lord Shaw, is
the constitutional implications of the bill. That is the
point. It strikes me that not every bill will have such
constitutional implications. Some will, some will not,
but the fact that it is there seems to me to be—

Q312 Lord Shaw of Northstead: That will come to
this Committee.
Professor McEldowney: That comes to this
Committee, and it seems to me, as David mentioned
earlier, there is no reason why you cannot have two
committees looking at the same problem, specialist

and constitutional, but it is the constitutional
propriety that is at the heart of this.
Professor Miers: It lies here.
Professor McEldowney: It lies here, yes.

Q313 Lord Rowlands: It shows how diYcult it is to
identify which bills should be emergency bills. If you
look at the list we have, of the 34 we have, six were
treated in this House as non-emergency. In the
Commons they did and we did not. How can we
manage to reconcile all this?
Professor Miers: The question is: Did the department
recognise that what they were introducing was an
urgent/emergency/fast-track bill? If the department
recognised that it was, then it should have said so.
That is what we are saying. If the department did
recognise it but did not say so, it seems to us that that
is a breach of the ministerial code, of obligations to
Parliament, of any number of constitutional
conventions or certainly proprieties that, if that were
the case, your Committee, I would have thought,
would be extremely angry about.
Professor McEldowney: But the fact that there are
historical doubts, Lord Rowlands, does not suggest
that we cannot set out clear terms for the future. It
strikes me that that is an obligation that departments
should readily achieve in vetting through the thing.
They do it with human rights because they have been
educated in human rights. Previous to that, they did
not. Now we have that, it seems to me that the model
is there set.

Q314 Lord Rowlands: I expect pragmatism will
prevail.
Professor McEldowney: Yes.

Q315 Lord Morris of Aberavon: Do I gather
correctly from the combination of your answers that
what you are suggesting is pigeon holes of situations
in each department which might need emergency
legislation and templates to deal with them should
those occasions arise. Is that right?
Professor McEldowney: Yes.
Professor Miers: Yes. Although, perhaps to go back to
Lord Rodgers’ point, oV-the-shelf, it may be that the
template would be useable in a number of diVerent
circumstances. Implicit in Lord Rodgers’ question
was a cost to departments question, but costs could
be held if it had more than one use.

Q316 Lord Wallace of Tankerness: I think the
question I was going to ask has largely been
answered, but I am interested to know the extent to
which you think, when these templates are being
drawn up, you also need to have draft legislation.
How far down the line would you go to put them into
legislative form?
Professor Miers: I do not think you would necessarily
need the draft legislation at the time of the template.
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Q317 Lord Wallace of Tankerness: It would
principally just be principles.
Professor Miers: It is principles, yes. That is what you
are doing at this stage.

Q318 Lord Wallace of Tankerness: Some of the
examples that we have had, possibly even Dangerous
Dogs, are things which have been identified by
departments in advance and it has taken some public
event to trigger it.
Professor Miers: Exactly.

Q319 Lord Wallace of Tankerness: It perhaps should
have been in the legislative programme in any event
or at some point.
Professor McEldowney: I do not think it is because of
the busyness of Parliament or the policy of the
Government, the scheduling of the bill. But it strikes
me that the check-listing of these things encourages a
culture of constitutionalism which goes outside this
room into the very departments that are being
encouraged, educated in this way. I think that is
where the strength of the argument really is.
Professor Miers: With respect to the Dangerous Dogs
Act, attacks by dogs on individuals were not
unknown before.

Q 320 Lord Wallace of Tankerness: Yes, that is the
point.
Professor Miers: It is the point you are making.
Although it does not help very much the victims in
these instances, you might well ask the minister,
“Why did you not think about this earlier?” That I
think is what we are trying to say, that you ought to
have thought about this earlier. That is an obligation
on departments which is going to be costly, no doubt,
but it is an obligation on departments from which
there are benefits that flow—amongst other things:
the quality of the legislation, ultimately; meeting
scrutiny requirements here better, ultimately; and the
judge over your shoulder—ensuring that if you are
judicially reviewed then your answer is robust.
Professor McEldowney: Perhaps I could add to that a
thought that we had, one of these horrors, that the
logic of the argument might lead to something else,
which is that if you make the primary legislation so
diYcult to achieve in terms of quality and standard,
then the Government may go into secondary form to
deal with it. I suppose our answer to that was that the
robust way in which judicial review covers that still
encourages primary legislation. But we did think
quite hard about this, about encouraging
government to take best practice and not
discouraging them. It goes back to what Lord Morris
was concerned about and Lord Peston, that perhaps
if you put up too many obstacles, costs come into it,
and also the obduracy of government being asked to
go back over things they do not want to. In a sense,
that is where I think the balance issue came up.
Maybe it was not articulated in the right way or the

right form, but it was that sense that we have to have
an equilibrium between what is doable and what is
possible but the fundamental principles. This is, of
course, organic change. It will not happen overnight.
But it is better than just going with pragmatism,
which it has been in the past.

Q321 Chairman: Can I turn, professors, to the Civil
Contingencies Act. The order-making powers under
Part 2 do not appear to have been used. Do you think
that there are circumstances under which they might
or should have been used? Do you think the regime
as it currently exists is satisfactory? Do you think the
relationship with other legislation, other Acts of
Parliament, to the Civil Contingencies Act is
satisfactory as it stands?
Professor Miers: It is this question of looking for
negatives. OVhand, Chairman, I cannot think of
occasions on which it would have been appropriate to
have used the order-making power under Part 2. In
terms of the Act’s requirements, in terms of notice, in
terms of lapse, it seems to me to be sensible. It would
seem to be right. I think I am right in saying that
when the Government first put this through it was
going to put it through as though these orders would
have been primary.
Professor McEldowney: That is right.
Professor Miers: I think it was a consequence of
scrutiny that changed that, so that they are
reviewable. I do not think I have any answers I can
give you, Chairman, that says it is not a good act or
that it should have been used. I am sorry I cannot
help you on that.

Q322 Lord Rowlands: One concern that we have
been considering is that where a department has the
chance of a bit of emergency legislation and it has a
few clauses that it has been trying to get into other
bills time and time again, and they pull it out of the
drawer and slip it into the emergency bill. How much
of a concern should that be? In your scrutiny of
legislation, have you come across any such examples?
Professor Miers: Do you mean, Lord Rowlands,
slipping these clauses into a regular bill?

Q323 Lord Rowlands: Into an emergency bill, but
where you have clauses that are not directly related to
the emergency.
Professor Miers: Would that come within the scope of
the bill is the first question. Assuming that it did, our
response to that would be that if you had in place the
kind of structure that we are suggesting, then when
that bill comes to Parliament it would come with a set
of papers that clearly say from the department and in
the minister’s name, looking ahead to—

Q324 Lord Rowlands: Every one of these clauses is
an emergency.
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Professor Miers: Absolutely. Looking ahead to one of
the questions you have subsequently, and with some
kind of certification process, like a section 19 HRA:
“This is. . ..” and signed oV by the minister. So the
answer to your question, Lord Rowlands, is that
what we are suggesting would obviate that kind of
underhand, slightly naughty—

Q325 Lord Rowlands: Sleight of hand.
Professor Miers: Sleight of hand. Perhaps it is
unparliamentary to say “underhand”. Sleight of
hand.

Q326 Lord Woolf: Can I ask you about the obverse
side of the coin, where you have the situation that a
bill is making its normal way through both Houses,
and at a very late stage what is slipped in and is
justified on the grounds of emergency is quite an
important provision but it has bypassed all the
processes. Has that happened to your knowledge?
Professor Miers: Lord Woolf, I am not aware of any
bill of that kind. I think our answer to that would be
as I suggested in answer to Lord Rowlands. First of
all there is a scope question—so let us assume that
these clauses are within the scope of the bill—the
answer is, again, if you have a model such as we are
proposing, then the minister in respect of these
clauses that are now being introduced, let us say, in
this House, the bill having been introduced in the
Commons and cleared its Commons stages, would
have to produce a set of papers which say, “This is an
emergency clause, I am introducing it now
because. . . “ and it checks oV the matters to which we
have referred, and then it would be for this House to
determine whether it was prepared to accept that.
That seems to me to be what scrutiny is about.

Q327 Lord Pannick: Let us assume that the
contingency plans and the templates do not help
because the emergency is unforeseeable, or it is
simply not foreseen as a matter of practical politics,
or the emergency is simply unlike previous
emergencies—as they tend to be. What practical
procedure of safeguards do you then think would be
the most important for us to recommend? Do you
think sunset clauses serve a particularly valuable
purpose? Could you give us your views specifically on
the proposal—which some witnesses have said would
be a good idea and which some have said would not
make much diVerence in practice—that there should
be some statutory obligation similar to the Human
Rights Act obligation on the minister to certify that
there is an emergency and why. Those witnesses who
have told us it is a good idea have suggested that civil
servants would take that very seriously and it would
focus the minds of people. What do you think
about that?
Professor Miers: Lord Pannick, perhaps I could go
back a step and then come to the first part of your
question. Our thinking would be that the catastrophe

eventuates, so along comes the department saying
“We’ve had an oil slick in Milford Haven harbour, we
now need to do something about it. Here’s the plan
that we brought to Parliament three years ago, which
Parliament have scrutinised. This is what we propose
to do, but”—to take your point—“the nature and
scale of the oil slick is such that the composition of
the oil is such that we did not foresee that, so we are
going to need additional powers.” To that, we would
say, “In that event you still have to make a case why
you need these additional powers and check these oV
against the list in terms of delegated powers and so on
and so forth,” so it imposes, again, another form of
external scrutiny. In terms of sunset clauses, which
were used in the Anonymity Bill, I think these are
particularly important where the bill is addressing or
seeks to compromise, say, article 6 issues, as was the
case with that particular legislation, or, indeed,
perhaps any other ECHR matter—but the others are
requisitioning of private property, retrospective
legislation—although retrospectivity was part of that
bill as well. In any of those kinds of instances it would
be appropriate to recommend a sunset clause or
expect a sunset clause. Of course the beauty of a
sunset clause is that it allows Parliament, since now
you have a commitment from the minister, or the
secretary of state made that commitment at the time,
that a bill will be forthcoming which then will be
subject to scrutiny. Our other suggestion which you
may wish to touch on is that part of a commitment by
the department is to produce a review. Just staying
with the Witness Anonymity Act, for example, one
might want to look at whether it is possible to
conduct an eVective cross-examination with someone
whose voice is distorted, for instance. You would
expect a review of that kind to accompany the bill
that now seeks to place this on a permanent footing.
It may well be that the bill does something diVerent—
as I think it does. Again, you would have then proper
opportunity for what would amount to post-
legislative scrutiny. This, again, goes back to John’s
point of a virtuous circle of activity that is constantly
looking at: What have we done, why have we done it,
what is its impact? Pausing there, yes, I do agree that
there ought to be some kind of section 19 statement.
If you look at Scotland and Wales, which have
emergency provisions or Measures in the case of
Wales, both of them require declarations by the
promoting minister to the eVect that they are
emergencies.

Q328 Lord Pannick: Could I ask you about your
checklist. What you are saying is that Parliament
should be assured that there is no existing power and
that delegated powers will not do or do not exist, but
does that not happen already? Are you saying that
ministers do not say that already to Parliament, that
Parliament does not ask that question?
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Professor Miers: The OYce of the Parliamentary
Counsel has clear statements as to what they expect
departments to do and they do have a checklist which
relates to delegated legislation, ECHR statements,
EU commitments and so on. I think our point is that
these things do not appear, as it were, in one place.
Professor McEldowney: They do not appear as a
coherent whole.
Professor Miers: Yes, as a coherent statement of
principle.
Professor McEldowney: If you pull them all together,
as we have done, they are, as it were, joined up. To
join them up is the point. That is the point. We are not
reinventing the wheel: it is there. We are saying that
we are pulling together those bits that are already in
existence in some cases but making it possible for
everyone to see them.
Professor Miers: Yes. Clearly it would have been
improper for parliamentary counsel not to draw
delegated powers to the attention of the Legislation
Committee, but it is trying to produce a joined-up,
coherent set of principles. I think that is what we are
after and we think this Committee has been
working at.
Lord Pannick: Thank you very much.

Q329 Lord Norton of Louth: Do you see any special
role for the House of Lords in dealing with fast-track
legislation? You have already called attention to the
role of this Committee. Is there anything more the
House itself should be doing? Is there anything more
this Committee should be doing over and above what
you have already identified?
Professor McEldowney: In a sense that is where I go
back to the map, which I find tremendously helpful,
on the annual report. In a sense, what we wanted to
come up with was not a theoretical perspective on the
problem but a real practical one. If we look at the
flow chart, the bill of scrutiny, we see that at certain
points in asking these questions, “Are there
constitutional issues?” in a fast-track bill there is an
automatic presumption that there might be, you see,
and then automatically what kicks in are these
questions we have raised on the template. We have
added them in.
Professor Miers: You just amend your flow chart.
Professor McEldowney: We amended the flow chart to
see what it looked like. We wanted to work out a
scheme that we felt was consistent with existing
practice, would consolidate and further it, and in
many ways, I think, go back to a fundamental issue,
which is drilling down to the culture in departments
and in government, just as the Human Rights Act
had to do this. In a sense I think you do not have an
easy passage. It was primary legislation and therefore
everyone had to take account of it. What you are
trying to do is build in constitutional principles that
are not necessarily easy to accept or get wide
currency. This is our way of doing it.

Professor Miers: Lord Norton, we see that this
Committee is engaged upon an enhanced scrutiny
function. DPRR clearly does this job as well. But this
Committee is extremely well placed to engage in that
kind of overview: Are these bills, are departments—
at the expense of sounding pious about these things—
meeting the kinds of expectations we expect of good
government nowadays? That is basically the
question. Our sense is that the answer to that is
currently not in these cases.

Q330 Lord Norton of Louth: So we have to police the
principles which will then impact on the departments
themselves.
Professor Miers: Absolutely.

Q331 Lord Norton of Louth: So that they accept
them and take them as routine.
Professor Miers: Going back to our start point, we see
this not just as a matter to do with emergency bills; it
is a matter to do with all bills and the quality of
legislation overall. It just so happens emergency bills
just create particular problems, but there is no reason
why they are not manageable within this kind of
overall conception of what it is that departments
ought to be doing when preparing bills.

Q332 Lord Norton of Louth: That is really drawing
on Dawn Oliver’s work.
Professor Miers: It is drawing on her work, but also
this Committee’s work. She draws on that. She draws
attention to some analogies, as I know you know, in
Australia and New Zealand.
Professor McEldowney: Also, to reinforce that point,
Lord Norton, in the case of Northern Ireland which
we may have time to go on to, the fact that 40 per cent
of their bills are fast-tracked and that was pointed out
by this Committee, has, I can assure you, created a
question as to why that is so. In justification, the very
fact that that is raised is in fact the point we are
making: that the Committee can in fact have that
influence.

Q333 Chairman: You have been very generous with
your time, professors. Is there anything further you
would just like to say about Northern Ireland?
Professor McEldowney: Northern Ireland was a
puzzle to me because I did check that 40 per cent of
the legislation was being fast-tracked—as you know,
you can check it very easily and go through it. It came
to mind that there were some reasons for this. One
was that there was a need for some degree of parity
with UK legislation. The second was that clearly
there is a culture that arises from an existing practice,
and if that practice becomes embedded without being
questioned there are obvious dangers, so the
justification for it, at least, has now gone back to the
prima facie assumption: you have not the right to do
it until you can show—and this goes back to the
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template—that there is in fact a circle of control. That
I think is the point of what we are saying today.

Chairman: Very good. Professor Miers and Professor
McEldowney, thank you very much indeed on behalf
of the Committee for being with us and for the
evidence which you have given.
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WEDNESDAY 29 APRIL 2009

Present Goodlad, L (Chairman) Quin, B
Lyell of Markyate, L Rodgers of Quarry Bank, L
Morris of Aberavon, L Rowlands, L
Norton of Louth, L Shaw of Northstead, L
Pannick, L Woolf, L
Peston, L

Memorandum by the Leader of the House of Commons and the Leader of the House of Lords

Is it possible to provide a practical definition of “emergency legislation”? If so, what is it?

1. “Emergency legislation” is a term generally applied to bills which have an expedited passage through
Parliament, by cross-party agreement.

2. All primary legislation is subject to the same stages in both Houses of Parliament. Where there is agreement
between the usual channels that a bill should have Royal Assent by a particular date then progress through
these stages may be expedited.

3. The extent to which the passage of a bill may be expedited varies considerably. In some cases, there may
be an agreement to vary slightly the intervals between stages in one or other House. In other cases, more rarely,
a bill may be taken through all stages in both Houses in a single day.

What examples would you give of when emergency legislation has been approved by Parliament in the recent past? Was
the case for emergency legislation adequately made in such cases?

4. We consider in the following paragraphs three examples of bills passed, by agreement, to a shorter timetable
than usual.

Human Reproductive Cloning Act 2001

Lords Commons

1R 2R Com Rep 3R 1R 2R CwH 3R RA
26.11.01 29.11.01 4.12.01

5. The Bill was introduced in response to a High Court ruling that embryos produced by cell nuclear
replacement were not “embryos” within the meaning of the Human Fertilisation and Embryology Act 1990.1

The eVect of this was to place human reproductive cloning outside the scope of regulation by the Human
Fertilisation and Embryology Authority.

6. The ruling was unexpected. The Government had previously expressed the view that cloning fell within the
scope of the Act, as had the Human Genetics Advisory Commission and the Human Fertilisation and
Embryology Authority.

7. The Government was given leave to appeal but, given the length of the appeals process, there was an
apparent risk that human cloning could start to take place in the UK before the appeal was heard. Though
scientific opinion on the subject was divided, several researchers in other countries had announced the creation
of human clones and one of them had indicated his intention to carry out human cloning in the UK.

8. Parliament agreed to pass the Bill quickly in order to ensure that a step as significant as the legalisation of
human cloning did not happen as a consequence of a legal loophole.
1 R v Secretary of State for Health, ex parte Bruno Quintavalle [2001].
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The Criminal Evidence (Witness Anonymity) Act 2008

Commons Lords HC

1R 2R CwH 3R 1R 2R Com Rep 3R LAs RA
3.7.08 8.7.08 8.7.08 10.7.07 15.7.08 16.7.08 21.7.08

9. The Bill was introduced in response to a ruling by the House of Lords that the use of anonymous witnesses
in a specific case had hampered the conduct of the defence to the extent that the trial had been unfair.2 The
Law Lords ruled that there was not suYcient authority in common law to provide for the current arrangements
for the admission of anonymous evidence, and said that this was a matter for Parliament to deal with by
statute. This judgment was unexpected.

10. This raised the prospect of a number of convictions for serious oVences being overturned and could have
compromised a number of pending prosecutions. Within a few days of the judgement, the jury in a murder
trial which had depended on anonymous witnesses was discharged.

11. There was cross-party agreement on the need to legislate. The common law framework which had been
used to develop the use of anonymous witnesses had been found to be inadequate. There was also a need to
legislate quickly because the House of Lords judgment created a serious problem for judges in ongoing trials
and could have led to those trials collapsing.

The Banking (Special Provisions) Act 2008

Commons Lords HC

1R3 2R CwH 3R 1R 2R Com Rep 3R LAs RA
19.2.08 19.2.08 20.2.08 21.2.08 21.2.08 21.2.08

12. After the Government had decided and announced that it was necessary to take Northern Rock into
temporary public ownership, the Bill was introduced on an expedited timetable in order to allow the position
of the company to be resolved as quickly as possible. Extended uncertainty over who owned and ran Northern
Rock would have risked destabilising the company, risking a loss of confidence on the part of customers,
business counterparties or staV that might have led to substantial loss of value in the business or, worse, a
further run on the bank. This would have potentially triggered the sort of financial instability that the Bill was
intended to avert.

13. The powers in the Bill anticipated some aspects of the longer-term reforms on which the Government were
consulting at the time, and were framed so that they would be available, if needed, to address any further
problems that might arise in the banking and building society sectors pending implementation of those longer-
term reforms. The transfer powers were therefore subject to a sunset provision limiting their exercise to one
year from Royal Assent. This period was intended to provide suYcient time to complete the consultation that
was ongoing at that time and take forward the long-term proposals in the shape of the Banking Act 2009.

Was the nature of parliamentary scrutiny adequate in these cases?

14. Good scrutiny is an essential part of making good law. In some cases there is a need to balance the time
available for scrutiny against the need to legislate quickly. In each case, the amount of time available to
consider the bill is a matter for agreement within Parliament.

Under what circumstances is it constitutionally appropriate (or not appropriate) to bring forward emergency
legislation?

15. It is ultimately for Parliament to decide whether it is appropriate to expedite a piece of legislation. The
range of circumstances in which it might be necessary to expedite the passage of a bill is so great that it is not
possible to come up with a rigid set of criteria. The Government will only be able to do so by cross-party
agreement.
2 R v Davis [2008].
3 The Bill was published in draft on 17 February 2008.
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What parliamentary scrutiny should emergency legislation be subject to?

16. “Emergency” legislation is subject to the same parliamentary stages as any other legislation, but to a
shorter timetable. The Government will seek to make as much time as possible available for scrutiny, subject
to the need to achieve Royal Assent by a given date.

17. There may be steps which could enhance Parliamentary scrutiny of bills without lengthening the time
taken for their passage. Most bills, even those that are subject to an expedited procedure, are introduced before
the day on which they are taken in the first House, so it might be possible to make use of this interval to allow
for additional scrutiny by a select committee.

18. This happened in the case of the Criminal Evidence (Witness Anonymity) Bill, when the Joint Committee
on Human Rights took evidence on the Bill shortly before it was debated in the Commons.4

19. In some cases, such as the Banking (Special Provisions) Bill, it may be possible to make a bill available in
draft, even if this is only a few days before it is due to be considered in Parliament.

20. Legislation may be presented to address a situation which has been developing for some time, but where
the need for legislation has only recently developed. The House of Commons Treasury Committee conducted
extensive scrutiny of the situation with Northern Rock and the Government’s response to it before the Bill
was introduced. Though this was not direct scrutiny of the bill itself, it provided both Houses with analysis of
the policy which the bill implemented.

Should emergency legislation be subject to a renewal procedure or have a sunset clause? Are there any other
constitutional safeguards that should be considered?

21. The Parliamentary process is a constitutional safeguard in itself. The Government cannot expedite the
passage of legislation without agreement in Parliament that it is necessary or desirable to do so.

22. There are a number of mechanisms which may be used to provide ongoing scrutiny of an Act if Parliament
considers that it would be appropriate in the circumstances to do so. As well as sunset clauses, they include
reviews by an independent body such as those carried out by the Independent Reviewer under anti-terrorism
legislation and provisions for an Act or provisions in it to be renewed at regular intervals by statutory
instrument.

23. Suitability for sunset clauses and renewals procedure depends again on the nature of the legislation. The
fact that the passage of a bill is expedited does not, in and of itself, justify the inclusion of sunset or renewal
provisions. The case for sunset or renewal provisions must be considered on its merits in relation to each bill,
having regard to all the relevant circumstances.

24. There may be a case for making legislation which has been passed with unusual expedition subject to
earlier post-legislative scrutiny under the new arrangements which have recently been introduced. This might
involve, for example, an undertaking to publish post-legislative scrutiny memoranda after one or two years.

The order-making powers under Part 2 of the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 have not been used to date. Have there
been situations where these powers might have been used?

25. Through a combination of good preparedness, eVective response arrangements and the flexibility in the
existing legislative process it has not been necessary or proportionate to take emergency measures under the
CCA.

Do the scope and process of the order-making powers in the Civil Contingencies Act remain satisfactory?

26. The Government is satisfied that the powers in the Act are satisfactory for the purposes for which they are
intended.

27. The order-making powers in the CCA are by nature, broad and flexible to allow for emergency regulations
to be taken forward as appropriate across the spectrum of potential emergencies. The spectrum of potential
emergencies is reviewed annually as part of the process to produce the National Risk Assessment—a classified
cross-government document which assesses the impact and likelihood of the major risks, both hazards and
threats that the country could face over a five year period.

28. Based on this and lessons learned from exercises and actual emergencies, departments review the type of
powers that may be required so that the Government is able to respond quickly to an emergency—though the
measures needed in any given situation would be specific to the particular circumstances
4 Twenty-sixth Report of 2007–08, Legislative Scrutiny: Criminal Evidence (Witness Anonymity) Bill (HL 153, HC 950).
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Should “bespoke” emergency order-making powers created by other Acts of Parliament (such as those created by Part
3 of the Health and Social Care Act 2008) be based on Part 2 of the Civil Contingencies Act?

29. We consider the CCA model is a good one, but not necessarily applicable in all circumstances. Each case
should be considered on its merits.

March 2009

Memorandum by Department of Health

The Health and Social Care Act 2008 provides for a regime for dealing with a public health crisis.

Question 1: Can you outline the rationale for the wide-ranging order-making powers contained in part 3 of the Act?

1. Part 3 of the Health and Social Care Act 2008 updates the existing powers in the Public Health (Control
of Disease) Act 1984, by introducing a new Part 2A into the 1984 Act. The updates, when brought into force,
will mean that a justice of the peace (JP) may make an order in relation to a person, premises or thing, which
is, or may be, infected or contaminated, and orders in relation to tracing contacts with these persons, premises
or things. Under the existing law a JP may only order the medical examination, removal to a hospital, or
detention in hospital of a person with a “notifiable disease” (a listed disease that could present a human health
risk). The new provisions focus on risk from infection or contamination (chemical or radiological) rather than
on specific diseases, and are therefore more appropriate to deal with the threats of today’s world.

2. The Committee refers to the new arrangements as “wide-ranging”—in fact they simply add less intrusive,
more appropriate, alternative responses to the existing JP order-making powers. For example, it may be
suYcient to order a person to stay at home, with monitoring from the community nursing service, rather than
to order them to be detained in hospital. The new provisions enable the JP to make such an order.

3. The order-making powers enable action to be taken to deal with cases of infection or contamination
presenting significant harm to human health, if and when they arise. Part 3 of the Act also allows regulations
to be made imposing restrictions or requirements on a contingency basis, in the event of a serious and
imminent threat to public health.

Question 2: What safeguards exist to prevent misuse of these powers?

4. As well as the updated powers allowing JPs to order more proportional and appropriate action to protect
human health, the new provisions also introduce extensive safeguards to ensure that the rights of the
individuals, and any “aVected persons” are protected. The JP must be satisfied that four criteria are fulfilled
before they can make an order in relation to a person. These are that:

— the individual is or may be infected or contaminated,

— the infection or contamination is one which presents or could present significant harm to human
health,

— there is a risk that the individual might infect or contaminate others, and

— it is necessary to make the order to remove or reduce that risk.

5. As required by the new provisions (section 45G(7)), the Department of Health is currently preparing
regulations specifying what evidence is to be required to fulfil these criteria. A public consultation on a draft
version of these regulations will be held later this year prior to their being laid before the House in accordance
with the aYrmative procedure which is required by section 45M.

6. The new Part 2A provides that “aVected persons” may apply for variation or revocation of an order, and
sets out who those persons are for each type of order. In the case of an order about a person, the person
concerned, anyone with parental responsibility or a spouse or partner, or anyone living with the person as such,
is an aVected person.

7. Any JP order specifying that a person be detained in hospital or kept in isolation or quarantine is subject
to a strict time limit of 28 days and may only be extended by a further order, under section 45L(3).

8. We believe that the Act’s powers for JP orders are in accordance with the European Convention on Human
Rights (ECHR). JP orders may engage article 8 (right to private life) and article 1, protocol 1 (protection of
property) but interference with these rights can be justified under the terms of the ECHR where it is in
accordance with the law and necessary for the protection of health (private life) or in the public interest
(property). The necessity test which must be met before a JP makes an order assists in securing human rights
compliance.
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Question 3: The JCHR recommended that these powers should be amended to reflect the safeguards and limitations
of the Civil Contingencies Act 2004. Why was this recommendation not pursued?

9. Part 2A provides powers for regulations to be made in an emergency situation, to address a serious and
imminent threat to public health. Regulations imposing restrictions or requirements can only be made under
these powers if the appropriate Minister considers those restrictions or requirements to be proportionate to
the intended eVects. For all individuals who are subject to a special restriction or requirement under the
regulations, there must be a right of appeal to a magistrates’ court. (Some examples of a “special” restriction
or requirement are those requiring the person to be detained in hospital, to be kept in quarantine, to submit
to medical examination, or to be disinfected or decontaminated.)

10. Section 45R provides for an emergency parliamentary procedure in respect of regulations of this kind. The
emergency procedure may only be used if the regulations contain a declaration that it is necessary to make
them without the usual procedures applying, by reason of urgency.

11. The JCHR proposed amendments to the original Bill that were intended to align the procedures for such
emergency legislation with those of the Civil Contingencies Act (CCA). Amendments to this eVect were
debated in the House of Lords, but were withdrawn. The reasons for the Government’s case are given below.

12. In essence, the CCA provides that the Government may make certain emergency provisions by
regulations, where there is an “emergency” as defined by the CCA. Regulations made under the CCA will lapse
after seven days if not approved by Parliament. Parliament may make amendments to such regulations prior
to approval. The provisions of the CCA provide that if regulations are made under it when Parliament is
prorogued or adjourned for more than five days then Parliament must be recalled within that five day period
to debate the regulations.

13. In contrast, any regulations made under section 45R would lapse after 28 days if not approved by
Parliament (although they may be rejected earlier). There is no provision for amendment, only approval or
rejection. The 28-day period does not apply when Parliament is prorogued, dissolved or adjourned, and
section 45R does not require Parliament to be recalled to approve regulations made under it.

14. These diVerences are justified by the diVerent objectives of the two pieces of legislation. A possible scenario
would be where a SARS (severe acute respiratory syndrome)—type episode occurs in another country and the
Government is advised by scientific and medical experts to put immediate measures in place to allow for
quarantine, should the disease spread to England. Putting these measures in place does not mean they will need
to be used instantly. They might be needed the very next day or they may not be used at all (as with the
Canadian quarantine laws brought in to deal with SARS). Furthermore, a measure that is urgent will not
necessarily be highly intrusive. For example, the measure might be a requirement that a person visiting another
with a particular disease in hospital wear a mask.

15. Recalling Parliament to agree such measures would send the wrong signals to the public. In addition, the
Speaker and Lord Speaker may not agree that an urgent recall to debate such regulations is necessary if there
is a chance that the regulations may never be used. Nevertheless, it would be important that the provisions in
the regulations were available.

16. The Government believes that 28 days will allow enough time to arrange a debate in each House even
when the requirement specified by emergency regulations is urgent, yet minor in scope and eVect. In such cases,
debating whether the measure stays in force may not take priority over more pressing Parliamentary business.

17. There is no provision for amendment of regulations made under section 45R. If the Secretary of State were to
decide that regulations were needed under this urgent procedure, the decision would be taken following discussion
with experts in the relevant fields. Advice might be sought from experts at the Health Protection Agency, senior
doctors and scientists, and the World Health Organisation. The regulations laid would seek to implement the
measures recommended by these experts as necessary to deal with the public threat at hand. In such circumstances,
Parliament should be asked to accept the measures in full or to reject them, rather than to amend expert advice.

Department of Health

March 2009
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Letter from Alan Campbell MP, Parliamentary under Secretary of State

Thank you for your letter of 2 April in relation to your inquiry into emergency (or accelerated) legislation.
You asked for written evidence on five points related to delegated legislation.

(a) Can you give some examples of situations in which the Home Office has needed to make delegated legislation with
great urgency?

In relation to terrorism legislation, one example relates to the implementation of the Prevention of Terrorism
Act 2005. This Act was passed by Parliament in response to the House of Lords decision in A and others v
Secretary of State for the Home Department in December 2004. In this case, the House of Lords held that the
power under which certain persons suspected of terrorism were being detained was incompatible with the
European Convention on Humans Rights.

The Prevention of Terrorism Act 2005 created the control orders regime and came into force on Royal Assent
on 11 March 2005. The Civil Procedure (Amendment No.2) Rules 2005 (S.1. 2005/656) were made as part of
the implementation of the Act. They inserted a new Part 76 into the Civil Procedure Rules to cover proceedings
under the 2005 Act. They were made and came into force on 11 March and were then laid before Parliament
on 14 March 2005. These Rules needed to come into force immediately to deal with proceedings relating to
control orders.

Another area in which urgent delegated legislation may be required is immigration, where key operational
policies are set out in the Immigration Rules. These are not technically “delegated legislation”, but they cover
some ground which might be dealt with in SIs in other contexts. Changes to the Rules generally comply with
the “21 day rule” and come into force 21 days after the day on which they are made (as is the case for delegated
legislation subject to the negative resolution procedure) but they can come into force immediately if
circumstances require. For example, if the Rules are to be changed to impose a new visa requirement, they
could come into force on the day on which they are laid to prevent a rush to enter the country before the visa
requirement takes eVect.

(b) What practical and legal difficulties might the Home Office face when seeking to make delegated legislation
urgently?

In seeking to make delegated legislation urgently, the Home OYce might in theory face the following
diYculties (although we do not have any examples where these issues have arisen).

— Having insuYcient vires to make the legislation—this may be a problem where the delegated
legislation is required to address novel circumstances which were not envisaged when the enabling Act
was passed.

— The applicable Parliamentary procedure not permitting the legislation to come into force as soon as
is needed—for example, the delegated legislation may be subject to the aYrmative procedure, but this
can require around six weeks from the date of laying to the date of coming into force.

— Having insuYcient time to consider all aspects of the policy and assess its impact, to consult, and to
draft the legislation—whilst clearly undesirable, this may be a reality in a case where urgent legislation
is required.

(c) During the passage of the Banking (Special Provisions) Bill, there was some debate as to whether an enabling
provision in primary legislation should specify a negative or affirmative resolution procedure where a Department
anticipated a future need to make delegated legislation with considerable urgency (see Delegated Powers and Regulatory
Reform Committee, 5th Report of 2007–08, HL 58). Does the Home Office have a view on this generally?

If it is envisaged that delegated legislation is likely to be needed to be made on an urgent basis, then the
enabling legislation can be drafted in such a way as to take account of this. Two examples from Home OYce
policy are terrorism and immigration.

Under the Terrorism Act 2000, certain powers which are normally subject to the aYrmative procedure can be
exercised on an emergency basis. For example, section 3 contains a power to proscribe terrorist organisations
which is ordinarily subject to the aYrmative procedure. However, this power can be exercised without the
order having been approved by both Houses of Parliament if the Secretary of State is of the opinion that it is
necessary by reason of urgency (see section 123(5) of the Act). Such an urgent order ceases to have eVect at
the end of the period of 40 days beginning with the day on which the Secretary of State makes the order, unless
a resolution approving the order is passed by each House during that period.
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In relation to immigration, the procedure for Parliamentary scrutiny of the Immigration Rules ensures both
that necessary changes to the Rules can be made immediately (Parliament does not have to be sitting when
changes are made) and that subsequent disapproval of the Rules does not leave a vacuum (disapproved Rules
remain in force until the Secretary of State lays—within 40 days—a statement of further changes). These
arrangements are set out in section 3(2) of the Immigration Act 1971.

(d) Have situations ever arisen in which the Home Office identified a need to make delegated legislation but was delayed
from doing so because of a parliamentary recess or because Parliament stood prorogued?

In relation to immigration legislation, there are two situations in which the Home OYce has been unable (or
would have been unable) to make delegated legislation because Parliament was in recess. The first relates to
the Borders, Citizenship and Immigration Bill which is currently before Parliament. Part 1 of that Bill provides
for the integration of immigration and customs functions at the border. It deals with the application of the
relevant provisions of the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 to designated customs oYcials and in the
Bill on introduction, these provisions were to be applied by delegated legislation. The Government is keen to
implement Part 1 as soon as possible and hopes for Royal Assent before the summer recess. However, there
was a recognition that it would be very diYcult to ensure that the necessary orders could be made in whatever
period there will be between Royal Assent and Parliament rising. Therefore, in order to avoid a delay of some
three months, the Bill has been amended to include the necessary provisions in the Bill itself.

The second situation relates to regulations setting out fees payable. The Immigration and Nationality (Fees)
(Amendment No.2) Regulations 2008 (S.1. 2008/1695) exempted nationals of states which have ratified the
Council of Europe Social Charter from certain fees. These Regulations were subject to the draft aYrmative
procedure and were made on 26 June 2008, coming into force on 30 June 2008. Soon after these regulations
came into force, further adjustments were found to be necessary but, due to the summer recess, they had to
wait until the Immigration and Nationality (Fees) (Amendment No.3) Regulations (S.1. 2008/3017) could be
made at the end of November 2008.

(e) Do you have any suggestions for reform of the process of making delegated legislation in response to urgent situations?

DiYculties could arise where an instrument which is subject to the draft aYrmative procedure is required to
be made on an urgent basis.

For cases where the instrument is required to be made while Parliament is sitting, there needs to continue to
be suYcient flexibility for the instrument to be made as soon as possible. The Joint Committee on Statutory
Instruments could consider the instrument on an urgent basis, and subject to the Business Managers finding
Parliamentary time, the instrument could then be debated and made.

For cases where the instrument is required to be made while Parliament is in recess, then there would seem to
be only two ways of dealing with the issue. Either Parliament could be recalled, or Parliament could (in
advance) enact a general power to enable any draft aYrmative instrument to be made without Parliamentary
approval, subject to a subsequent aYrmative vote in each House (following the approach taken in the
Terrorism Act 2000, mentioned above). I mention this latter option only as a theoretical possibility. It would
clearly be a significant new power and would in any event require primary legislation.

23 April 2009

Examination of Witnesses

Witnesses: Baroness Royall of Blaisdon, a Member of the House, Leader of the House of Lords, and Chris
Bryant MP, Deputy Leader of the House of Commons, examined.

Q334 Chairman: Lord President, Mr Bryant, may I
welcome you most warmly on behalf of the
Committee and thank you very much indeed for
joining us this morning. We are being audio recorded.
Could I ask you, please, to formally identify
yourselves simply for the record and then thereafter
to make a brief opening statement if you so wish.
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: Baroness Royall of
Blaisdon, Leader of the House of Lords and Lord
President of the Council.
Chris Bryant: I am Chris Bryant. I am Deputy Leader
of the House of Commons and MP for the Rhondda.

Q335 Chairman: Lord President, did you want to say
a few words by way of introduction?
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: My Lord Chairman, My
Lords, perhaps I may make a brief opening statement
putting into context the written submission that the
Leader of the House of Commons and I have already
provided you with. It is a great pleasure, of course, to
appear before this Committee and we are both
grateful for the opportunity to contribute evidence to
your timely inquiry on emergency legislation. Our
view is that it is diYcult to apply precise categories for
emergency legislation. It is a term generally applied
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29 April 2009 Baroness Royall of Blaisdon and Chris Bryant MP

to bills which have an expedited passage through
Parliament. The extent of the expedition has varied
greatly, depending on the need, but in all cases it is
done through cross-party agreement and all such bills
have been subject to the same stages as other bills in
both Houses. Bills are expedited in this way only
because there is cross-party agreement on a deadline
for Royal Assent. Reasons for such a deadline can
vary, as can the amount of time available for the
stages of parliamentary scrutiny depending on real
world circumstances. Historically these reasons have
included the need to respond quickly to court
judgments, real world crises or the discovery of gaps
in existing statute law, but this is not a prescriptive
list. In all cases, ensuring the maximum possible
degree of parliamentary scrutiny is paramount in
such circumstances. Both Chris and I regard it as
being a key facet of our roles as business managers
within government to uphold the rights and
legitimate expectations of both Houses in the
legislative process and this will continue to be the
case. We of course look forward to your questions.

Q336 Chairman: Lord President, thank you very
much indeed. Perhaps I could kick oV by asking you
to expand more specifically on what you have said in
your very, very helpful opening statement. In the
written submission which you kindly sent to the
Committee you said that “the range of circumstances
in which it might be necessary to expedite the passage
of a bill is so great that it is not possible to come up
with a rigid set of criteria.” Could you say what you
think the circumstances are that make it justifiable for
the Government to seek to fast-track bills through
Parliament? What constitutional principles or
conventions (if any) ought to inform parliamentary
consideration of whether to give a bill an accelerated
passage?
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: Constitutionally I do not
think that an expedited bill is any diVerent from any
other bill which is passing through Parliament. An
expedited bill merely means that the timing is
diVerent, but it still has to go through the same
legislative process as any other bill, therefore I do not
think that constitutionally there is any diVerence. In
what circumstances? I think it is extremely diYcult to
define the circumstances because who knows what
the circumstances might be. I have mentioned already
that sometimes we have to respond to court
judgments, as, indeed, we did with the Criminal
Evidence (Witness Anonymity) Act 2008. Sometimes
it might be to respond to world economic crises, as
with the Banking (Special Provisions) Act 2008; and
sometimes it might be in relation to the discovery of
gaps in existing statute law. I think it is very
diYcult—and not only diYcult but I think it would
be wrong—to define circumstances because
expeditious legislation or emergency legislation is

there precisely to react to certain circumstances which
by their very nature are indefinable.

Q337 Chairman: Thank you, Lord President. Do
you have anything further?
Chris Bryant: The only thing I would add is that in
the House of Commons we have to have an
allocation of time motion for us to be able to proceed
in the first place, and during that debate, inevitably,
the whole nature of the discussion is whether or not
we should be expediting this particular piece of
legislation and the Government has to defend its
argument. I think we also rely very heavily on the fact
that in your House you have to work by cross-party
consensus, so that is a very important sort of stricture
on us. We have our process through the allocation of
time motion and you have your process through the
cross-party consensus that you have to achieve that
makes sure there is a constitutional certainty about
the way we proceed with expedited legislation.

Q338 Lord Woolf: Over the past 20 years, we
understand, there have been about 34 bills that have
been fast-tracked. Obviously that is a very small
percentage, which does suggest that it is being
properly used, but what are your views about the
number of bills? When you are deciding a question of
whether it is to be expedited or not, is it the bill as a
whole which you consider or is it sometimes just put
on a particular provision?
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: You are absolutely right,
My Lord, that in fact it is only a very small
percentage. As I understand it, there have been over
900 Acts of Parliament passed in the last 20 years, so
34 is a relatively small amount. I cannot remember
the exact number, but about 11 of those relate to
Northern Ireland, and of course, with the Northern
Ireland Peace Process, that has meant that there have
had to be a lot more emergency Northern Ireland bills
than one would necessarily have expected. Is this the
right number? Is this the right percentage? Only time
will tell. It is very diYcult to know what would have
happened if those bills had not been expedited;
therefore it is very diYcult to judge whether or not
that was the right percentage.

Q339 Lord Morris of Aberavon: Lord President, I
have read with very great interest the most helpful
memorandum from the Leaders of both Houses. If I
may say so, it is an excellent document. Lord
Goodlad has put to you the relevant paragraph,
paragraph 15 of the memorandum, which we have
also put to other witnesses, and it seems to me, and I
would like your observations on it, that it is an open-
ended criterion: anything the Government thinks
with the agreement of the other parties is good for the
course. There are no limitations. Would that be right?
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Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: Yes. I think I would
agree, My Lord, that it is by necessity open-ended,
because if one were to put strictures on it that might
be very dangerous because a situation might arise in
which expedited legislation was necessary and it
would be diYcult, if not impossible, to put forward
that legislation precisely because limits had been set.

Q340 Lord Morris of Aberavon: So this Committee
really would be wasting its time if it tried to define
circumstances. I go back in history and we have spent
a lot of time looking at the Dangerous Dogs Bill and
the legislation in which I was involved after the
Omagh disaster. Is there a sort of political imperative
that something must be seen to be done that
sometimes motivates emergency legislation?
Chris Bryant: I would draw a slight distinction, My
Lord, if I might, between what you yourself said,
which is that once the Government thinks it is a good
idea and it persuades the opposition then it is okay
and say that we have very strong checks and balances
in the constitutional settlement that we have between
the two Houses that means that it is only Parliament
that in the end decides whether we should be
expediting legislation. I think to limit Parliament by
saying that this could only apply in certain categories
would be a mistake, because there would just come a
time when Parliament might have to say “I’m sorry,
we got this wrong, let’s revisit it.” Of course a lot of
these things are proceeding by convention. The
amount of time between each stage and so on are all
by convention, but I think they have served us pretty
well in making sure that we have the checks and
balances that are necessary.

Q341 Lord Morris of Aberavon: Would you agree
that we would be wasting our time in trying to define
circumstances?
Chris Bryant: I am very hesitant to tell you that you
would be wasting your time, My Lords!

Q342 Lord Morris of Aberavon: I have done a lot of
that in my time.
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: Perhaps I could add that
I think the exercise in which this Committee is
currently engaged is an invaluable stock-taking. I
think it is very necessary for Parliament to look at
procedures from time to time and to see whether or
not procedures have been properly used, if they have
been abused, but I would strongly counsel against, if
I might be so bold, the Committee setting criteria. I
think it would ill-serve government.
Chris Bryant: It might just be worthwhile my saying,
as a business manager, that in the Commons the
Leader of the House and myself are very aware that
if we have any of these issues of the amount of time
allocated to a bill wrong, we will know that very, very
swiftly. The Whips will know that from their opposite

numbers. I know there is a former Chief Whip from
the Commons amongst your midst anyway, but he
has moved on to much greater things now. Many of
you will know those processes, but on top of that, in
the Chamber, when it comes to business questions
every Thursday, the Leader of the House has to
defend the amount of time that is allocated. I think
that is a pretty good convention. For the most part,
when the whole of the Chamber howls, the Leader of
the House gives way.

Q343 Lord Rowlands: Two things come running
through your submission. One is this theme that
Parliament has to agree and the second is that there
has to be cross-party agreement. I would like to
explore both of them for just a second. Mr Bryant
said there is a Commons procedure called the
allocation of time. There is a Lords procedure which
is that you have to put a motion down to suspend the
standing orders. To your knowledge has there been
any occasion when in fact Members of this House
have wanted to debate that motion and possibly
debate or vote on it?
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: To my knowledge there is
not. I may be wrong, and if I am I will certainly come
back to you, My Lords. I think it is an issue which we
as a House should look at closely. I know that this
Committee is looking at ways—and I am sure you
will come on to it later, My Lords—whereby perhaps
the Government could/should be more open or more
open to discussion about timetables on expedited
legislation. To date, when the motion is put before the
House it usually just goes through, which from a
business manager’s perspective is absolutely great,
and it obviously reflects the agreement which has
been made between the usual channels, but of course
it is open to any Member of the House to speak to
that motion, and perhaps that is something the
Committee should look at.

Q344 Lord Rowlands: As I understand the process
now, you seek all-party agreement, and the first thing
you do is to fix the date of Royal Assent and then
work back from that. You look at how expedited the
legislation has been from the date on which you
decide you want Royal Assent. What determines the
date of Royal Assent? You say, “We have to have the
bill by this particular date” and that is where you
start from, I gather. Is that right?
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: It is.
Chris Bryant: This was not a piece of emergency
legislation but just one incidence which I think might
help in the discussion. On the Criminal Justice and
Immigration Act last year we had to have Royal
Assent in time to deal with the issue of prison oYcers
and whether they could strike, and it was necessary,
in order to allow suYcient debate on some elements
of the bill, to ditch some of the other elements of the
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bill. So there will be moments when we are time-
limited by a factor which is outside government or
Parliament’s control. That is when the decision about
the Royal Assent date is absolutely key to us. Also,
for instance, on the Northern Ireland Act this year,
though there was quite a bit of discussion in the
House of Commons about whether there was a real
need to proceed precisely to this timetable,
nonetheless there was a very strong feeling that we
had to make it possible for the Northern Ireland
Assembly to put together its legislation for a new
Justice Department if they wanted to, so that we
could then do the next stage through Parliament of
the necessary orders by the summer recess. Again
that is what helped determine when we thought we
needed Royal Assent.

Q345 Lord Rowlands: I am curious, because you
make such a point about the date of Royal Assent, as
it were, being the starting point of an agreement
between the parties, as to how you fix that date. What
are the specific factors that fix that date?
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: If we discover that there
is a gap in existing statute law, we know that from a
certain date the Government is going to be
contravening a law, as it were, therefore we have to
ensure that we comply with the law before we are in
contravention of the law.

Q346 Lord Rowlands: Compliance.
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: Compliance. We have to
comply with the law.
Chris Bryant: Sometimes what they really mean is “as
soon as possible” having made sure that parties are
content that we are able to give it enough legislative
time to be able to consider the legislation properly.

Q347 Lord Shaw of Northstead: Sir Joseph Pilling
told us that “it may be a mistake to look at this issue
as a choice between the expedited or emergency
procedure and the normal procedure. There may be
an issue to be explored about how expedited and how
emergency, as it were, the procedure ought to be.” In
other words, is there possibly a halfway stage or can
the brake be applied or lessened during the process of
the bill? If one takes up that point, if in fact the
Government has a large majority, cannot it rule over
any pre-arranged procedure and carry on with its
majority?
Chris Bryant: We have a majority in our House—and
long may that continue—but we do not in your
House, and so we as business managers (the four
business managers: the Chief Whip and the Leader in
the Lords, and the same in the House of Commons)
meet on a regular basis, and a major part of the
consideration is what will the House of Lords want
out of this process. What will the cross-party
consensus want out of this? It is worth saying that

“cross-party” in the Commons means something
slightly diVerent from in the Lords, not least because
quite often the people who are least happy with
arrangements on emergency legislation are members
of the Government’s backbenches who have not
necessarily been involved in the process of
determining that timetable. But, again, the Leader of
the House has to defend the argument on the floor of
the House and then there is a vote.
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: In relation to the amount
of time devoted to each bill, this diVers according to
the complexity and sometimes the controversy
surrounding such a bill. With the Northern Ireland
Bill earlier in this session, in the House of Lords we
spent 4 hours 48 minutes and in the House of
Commons 6 hours and 29 minutes, whereas on the
Banking (Special Provisions) Bill we spent 11 hours
and 9 minutes in the House of Lords and 9 hours and
58 minutes in the House of Commons, because of
course that was a much longer, more complex, and in
many ways a much more controversial bill. The time
devoted does depend on the bill itself.
Chris Bryant: Also, in the case of the Banking
(Special Provisions) Bill there were Government
amendments which were introduced in the Lords and
there were no amendments introduced in the
Commons. There was pretty much unanimity about
the need for those amendments but it meant that it
was necessary to have further time.
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: The Government
amendments were introduced, if I might add, My
Lords, as a consequence of the debate. They were
consensual amendments which arose as a
consequence of the demands, as it were, of the
opposition parties.

Q348 Lord Peston: In the case of a number of these
bills, would they not have happened whether we had
to rush them through or not, and, therefore, if we had
considered them more slowly and carefully we would
have ended up with a better bill? In other words, do
we not have a danger of a kind of Gresham’s law here,
that bad bills drive out good? It is all very well to say,
“Well, we can come back to it,” but we all know that
in practice it is very hard to come back. To take the
Banking Bill—which I know we had to have because
of an economic crisis—it is a very faulty bill. Clearly
anybody looking through economic policy, as I do,
knows that the banks are not doing what we want
them to do by a million miles. It looks as if there is not
the slightest chance that we are going to have another
banking bill within the foreseeable future. Is not one
of the things that ought to be weighed in the
balance—and for all we know is, which is what I
would like your opinion on—that if we use special
time for a bill we are in danger, whilst saving the
immediate situation, of doing some longer term
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damage? Are there not long-term costs that have to
be borne in mind?
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: I do not think, My Lords,
there is necessarily a corollary between a bad piece of
legislation and an expedited piece of legislation.

Q349 Lord Peston: I am sorry, I do not mean bad; I
mean not as good as it should be.
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: Okay. I take that point on
board, My Lord. I guess any piece of legislation can
always be improved. Of course it is correct that there
is not as much time for scrutiny with expedited
legislation. Neither is there as much time to gather
the information which is often provided by outside
bodies, et cetera, et cetera. However, the noble Lord
cites the Banking (Special Provisions) Bill and I am
sure that that could have been perhaps better than it
was, but there are other pieces of legislation which
have been expedited which I think have been very
good pieces of legislation.
Chris Bryant: The Government would prefer, full
stop, not to have to expedite legislation and that
should be the assumption of our constitutional
settlement. That is the basis upon which we proceed,
which is why we have all the conventions that we have
about the time between each stage and so on. I am
intrigued. Baroness Royall has already mentioned
the figures from the Northern Ireland Bill, where we
ended up spending more time in the House of
Commons than in the House of Lords, but that was
with an allocation of time motion, whereas in the
House of Lords you did not have such timetabling. I
think sometimes a piece of legislation may not be as
good as it could be but we have to balance the need
for swift action against whether we are doing
detriment to the quality of the legislation that is so
significant that we would have been better to have
taken more time. In the Banking (Special Provisions)
Bill case I think we have been proven right.
Prevarication would have undone us.

Q350 Lord Peston: We had to have a bill done—I am
not denying that—but I would like to see when we are
going to have another banking bill and I do not see it
for quite some time.
Chris Bryant: Who knows?

Q351 Baroness Quin: I am trying to clarify a little bit
the nature of the cross-party agreement. If you take
something like the Banking Bill, it was controversial,
and I think it was voted against by the opposition in
the Commons. Presumably the cross-party
agreement is on the fact that legislation is needed to
deal with a particular situation and that a timetable
is agreed, but, beyond that, politics comes into it, as
ever, and there are disagreements. Are there any
examples of bills that you know of under the
emergency procedure, either under the present

government or indeed the previous governments,
where there has not been cross-party agreement on
(a) the need for the legislation and (b) the timetabling
of it?
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: To my knowledge there
has not been, but I may well be wrong. I cannot
imagine how one would succeed in getting either the
process underway or in getting the piece of legislation
if there were not cross-party agreement. Certainly
from the House of Lords’ perspective it would be
impossible.
Chris Bryant: In the Commons I cannot see how that
could happen. I could see that there would be
ferocious debates, but any political party is then
faced with the issue of: “So, are you really saying that
we should not be legislating in this area or at an
expedited pace?” There are very, very regular
conversations between the “usual channels,” between
the Whips, about every piece of legislation as it goes
through and, if a committee stage ends on a Tuesday,
whether it is all right by the House to bring forward
the remaining stages a week and a half later, the
following Monday, or not if there has been a bank
holiday in between, and so on. I would say that the
relationship between the Whips’ oYces in the House
of Commons is pretty emotionally intense.

Q352 Baroness Quin: Even if a government had, like
in 1997, a very substantial majority and it wanted to
bring something in because it felt it was important,
even though somehow or other this was being
objected to by the other parties, are you saying that,
in order not to jeopardise the normal functioning of
the usual channels, the Whips’ oYces and so on, a
government even in that position would not go
ahead? Maybe there just are not any examples, but I
am trying to get to the point where a government has
a huge majority and it sees something is important
even though the other parties are objecting to it.
Chris Bryant: We might have a huge majority in the
Commons but I think, almost immediately, if the
business managers in the Commons were to seek to
use an expedited process on a bill in the Commons
and then to try to get one through in the House of
Lords, the Lords’ business managers would say, “We
just couldn’t get that through.” It would mean that
(a) there would be a process story about this piece of
legislation which would be unhelpful and would hide
the policy which you are trying to deal with, and
(b)—and I am treading on my colleague’s toes here—
would completely skew the processes in the House of
Lords, and that consensual basis is, as I understand
it, absolutely essential to the way you do your
business, and so we would be told, “No way, José.”
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: I also think that by their
very nature, because expedited bills are a reaction to
certain circumstances, they tend to be bills in which
we can find consensus. They are not political in the



Processed: 07-07-2009 19:27:11 Page Layout: LOENEW [E] PPSysB Job: 427327 Unit: PAG8

138 emergency legislation, constitution committee: evidence

29 April 2009 Baroness Royall of Blaisdon and Chris Bryant MP

usual sense of the word because a circumstance has
arisen and most people would agree that there has to
be a response to those circumstances.

Q353 Lord Rodgers of Quarry Bank: On the
question of expediting emergency legislation, both
preparation and in debate, a proposition was given to
this Committee by Professors Miers and
McEldowney where they suggested there should be a
template for emergency powers and the idea of
having what was referred to as “oV the peg” draft
legislation against any other way; in other words, you
would have a pattern, it would be discussed between
a select committee of the Commons. As I understood
it, if the occasion arose, there would be a minor
amount of redrafting because a formula was there. I
do not know whether this is a new proposition and
whether you have been aware of it before. Does it
make any sense to you?
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: I cannot say that I, My
Lords, have heard of such a suggestion. In drafting
bills, there is, I am sure, a clear departmental
procedure and Parliamentary Counsel clearly has a
clear procedure already. I am not sure whether or not
a template, as it were, would assist. There are already
procedures there, and I cannot think what a template,
as it were, would add to those procedures which
already exist.
Chris Bryant: I also cannot see how a template could
cover the Human Reproductive Cloning Act 2001
and the Criminal Evidence (Witness Anonymity) Act
2008. They both arose from a similar problem, which
was a legal problem in the courts, but I cannot see
how a pro forma would meet the needs.

Q354 Lord Rodgers of Quarry Bank: Is there a
commonality, do you think, between emergency
legislation? Is there anything common to the
characteristics, except that it was necessary very
soon?
Chris Bryant: I think all we are really saying is that
there is not properly speaking, except in relation to
the Civil Contingencies Act, anything that is
emergency legislation. We do have situations where
Parliament decides, granted the checks and balances
that we have both already mentioned, that it is
necessary to expedite the process and to take stages in
the two Houses more swiftly than usual. I might just
say, My Lords, I think there is one area, particularly
in the Commons, where there is a problem with
expediting legislation, which is where we have to take
all stages in one day, because it means that it is
diYcult to table amendments after second reading. In
the Commons we have had a standing order change
to allow us to table amendments before second
reading, but that is not ideal because quite often a
Member will say, “I’m sorry, I didn’t know what you
really meant by this bill until I heard the second

reading debate.” We have made an undertaking in the
Commons that we will do our level best to make sure
that, even if there is just a day between second reading
and remaining stages, we will try to do that in the
future.
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: My Lords, as the noble
Lords will know, it is our practice in the Lords not to
do all stages on one day.
Chris Bryant: We learn from you sometimes.
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: Excellent.

Q355 Lord Norton of Louth: To pursue a point
touched upon by Lady Quin in relation to cross-party
agreement, you have stressed that you proceed on the
basis of cross-party agreement. I really want to tease
out how you are defining that term, because cross-
party is not necessarily the same as all-party. How
encompassing is cross-party agreement? Is it
suYcient, say, if you have opposition agreement, or
do you try to encompass all parties before
proceeding?
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: In the House of Lords it
means the Conservative Party, the Liberal Democrats
and the cross-benchers.
Chris Bryant: It is rather more complicated in the
House of Commons. Because the two main parties
are in such substantial numbers, we do try to make
sure that that relationship is established first with the
OYcial Opposition and with the Liberal Democrats,
but also with the smaller parties, in particular in
relation to Northern Ireland legislation. Obviously it
is very important that we are able to make sure that
they are at least not very discontent. I have only been
in this job for a few months, but I have noticed
already that sometimes people who say that they are
very discontent in the Chamber, afterwards, in
private, are less discontent, and, indeed, quite happy.

Q356 Lord Norton of Louth: Essentially, there are no
veto players, in the sense that if the opposition, say
the Liberal Democrats, are in agreement, you would
not regard any other parties, say, as being able to
exercise a veto in proceeding with expedited passage.
Chris Bryant: No, there is not a veto. There is not in
the House of Commons. In the end, we have a debate
and a vote, if necessary. We do not proceed entirely by
consensus. But we do understand that when it goes to
the Lords we will have to be proceeding by consensus.
That is always part of the business managers’
decision-making process.
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: In the House of Lords, we
begin our discussions with the Conservatives because
they are the major opposition party, but then we go
on to the Liberal Democrats and the cross-benchers.
Chris Bryant: Always at my back I hear, “The House
of Lords is drawing near.”
Chairman: At times we share it.
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Q357 Lord Rowlands: I noticed in the list of bills that
we put at the back of the questions, and there are
some 30 of them, all of those bills were carried in one
day in the Commons but there are six of them that
went through the usual processes in the Lords. Does
that not cast some doubt on the ability of the fast-
track approach in the Commons, that six out of these
bills went through the usual processes and were not
fast-tracked at all in this place?
Chris Bryant: We have made a commitment in the
House already to do as much as we can on this issue
of allowing people to be able to table amendments
properly after second reading than before.

Q358 Lord Rowlands: There are six bills here that
were not expedited at all in the Lords which went
through the Commons in one day, including the
Dangerous Dogs Bill and the Aggravated Vehicle-
Taking Bill. What is the explanation for that?
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: I think that just reflects
the fact that in the House of Commons the
Government has a majority and therefore they can
expedite bills in a day, but in the House of Lords there
is no cross-party agreement and we are a self-
regulating House.

Q359 Lord Rowlands: I understand that, but to go
from a process of a bill which is dealt with in one day
in the Commons and not to even have a modestly
expedited process on six of these bills does put a
question mark over the validity of the original
pushing of the bill through in the Commons, does it
not?
Chris Bryant: I think all the bills that we were
referring to are ones that happened sometime before
I was around, so I do not know them very well. I think
they might even have been when you yourself were in
the House of Commons, My Lord.

Q360 Lord Rowlands: I am sure it was. I am as bad
as you: my memory is pretty poor too.
Chris Bryant: Well, my history is pretty poor.

Q361 Lord Morris of Aberavon: As business
managers what would you characterise as the
diYculties of fast-tracking legislation? Looking back,
are there any bills, now acts, which it might not have
been necessary, with hindsight, to be fast-tracked?
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: My Lords, I would say
that there two major categories of diYculties, one of
course being the lack of parliamentary scrutiny and
the very diYcult balance that there is to arrive at
between the time scale which is necessary, the speed
of the legislation, and the need for parliamentary
scrutiny. The other thing is the diYculties in relation
to the outside world. As a Parliament, we have a duty
to the outside world and we need to ensure that what
we are doing inside Parliament is understood and

open and transparent, and I think that is much more
diYcult with an expedited process. I think the outside
world cannot be as involved as I would wish it to be
in legislation when there is an expedited process.

Q362 Lord Morris of Aberavon: On the second
question which I put, are there any which, with
hindsight, it might not have been necessary to put
through the fast-tracking process? Are there any?
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: Certainly not the bills
that I am aware of or that I have been involved with.
But perhaps post-legislative scrutiny will show that
maybe some were not necessary. In my view, as I say,
they have been necessary but perhaps post-legislative
scrutiny will tell a diVerent story.

Q363 Lord Morris of Aberavon: It is a subjective
view as to whether it is necessary.
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: Yes.
Chris Bryant: There is a particular irony sometimes
that when you limit the amount of time available to
people, it ends up taking longer than if you had not
limited the time. Nonetheless, I think sometimes it is
necessary to limit the time. I have noticed that a
three-minute speech from Chris Bryant is normally
better than a 58-minute speech from Chris Bryant.

Q364 Lord Lyell of Markyate: Her Majesty’s
Stationery OYce having been breaking the law for 30
years, as they discovered, it might be arguable as to
whether it was an emergency matter to put it right.
On the other hand, since nobody is going to object, it
seemed rather sensible.
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: Yes.
Chris Bryant: Touché.

Q365 Chairman: Lord President, you said in your
submission that “good scrutiny is an essential part of
making good law” and that “the Government will
seek to make as much time as possible available for
scrutiny subject to the need to achieve Royal Assent
by a given date.” First, do you think that that
aspiration has always been achieved in the past?
Second, if the Government deems expedited passage
to be necessary, in what ways do you think it can be
ensured that a bill still receives the level of scrutiny
that it deserves?
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: That is a diYcult one.
Good scrutiny. In the House of Lords, each of the
bills with which I have been well acquainted have
been, in my view, properly and well scrutinised. In
view of the time scale, because our debates are not
limited in time terms, I have never felt that there was
undue pressure. For example, the last bill in which we
were all involved was the Northern Ireland Act 2009,
and as I took that through there were many
complaints about the expedited nature of the bill of
which I was well aware, but, having said that, I was
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never aware that anybody felt under pressure in
debate. The noble Lords were able to raise whatever
concerns they had and the Government were willing
and able to respond, so I did not feel that scrutiny was
jeopardised in any way.
Chris Bryant: My own feeling is the quality of
scrutiny is what matters as much as anything else.
One of the ways that we ensure that there is a high
quality of scrutiny is by having two Houses, where
there is a very diVerent style of scrutiny that happens
in both Houses, where there is a diVerent whipping
arrangement. There is independence in both Houses
but it expresses itself in very diVerent ways in the two
Houses. Beyond that, the issue is, as I said earlier,
balancing the need for action with the need for
dotting every ‘i’ and crossing every ‘t’. I sometimes
get a little frustrated when it feels as if, in either
House, it is not just that everything has not yet been
said but that it has not yet been said by everybody,
because I do not know that that necessarily increases
the quality of the scrutiny, though it may increase the
level of press releases.
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: My Lords, I am very
proud of the scrutiny that we have in the House of
Lords because of the expertise which we have
available. Therefore, I have great confidence in the
scrutiny which we undertake, even when it is
expedited scrutiny.
Chris Bryant: And, My Lords, I am very proud of the
level of expertise that we have in the House of
Commons. I am sorry, that sounds a snide point, but
there is an important point, which is that it is a
diVerent style of expertise.
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: Yes, that is true.
Chris Bryant: Sometimes it brings a rapier where a
blunderbuss is necessary and sometimes it is a
blunderbuss when a rapier is necessary.
Chairman: I share both your prides.

Q366 Lord Pannick: Would you accept that eVective
scrutiny does not just depend on all of us doing our
jobs; it depends on people outside having the time to
inform us of points of view, of information, so that we
can do our jobs properly. Surely there is a danger with
emergency legislation that that time is not available.
Chris Bryant: Absolutely. I think that is one of the
reasons why, for instance, with the most recent
Northern Ireland Act we were very keen to have first
reading as early as we could so that the bill was out
there and people could refer to it and there could be
proper public discussion, because that often happens
long before second reading. For myself, I have always
been rather critical of those who have condemned
lobbyists in the generality. For instance when I sat on
the Mental Health Bill as a backbench MP, it was all
the organisations from the mental health charities
and all the rest who came to me and informed me and
made sure that I was making a proper and useful

contribution in committee, so I think that point is a
very well made one.

Q367 Lord Woolf: Because of the point you have just
been dealing with, I understand it is not possible to
say that you identify criteria which have to be fulfilled
for a bill to be dealt with under emergency legislation.
What worries me is the broadness of the certification
as emergency. Should there not be conventions which
say, for example, that if it is going to get emergency
treatment the issues that are going to be dealt with by
the bill should be confined to those which are urgent?
Have I made myself clear?
Chris Bryant: Very. Indeed, in the Commons that is
very much the debate that happens on the allocation
of time motion. People will say, “Most of this bill I
can see why it is necessary, but I don’t see why this
other bit is” or whatever, and that is part of the
discussions which will happen before anything is
presented. That is very much part of that process.
There is another thing that can happen, which is that
when an ordinary bill is going through its processes,
at a late moment a department will have an
emergency that it needs to meet with a legislative
solution. As a government we are very keen not to
proceed in that direction and the business managers
try to prevent as much as possible that from
happening, but there are some very exceptional
moments when that does happen.
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: My Lords, as business
managers within government, when our colleagues
speak to us about the necessity of a piece of expedited
legislation, we very strongly make the argument that
every part of the bill should be, of necessity,
expedited. As business managers, whilst recognising
the need for expedited legislation from time to time, it
makes our life diYcult, quite frankly, as those of you
around this table who have been involved with
government will know. It is a great headache to have
a piece of legislation which we were not expecting
which suddenly we have to slot into a very crowded
programme, so, My Lords, you can be sure that we
are arguing vociferously with our colleagues to
ensure that the piece of legislation itself is absolutely
necessary and that every part of that legislation is
necessary.

Q368 Lord Rowlands: Perhaps we could turn
specifically to Northern Ireland. Since 1985 there
have been 11 Northern Ireland bills and two Home
OYce bills, all of which were expedited. Lord
President, you have said that this exercise we are
undertaking should be a kind of stock-taking
exercise. Let us take stock and say to ourselves: with
hindsight, can we really now justify the fast-tracking
of all these bills?
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Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: Most of those bills have
come about as a consequence of the Peace Process or
as a result of violence and terrorism in Northern
Ireland. Following the Omagh bombing, I think there
was a piece of Home OYce legislation and one would
understand absolutely why that was necessary. There
are other pieces of legislation which were a result of
the political process, and some people might question
whether or not those pieces of legislation needed to be
expedited but I would say, My Lords, that they did in
order to maintain the momentum of the Peace
Process. I think that where we are politically now in
respect of Northern Ireland demonstrates that those
pieces of legislation were necessary and it was
necessary to expedite them.

Q369 Lord Rowlands: This is what I think. We
reviewed them, and I accept that reply. That is why I
thought the last Act, the Northern Ireland Act 2009,
stood out as a rather curious exception to it on two
grounds. First, there was no consensus at all on the
expedited nature of it, as I understand. The
Conservatives voted against the allocation and most
of the Northern Ireland parties spoke out against it.
How can you justify that? I listened to you Lord
President and I was not wholly convinced when I
heard you on the second reading.
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: I am terribly sorry about
that, My Lord. Certainly at the beginning of that bill,
notwithstanding the vote in the House of Commons,
there was consensus amongst all the parties here and
the cross-benchers that this should be an expedited
piece of legislation. At the beginning of the bill people
did express deep concerns and reservations about the
expedited nature, but I think at the end of the bill,
perhaps because of the political moment through
which we were living, with the deaths of soldiers and
with the death of a policeman, it was recognised in
fact that this was a piece of legislation that was
necessarily expedited.

Q370 Lord Rowlands: I understand how the events
coloured the debate—they clearly did—but it did not
have any relevance to the actual events.
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: No, they did not have
relevance to the events per se, but it demonstrated the
need to maintain the momentum and to enable the
people of Northern Ireland and the Northern Ireland
Assembly to devolve policing and justice and to keep
the whole thing going.
Chris Bryant: One of the other elements in this is that
the act was a permissive one—and I do not mean in
the 1960s sense, I mean in the sense of allowing
something to happen. Without that piece of
legislation it would have been impossible for the
Northern Ireland Assembly to move forward. There
were three other stages that had to happen before full
implementation could come about, so I think that in

part explains why we felt it was important
nonetheless to proceed.

Q371 Lord Rowlands: I wonder whether we might
not sense from the backbenchers’ point of view a
growing impatience on the argument. One
backbencher in your House said that surely a part of
returning Northern Ireland to normalcy would be
saying, “Let’s treat Northern Ireland legislation
normally.”
Chris Bryant: That is very much our ambition—very
much our ambition. That is where we would like to
end up. I do not think it is quite where we have got to
yet. It is Andrew Mackinlay, I think you are
referring to.

Q372 Lord Rowlands: I do not have the name.
Chris Bryant: I am pretty certain it is Andrew
Mackinlay.

Q373 Lord Morris of Aberavon: Is Northern Ireland
a special case? If the label “Northern Ireland” is put
on a bill, then does it almost automatically get the
status of emergency legislation?
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: In the past, My Lords,
certainly over the past 15 years or so, it probably has
been a special case, but I think that is no longer the
case. The last piece of legislation was, I would hope,
the last piece in the emergency jigsaw in relation to
Northern Ireland. I cannot be absolutely confident
but I would hope that that is the case.
Chris Bryant: It is worth saying that the vast majority
of legislation that aVects Northern Ireland goes
through in whole UK bills, not in specific Northern
Ireland bills.

Q374 Lord Morris of Aberavon: On the need to have
the statutory assent and in order to preserve or
certainly not shackle the political momentum, one is
aware that there are certain limitations about certain
government announcements that can be made in the
immediate vicinity of a general election. Is there such
a thing as a purdah where European elections are
involved which limits, constrains the bringing or
pursuing of legislation?
Chris Bryant: It does not restrict the bringing forward
of legislation but it does restrict what the Civil Service
can do. It might be that a government might choose
not to bring forward a piece of legislation during
purdah for the simple reason that the civil servants
would not be able to publicise it.

Q375 Lord Morris of Aberavon: Is it a recognised
thing, so far as government is concerned, of not being
able to pursue various stages of legislation during
European elections or is that something novel?
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Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: My Lords, the legislative
process is continuing as normal throughout the
election process.

Q376 Lord Morris of Aberavon: One of the
arguments put by the Secretary of State for Northern
Ireland includes a purdah period during the
European elections. I have never heard of that.
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: My Lords, I have to
confess I have never heard of that either.

Q377 Lord Morris of Aberavon: I thought it was
novel too.
Chris Bryant: Purdah expressly excludes
parliamentary proceedings. It would be rather
bizarre to take politics out of Parliament.
Lord Morris of Aberavon: It was new to me and I am
glad to hear it is new to you as well.

Q378 Lord Peston: May I turn our attention to the
order making powers in part 2 of the Civil
Contingencies Act 2004. Would I be right in saying
that those powers have never been used?
Chris Bryant: Yes, you would—unless somebody is
going to contradict me suddenly.

Q379 Lord Peston: No, I think that is right. That
was just to get it started.
Chris Bryant: I am glad we agree.

Q380 Lord Peston: Do you have a view as to whether
there have been circumstances where they might or,
indeed, should have been used?
Chris Bryant: We do not think that there is any
occasion when they should have been used that they
have not been used—because, by definition, we
would then have used them.
Lord Rowlands: “Yes, Minister.”
Chris Bryant: I am sorry, that is, “Yes Minister.”
Lord Rowlands: That is definitely, “Yes, Minister”.

Q381 Lord Peston: So you have put them in the bill,
but so far they have not had any productivity.
Chris Bryant: We have not needed them as yet.

Q382 Lord Peston: That has nothing to do with the
possibility that they are not satisfactory.
Chris Bryant: No. They are very tightly drawn and
that is right and proper, because we see the properly
emergency legislation that is contained in the Civil
Contingencies Act as very much a last resort. There
are very strict restrictions on when it can be used, how
it can be used, what oVences can be introduced (for
instance, you are not allowed to limit strikes, you are
not allowed to force people to serve in the military,
and so on) and it is very strict about the
parliamentary processes that have to be followed.

Q383 Lord Peston: To go back to that dreadful buzz-
word of the present day “template,” if we were
looking at other legislation where you have
emergency order-making powers and so on to be used
in an emergency, would you regard the way they are
set out in the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 as a
template for all other emergency legislation insofar as
it contains order-making powers?
Chris Bryant: Not entirely, because, for instance, in
the Health and Social Care Act 2008 we have
introduced some powers, or rather we have changed
the powers that already existed. I think that that was
quite important because in some areas we wanted to
make provision for a magistrate to be able to say that
a less intrusive power could be used in a medical
emergency. For instance, it might be the requirement
that somebody stays at home rather than that
somebody is taken to hospital—previously the only
power that was available was quite a draconian
one—or similarly it might be that any person visiting
somebody in hospital in an infectious diseases ward
has to wear a mask or whatever. Also, similarly, we
have not taken the precise model from the Civil
Contingencies Act into that Act because in the Civil
Contingencies Act there is the seven days clause and
we recognise that we may want to use the order-
making powers to produce a list of diVerent things
that might be necessary in a medical emergency but
they might not be necessary to be implemented for
some time.

Q384 Lord Peston: I have one final question, which
you may not want to answer. Is there any thought in
the Government at the moment that we might need
emergency legislation for Mexican swine fever?
Chris Bryant: The Government is following the
situation very closely. That is what it says here!

Q385 Baroness Quin: Chris Bryant partly touched
on my question in answer to Lord Woolf earlier, but
during the inquiry some witnesses expressed concern
that bills fast-tracked contained provisions that were
not necessarily directly related to the urgent matter. I
wondered how far that had been an issue in bills that
you had both been concerned with.
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: I do not think that I have
had any problems in relation to bills with which I
have been concerned. I can say that there have been
discussions about elements which might have
appeared but which did not appear in bills, because
we had the sort of discussions that we have been
talking about, and as business managers we felt that
it was not appropriate for certain things to be in
certain bills.
Chris Bryant: Clearly Andrew Mackinlay felt that the
latest Northern Ireland Act was not an emergency
and did not think it should be taken forward in one
day, or if it was going to be taken through swiftly it
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should at least be across two days. We had a debate
about that and we had a vote on it.

Q386 Baroness Quin: That was the bill as a whole,
but I was also wondering about bills in which you
have been involved which might have had specific
provisions which people contested on the grounds
that this was not really urgent and/or should not be
part of the bill.
Chris Bryant: None that I am aware of.

Q387 Lord Lyell of Markyate: So far, speaking for
myself, I must say that I have a very great deal of
sympathy with pretty well everything you have said in
your answers, but we are coming to a question which
might be a little bit more controversial. Is it
appropriate for government of any character to seek
to table amendments at a late stage of a bill’s process
through Parliament, relying on a justification of
urgency, if those amendments introduce wholly new
provisions?
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: My Lords, this is
something that we as business managers do not like
and find diYcult. We certainly argue against the
inclusion of amendments at a very late stage, but
from time to time, as in the case cited by Chris earlier
in the Criminal Justice Bill of last year whereby we
had to introduce something at a very late stage in
order to pre-empt something in relation to the
prisons, we had to do that because we had to ensure
that the Prison Service would not go on strike. There
have been a couple of other instances in which we
introduced something at a very late stage because we
believed it was absolutely vital, but we do not do
these things lightly.
Chris Bryant: Late stages are a bad idea because, as I
said earlier, the quality of scrutiny is improved by
going through diVerent stages in both Houses against
a diVerent set of circumstances and with diVerent
ways of approaching an issue. We very much dislike
doing it. We are constantly writing to ministers and
saying, “Thou shalt not do it.” I am sure Your
Lordships know that the Legislation Committee
which every bill has to go through, which is chaired
by the Leader of the House of Commons, is an
important part of the process of saying, “Is this bill
really ready?” and “Thou shalt not introduce new
elements except in response to amendment from
other parties, and that shall only be at committee
stage” and therefore very much fighting against the
late introduction of amendments, in particular on
new areas. Of course the vast majority of
amendments that are tabled by government are
concessionary or they are responding to the views of
the House or amending amendments often. We
scrutinise all of those, also, to make sure that there is

going to be enough time to debate all of these. Quite
often—and I know all this because I am the person
who has to sign the letter to ministers saying, “You
have permission to do this” or “You do not have
permission to do this”—we have to say, “You say you
want three amendments but we know it is going to
take 15 amendments and that is going to take a lot of
time on the floor of the House.” I would say there is
a very robust process that goes on in government to
clamp down on ministers who might just have had a
good idea on a Thursday afternoon and want it in the
bill by next Friday with as little scrutiny as possible.
But there are very rare occasions when, for instance,
an independent report comes out which calls for
urgent action in a particular area, and there is a
legislative channel that is available, and that is, again,
when we would kick in with “Let’s talk to all the
parties and see whether they are content with this
process.”

Q388 Lord Lyell of Markyate: If I may say so, I
much appreciate both those answers. Does it tie in
with something which I think is really quite a serious
nagging worry, looking back over the past 11 years,
that, with the changes, particularly in the House of
Commons on timetabling and that sort of thing, quite
substantial parts of legislation have come through to
this House, to the Lords, without having been fully
debated in the Commons, particularly at report
stage. There is some kinship, is there not, between the
problem you have just addressed very directly and a
problem which perhaps still remains?
Chris Bryant: I sat on a lot of bill committees as a
backbencher and committee stage in the House of
Commons, which is very rarely scrutinised by the
world, is a very important part of the process, and a
lot of the amendments that come from government in
report stage are the responses to committee stage and
not always but nearly always satisfy the points that
have been made. I sometimes worry that my
colleagues in the Commons think that report stage is
just a repeat of committee stage. Formally it is not. It
is quite explicit that it is not. You are not allowed to
table the same amendment the second time, because
the committee stage has already considered it. So I
think sometimes there is a misunderstanding about
report stage, but we do worry that there is material
that is going into legislation from our House that has
not been fully examined. One of the things that the
Procedure Committee in the House of Commons is
looking at is whether at report stage there should not
be a time limit on speeches. The Government does
not have a view on this at the moment, but the
Procedure Committee is looking at it, because it is
true that some people will seek to filibuster and to
talk on specific measures so that other measures are
not even considered and cannot even be voted on.
Lord Lyell of Markyate: Thank you.
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Q389 Lord Pannick: In relation to constitutional
safeguards in relation to emergency legislation, your
very valuable paper makes essentially two points.
You say, first of all, that the parliamentary process
itself is a constitutional safeguard, and you say
whether there is a need for other safeguards will
inevitably depend upon the nature of the legislation.
Can I put to you that there is a case for at least a
presumption of other safeguards (sunset clauses and
post-legislative scrutiny) on the basis that, by
definition, if it is emergency legislation it will not have
been subject to the same pre-legislative scrutiny. As I
was saying before, we will not have had the same
opportunity to receive comments from outsiders. We
will not have had the same time for reflection and
consideration. In the light of that, do you think there
is a case for at least this presumption of other
safeguards?
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: In relation to sunset
clauses, for example, sometimes they are appropriate
and, indeed, invaluable. The Banking (Special
Provisions) Bill was a case in question, because the
sunset clause in many ways ensured that we had the
necessary banking legislation in place this year, so
that is very good. In other cases, it can cause
instability and disquiet, I would suggest, because
people need the necessary certainty that is being given
by the legislation and so a sunset clause could have an
adverse eVect. I think we have to look at each piece
of legislation in isolation. In respect of post-
legislative scrutiny, I personally am very much in
favour of post-legislative scrutiny and I look forward
to its use and its proper introduction.
Chris Bryant: I think the most important
presumption is that Parliament should presume that
legislation will go through all its proper processes at
the conventional pace. It is only when we want to
break that that the Government has to be able to
persuade other people that that is a sane and sensible
thing to do and is proportionate to the ill that we are
trying to rectify. In that, quite often people—
opposition parties, backbenchers or whoever,
independent members—might well say, “We only
think that this issue is worked over as a sunset clause”
or if there was a sunrise clause or whatever limit there
may be.

Q390 Lord Pannick: Perhaps I could ask, with the
Lord President’s permission, one other question.
Some witnesses have suggested to us that a valuable
constitutional safeguard, because it would focus the
minds of civil servants and, of course, ministers,
would be something comparable to the provision in
the Human Rights Act; that is a certificate from
ministers certifying to Parliament that there is a need
for emergency legislation and briefly explaining why.
Do you think that would have any valuable role?

Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: I think it would be
valuable to have more and better information and
explanation from the Government as to why this
specific piece of legislation should be expedited. I
would argue against certification because I think in
many ways that would be raising the issue to the level
of compliance with the Human Rights Act. I think it
is an extremely important matter whether or not a bill
should be expedited but I would not raise it to the
level of Human Rights compliance. But I do think it
would be very good if the Government in some way
could provide more information and explanation.
Chris Bryant: In practice in the Commons we have
something similar, which is the minister’s speech at
the beginning of the allocation of time motion, which
has to lay out why we are doing this at speed.

Q391 Lord Norton of Louth: I can see the point
about sunset clauses, it would depend on the very
nature of the measures, so it may be helpful in some
circumstances and not others, but on post-legislative
scrutiny the Government has now accepted the case
for a review three to five years after an act, which I
think is very much the way to go. I am wondering if
there is a case for saying that, where a piece of
legislation has been fast-tracked, there may be a case
for post-legislative review to be at an earlier stage
rather than waiting three to five years, so that after a
year or so there should automatically be a review of
the legislation?
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: That is a diYcult one. It
is one which I think we should consider as a
government. Just because a piece of legislation has
been expedited it does not mean to say that two years
would be an adequate time to see the bill in operation,
and so perhaps two years would be too short a
timescale, but I think perhaps we should give some
consideration to it.
Chris Bryant: I do not think it would apply in every
case. For instance, with the Northern Ireland Act we
have just passed, we will know by the summer
whether it was necessary to have done it because they
will have either proceeded or they will not have
proceeded. Indeed, we are very much trying to push
forward as a government and as business managers
with the post-legislative scrutiny process at the
moment, and government departments are keen to
get stuck into it but their keenness varies.

Q392 Lord Norton of Louth: I take the point you are
making, but rather than just leave fast-tracked
legislation subject to “automatically being reviewed
after three to five years,” giving some thought when
it is going through as to whether there may be a case
for early review in the light of the nature of the
measure itself.
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Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: We will certainly consider
it and I am sure we will consider it in the light of
your report.

Q393 Lord Morris of Aberavon: I do not think for
the minister, for the Government to endorse a
certificate would mean raising it to the same level as
compliance in Human Rights. It is a parallel
argument, as I understand it. I fully understand how
in a timetabled motion the Government has to justify
the timetable, but would it not be helpful for the
Committee to recommend, perhaps, for a number of
issues to be included either in that statement or at
some other stage as to why the legislation is
necessary—a sort of check list—and if it cannot be
met in one particular instance, for the minister to say
why it cannot be met. Would there be any harm in
that? Might it not be an advantage?
Chris Bryant: I do not know what a checklist would
quite look like because these tend to be pretty probing
debates in which much of the debate is really the
minister’s speech with lots of interventions. My
experience is that it would be pretty diYcult for a
minister to get away with a rather barren argument.
I am hesitant but if your Lordships’ Committee want
to come up with some suggestions I am sure the
Government would be more than happy to look at
that.

Q394 Lord Peston: Is it not true that in some cases,
like the Banking Bill, it is obvious why you have to do
it as emergency legislation because otherwise the
whole system collapses and the Government cannot
do what it is doing? That would not really require a
certificate, it is staring you in the face, is it not?
Chris Bryant: I think that is why we like the flexibility
that there presently is. I do not think that is about
being a Labour Government or any brand of
government, that is just about being able to govern
eVectively.

Q395 Lord Norton of Louth: A point you have
virtually drawn out is the role of each House and, to
some extent, the complementarity of the two
chambers in scrutinising legislation. Is there a role
that one can identify specifically for the House of
Lords that would be specific to the House or do you
think the present arrangements suYce?
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: As I said, my Lord, I do
think that both Houses complement each other.
There is sometimes a perception that all legislation,
but especially expedited legislation, is railroaded
through the House of Commons and that we have a
more profound job of scrutiny to do on expedited
legislation here. I think actually the statistics prove
diVerently. It is quite surprising to see that we spend
very much the same amount of time in both Houses
on expedited legislation which is extraordinary really

when they have a timetable down the other end and
we regulate ourselves, but that is how it is. I feel very
comfortable about the present circumstances.
Chris Bryant: My own perception, for what it is
worth, which may not be very much, is the fact that
we are elected but have a stronger whipping system
means that we function in one way, that is the
mentality of the way that we approach scrutiny is in
one brand, as it were, whereas the fact that you are
not, and you are whipped in a diVerent style, means
that you proceed in a diVerent way. I think that those
are a complementarity. Often in particular, of course,
on the Northern Ireland legislation there have been
constituency MPs who are very, very directly aVected
by the legislation as it is going through and often
those debates have been largely dominated by them.

Q396 Lord Norton of Louth: So there is a value-
added element to each House and that is the value of
the process. Do you see any merit at all in bills being
considered simultaneously? We mentioned earlier the
Banking Bill, is there any merit in the two Houses
looking at legislation simultaneously or demerits
such as not to really make it worthwhile?
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: I think the way in which
the Number 2 Bill procedure, if I might put it that
way, was used for the Banking Bill was very good in
that it gave us more time for scrutiny but it also
allowed the outside world more time for scrutiny
which it would not have had. I am not sure that we
would wish to use that procedure on a very regular
basis but it is something we should consider from
time to time. It is clear that the Number 2 Bill
procedure could not and should not be introduced
until the other House had reached a stage whereby
they had finished the amending stages of their
legislation, i.e until after report stage in the
Commons, because you could not be in the situation
where you had two bills which were being amended
simultaneously in the two Houses, that would just be
a recipe for confusion and disaster.
Chris Bryant: It is slightly diVerent obviously because
we cannot amend at third reading but I think you can.
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: We can.
Chris Bryant: I completely agree, obviously, that you
would have chaos if you had two Houses both
amending at the same time, I do not know how you
would resolve that. The only time when it is possibly
useful is the circumstances that we have when you
have got a carry-over bill and the Commons has
completed its report stage but has not yet done its
third reading.

Q397 Baroness Quin: Having moved to the upper
House I have obviously experienced a senior moment
and shall ask the question which I did agree to ask
earlier on! It is about the pressure on departments in
dealing with emergency legislation and I wonder
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29 April 2009 Baroness Royall of Blaisdon and Chris Bryant MP

whether you can say anything about that and what
the experience of departments is and how
satisfactorily they are able to respond to this?
Baroness Royall of Blaisdon: I think that undoubtedly
expedited legislation does put enormous pressure on
departments. There are mechanisms and strategies in
place which allow them to show some flexibility and
deploy staV as and when necessary on expedited bills.
I think that has been rather successful to date, but I
will hand it over to Chris. I would say it also places
huge demands on parliamentary counsel. I have very
high regard for First Parliamentary Counsel and
parliamentary counsel in general. I think he does a
splendid job in redeploying his own parliamentary
counsel to ensure that they can meet the demands of
expedited legislation.
Chris Bryant: It is a very important point about
parliamentary counsel because with the normal bill
the process of drafting the bill will include, as you
yourself know, the process of, first of all, getting
clearance for the policy, agreeing the policy, sending
out instructions to parliamentary counsel and then
several iterative processes. All of that is condensed
very rapidly when you have to introduce emergency
or expedited legislation and that puts them under
enormous pressure, which is yet another reason why
Government is very reluctant to do it unless it really
has to. In my experience in the instances that we have
had that parliamentary counsel has done a

Memorandum by the Clerk of the House of Commons

Introduction

1. In its Call for Evidence (29 January) the Committee sets out eight principal themes of the inquiry, and it
has since indicated practical issues which it would be helpful to address. I comment upon the second category
and upon appropriate aspects of the first.

2. I have seen the Memorandum by the Clerk of the Parliaments and I agree with those parts—for example,
the operation of Joint Committees—which aVect both Houses equally. The scope of his comprehensive paper
allows me to be briefer in commenting from a House of Commons perspective.

3. I should say that the issues being examined by the Select Committee on the Constitution are, of course, of
considerable interest to Committees of this House. I understand that our Procedure Committee has it in mind
to conduct an inquiry into the programming of legislation, which will no doubt embrace issues raised by
“emergency” legislation.

What is emergency legislation?

4. There is no conclusive, formal definition of what an emergency bill is. Case by case, “emergency” bills are
those which the Government of the day represents to Parliament must be enacted swiftly (“with unusual
expedition”, in May’s phrase5), and then uses its power of legislative initiative and control of Parliamentary
time to secure their passage.

5. The need for such expedition arises in two main ways:

— from events largely unforeseeable where a legislative remedy is urgently needed (for example, a court
judgment with immediate administrative and political implications, or perhaps civil unrest or terrorist
threat where existing powers are proving to be inadequate); and

5 Erskine May’s Treatise on the Law, Privileges, Proceedings and Usage of Parliament: 23rd Edition, pages 655 to 658.

phenomenal job in that process, but getting all the
ducks lined up in a row at speed is quite diYcult.

Q398 Lord Lyell of Markyate: Just reinforcing, and
I very much agree with what you say, one of the
advantages of fast tracking is that you come to the
front of the queue and the departments absolutely
have to get it in front of parliamentary counsel but
has it not been your experience, as indeed it was in
earlier years, that to get departments to give clear and
proper instructions to parliamentary draftsman can
be a serious problem?
Chris Bryant: It is a diYculty and it is a significant
part of the OYcer of the Leader of the House’s job
which at the moment falls to me to make sure that for
all legislation that process happens properly and
swiftly so that when a bill is presented to the
Legislative Committee it is actually in proper order
and we are not already predicting ourselves that we
are going to want to amend it because, frankly, it was
not well enough drafted.
Chairman: Lord President and Deputy Leader of the
other place, can I thank you both very much indeed
on behalf of the Committee for joining us this
morning and for the evidence that you have given,
particularly in the case of the Deputy Leader of the
other place in the light of his awesome achievements
in the London Marathon at the weekend. Thank you
very much indeed.
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— where the need for legislation may be foreseen (although perhaps only within Government) for some
time but, when the moment comes to take action, the Government wishes to move swiftly, perhaps
to allay market anxiety or to formalise the outcome of a diYcult negotiation.

6. The need for speed is a matter of judgment of the Government of the day; but it is a judgment that may not
be shared by all parties. In such cases, the rapid passage of a bill may constrain not only debate and scrutiny of
detailed provisions, but also opportunities to explore and challenge the reasons for urgency. However it may
be argued that lack of clear finalised instructions on objectives of a bill is as much a diYculty in producing
good legislation as the amount of time spent in examining it.

7. These diYculties over the need for urgent action do not arise where there is all-party agreement; but lack
of adequate scrutiny maybe argued as undesirable even in that circumstance.

8. The Committee’s questions about making the case for emergency legislation, and whether Parliamentary
scrutiny is adequate, are essentially matters of political judgment on which I would not express a view.

9. There is no definition of what constitutes “unusual expedition”. So far as the Commons is concerned, a
convenient first category is that of Bills which pass all their Commons stages in a single day (and Annex A lists
such Bills from Session 2000–01 onwards). However, “unusual expedition” is necessarily subjective, and many
other Bills might be regarded by diVerent observers as having been passed with unusual (or undue) speed.

10. In this connection, the Clerk of the Parliaments rightly draws attention to proceedings on the Bill for the
Prevention of Terrorism Act 2005; not only because it was passed with unusual expedition (although it
occupied four sitting days in this House) but because it demonstrates that exchanges between the Houses can
require significant additional time and test the House’s ability to proceed with due attention and care and
provide high level support service.

Other Expedited Legislation

11. The Committee may wish to note other circumstances in which legislation passes quickly, or where the
process is under special time constraints:

— When a Dissolution of Parliament has been announced and, by agreement between Government and
Opposition, necessary (and usually non-controversial) legislation is passed quickly, or debate on the
final stages of Bills already considered in some detail is truncated.

— When the expiry of “sunsetted” legislation approaches, or there is some other deadline for Royal
Assent. In these circumstances, there may be severe time constraints, especially on the later
legislative stages.

— Consolidated Fund bills, consolidation bills, bills to give eVect to proposals from the Law
Commissions, and Tax Law Rewrite bills are subject to expedited procedures in the House of
Commons (S.O. Nos. 56 and 58 to 60).

None of these cases amounts to “emergency legislation” as generally understood.

Constitutionally appropriate?

12. The Committee asks in what circumstances “it is constitutionally appropriate (or not appropriate) to bring
forward emergency legislation”. In my view, this is an entirely subjective judgment. Each House is master of
its own procedure and reaches its own conclusions. Just as there is no objective test of what is a “constitutional
bill” which by convention is expected to be taken in Committee of the whole House in the Commons, there
are no clear criteria of constitutional appropriateness that can be applied to emergency legislation.

Notice

13. The Committee asks how much notice the House Authorities have that emergency legislation is being
contemplated.

14. The Clerk of Legislation sees drafts of all Government bills before introduction, sometimes a considerable
time in advance, in order to satisfy himself that a proposed bill complies with the rules of the House. He will
also consider submissions from Parliamentary Counsel, acting on behalf of the Government, on such matters
as the likely scope of a bill, the possibility of hybridity, the need for Queen’s and Prince of Wales’s Consent
and the need for Money or Ways and Means authorisation. He will see Explanatory Notes in draft, among
other things to ensure that these are phrased in neutral terms, without advocacy. In this process he is advising
Ministers as Members of the House, entirely in confidence, in the same way that the Clerks in the Public Bill
OYce would advise a Private Member on a bill before introduction. A similar process takes place in the House
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of Lords (but without the financial element), and the Clerk of Legislation in the House of Commons and the
Clerk of Public Bills in the House of Lords keep in close touch.

15. Although the period of notice may be much shorter in the case of an emergency measure, a draft of any
bill must nevertheless be examined and cleared for introduction. However, unless the Government has made
some public announcement, the requirement to deal with these matters in confidence means that the practical
steps that can be taken to prepare for Parliamentary consideration are extremely limited.

Procedural Issues

16. The Committee asks if, for emergency legislation, normal procedures are simply followed more quickly, or
whether the process diVers in procedural terms.

17. In the House of Commons there is no rule prohibiting more than one stage of a bill being taken on the
same day6 (although there is a generally observed convention that two weekends should elapse between
presentation and Second Reading). Indeed, it is now routine for Report and Third Reading to be taken at the
same sitting.7

18. If the House has made no Order regulating the proceedings on a Bill, then debatable Questions will arise
between Second Reading and Committee (“That this House will immediately resolve itself into a Committee
on the Bill”) and, if an amendment has been made in Committee of the whole House, between Committee and
Report (“That the Bill be now considered”). If a Money Resolution or a Ways and Means Resolution is
required to allow certain provisions of the bill to be considered in Committee, this must be agreed to after
Second Reading and before committal.

19. The procedures described above are followed if more than one stage of a Private Member’s Bill is taken
at the same sitting, although it is worth noting that the Chair deprecates the taking of such a Bill in Committee
of the whole House immediately after Second Reading because it makes it diYcult for Members to propose
amendments (which in any event would have to be manuscript amendments).

20. For Government bills proceeded with urgently, a comprehensive regulating motion is now invariably
tabled—in its eVect, a guillotine—which makes provision for the handling of each stage (including putting
forthwith Questions which otherwise would be debatable) and allotting time to each stage, including
exchanges with the Lords. These now follow a fairly standard format, and two examples8 from Session
2007–08 are at Annexes B and C. It should be noted that:

— A motion of this sort requires notice, which must be given by the rise of the House at the end of the
previous sitting; and

— Notice of presentation of a bill must be given by the same time; but, if this is not possible, the leave
of the House may be sought for a bill to be brought in, and that bill may then be proceeded with at
the same sitting. Because notice is required for any regulating motion of the type described above,
a high degree of consensus is needed if a bill is to be brought in and taken through all stages at the
same sitting.

— An omnibus regulating motion of this type, but covering various stages of proceedings on several
bills, is now used just before a Dissolution. That on 6 April 2005 applied to proceedings on seven bills.

21. The Committee further asks if there are elements of the legislative process which are curtailed or omitted.

22. Self-evidently, the powerful constraints on time under the procedures set out above mean that scrutiny
through debate and proposed amendment is severely limited. In the Commons, scrutiny in Public Bill
Committee (which allows the taking of written and oral evidence in select committee mode as well as
conventional debate) will not take place, because bills are taken in Committee of the whole House.

23. Complementary means of scrutiny, such as evidence taken or reports made by relevant select committees,
are unlikely to be possible (although, as such scrutiny does not depend upon the formal introduction of a bill,
a committee may be examining the issues which are leading to the introduction of an “emergency” bill, and
its conclusions might then be useful in the formal consideration of the legislation).

24. In his paper the Clerk of the Parliaments considers delegated legislation and the procedures for its scrutiny
in some detail, and I will not comment further, save to say that in the House of Commons the Government
need give notice of a motion to approve such an instrument only by the end of the previous sitting. A “tag”
6 Except for Bills brought in upon a Ways and Means Resolution (for example, the Finance Bill). However, this requirement is now

routinely disapplied by Order of the House (even if there is no requirement for speed).
7 And for most Government bills to be programmed under S.O. Nos. 83A to 83I.
8 That for the Northern Ireland (St Andrews Agreement) Bill (Annex B) was a conventional “guillotine” or Allocation of Time Motion

on which, under S.O. No. 83, debate is limited to three hours; that on the Banking (Special Provisions) Bill (Annex C) contained an
additional provision (that the Speaker should not adjourn the House until after the notification of Royal Assent) which meant that it
was treated as a Business of the House motion which did not benefit from S.O. No. 83.
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appears on the Order Paper to inform the House if the Joint or Select Committees on Statutory Instruments
have not been able to consider the instrument, but the motion may be proceeded with nevertheless.

25. In Session 2007–08, the Joint Committee on Human Rights was able to report on the human rights aspects
of the Criminal Evidence (Witness Anonymity) Bill; the bill passed all its Commons stages on 8 July 2008 but
the Committee’s report was available for the Lords stages. In the case of the Banking (Special Provisions) Bill
(2007–08) and the Northern Ireland (St Andrews Agreement) Bill (2006–07), however, the timescale proved
too demanding. Even the Anti-Terrorism, Crime and Security Bill of 2001–02 and the Prevention of Terrorism
Bill of 2004–05, which were proceeded with swiftly but not with all Commons stages in one day, posed
problems of scrutiny and timing.

26. I imagine that the Constitution Committee will wish to seek evidence directly from the various Joint and
Select Committees whose work may be aVected by legislation which is proceeded with speedily.

Practical and Logistical Issues

27. The Committee asks about the impact on the Houses and on staV, recalls of Parliament, and other practical
issues. Emergency legislation will put pressure on services supporting Chamber sittings, and particularly on
the Public Bill OYce (PBO). Late sittings may be necessary, and the business may be unpredictable if there are
continuing exchanges between the Houses; but this is often part of the Parliamentary environment for other
reasons, and staV are well used to coping. The procedures for recalls are well established; a recall of Parliament
may be disruptive, for example to works projects, but this is true of a recall for whatever reason, whether
legislative or not.

28. The eYcient provision of papers is crucial to the consideration of emergency legislation.

— One-volume bills9 are routinely printed overnight, so this aspect is not a problem for emergency
legislation if the text is handed in to the first House PBO (in practice the Commons) the day before
presentation; but some forewarning is needed.

— If emergency legislation is contemplated, the Commons PBO will suggest to the Government that an
“informal final draft” of the proposed Bill should be placed in the Vote OYce, and sent to the parties
and relevant select committees, thus allowing some time for examination to be gained. A final draft
of Explanatory Notes on a bill may be treated in the same way.

— In the House of Commons, the tabling and selection of amendments may be a particular challenge.
If a bill is presented one or more days before it is taken through all stages, a motion is often put down
to allow amendments to be tabled before the bill has been read a second time.

— However, if a bill is presented on the day on which it is to be taken, or if otherwise it is not possible
to give two days’ notice of amendments, then for Committee of the whole House the Chairman of
Ways and Means will have to consider the selection of:

— “starred” amendments (those tabled the previous day and printed in the conventional way); and

— manuscript amendments (those of which notice is given on the day the bill is to be taken);

— If the timescale is so short that some or all of the amendments oVered will be manuscript amendments
then an amendment paper must be compiled and published by the PBO, rather than being set by
House staV in the usual way for printing overnight by The Stationery OYce. This means that a cut-
oV time must be set for the production of the paper; it also means that there is very little time to
formulate advice to the Chairman of Ways and Means on the selection of amendments, for the
Chairman to hold his selection conference, and for the selection list to be produced and circulated.

— Even then (because the cut-oV time for the production of the paper is administrative rather than being
on the instructions of the House) further manuscript amendments may be oVered and will have to be
considered for selection. A revised selection list will then need to be drawn up and promulgated.

29. Additional diYculties arise in exchanges between the Houses, because then the handling of amendments
(and of the propositions of the Government) is only one element. The proposals of the other House must be
received, printed and distributed; and the speed with which exchanges can take place is likely be determined
as much by the time the Government needs to decide on its position (perhaps after informal negotiations) as
by arrangements for handling the working papers.
9 Those of 324 pages or less
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30. It will be clear from this description that the process of emergency legislation can be supported, but the
margins are very narrow and the possibility of error increases with speed. And when amendments are
formulated, tabled, printed, circulated, selected and then debated at such a pace, this adds to the diYculties
which the House may face in coming to grips with the text of the bill itself.

31. It is also the case that when the pace of legislation is accelerated to this extent, public access to the
legislative process is virtually impossible. Legislative material on the Parliamentary website is comprehensive,
including every working paper as well as Library briefings (and the range and ease of access is being further
improved); and documents are posted immediately after their publication in hard copy. But when a debate is
taking place on an amendment tabled perhaps only three hours before to a bill published only that morning,
the ability of outside organisations, pressure groups and individuals to comment is in practice non-existent.

32. This memorandum has considered those aspects of emergency legislation which fall within my
responsibilities, and which are not covered by the paper by my Lords counterpart. I would of course be happy
to provide further information, or to expand on the paper should the Committee wish me to do so.

33. In the final part of the memorandum perhaps I might suggest some issues which the Committee might like
to explore further as part of its inquiry:

Other Issues

— The disparity of time provided for debate in the House of Commons and in the House of Lords.

— The possible use of “No 2” bills to make the most of the total time available for Parliamentary
consideration.

— The need to ensure that a bill which is to be taken with “unusual expedition” contains only those
provisions which are urgent, and that the temptation to take advantage of a legislative vehicle to
include other material is resisted.

27 March 2009
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Annex B

HOUSE OF COMMONS VOTES AND PROCEEDINGS
TUESDAY 21 NOVEMBER 2006

Northern Ireland (St Andrews Agreement) Bill (Allocation of Time)

That the following provisions shall apply to the proceedings on the Northern Ireland (St Andrews
Agreement) Bill—

Timetable

1. (1) Proceedings on Second Reading, in Committee, on consideration and on Third Reading shall be
completed at this day’s sitting.

(2) Proceedings on Second Reading shall be brought to a conclusion, if not previously concluded, four hours
after the commencement of proceedings on the Motion for this Order.

(3) Proceedings in Committee, on consideration and on Third Reading shall be brought to a conclusion, if not
previously concluded, at the moment of interruption or six hours after the commencement of proceedings on
the Motion for this Order, whichever is the later.

Timing of proceedings and Questions to be put

2. When the Bill has been read a second time–

(a) it shall, notwithstanding Standing Order No. 63 (Committal of bills not subject to a programme
order), stand committed to a Committee of the whole House without any Question being put;

(b) the Speaker shall leave the Chair whether or not notice of an Instruction has been given.

3. On the conclusion of proceedings in Committee the Chairman shall report the Bill to the House without
putting any Question and, if the Bill is reported with amendments, the House shall proceed to consider the Bill
as amended without any Question being put.

4. For the purpose of bringing any proceedings to a conclusion in accordance with paragraph 1 the Speaker
or Chairman shall forthwith put the following Questions (but no others)–

(a) any Question already proposed from the Chair;

(b) any Question necessary to bring to a decision a Question so proposed;

(c) the Question on any amendment moved or Motion made by a Minister of the Crown;

(d) any other Question necessary for the disposal of the business to be concluded.

5. On a Motion so made for a new Clause or a new Schedule, the Chairman or Speaker shall put only the
Question that the Clause or Schedule be added to the Bill.

Consideration of Lords Amendments

6. (1) Any Lords Amendments to the Bill shall be considered forthwith without any Question being put.

(2) Proceedings on consideration of Lords Amendments shall be brought to a conclusion, if not previously
concluded, one hour after their commencement.

7. (1) This paragraph applies for the purpose of bringing any proceedings to a conclusion in accordance with
paragraph 6.

(2) The Speaker shall first put forthwith any Question already proposed from the Chair and not yet decided.

(3) If that Question is for the amendment of a Lords Amendment the Speaker shall then put forthwith–

(a) a single Question on any further Amendments to the Lords Amendment moved by a Minister of the
Crown, and

(b) the Question on any Motion made by a Minister of the Crown, That this House agrees or disagrees
to the Lords Amendment or (as the case may be) to the Lords Amendment as amended.

(4) The Speaker shall then put forthwith–

(a) a single Question on any Amendments moved by a Minister of the Crown to a Lords Amendment,
and

(b) the Question on any Motion made by a Minister of the Crown, That this House agrees or disagrees
to the Lords Amendment or (as the case may be) to the Lords Amendment as amended.
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(5) The Speaker shall then put forthwith the Question on any Motion made by a Minister of the Crown, That
this House disagrees to a Lords Amendment.

(6) The Speaker shall then put forthwith the Question, That this House agrees to all the remaining Lords
Amendments.

(7) As soon as the House has agreed or disagreed to a Lords Amendment, or disposed of an Amendment
relevant to a Lords Amendment which has been disagreed to, the Speaker shall put forthwith a single Question
on any Amendments moved by a Minister of the Crown and relevant to the Lords Amendment.

Subsequent stages

8. (1) Any further Message from the Lords on the Bill shall be considered forthwith without any Question
being put.

(2) Proceedings on any further Message from the Lords shall, if not previously concluded, be brought to a
conclusion one hour after their commencement.

9. (1) This paragraph applies for the purpose of bringing any proceedings to a conclusion in accordance with
paragraph 8.

(2) The Speaker shall first put forthwith any Question which has already been proposed from the Chair and
not yet decided.

(3) The Speaker shall then put forthwith the Question on any Motion made by a Minister of the Crown which
is related to the Question already proposed from the Chair.

(4) The Speaker shall then put forthwith the Question on any Motion made by a Minister of the Crown on or
relevant to any of the remaining items in the Lords Message.

(5) The Speaker shall then put forthwith the Question, That this House agrees with the Lords in all the
remaining Lords Proposals.

Reasons Committee

10. (1) The Speaker shall put forthwith the Question on any Motion made by a Minister of the Crown for
the appointment, nomination and quorum of a Committee to draw up Reasons in relation to the Bill and the
appointment of its Chairman.

(2) A Committee appointed to draw up Reasons shall report before the conclusion of the sitting at which it is
appointed.

(3) Proceedings in the Committee shall, if not previously brought to a conclusion, be brought to a conclusion
30 minutes after their commencement.

(4) For the purpose of bringing any proceedings to a conclusion in accordance with sub-paragraph (3) the
Chairman shall–

(a) first put forthwith any Question which has been proposed from the Chair but not yet decided, and

(b) then put forthwith successively Questions on motions which may be made by a Minister of the Crown
for assigning a Reason for disagreeing with the Lords in any of their Amendments.

(5) The proceedings of the Committee shall be reported without any further Question being put.

Miscellaneous

11. Paragraph (1) of Standing Order No. 15 (Exempted business) shall apply in so far as necessary for the
purposes of this Order.

12. The proceedings on any Motion made by a Minister of the Crown for varying or supplementing the
provisions of this Order shall, if not previously concluded, be brought to a conclusion one hour after their
commencement and paragraph (1) of Standing Order No. 15 shall apply to those proceedings.

13. Standing Order No. 82 (Business Committee) shall not apply in relation to any proceedings to which this
Order applies.

14. No Motion shall be made, except by a Minister of the Crown, to alter the order in which any proceedings
on the Bill are taken or to re-commit the Bill; and the Question on any such Motion shall be put forthwith.

15. No dilatory Motion shall be made in relation to proceedings to which this Order applies except by a
Minister of the Crown; and the Question on any such Motion shall be put forthwith.

16. (1) This paragraph applies if–



Processed: 07-07-2009 19:27:11 Page Layout: LOENEW [E] PPSysB Job: 427327 Unit: PAG8

156 emergency legislation, constitution committee: evidence

(a) a Motion for the Adjournment of the House under Standing Order No. 24 (Adjournment on specific
and important matter that should have urgent consideration) has been stood over to Seven o’clock,
Four o’clock or Three o’clock (as the case may be), but

(b) proceedings to which this Order applies have begun before then.

(2) Proceedings on that Motion shall stand postponed until the conclusion of those proceedings.

17. If the House is adjourned, or the sitting is suspended, before the conclusion of any proceedings to which
this Order applies, no notice shall be required of a Motion made at the next sitting by a Minister of the Crown
for varying or supplementing the provisions of this Order.

18. Proceedings to which this Order applies shall not be interrupted under any Standing Order relating to the
sittings of the House.

Annex C

HOUSE OF COMMONS VOTES AND PROCEEDINGS
TUESDAY 19 FEBRUARY 2008

Business of the House (Banking (Special Provisions) Bill)

That the following provisions shall apply to the Banking (Special Provisions) Bill—

Timetable

1.—(1) Proceedings on Second Reading, in Committee, on consideration and on Third Reading shall be
completed at this day’s sitting in accordance with the following provisions of this paragraph.

(2) Proceedings on Second Reading shall (so far as not previously concluded) be brought to a conclusion at
8 p.m.

(3) Proceedings in Committee shall (so far as not previously concluded) be brought to a conclusion at
10.30 p.m.

(4) Proceedings on consideration and on Third Reading shall (so far as not previously concluded) be brought
to a conclusion at midnight.

Timing of proceedings and Questions to be put

2.—(1) As soon as the proceedings on the Motion for this Order have been concluded, the Order for the Second
Reading of the Bill shall be read.

(2) When the Bill has been read a second time—

(a) it shall (notwithstanding Standing Order No. 63 (Committal of bills not subject to a programme
order)) stand committed to a Committee of the whole House without any Question being put;

(b) proceedings on the Bill shall stand postponed while the Question is put, in accordance with paragraph
(1) of Standing Order No. 52 (Money resolutions and ways and means resolutions in connection with
bills), on any financial resolution relating to the Bill;

(c) on the conclusion of proceedings on any financial resolution relating to the Bill, proceedings on the
Bill shall be resumed and the Speaker shall leave the Chair whether or not notice of an Instruction
has been given.

3.—(1) On the conclusion of proceedings in Committee, the Chairman shall report the Bill to the House
without putting any Question.

(2) If the Bill is reported with amendments, the House shall proceed to consider the Bill as amended without
any Question being put.

4. For the purpose of bringing any proceedings to a conclusion in accordance with paragraph 1, the Chairman
or Speaker shall forthwith put the following Questions (but no others)—

(a) any Question already proposed from the Chair;

(b) any Question necessary to bring to a decision a Question so proposed;

(c) the Question on any amendment moved or Motion made by a Minister of the Crown;

(d) any other Question necessary for the disposal of the business to be concluded.

5. On a Motion so made for a new Clause or new Schedule, the Chairman or Speaker shall put only the
Question that the Clause or Schedule be added to the Bill.
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6. If two or more Questions would fall to be put under paragraph 4(d) in relation to successive provisions of
the Bill, the Chairman shall instead put a single Question in relation to those provisions.

Consideration of Lords Amendments

7.—(1) Any Lords Amendments to the Bill shall be considered forthwith without any Question being put.

(2) Proceedings on consideration of Lords Amendments shall (so far as not previously concluded) be brought
to a conclusion one hour after their commencement.

8.—(1) This paragraph applies for the purpose of bringing any proceedings to a conclusion in accordance with
paragraph 7.

(2) The Speaker shall first put forthwith any Question already proposed from the Chair and not yet decided.

(3) If that Question is for the amendment of a Lords Amendment the Speaker shall then put forthwith—

(a) a single Question on any further Amendments to the Lords Amendment moved by a Minister of the
Crown, and

(b) the Question on any Motion made by a Minister of the Crown that this House agrees or disagrees to
the Lords Amendment or (as the case may be) to the Lords Amendment as amended.

(4) The Speaker shall then put forthwith—

(a) a single Question on any Amendments moved by a Minister of the Crown to a Lords Amendment,
and

(b) the Question on any Motion made by a Minister of the Crown that this House agrees or disagrees to
the Lords Amendment or (as the case may be) to the Lords Amendment as amended.

(5) The Speaker shall then put forthwith the Question on any Motion made by a Minister of the Crown that
this House disagrees to a Lords Amendment.

(6) The Speaker shall then put forthwith the Question that this House agrees to all the remaining Lords
Amendments.

(7) As soon as the House has—

(a) agreed or disagreed to a Lords Amendment, or

(b) disposed of an Amendment relevant to a Lords Amendment which has been disagreed to,

the Speaker shall put forthwith a single Question on any Amendments moved by a Minister of the Crown and
relevant to the Lords Amendment.

Subsequent stages

9.—(1) Any further Message from the Lords on the Bill shall be considered forthwith without any Question
being put.

(2) Proceedings on any further Message from the Lords shall (so far as not previously concluded) be brought
to a conclusion one hour after their commencement.

10.—(1) This paragraph applies for the purpose of bringing any proceedings to a conclusion in accordance
with paragraph 9.

(2) The Speaker shall first put forthwith any Question which has been proposed from the Chair and not yet
decided.

(3) The Speaker shall then put forthwith the Question on any Motion made by a Minister of the Crown which
is related to the Question already proposed from the Chair.

(4) The Speaker shall then put forthwith the Question on any Motion made by a Minister of the Crown on or
relevant to any of the remaining items in the Lords Message.

(5) The Speaker shall then put forthwith the Question that this House agrees with the Lords in all the remaining
Lords Proposals.
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Reasons Committee

11.—(1) The Speaker shall put forthwith the Question on any Motion made by a Minister of the Crown for
the appointment, nomination and quorum of a Committee to draw up Reasons and the appointment of its
Chairman.

(2) A Committee appointed to draw up Reasons shall report before the conclusion of the sitting at which it is
appointed.

(3) Proceedings in the Committee shall (so far as not previously concluded) be brought to a conclusion
30 minutes after their commencement.

(4) For the purpose of bringing any proceedings to a conclusion in accordance with sub-paragraph (3), the
Chairman shall—

(a) first put forthwith any Question which has been proposed from the Chair but not yet decided, and

(b) then put forthwith successively Questions on Motions which may be made by a Minister of the Crown
for assigning a Reason for disagreeing with the Lords in any of their Amendments.

(5) The proceedings of the Committee shall be reported without any further Question being put.

Miscellaneous

12. Paragraph (1) of Standing Order No. 15 (Exempted business) shall apply so far as necessary for the
purposes of this Order.

13.—(1) The proceedings on any Motion made by a Minister of the Crown for varying or supplementing the
provisions of this Order shall (so far as not previously concluded) be brought to a conclusion one hour after
their commencement.

(2) Paragraph (1) of Standing Order No. 15 (Exempted business) shall apply to those proceedings.

14. Standing Order No. 82 (Business Committee) shall not apply in relation to any proceedings to which this
Order applies.

15.—(1) No Motion shall be made, except by a Minister of the Crown, to alter the order in which any
proceedings on the Bill are taken or to recommit the Bill.

(2) The Question on any such Motion shall be put forthwith.

16.—(1) No dilatory Motion shall be made in relation to proceedings to which this Order applies except by a
Minister of the Crown.

(2) The Question on any such Motion shall be put forthwith.

17. The Speaker may not arrange for a debate to be held in accordance with Standing Order No.
24 (Adjournment on specific and important matter that should have urgent consideration) at this day’s sitting,
or at the sitting on Thursday 21st February, before the conclusion of any proceedings to which this Order
applies.

18.—(1) Sub-paragraph (2) applies if the House is adjourned, or the sitting is suspended, before the conclusion
of any proceedings to which this Order applies.

(2) No notice shall be required of a Motion made at the next sitting by a Minister of the Crown for varying
or supplementing the provisions of this Order.

19. Proceedings to which this Order applies shall not be interrupted under any Standing Order relating to the
sittings of the House.

20.—(1) Any private business which has been set down for consideration at 7 p.m. at this day’s sitting or at
3 p.m. at the sitting on Thursday 21st February (as the case may be) shall, instead of being considered as
provided by Standing Orders, be considered at the conclusion of the proceedings on the Bill at this day’s sitting
or at the sitting on Thursday 21st February (as the case may be).

(2) Paragraph (1) of Standing Order No. 15 (Exempted business) shall apply to the private business for a period
of three hours from the conclusion of the proceedings on the Bill or, if those proceedings are concluded before
the moment of interruption, for a period equal to the time elapsing between 7 p.m. or 3 p.m. (as the case may
be) and the conclusion of those proceedings.

21. The Speaker shall not adjourn the House at the sitting on Thursday 21st February until—

(a) any Message from the Lords on the Bill has been received;

(b) he has reported the Royal Assent to any Act agreed upon by both Houses.
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Memorandum by the Clerk of the Parliaments

Introduction

1. This memorandum responds to the Call for Evidence issued by the Committee on 29 January. The Clerk
of the House of Commons has submitted a memorandum which deals in detail with the passage of emergency
legislation through the Commons. This memorandum should be read in conjunction with the memorandum
submitted by the Clerk of the House. It draws attention to diVerences of practice in the two Houses, but does
not repeat material which applies equally to both.

2. This memorandum addresses both primary and secondary legislation.

Emergency Legislation—Bills

Definition of emergency legislation

3. I agree with the Clerk of the House’s description of the characteristics of emergency legislation and his
analysis of why the need for expedited proceedings might arise. I note, however, that his memorandum focuses
on those bills which have all their stages taken in one day in the Commons. In the House of Lords it is more
common for such bills to be taken over two or three days so I would not wish to define emergency legislation
in terms of the number of days taken to pass a bill.

4. In addition to this, I would regard as emergency legislation some bills which took more than one day in the
Commons. For example, I provide in Annex A a breakdown of the timetable for the Commons’ and Lords’
proceedings on the Prevention of Terrorism Act 2005 which I consider to be a prime example of emergency
legislation. The Act was required to be passed urgently in response to a judgment of the House of Lords,10

but was subject to a large number of amendments in both Houses. Though its passage in the Commons was
not completed in one day, the final consideration of amendments in both Houses entailed a rare all-night sitting
in order for the Bill to be passed by a certain date.11

5. However, the list of bills provided by the Commons captures almost all of the bills which I would regard
as emergency legislation and I agree with the Clerk of the House that if the final stages of a bill are truncated
due to an imminent Dissolution of Parliament, that does not amount to emergency legislation as generally
understood.

6. The Committee has asked for information regarding the late tabling of significant Government
amendments to non-emergency bills. Such amendments may, in eVect, amount to emergency legislation,
particularly if tabled in the second House. The possibility that one House may not have suYcient opportunity
for scrutiny may well arise, but such amendments do not generally raise any procedural or serious practical
diYculties diVerent to those arising in respect of the tabling of other non-emergency Government
amendments.

7. I should also note at this point that there are no specific provisions in Lords’ Standing Orders in relation
to expediting the passage of Consolidated Fund Bills, consolidation bills, and Tax Law Rewrite Bills.
Consolidated Fund Bills, and other bills of Aids and Supply, are unamendable by the Lords and are always
passed quickly. Consolidation Bills and Tax Law Rewrite Bills are not subject to special procedures (apart from
their scrutiny by Joint Committees) but are usually passed quickly. Such bills do not constitute emergency
legislation.

Procedure and practice in the Chamber

8. It may be worth bearing in mind that, while legislation passes through essentially the same stages in the two
Houses, there are some important diVerences in procedure and practice which apply to all public legislation,
not just emergency legislation:

— The Government has no formal control over parliamentary time in the Lords.

— The House of Lords is self-regulating. The usual channels discuss matters of the timetabling of
legislation, but cannot always determine in advance the amount of time which the House will spend
on considering any bill.

— There is no selection of amendments. All amendments tabled must be called by the chair and may be
debated.

10 A v Secretary of State for the Home Department [2004] UKHL 56.
11 Saturday 12 March 2005.
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— In relation to non-emergency bills in the Commons, Report and Third Reading are almost always
taken on the same day; in the Lords, Report and Third Reading amendments are nearly always taken
on separate days and amendments may be tabled and considered at Third Reading.

9. To a great extent, the procedures which apply in the House of Lords in respect of emergency bills are normal
procedures which are followed more quickly. Nothing is omitted. Whether elements of the legislative process
are curtailed is a subjective judgment, but in a self-regulating House it is diYcult for procedures to be curtailed
in the face of substantial opposition. The following paragraphs describe the variations from normal practice
which may be involved in the passage of an emergency bill, but it must be emphasised that all of these
variations are subject to the agreement of the usual channels, and to self-regulation (in other words, to the
House as a whole).

10. Emergency bills are usually introduced in the House of Commons. In practice, this means that the
Commons generally pass such bills fairly late in the parliamentary day, having spent most of that day
considering the bill.

11. It is normal practice for all public bills to be printed for the Lords following their arrival from the
Commons, although Standing Order 51 allows a bill to be printed in advance of its first reading “if it is for the
convenience of this House”.12 In cases of particular urgency, the usual channels may agree that the bill should
not be reprinted13 and, in such a case, the Lords will consider the bill on the basis of the last Commons’ print.
However, if the bill is amended during the final stages of its passage through the Commons, it will have to be
reprinted for the Lords.

12. It is unusual, though not impossible, for emergency legislation to pass all its Lords’ stages in a single day.14

This would require a high degree of consensus in the usual channels and in the House.

13. Lords’ Standing Order 47 provides that no two stages of a bill may be taken on the same day, and there
are also recommended minimum intervals between stages.15 Where it is desired to take more than one stage
on a day, a motion to suspend SO 47 (which requires notice) must be agreed to. Such a dispensation is likely
when dealing with an emergency bill.

14. If the urgency is such that no notice can be given of a motion to dispense with SO 47, then the procedure
laid down in Standing Order 88 is followed: SOs 47 and 88 are read at the Table by the Clerk of the Parliaments
and a motion is moved that it is essential for reasons of national security that a bill or bills should immediately
be proceeded with and that the provisions of SO 47 should be dispensed with to allow all stages to be taken.
It should be noted that this procedure has not been used since 1972.16

15. In recent sessions, emergency bills have generally been given a First Reading on one day (following their
arrival from the Commons), followed by Second Reading on a separate day, with Committee, Report and
Third Reading being taken on a third day. Annex B provides some recent examples of emergency bills and
demonstrates that timetables vary depending on the nature and urgency of the bill in question. The negotiation
of the timetable is in practice a matter for the usual channels.

16. As in the Commons, constraints on time mean that emergency bills may receive less scrutiny than would
otherwise be the case. However, Members of the Lords do have the advantage of being able to consider the
bill before First Reading (while it is still before the Commons), so the time for preparation of amendments is
somewhat longer.

17. Around half of all Government bills17 in the House of Lords receive their Committee stage in a
Committee of the Whole House. The recommendation on whether to take the Committee stage of a bill on
the floor of the House or in Grand Committee is one for the usual channels, who make such recommendations
on a case-by-case basis. However, any emergency legislation will invariably be taken in a Committee of the
Whole House: partly because it may well be regarded as an important piece of legislation in which a number
12 A recent example was the Banking (Special Provisions) Bill, printed under SO 51 on 19 February 2008 (see Annex B).
13 This is rare, but a recent example was the Northern Ireland (St Andrews Agreement) (No. 2) Bill which went through both Houses on

27 March 2007.
14 For example, the Northern Ireland (St Andrews Agreement) (No. 2) Bill.
15 Companion to the Standing Orders, House of Lords, 2007, paragraph 7.03: “The following minimum intervals between stages of public

bills should be observed: (a) two weekends between the first reading (whether of a new bill or one brought from the Commons) and
the debate on second reading; (b) fourteen days between second reading and the start of the committee stage; (c) on all bills of
considerable length and complexity, fourteen days between the end of the committee stage and the start of the report stage; (d) three
sitting days between the end of the report stage and third reading.”

16 The procedure is contained in a proviso to SO 88 which was recommended by the Procedure Committee (3rd Report, 1971–72) and
agreed to by the House on 20 January 1972. The proviso was a means of formalising what had been known as the “Supreme Emergency
Procedure” which was to be found only in the Companion. This procedure had been used on a number of occasions between 1866 and
1939. Since its formalisation, the procedure has only been used once: on 23 February 1972 in relation to the Northern Ireland Bill.

17 Private Members’ Bills are almost always taken in a Committee of the Whole House because debates on them are unlikely to be lengthy;
only one bill per day may be considered in Grand Committee—Companion to the Standing Orders, House of Lords, 2007,
paragraph 7.98.
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of Members will take an interest; partly because the possible lack of a substantive Report stage means that
amendments must be capable of being divided on at Committee stage;18 and partly because it is more diYcult
to timetable a Grand Committee at short notice.

Alternative procedure—No. 2 bills

18. The No. 2 bill procedure is occasionally used to pass a bill quickly. The procedure allows both Houses to
consider a bill simultaneously, and this eliminates some of the possible delay caused by the observance of
minimum intervals, particularly in the second House. The exact sequence of events varies from bill to bill, but
it is usually along the following lines:

— A bill is introduced in the Commons.

— An identical bill (save for the addition of “No. 2” in the short title) is introduced in the Lords, either
at the same time or shortly afterwards.

— The Commons bill is read a second time, goes through its Committee stage and remaining stages and
is sent to the Lords.

— At some point before the Commons’ bill leaves that House, the No. 2 bill receives a Second Reading
in the Lords.

— At the point at which the Lords receives the Commons’ bill, the No. 2 bill is withdrawn, and the
original bill then proceeds through its Committee and remaining stages in the Lords.

19. This procedure avoids the delay of up to a month which would occur if the Lords were to wait for the
arrival of the Commons’ bill, and if the minimum intervals between First Reading, Second Reading and
Committee stage were then observed in the Lords.

20. The procedure has rarely been used in recent times. The most recent example was in connection with the
Banking Bill which was passed earlier this session. This bill had to be enacted by a particular deadline (on
which the emergency legislation passed in 200819 would expire), but the bill was not emergency legislation—
it was not passed until almost three months after its arrival in the Lords. The No. 2 bill procedure has not, in
recent times, been used for emergency legislation in the generally understood sense.

Committee scrutiny of bills

21. There are three select committees in the House of Lords which would normally expect to subject a bill to
scrutiny: the Constitution Committee, the Joint Committee on Human Rights (JCHR) and the Delegated
Powers and Regulatory Reform Committee (DPRRC). I do not comment on any procedural or practical
diYculties which may be faced by the Constitution Committee. The Clerk of the House has commented on
the JCHR in his memorandum. I therefore restrict this part of the evidence to the DPRRC, although many
of the general points made will be equally applicable to all three committees.

22. The DPRRC is usually able to meet and report on emergency bills at short notice. Close liaison between
Committee staV and the Government’s business managers is needed to facilitate this. For example, the
Committee reported on the Banking (Special Provisions) Bill, even though the Bill was introduced and taken
in the Commons on 19 February 2008, and in the Lords on 20 and 21 February. The Committee’s report was
made available on 20 February. Government amendments to meet some, though not all, of the Committee’s
concerns were tabled by the Government and agreed by the House the following day.20

23. The fact that the Committee is usually able to report on emergency bills does not, however, mean that such
bills receive the same quality of scrutiny as bills which proceed on a normal basis. Inevitably the Committee’s
scrutiny is hurried, and the House and Ministers have less time to consider the Committee’s recommendations
and decide whether to adopt them. In the case of the Banking (Special Provisions) Bill, only two of the
Committee’s four recommendations were accepted, below the usual acceptance rate for non-emergency bills.
This might be viewed as one of the ways in which emergency legislation can entail a trade-oV between speed
and the quality of scrutiny by the House and its committees.

Practical and logistical issues

24. The general comments made by the Clerk of the House in his memorandum concerning the pressures
placed on services supporting Chamber sittings by emergency legislation also apply to the Lords and I do not
comment further on them. This section focuses on specific aspects of the process for dealing with bills since
practices in the Lords’ Public Bill OYce (PBO) diVer in many respects from those in the Commons. It is
18 Divisions are not possible in Grand Committee—Companion to the Standing Orders, House of Lords, 2007, paragraph 7.98.
19 Banking (Special Provisions) Act 2008.
20 See Annex B for details of the proceedings on the Bill.
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assumed here that an emergency bill will be introduced in the Commons since this is invariably the case in
practice.

25. The procedures which the Government follow for giving notice of all Government bills and for clearing
procedural matters with the two PBOs (as described in the memorandum by the Clerk of the House) apply
equally in the Lords and the Commons. Issues such as scope and hybridity are dealt with by both Houses prior
to introduction in the first House so the Lords’ PBO does not have longer to respond. I fully agree with the
Clerk of the House that although the period of notice may be shorter, the usual pre-introduction procedures
will apply: oYcials of both PBOs will of necessity prioritise emergency legislation and deal with the pre-
introduction correspondence with the requisite degree of urgency.

26. Papers for the Commons’ stages of a bill will be available to Members of the Lords a day or two before
the bill arrives in this House. These papers include the bill, explanatory notes, the human rights statement and
any amendments tabled to the bill in the Commons. In addition, Members of this House will be aware of any
“informal final draft” of the bill which has been made available to the Commons.

27. When the bill arrives from the Commons it is printed, either following the formal first reading or pursuant
to Standing Order 51.21 In either case, it is available the following morning. The explanatory notes are printed
to the same timetable.

28. In normal circumstances, amendments for Committee stage cannot be tabled until after Second Reading.
However, for emergency bills, arrangements are often made (through the usual channels) to allow the PBO to
receive and print amendments in advance of the Second Reading debate. Members will be informed in advance
that this is possible.

29. If a Second Reading is on the same day as the Committee stage, a period of time will be arranged before
the Committee stage begins, to allow for any final amendments to be tabled and printed. Where Second
Reading and Committee stage are on the same day, the marshalled list will be a “manuscript” list—that is,
one produced in typescript by the PBO and photocopied, rather than a list which is printed overnight by the
Parliamentary Press. There is little diVerence in appearance.

30. If the Second Reading and Committee stages are on diVerent days, a marshalled list of amendments will
be printed and circulated either the morning before the Committee stage or on the morning on which that
stage begins.

31. As with all public bills, when a marshalled list is available the Government Whips’ OYce finalises the
grouping of amendments in consultation with those who have tabled amendments. The PBO prepares and
circulates procedural briefings for the Chair and for the Minister. These do not diVer from those produced for
non-emergency bills.

32. It is also possible for manuscript amendments (that is, amendments tabled after the marshalled list has
been produced and circulated) to be tabled. Such amendments will be distributed as soon as possible following
receipt, and may require groupings and briefs to be amended and re-circulated. Again, this does not diVer in
procedure from non-emergency bills, but such amendments may be tabled at very short notice whereas with
a non-emergency bill the PBO would normally discourage the tabling of manuscript amendments with less
than a couple of hours’ notice before the start of the day’s sitting.22

33. Where two or more amendable stages of a bill take place on one day, the practical diYculties of tabling
amendments between stages and producing the manuscript marshalled lists, groupings and briefs can become
acute. In the Lords, additional complications may arise from the lack of any fixed timetable for any of the
stages, and the possibility that amendments may be tabled and debated at three separate stages.23

34. If a bill is amended in the Lords, the amendments have to be considered by the Commons, and both
Houses have to agree on every word of the bill before it can receive Royal Assent. This process is commonly
known as “ping-pong”. The procedures followed are the same as for a non-emergency bill, but they can, if
necessary, be carried out at high speed. When each House has finished considering the other House’s
amendments it has to record its decisions and transmit them to the other House. When a message is received
in either House, a paper has to be circulated showing the other House’s propositions, and time has then to be
allowed for counter-proposals (if any) to be formulated, tabled and circulated. Briefs then have to be prepared
by the PBO before the next stage can take place on the floor. On occasions, prolonged ping-pong has occurred,
21 A bill brought from the Commons after the House of Lords has risen will be printed under SO 51 and receive its First Reading the

next day.
22 Or, on a Thursday or Friday, before the start of that day’s proceedings on the bill in question.
23 Manuscript amendments are not permitted at Third Reading stage unless SO 49 has been dispensed with. Therefore, if Third Reading

takes place on the same day as Report stage no amendments may be tabled at the final stage—this is commonly the case in respect of
emergency bills.
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the most notable recent example being the 36-hour sitting of both Houses to reconcile diVerences of view on
the Prevention of Terrorism Bill in 2005, where each House considered the bill on five occasions following
Third Reading in the Lords.24 Such proceedings are exceptional.

Emergency Legislation—Statutory Instruments

35. This section of the memorandum gives technical information about the diVerent kinds of parliamentary
control over statutory instruments, and the role of the scrutiny committees. If the Committee wishes to seek
views on the relative merits of the various procedures, it may be helpful to take evidence directly from these
committees.

36. The diVerent kinds of enabling provisions used in primary legislation are well explained elsewhere.25 In
summary, the main categories of parliamentary control over statutory instruments are:

— no formal procedure (instrument laid before Parliament but not subject to negative or aYrmative
procedure);

— negative procedure;26

— “draft” aYrmative procedure;

— “made” aYrmative procedure.

37. There is no definition of an emergency statutory instrument and I do not attempt to provide one, save to
note that a statutory instrument may be considered as emergency legislation in much the same way as a bill:
for example, because it is a response to previously unforeseen events.

Choice of instrument in the parent Act

38. The draft aYrmative procedure is normally applied for significant powers as it gives the greatest degree
of Parliamentary control over an instrument. If it is envisaged that an important power may need to be
exercised urgently the made aYrmative procedure is often employed by the parent Act. The next section of
this memorandum therefore considers made aYrmative instruments. The more common negative procedure
also allows instruments to be made and come into force quickly, whether or not that was envisaged at the time
the Act which conferred the power was passed. This memorandum therefore also considers negative
instruments. The role of the scrutiny committees is set out; and information is provided on hybrid instruments,
the process for debating instruments, and the impact of recesses.

Made affirmative instruments

39. The made aYrmative procedure is often used in Acts where the intention is to allow significant powers to
be exercised quickly. The Report of the Joint Committee on Delegated Legislation in 1973 stated that the made
aYrmative procedure should “only be used where, in addition to requiring immediate eVect, the subject matter
substantially aVects the provisions of an Act, makes financial provision, or involves other considerations of
special importance.”27

40. Sometimes, the parent Act specifies that the made aYrmative procedure will apply whenever the power is
exercised.28 In other cases, the Act may provide for either the draft aYrmative or the made aYrmative
procedure to be used. In the Terrorism Act 2000 the default position for several powers is the draft aYrmative
procedure, but the made aYrmative procedure can be employed “if the Secretary of State is of the opinion that
it is necessary by reason of urgency”.29

41. The Banking Act 2009 contains a large number of delegated powers which the Government envisaged
might need to be exercised quickly in the first instance. Accordingly, section 255 provides that instruments
under various powers contained in the Act shall be subject to the draft aYrmative procedure, unless “the
power is exercised for the first time, and the person exercising it is satisfied that it is necessary to exercise it
without laying a draft …”.30 This applies, for example, to the wide-ranging power in section 75 to amend the
law to enable the powers under Part 1 of the Bill (special resolution regime) to be exercised eVectively.

42. A list of statutory instruments already made under the Terrorism Act 2000 and the Banking Act 2009 can
be provided. Other examples of made aYrmatives include:
24 See the timetable for the Prevention of Terrorism Bill given in Annex A.
25 See Companion to the Standing Orders, House of Lords, 2007, paragraph 9.07.
26 This is the most common procedure for statutory instruments laid before Parliament.
27 1st Report , 1972–73, para 47.
28 For example, ss 555(2) and 1291 of the Companies Act 2006.
29 Section 123.
30 Subsection (4).
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— Civil Procedure (Amendment) (No. 2) Rules 2008 (SI 2008/3085) to provide for financial restrictions
proceedings, made under the Counter-Terrorism Act 2008.

— Civil Procedure (Amendment) (No. 2) Rules 2005 (SI 2005/656) to provide for control order
proceedings, made under the Prevention of Terrorism Act 2005.

— the large number of Food Protection (Emergency Prohibitions) Orders made under the Food and
Environment Protection Act 1985.

43. The Committee may also wish to examine the special form of the made aYrmative procedure set out in
the Civil Contingencies Act 2004. This power has not yet been exercised so there is no experience of how it
works in practice, although it is worth noting that the Act is one of the few which makes provision for the
amendment by Parliament of delegated legislation.31

Negative instruments

44. It is a convention that negative instruments should not come into force less than 21 days after laying before
Parliament. Both the Joint Committee on Statutory Instruments (JCSI) and the House of Lords’ Merits
Committee monitor the Government’s adherence to this convention.32

45. There are often understandable explanations when the Government breach this convention. One such
example might be the Protection of Wrecks (Designation) (England) (No. 7) Order 2006 (SI 2006/2535) which
came into force quickly in order to avoid a recently uncovered wreck from being looted. Lapses may, however,
simply be because the timetable for a particular policy has slipped and a statutory instrument must be passed
in a hurry.33

46. Section 4 of the Statutory Instruments Act 1946 provides that “if it is essential” instruments which may
be made before being laid before Parliament (these are usually negative instruments, but also include made
aYrmatives), can come into eVect before they are laid. In such a case a notification must be sent to the Speakers
of both Houses giving reasons. The JCSI reports to the House any unjustifiable delay in making this
notification.34

Committee scrutiny

Joint Committee on Statutory Instruments

47. The JCSI provides technical and legal scrutiny of all statutory instruments within its terms of reference.35

Although the Committee is influential and the Government usually accept its recommendations, the
Committee does not have any formal powers over instruments, and reports are made to both Houses for their
consideration. In the Lords, Standing Order 73 provides that an aYrmative instrument may not be approved
by the House until the JCSI has reported on it. This provides Members with an assurance that the technical
and legal aspects of an aYrmative instrument will have received expert scrutiny before the House is invited to
approve it.

48. The Committee will usually consider a draft aYrmative instrument between seven and 20 days after it has
been laid before Parliament. However, Ministers sometimes write to the Committee to request that an
instrument be expedited (sometimes owing to genuine urgency; at other times seemingly more for
administrative convenience). The degree of prior liaison with the Committee’s advisers is important, and not
all such requests are agreed. Taking statutory instruments at short notice inevitably means that other work is
disrupted.

49. A recent example of expedited consideration is the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (Parliament and
National Assembly for Wales) Order 2008 (SI2008/1967). This draft aYrmative was laid on 15 July 2008 and
considered by the JCSI later that day.36

31 Section 27(3).
32 See, for example, 17th Report of the Joint Committee on Statutory Instruments, 2006–07, on SI 2007/882 and SR 2007/130; 43rd

Report of the Merits Committee, 2005–06 (correspondence between the Committee and Lord Rooker, Minister of State, DEFRA).
33 For example, the Immigration, Asylum and Nationality Act 2006 (Data Sharing Code of Practice) Order 2007 (SI 2007/3427).
34 For example, 26th Report of the Joint Committee on Statutory Instruments, 2006–07, in respect of SI 2007/1947.
35 The role of the JCSI is to assess the technical qualities of statutory instruments (including those not laid before Parliament, but not

including local instruments or those made by the devolved assemblies, unless laid before Parliament) and to decide whether to draw
the special attention of each House to any instrument on any ground other than the merits of the instrument or the policy behind it.
(The precise terms of reference can be found at the beginning of each report.)

36 See also, 4th Report of the Merits Committee, 2008–09.
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50. The Government can propose that SO 73 be dispensed with, allowing an approval motion to be moved
very shortly after the instrument has been laid, but denying the House the measure of assurance provided by
the JCSI. Since 1990 SO 7337 has been dispensed with three times in respect of specified instruments.38 In
addition, in July 1999 the Leader of the House twice moved a general motion to dispense with the Standing
Order in respect of any aYrmatives relating to Northern Ireland which might be laid on specified days.39 The
Committee may be interested to note the Leader’s comments in moving the first of those motions, on 1 July:

“I should like, if I may, to take this opportunity to emphasise again that the Government take very
seriously the work of the Joint Committee. It is only in the most exceptional circumstances that we move
to suspend the Standing Order.”40

Merits of Statutory Instruments Committee

51. As its title suggests, the Lords’ Merits Committee considers the merits of instruments within its terms of
reference.41 As with the JCSI, the Committee has no formal powers over instruments, and reports are made
to the House for its consideration. Unlike the JCSI, the Merits Committee has no formal scrutiny reserve,
although eVorts are usually made to give the Committee the opportunity to consider statutory instruments
before they are considered by the House, even if this means the Committee takes less than the usual 12 to
15 days between laying and reporting. Such rapid scrutiny relies in part on eVective informal liaison between
the Government Whips’ OYce and the Merits Committee staV.

52. One example is the Enterprise Act 2002 (Specification of Additional Section 58 Consideration) Order
200842 which was laid before Parliament on 7 October 2008, considered by the Merits Committee on
14 October43 and considered in the House of Lords on 16 October, on the same day that the Committee’s
report was published.

53. There have been recent examples of instruments being laid and then withdrawn and relaid because of
defective drafting. This may be a response to a perceived need by Government to lay an instrument quickly,
before the drafting has been finalised. This issue was recently considered by the Merits Committee:

“Disappointingly, we continue to find that Departments need to check instruments more carefully before
laying them. This is clearly shown by the number of corrections or redrafts that have been laid. Chart
1 indicates that 3.5 % of negative instruments were corrected, slightly up on last session (2.5 %).
AYrmative SIs do not appear in the table as they are laid in draft and can be withdrawn and re-laid up
until the debate is held: this facility appears to have been exploited rather more than usual this session.
We have also seen a number of SIs which correct or withdraw legislation a day or two before it is due to
take eVect because Departmental plans have gone awry (eg SI 2007/3149, SI 2008/2677 both of which
were urgent amendments to correct a misunderstanding about instructions between the policy oYcial and
the drafting solicitor). Such last-minute changes cause confusion in the law and should have been picked
up in the clearance process before the original instrument left the Department.”44

Hybrid instruments

54. If an instrument is deemed to be hybrid, the Lords’ procedures relating to it can cause considerable
delay.45 There are no equivalent procedures in the House of Commons and a de-hybridising provision may
be included in the parent Act to disapply the Lords’ procedures.46 This is particularly relevant for powers
which the Government anticipates needing to exercise quickly, and where it is possible that the hybrid
instruments procedure would otherwise be engaged.47 The DPRRC has invited the House to consider whether
the hybrid instruments procedure remains of use.48

37 Previously SO 70.
38 29 July 1998 in respect of the draft Northern Ireland (Sentences) Act 1998 (Specified Organisations) Order 1998; 24 June 1999 in respect

of the draft Prevention of Terrorism (Temporary Provisions) Act 1989 (Revival of Parts IVA and IVB) Order 1999; and 13 June 2005 in
respect of a Direction given by the Secretary of State for Northern Ireland under the Northern Ireland Act 1998 regarding Reduction
of Financial Assistance.

39 On 1 and 14 July 1999.
40 HL Deb, 1 July 1999, col. 436.
41 The Merits Committee considers instruments with a view to determining whether or not the special attention of the House should be

drawn to particular instruments on any of the following grounds: (a) that it is politically or legally important or gives rise to issues of
public policy likely to be of interest to the House; (b) that it may be inappropriate in view of changed circumstances since the enactment
of the parent Act; (c) that it may inappropriately implement European legislation; (d) that it may imperfectly achieve its policy
objectives.

42 SI 2008/2645.
43 29th Report, 2007–08.
44 34th Report, 2007–08, paragraph 4.
45 See Companion to the Standing Orders, House of Lords, 2007, paragraphs 9.36–9.43.
46 See, for example, the Local Transport Bill, and the comments of the DPRRC in its 14th Report, 2007–08.
47 For example, s 259(2) of the Banking (Special Provisions) Act 2008.
48 29th Report, 1998–99, paragraphs 49–52.
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Procedure for debating instruments

55. In the Lords, both aYrmative and negative instruments may be debated in either the Chamber or in Grand
Committee, but decisions are reserved to the Chamber. There are no procedural grounds for choosing one or
the other, though the usual channels often agree that more significant instruments should be debated in the
Chamber rather than Grand Committee. Debating instruments in Grand Committee can take longer than the
Chamber route, because each instrument must be referred to Grand Committee by a motion in the Chamber
and, after it has been debated, must be approved by a motion in the Chamber.49 Such motions are usually
taken formally, but they can be (and occasionally are) debated, even though there has already been a debate
on the instrument in Grand Committee. As a consequence of these considerations, emergency statutory
instruments are likely to be debated in the Chamber.

Instruments laid during recesses

56. If the House is in recess for more than four days, the periods specified in relation to negative and made
aYrmative instruments (ie. the 40 days for which a negative instrument must lie before both Houses, and the
specified period within which a made aYrmative instrument must be approved) are suspended. Thus if a
negative or made aYrmative statutory instrument is laid at the start of a recess it can come into force and
remain in force for a substantial period of time before it can be considered by either House. This may mean
that the two Houses cannot scrutinise an instrument fully, particularly during the long Summer Recess. This
is the case whether or not the instrument in question is laid in response to an urgent situation and, as such,
would be considered emergency legislation.

57. A draft aYrmative instrument may not be laid when the House is not sitting (and the relevant scrutiny
committees do not usually meet in a recess). When the House returns, the committees would scrutinise the
instrument in the usual way, and either House could refuse to approve an instrument if it so chose.

March 2009

Annex A

PREVENTION OF TERRORISM ACT 2005
TIMETABLE OF PROCEEDINGS ON THE BILL

16 December 2004 Judgment of House of Lords in A v Secretary of State for the Home Department
[2004] UKHL 56

Tues 22 February 2005 First Reading—Commons
Wed 23 February Second Reading—Commons
Mon 28 February Committee and remaining stages—Commons
Mon 28 February Lords’ DPRRC Report on Bill published
Mon 28 February Bill printed in Lords under SO 51
Tues 1 March First Reading—Lords
Wed 2 March JCHR Report on Bill published
Thurs 3 March Committee (day 1)—Lords
Mon 7 March Committee (day 2)—Lords
Tues 8 March Report and Third Reading—Lords
Wed 9 March Commons’ Consideration of Lords’ Amendments
Thurs 10 March* Ping pong

11:31–15:11 Lords
18:00–19:50 Commons
22:15–23:26 Lords
1:20–3:06 Commons
5:00–5:56 Lords
8:00–9:37 Commons
11:40–13:11 Lords
15:30–17:07 Commons
18:30–19:00 Lords
19:20 Royal Assent—Commons
19:30 Royal Assent—Lords

Sat 12 March Deadline for passing of the Act
49 Companion to the Standing Orders, House of Lords, 2007, paragraphs 9.15–9.16.
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*Note that although this was formally one sitting day, in practice it lasted until the evening of Friday 11 March.
The gaps between sittings in the Lords and Commons were to allow time for messages to be taken between
the Houses, for the Government and Opposition to table amendments, and for the Public Bill OYces to
prepare the housebills, marshalled lists and procedural briefs.

Annex B

LORDS’ PROCEEDINGS ON RECENT EMERGENCY BILLS

Northern Ireland (St Andrews Agreement) Bill—Session 2006–07

First Reading—21 November 2006

Second Reading, Committee and remaining stages—22 November 2006

Royal Assent—22 November 2006

44 amendments tabled at Committee Stage—none agreed

Northern Ireland (St Andrews Agreement) (No. 2) Bill—Session 2006–07

First Reading, Second Reading, Committee and remaining stages—27 March 2007

Royal Assent—27 March 2007

Bill not printed in the Lords

0 amendments tabled

Banking (Special Provisions) Bill—Session 2007–08

First Reading and Second Reading—20 February 2008

Committee, remaining stages and Ping Pong—21 February 2008

Royal Assent—21 February 2008

Bill printed under SO 51

21 amendments tabled at Committee stage—5 Government amendments agreed; 3 Non-Government
amendments agreed

3 amendments tabled at Report stage—none agreed

3 Government amendments tabled during Ping Pong—all agreed

Criminal Evidence (Witness Anonymity) Bill— Session 2007–08

First Reading—8 July 2008

Second Reading—10 July 2008

Committee and remaining stages—15 July 2008

Royal Assent—21 July 2008

32 amendments tabled at Committee stage—2 Government amendments agreed

Memorandum by Law Reform Committee of the Bar Council

1. This is the response of the Law Reform Committee of the Bar Council to the call for evidence by the Select
Committee on the Constitution dated 29 January 2009. The Committee set out a list of numbered questions
concerned with emergency legislation, and indicates “those responding to this call….are not necessarily
expected to address all these points but instead to focus on those issues on which they have special expertise
or about which they are especially concerned”. The Law Reform Committee wishes to provide short evidence
concerned primarily with the first three questions.

Q1 and Q2 A practical definition of “emergency legislation”—and practical examples

2. The Committee considers that the very nature of emergency legislation makes it diYcult to produce an all-
embracing definition. The need to, and desirability of, abbreviating ordinary parliamentary procedures is
likely to arise in a variety of circumstances which are inherently diYcult to predict. Rather than attempt a
definition, it may be more fruitful to create parliamentary processes which concentrate on ensuring that those
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promoting legislation on a shortened time-table are required, in a fully eVective way, to provide a justification
for the treatment of the legislation as “emergency” legislation. Without attempting further definition, the
requirement must be the existence of an objective situation “on the ground” which has to be addressed on an
emergency basis. The justification must be fully articulated in a way which enables both parliamentarians and
the public to understand that the curtailing of ordinary procedures is appropriate, despite the disadvantages
that flow from this.

3. Two contrasting examples can be given of the way in which this approach can be illustrated.

4. First, there is the example of the Banking (Special Provisions) Act 2008 given by the Constitution
Committee itself. This legislation was brought in response to the failure of Northern Rock. A case for the
existence of an objective situation meriting an “emergency” approach could be readily articulated. The same
is probably true of the Evidence (Witness Anonymity) Act 2008, at least in the sense that the state of play in
a large number of on-going criminal trials could properly be pointed to the justification for emergency action.
This comment should not be taken as endorsement of the principle underlying the legislation, which is highly
controversial; nor does it mean that the LRC necessarily considers it appropriate that such important policy
decisions were taken on a fore-shortened basis. It is simply an acceptance that with this legislation it was
possible to point to the objective situation said to require emergency action.

5. In the LRC’s view, the same is not the case in all recent examples of curtailed parliamentary procedures.
The provisions regulating demonstrations within a designated area were introduced at a relatively late stage
in the parliamentary history of the Serious Organised Crime and Terrorism Act 2005 (“SOCTA”). They
introduced a complex regime for regulating demonstrations which are now widely considered to be very
diYcult in practice for the police to operate. The drafting of the provisions led to the litigation brought by Mr
Haw (see [2006] QB 780]) in which the Divisional Court considered that the legislation missed its primary
target—Mr Haw himself—although this conclusion was reversed by the Court of Appeal. The LRC does not
consider that ministers were able to, or did, articulate a case for this novel and complex means of regulating
demonstrations being introduced on a near emergency basis.

Q3 Parliamentary Scrutiny and lobbying

6. It is plain that the use of severely curtailed parliamentary processes does have a major impact on the quality
of parliamentary scrutiny. The provisions of SOCTA for example were very diYcult to operate in practice and
would undoubtedly have benefited from examination at greater length.

Q6 Renewal and sunset clauses

7. In many situations, a “sunset” clause is an appropriate safeguard. The one year time-limit on the Banking
(Special Provisions) Act 2008 (s2(8)) provides an example of the successful use of such a provision.

18 March 2009

Memorandum by James Lee, Lecturer in Law, Birmingham Law School

I write in response to the Committee’s inquiry into Emergency Legislation. I am a Lecturer in Law at the
University of Birmingham. My research focuses on judicial reasoning in the House of Lords and the law of
obligations, especially in the area of causation. By coincidence, I have been reflecting upon the interaction
between Parliament and particular judicial decisions and I am grateful for the opportunity to contribute to
the Committee’s Inquiry.

I attach two appendices to my submission: the relevant provisions of the Compensation Act 2006, and a
passage from the Government’s Consultation on Pleural Plaques.
50 Lecturer in Law, University of Birmingham.
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LEGISLATIVE REVERSAL OF DECISIONS OF THE HOUSE OF LORDS:
LESSONS FROM TORT

JAMES LEE51

I. Introduction

Emergency legislation is an important subject for study, because it throws into relief the relationship between
legislation and the common law. The relationship was recognised by the great jurist William Blackstone, who
wrote in the first volume of his Commentaries in 1765:

The mischiefs that have arisen to the public from inconsiderate alterations in our laws, are too obvious
to be called in question; and how far they have been owing to the defective education of our senators, is
a point well worthy the public attention. The common law of England has fared like other venerable
edifices of antiquity, which rash and unexperienced workmen have ventured to new-dress and refine, with
all the rage of modern improvement. Hence frequently it’s symmetry has been destroyed, it’s proportions
distorted, and it’s majestic simplicity exchanged for specious embellishments and fantastic novelties.52

This submission will examine the legislative response to the decision of the House of Lords in Barker v Corus
[2006] UKHL 20, decided on 3 May 2006. S. 3 of the Compensation Act 2006 was inserted into the
Compensation Bill at a late stage to reverse this eVect of this decision on claims by victims of asbestos-related
mesothelioma, and the Act received the Royal Assent on 25 July 2006. While not wishing to be as strident in
my criticism as Blackstone, I shall endeavour to suggest that there are significant diYculties with the manner
of the legislative enactment.

II. Context

Before examining the Parliamentary intervention, it is necessary to set out the common law context. To
succeed in a claim for negligence, a claimant must prove that the defendant breached a duty of care which they
owed to the claimant and that that breach caused the claimant actionable harm. The claimant is able to
establish factual casuation if they can prove that, “but for” the defendant’s breach, they would still not have
suVered the damage. In Fairchild v Glenhaven Funeral Services,53 the House of Lords unanimously (but with
individual reasoning) recognised an exception to the need for a claimant to prove “but for” causation where
they were unable to do so because of an “evidential gap”, building on the authority of McGhee v National Coal
Board.54 The question facing the House was expressed by Lord Bingham, then Senior Law Lord, thus:

“A and B owed C a duty to protect C against a risk of a particular and very serious kind. They failed to
perform that duty. As a result the risk eventuated and C suVered the very harm against which it was the
duty of A and B to protect him. Had there been only one tortfeasor, C would have been entitled to
recover, but because the duty owed to him was broken by two tortfeasors and not only one, he is held to
be entitled to recover against neither, because of his inability to prove what is scientifically
unprovable.”55

Both Fairchild and Barker v Corus56 concerned this general situation in the context of asbestos-related
mesothelioma. The claimant or deceased had been exposed to asbestos while working for more than one
employer, who were in a breach of duty to their employees, but only one of the employers was still available
to be sued. Mesothelioma is an indivisible rather than cumulative injury, and so it was not the case that each
defendant had directly contributed to the injury itself, as would be the case with asbestosis.57 Due to the
limitations of scientific knowledge about mesothelioma, it was not possible to determine the source of the
causative asbestos fibre. Therefore the claimant could not prove that, but for any given employer’s negligence,
the injury would not have occurred. As a result, they could not satisfy the ordinary principles of factual
casuation to succeed in their claim. In Fairchild, the House held that, in such cases, the claimant should be
allowed to “jump the evidentiary gap” and the defendant could be held liable on the basis of material
contribution to risk of harm.

In Fairchild, the House did not determine the extent of liability under the exception, but it was assumed that
liability was in solidum, ie, that the defendant was liable for the full extent of the harm. However, in Barker,
a majority of four Law Lords held that damages should be proportionate in accordance to the risk created by
51 Lecturer in Law, University of Birmingham.
52 Blackstone, 1 Commentaries. For an eloquent argument about the duties incumbent upon legislatures, see J. Waldron, “Legislating

with Integrity” (2003–04) 72 Fordham L. Rev. 373.
53 [2002] UKHL 22.
54 1973 SC (HL) 37, Ct Sess; [1973] 1 WLR 1; [1972] 3 All ER 1008, HL(Sc).
55 [2002] UKHL 22, at [9].
56 [2006] UKHL 20.
57 See, for example, Holtby v Brigham & Cowan (Hull) Ltd [2000] EWCA Civ 111.
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the individual defendant, Lord Rodger strongly dissenting. Of the House who sat in Barker, two, Lord
HoVmann and Lord Rodger, had sat in Fairchild, and they vehemently disagreed about the scope of the
exception. As to reasoning, a 3:2 majority, the House conceived the “damage” as being the creation of the risk,
rather than the mesothelioma (Baroness Hale concurred in the result, but adopted Lord Rodger’s analysis on
this point).

There is open debate amongst tort lawyers as to the merits of the decision in Barker. The line of cases has been
labelled “mesothelioma jurisprudence”.58 Some academics endorse the approach of the majority,59 arguing
that “although there may well exist strong arguments in favour of maintaining the rule against apportionment
where causation can be established on an orthodox basis, it is perfectly reasonable to argue for a modification
of that rule where the causal criteria have themselves been altered”.60 This author’s view is that the
relationship between Fairchild and Barker is troublesome:61 but it should be noted that the “risk as damage”
approach taken by the majority in Barker may be seen to be problematic, as contribution to risk is not usually
recoverable as damage. “Lord Rodger62 suggests that the decision in Barker undermines the justice of the
Fairchild decision in allowing the claimants to recover even though not all the potential defendants were before
the courts. On the Barker interpretation, one is left to wonder what the point of Fairchild was. The rough
justice of liability under Fairchild is not so much smoothed as undercut.”63

III. Legislative Response

A consideration of the Hansard debates in response to Barker is instructive when reflecting upon emergency
legislation, as it reveals that the desire to reverse what was felt to be an injustice caused Parliament to act
without full regard to the consequences for the coherence of the law.64

The Government was not pleased with the decision in Barker. The Minister for Employment and Welfare
Reform (Mr. Jim Murphy) observed: “The Government and I are as disappointed with the Barker judgment
as hon. Members are, not only because it adds further uncertainty and diYculty, and puts a further burden on
those who have been diagnosed, but because it will lead to unfairness in how compensation is provided and
oVered… The Government find that utterly unacceptable.”65

The response of many MPs to the decision in Barker was condemnatory and emotive: the decision was
described as “appalling”,66 “outrageous and wholly unacceptable”.67 We may take a selection of
observations from the Hansard reports of the Commons debates and a Westminster Hall debate as an
illustration of the strength of feeling:

“The Barker judgment has no legitimacy, and a change in that respect is needed very urgently”.68

“The Barker ruling is a disgrace to the House. Trade unions and their legal services teams should be able
to work through us in this House to overturn that disgraceful decision taken in the other place. It is about
real people … if we do not overturn the Barker decision, the reality will be that of a man facing a firing
squad armed with five guns. A bullet pierces his heart. Nobody knows which gun fired the bullet, so
nobody is found guilty, but the truth is that they should all be found guilty.”;69 “on 3 May the House of
Lords gave a judgment that would slash the amount of compensation that is paid to workers dying of
asbestos-induced mesothelioma.”70

“My hon. Friend listed professional bodies, voluntary organisations, relatives, families and so on. Does
he know any other three people, apart from the three Law Lords, who agree with the decision?”71

“If we do nothing else as legislators, we should protect those vulnerable people who are suVering as a
result of the Law Lords’ decision—I sometimes wonder what planet they are on when they make such
decisions, which are seriously oVensive to people who are suVering from that terrible disease.”72

58 Employers’ Liability Policy “Trigger” Litigation [2008] EWHC 2692 (QB) at [47]–[58], per Burton J.
59 See the work of my colleague Sarah Green: “Winner Takes All” (2004) 120 LQR 566 (on the Court of Appeal decision); “The Risk

Pricing Principle: A Pragmatic Approach to Causation and Apportionment of Damages” Law, Probability and Risk 2005 4:159. See
also Adam Kramer, “Smoothing the rough justice of the Fairchild principle” (2006) 122 LQR 547.

60 “Winner Takes All” (2004) 120 LQR 566 at 568.
61 J. Lee “Fidelity in interpretation: Lord HoVmann and the Adventure of the Empty House” (2008) 28 Legal Studies 1.
62 [2006] UKHL 20 at [71].
63 “Fidelity in interpretation: Lord HoVmann and the Adventure of the Empty House” (2008) 28 Legal Studies 1 at 12.
64 An archive of the legislative history of the Act can be found at the Department for Constitutional AVairs website at http://

www.dca.gov.uk/legist/compensation.htm.
65 13 Jun 2006 : Column 213WH.
66 Judy Mallaber (Amber Valley) (Lab): 7 Jun 2006 : Column 245 (question to the Prime Minister).
67 Ian Stewart (Eccles) (Lab): 13 Jun 2006 : Column 200WH.
68 Tony Lloyd (Manchester Central) (Lab): 8 Jun 2006 : Column 454.
69 Mr. David Anderson (Blaydon) (Lab): 8 Jun 2006 : Column 498.
70 Jim Sheridan (Paisley and Renfrewshire, North) (Lab): 13 Jun 2006 : Column 192WH.
71 Mr. Jim Devine (Livingston) (Lab): 13 Jun 2006 : Column 194WH.
72 Jim Sheridan: 13 Jun 2006 : Column 195WH.
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Though MPs are entitled to say what they like in Parliament, these are very strong words about a decision of
the Appellate Committee of the House of Lords. To describe one of the House’s decisions as having “no
legitimacy” is a bold and potentially damaging claim. That said, it must be conceded that some MPs oVered
more balanced assessments: “The lawyers and the judiciary have wrestled, rightly and valiantly, with complex
and diYcult law, but it has created despair for the families whom we represent.”73 Similarly, Mr. Tim Boswell
urged that it was necessary to “look at the underlying legal concepts and, at the same time, confront the facts
concerning the individuals and their families with this terrible disease.”74

IV. Compensation Act 2006

Following the debates and severe backbench pressure, a new clause was inserted into the Compensation Bill
then before Parliament. This provision sought to reverse Barker. But the Government and Parliament were
unduly focused on the particular problems faced by mesothelioma victims, without regard to the wider scope
of the exception to causation principles seen in the cases of Fairchild and Barker. The short-title of the Act
names one of its purposes as “to make provision about damages for mesothelioma”. Subsections 3(1) and (2)
make clear that the provision is further limited to asbestos-related mesothelioma. Incongruously, Part 1 of the
Act, in which s. 3 is located is entitled “Standard of Care”, when the section deals with causation (this is, of
course, a result of the section being introduced at a late stage).

S. 3 provides (so far as material):

(1) This section applies where—

(a) a person (“the responsible person”) has negligently or in breach of statutory duty caused or permitted
another person (“the victim”) to be exposed to asbestos,

(b) the victim has contracted mesothelioma as a result of exposure to asbestos,

(c) because of the nature of mesothelioma and the state of medical science, it is not possible to determine
with certainty whether it was the exposure mentioned in paragraph (a) or another exposure which
caused the victim to become ill, and

(d) the responsible person is liable in tort, by virtue of the exposure mentioned in paragraph (a), in
connection with damage caused to the victim by the disease (whether by reason of having materially
increased a risk or for any other reason).

(2) The responsible person shall be liable—

(a) in respect of the whole of the damage caused to the victim by the disease (irrespective of whether the
victim was also exposed to asbestos—

(i) other than by the responsible person, whether or not in circumstances in which another person
has liability in tort, or

(ii) by the responsible person in circumstances in which he has no liability in tort), and

(b) jointly and severally with any other responsible person.

S. 16(3) provides that “Section 3 shall be treated as having always had eVect”, but s. 16(4) provides that the
section does not apply to claims settled or determined prior to 3 May 2006 (the date of the decision in Barker).
This limitation is due to the fact that section aims to restore the pre-Barker assumption that liability under
Fairchild was for the full extent of the damages, and so does not need to apply to cases prior to Barker. Thus
the section applies retrospectively to all cases decided or settled between the decision in Barker and the
enactment of the legislation.

Judicial interpretations of the section have been limited to the context of mesothelioma claims, and so to speak
of “reversing”75 Barker may be accurate. However, there is a problem, which is alluded to by Sedley LJ:

“In Barker v Corus UK Ltd [2006] UKHL 20 the House held liability for such wrongdoing to be several
and not joint, with the result that recovery had to be proportioned to each defendant’s contribution to
the totality of the employee’s exposure. This doctrine was reversed by s.3 of the Compensation Act 2006,
which provides, in substance, that in mesothelioma cases each contributory wrongdoer is liable for the
whole of the damage, but without prejudice to its right to recover contribution from other tortfeasors.”76

73 Mr. Michael Wills (North Swindon) (Lab): 13 Jun 2006 : Column 203WH (and generally Columns 202–4WH).
74 13 Jun 2006 : Columns 208WH (and generally Columns 208WH–211WH).
75 Silber J in Rice v Secretary of State for Business Enterprise & Regulatory Reform & Anor [2008] EWHC 3216 (QB) at [162]: “Mr. Kent

accepts the argument that because Mr Rice’s condition of mesothelioma was indivisible, the decision in Fairchild v Glenhaven Funeral
Homes [2003] 1 AC 32 provides a special rule whereby each tortfeasor, who is responsible for materially increasing the risk, is treated
as having caused the disease. In addition, section 3 of the Compensation Act 2006 (which reverses Barker v Corus [2006] 2 AC 572),
provides that each tortfeasor is liable in full subject to any right of contribution from any other.”

76 Sedley LJ in Brett v University of Reading [2007] EWCA Civ 88 at [2].
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The diYculty is that the Act only applies to applications of the Fairchild principle in asbestos-related
mesotheliona, whereas, although that was the factual matrix of the claims in Fairchild and Barker, the
exception is expressly not limited to to such cases. Indeed, one of the key points in Lord HoVmann’s speech
in Barker is the recantation of his view in Fairchild that the exception could only apply where there was a single
causative agent:

“…In my opinion it is an essential condition for the operation of the exception that the impossibility of
proving that the defendant caused the damage arises out of the existence of another potential causative
agent which operated in the same way.”77

This means that Barker must still apply to similar non-asbestos cases, producing an unsatisfactory
inconsistency in approach. The focus throughout the Commons and Lords debates was on asbestos-related
mesothelioma. But mesothelioma may be caused by other things, but the Act would not apply to claims in
such contexts, let alone claims arising under the Fairchild exception in very diVerent situations. How, then, are
we to interpret the common law in the future? It might be argued that, since Parliament is presumed to legislate
in accordance with the common law, if Parliament only wished to prevent the eVect of Barker in a particular
situation in which it would apply, then so be it.

But this position is far from satisfactory. At no point in the debates was the more general application of Barker
even adverted to, let alone seriously considered. If the opposition was to the introduction of liability
proportionate to contribution to risk where a defendant is liable under Fairchild, it is not easy to see why that
should be limited to asbestos-related mesothelioma claims.78 The Fairchild exception is based on justice and
policy considerations, as those considerations should apply regardless of the circumstances. As I have written
elsewhere: “The irony here is that the law has now been rendered even more incoherent than it was in Barker,
as the general approach to liability, of risk as damage, is untouched by the Act. We have a statutory exception
to a common law exception.”79

There is a clear tension between Parliament and the judiciary in this area, as illustrated by the attempts by
some MPs to introduce legislation concerning pleural plaques, which the Court of Appeal had held did not
constitute actionable damage.80 The Government declined to support an amendment, because the House of
Lords was to hear the appeal:

Bridget Prentice: “I do not believe that it is right for the Government to pre-empt the Law Lords’
consideration of those cases by legislating in that way at this time.”

Chris Bryant: “But if the judges get it wrong, which they seem to do quite often, what legislative remedy
would be available in the fairly near future?”

Bridget Prentice: “I hope that, with the debates going on here and in the other place and with the careful
consideration of the judges, they do not get it wrong.”81

This is intemperate talk. It is implicit that if the judges do “get it wrong”, a legislative reversal will be swift. It
should be recognised that Parliament did have the benefit of helpful insights by David Howarth MP (a Liberal
Democrat and a legal academic from the University of Cambridge) and Lord Goodhart (an eminent barrister
and the son of a legal academic), but their focus was, understandably, on other issues which were in danger of
being overlooked. David Howarth pointed out that any “reversal” of Barker had to consider the second
question decided in the case, as to whether Fairchild could apply where the claimant himself was responsible
for some of the exposure to asbestos.82 Lord Goodhart was concerned with the retrospectivity in the Bill, but
was satisfied that it was justified in the exceptional circumstances.83 Lord Goodhart also made a crucial point,
making clear that the House of Lords was entitled to reach the decision which it did in Barker:

“It would be incorrect to say that the decision in Barker v Corus was wrong. In a sense, no decision of
the Appellate Committee of your Lordships’ House can be wrong; its members declare the law, and the
law, as declared by them, is the law.”84

Yet even with these important interventions from learned lawyers, there was no mention of the broader
causation issues. Instead, we had a former Lord Chancellor hoping that “legal jargon would in no way deprive
those who worked in [the shipbuilding industry] of their undoubted rights.”85

77 Barker at [24].
78 This problem has not yet been raised outside of examination questions and academic articles.
79 J. Lee “Fidelity in interpretation: Lord HoVmann and the Adventure of the Empty House” (2008) 28 Legal Studies 1 at 12–13.
80 Rothwell v Chemical & Insulating Co. Ltd. & Anor [2006] EWCA Civ 27 (26 January 2006).
81 Bridget Prentice and Chris Bryant: 17 July 2006 : Column 49.
82 17 July 2006 : Column 43.
83 19 July 2006 : Columns 1319–1320.
84 19 July 2006 : Columns 1319.
85 Lord Mackay of Clashfern: 19 July 2006 : Column 1322.
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It is fitting to close this section by quoting from Lord Hunt of Wirral, who spoke for the Opposition in the
House of Lords debate on the amended Compensation Bill:

“I have to say—in sorrow, not anger—that these past few days have not seen the parliamentary process
in its best light. A judicial decision of the House’s Appellate Committee was made in May; an amendment
to overturn it first appeared on the Order Paper last Friday; it was then debated and adopted in another
place on Monday; just two days later, here we are debating it in the expectation that it will receive Royal
Assent in a matter of days. I fully accept the urgency of this matter—this disease will not indulge us in
our deliberations and every day more people are struck down—but it might have been better for the
Government to have spent the summer preparing a comprehensive Bill to overhaul the system in a
holistic, coherent fashion rather than unbalancing the Bill in this way… We are legislating in haste. Let
us hope that we do not repent at leisure.”86

V. Pleural Plaques

It was mentioned above that, during the Parliamentary debates over Barker, some MPs sought to legislate
concerning pleural plaques in response to a decision of the Court of Appeal in Rothwell.87 The Government
declined to pre-empt the decision of the House of Lords. In Johnston v NEI International Combustion Ltd,88

the House confirmed the Court of Appeal’s decision. Following that decision, many of the same MPs who
were active in the Compensation Act debates sought its reversal through statute, relying on the precedent set
by the Compensation Act.

Two brief reflections are appropriate here on some apparent constitutional dangers. Firstly, it is important that
emergency legislation to reverse specific decisions of the House of Lords (or the new Supreme Court) does not
become the norm. Any such interventions are, and must be exceptional. Secondly, it is unwise and
constitutionally dangerous for the threat of a legislative reversal to be in the minds of the judiciary when they
are deciding cases.

The Government has, however, been rather more circumspect in its response to Johnston. A consultation paper
was produced by the Ministry of Justice (the relevant passages of which are included in an appendix below),
expressing the provisional view that a legislative reaction to Johnston would not be appropriate. One of the
reasons was the unanimity of the House in Johnston. If that is a threshold criterion, then there is a danger that
it may have an insidious eVect on judicial practice: whether a judge dissents or not should not be influenced
by the prospect of inviting a legislative reversal of a majority decision of the highest court in the land. In Barker,
Lord Rodger was the lone dissentient in the outcome. Another argument oVered against reversing Johnston
is the intricacy of the question of actionability of damage for the law of negligence. The issues involved in
pleural plaques claims are indeed complex, but so, it has been argued, are the issues relating to causation and
the actionability of “risk as damage” raised by Barker, which have wider implications than were appreciated
during the passage of the Compensation Act.

VI. Conclusions

In Fairchild itself, Lord Nicholls cautioned that “[to] be acceptable the law must be coherent. It must be
principled.”89 In an entirely diVerent context, Lord Jauncey of Tullichettle observed:

“If the law is to retain the respect of the public it should where possible walk hand in hand with common
sense. There are, of course, occasions where legislation both domestic and European appear to make this
impossible but where there is no such legislative inhibition the law should be interpreted and applied so
far as possible to produce a result which accords with common sense.”90

It has been argued here that the legislative response to the decision in Barker v Corus, while commanding all-
party support and motivated by understandable concerns for victims of an horrific disease, has introduced
incoherence to the law. This incoherence resulted from an apparent lack of consideration of the nature of the
exception recognised in Fairchild. While the Government’s more measured response to Johnston is less
alarming, it is hard to reconcile the new approach with the attitude adopted to Barker. It would appear that
the Government is developing principles which it intends to determine when it is appropriate for Parliament
to intervene to reverse a particular decision. During a debate on pleural plaques, the Minister justified the
Government’s disinclination to legislate, citing “the complexities of the problems involved [which] explains
why we have taken far longer to come up with a plan for pleural plaques than for mesothelioma, which was
86 Lord Hunt of Wirral: 19 July 2006 : Columns 1318–1319.
87 [2006] EWCA Civ 27.
88 [2007] UKHL 39 (17 October 2007).
89 [2002] UKHL 22 at 36.
90 Reeves v MPC [1999] 3 WLR 363 at 377.
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a much more straightforward case.”91 I have sought to demonstrate here that the problems involved in Barker
were far from straightforward. The legislative reversal of Barker was an unhappy intervention, based on an
apparent misunderstanding of the complexities of the legal issues involved. To return to Blackstone, we have
seen that, in s.3 of the Compensation Act 2006, we have a michieveous and inconsiderate alteration of the law.

13 March 2009

Annex 1

COMPENSATION ACT 2006

An Act to specify certain factors that may be taken into account by a court determining a claim in negligence
or breach of statutory duty; to make provision about damages for mesothelioma; and to make provision for
the regulation of claims management services.

Section 3 Mesothelioma: Damages

(1) This section applies where—

(a) a person (“the responsible person”) has negligently or in breach of statutory duty caused or permitted
another person (“the victim”) to be exposed to asbestos,

(b) the victim has contracted mesothelioma as a result of exposure to asbestos,

(c) because of the nature of mesothelioma and the state of medical science, it is not possible to determine
with certainty whether it was the exposure mentioned in paragraph (a) or another exposure which
caused the victim to become ill, and

(d) the responsible person is liable in tort, by virtue of the exposure mentioned in paragraph (a), in
connection with damage caused to the victim by the disease (whether by reason of having materially
increased a risk or for any other reason).

(2) The responsible person shall be liable—

(a) in respect of the whole of the damage caused to the victim by the disease (irrespective of whether the
victim was also exposed to asbestos—

(i) other than by the responsible person, whether or not in circumstances in which another person
has liability in tort, or

(ii) by the responsible person in circumstances in which he has no liability in tort), and

(b) jointly and severally with any other responsible person.

(3) Subsection (2) does not prevent—

(a) one responsible person from claiming a contribution from another, or

(b) a finding of contributory negligence.

(4) In determining the extent of contributions of diVerent responsible persons in accordance with subsection
(3)(a), a court shall have regard to the relative lengths of the periods of exposure for which each was
responsible; but this subsection shall not apply—

(a) if or to the extent that responsible persons agree to apportion responsibility amongst themselves on
some other basis, or

(b) if or to the extent that the court thinks that another basis for determining contributions is more
appropriate in the circumstances of a particular case.

(5) In subsection (1) the reference to causing or permitting a person to be exposed to asbestos includes a
reference to failing to protect a person from exposure to asbestos.

(6) In the application of this section to Scotland—

(a) a reference to tort shall be taken as a reference to delict, and

(b) a reference to a court shall be taken to include a reference to a jury.

(7) The Treasury may make regulations about the provision of compensation to a responsible person where—

(a) he claims, or would claim, a contribution from another responsible person in accordance with
subsection (3)(a), but

91 Bridget Prentice: 4 Jun 2008 : Column 269WH.
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(b) he is unable or likely to be unable to obtain the contribution, because an insurer of the other
responsible person is unable or likely to be unable to satisfy the claim for a contribution.

(8) The regulations may, in particular—

(a) replicate or apply (with or without modification) a provision of the Financial Services
Compensation Scheme;

(b) replicate or apply (with or without modification) a transitional compensation provision;

(c) provide for a specified person to assess and pay compensation;

(d) provide for expenses incurred (including the payment of compensation) to be met out of levies
collected in accordance with section 213(3)(b) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (c. 8)
(the Financial Services Compensation Scheme);

(e) modify the eVect of a transitional compensation provision;

(f) enable the Financial Services Authority to amend the Financial Services Compensation Scheme;

(g) modify the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 in its application to an amendment pursuant to
paragraph (f);

(h) make, or require the making of, provision for the making of a claim by a responsible person for
compensation whether or not he has already satisfied claims in tort against him;

(i) make, or require the making of, provision which has eVect in relation to claims for contributions made
on or after the date on which this Act is passed.

(9) Provision made by virtue of subsection (8)(a) shall cease to have eVect when the Financial Services
Compensation Scheme is amended by the Financial Services Authority by virtue of subsection (8)(f).

(10) In subsections (7) and (8)—

(a) a reference to a responsible person includes a reference to an insurer of a responsible person, and

(b) “transitional compensation provision” means a provision of an enactment which is made under the
Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and—

(i) preserves the eVect of the Policyholders Protection Act 1975 (c. 75), or

(ii) applies the Financial Services Compensation Scheme in relation to matters arising before its
establishment.

(11) Regulations under subsection (7)—

(a) may include consequential or incidental provision,

(b) may make provision which has eVect generally or only in relation to specified cases or circumstances,

(c) may make diVerent provision for diVerent cases or circumstances,

(d) shall be made by statutory instrument, and

(e) may not be made unless a draft has been laid before and approved by resolution of each House of
Parliament.

16 Commencement

(1) The preceding provisions of this Act, other than sections 1, 2 and 3, shall come into force in accordance
with provision made by order of the Secretary of State.

(2) An order under subsection (1)—

(a) may make provision generally or only for specified purposes,

(b) may make diVerent provision for diVerent purposes,

(c) may make transitional, consequential or incidental provision, and

(d) shall be made by statutory instrument.

(3) Section 3 shall be treated as having always had eVect.

(4) But the section shall have no eVect in relation to—

(a) a claim which is settled before 3 May 2006 (whether or not legal proceedings in relation to the claim
have been instituted), or

(b) legal proceedings which are determined before that date.
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(5) Where a claim is settled on or after that date and before the date on which this Act is passed, a party to
the settlement may apply to a relevant court to have the settlement varied; and—

(a) a court is a relevant court for that purpose if it had, or would have had, jurisdiction to determine the
claim by way of legal proceedings,

(b) an application shall be brought as an application in, or by way of, proceedings on the claim, and

(c) a court to which an application is made shall vary the settlement to such extent (if any) as appears
appropriate to reflect the eVect of section 3.

(6) Where legal proceedings are determined on or after that date and before the date on which this Act is
passed, a party to the proceedings may apply to the court to vary the determination; and—

(a) “the court” means the court which determined the proceedings,

(b) the application shall be treated as an application in the proceedings, and

(c) the court shall vary the determination to such extent (if any) as appears appropriate to reflect the eVect
of section 3.

17 Extent

(1) This Act shall extend to England and Wales only.

(2) But section 3 (and section 16(3) to (6)) shall extend to—

(a) England and Wales,

(b) Scotland, and

(c) Northern Ireland.

Annex 2

MINISTRY OF JUSTICE CONSULTATION ON PLEURAL PLAQUES (EXTRACTS)

Available at http://www.justice.gov.uk/publications/cp1408.htm

35. The House of Lords judgment raises very complex issues. It was a unanimous decision based on
fundamental principles of the law of negligence. Given the complexity of the issues and the strength of the
findings of the Law Lords the Government considers that there would need to be very strong reasons to
interfere with the Law Lords’ decision. Two main arguments have been advanced against such a proposal.

36. First, to ensure that all those aVected by the decision could receive compensation, the legislation would
need to apply to the cases included in the decision itself and all cases where there had been no judgment or
settlement prior to the House of Lords decision. This would include all those whose cases had been stayed
pending the House of Lords decision or the Court of Appeal decision, or had been withdrawn/discontinued,
or who had not commenced proceedings because of the Court of Appeal or House of Lords decision.
Retrospective provisions of this nature could potentially raise issues in relation to the European Convention
of Human Rights on the basis that they interfered with settled arrangements in a way which could be argued
to breach the Convention. There is an argument that exceptionally a judgment can be overturned by primary
legislative intervention. It would be necessary to assess the proportionality of any such interference and the
likely eVect any change would have, against the justification for the interference, especially given the very clear
nature of the Law Lords’ reasoning. Retrospective provisions were included in the Compensation Act 2006 to
reverse the eVect of the House of Lords judgment in Barker v Corus (and conjoined cases) in relation to who
would be liable in mesothelioma claims. However, in that instance the Government made clear that these were
highly exceptional circumstances aVecting seriously ill claimants, and the degree of retrospectivity aVected a
very small number of cases over a very short period. The provisions simply removed a procedural hurdle to
people getting compensation for mesothelioma quickly, and did not relate to making the condition
compensatable in the first place.

37. Secondly, the determination as to whether a particular disease or condition constitutes an injury for which
compensation is available has traditionally been a matter for the courts under the common law.

38. Interference with the fundamental principles on which the Law Lords’ decision was based could have
wider consequences and could be used as a precedent to argue for compensation in other situations. For
example, it might lead to calls for compensation in other circumstances where no actionable damage has yet
occurred, such as simply for the exposure to asbestos, and the worry from such exposure, regardless of whether
this has resulted in any symptoms or injury.
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39. It might also raise the possibility of compensation claims being made much more widely for the risk of an
illness occurring or for worry that something might happen (for example in relation to the eVects of passive
smoking in the workplace or exposure to the sun in the building industry or other jobs involving outdoor
work). If developments in the law of this nature occurred, this could considerably increase the level of litigation
and the possibility of weak or spurious claims and could have damaging eVects on business and the economy.

40. In addition, there is a risk that the desirability of raising awareness of the nature of pleural plaques and
allaying unnecessary concerns could be undermined by the provision of compensation, as this could send
mixed messages about the nature of the condition and increase concerns.

…

42. It is clear that the question of changing the law of negligence so that pleural plaques constitute actionable
damage raises many complicated issues. While we invite views on overturning the judgment, we are not
currently minded to favour this approach, not least because of the implications for the fundamental integrity
of the law of negligence.

Letter from Mark Tushnet, William Nelson Cromwell Professor of Law, Harvard Law School

I am William Nelson Cromwell Professor of Law, Harvard Law School, and write in response to the call for
evidence on emergency legislation. I have written several articles on the “political constitution” of emergency
powers in both parliamentary and separation of powers systems,92 and am submitting this evidence solely on
my own behalf. I confine my comments to only some of the questions posed by the Committee.

1. Is it possible to provide a practical definition of “emergency legislation?” In general, I believe that the
answer is, No, for two related reasons. (a) It is in the nature of emergencies that they are unanticipated. One
might identify the generic characteristics of particular forms of emergency in advance of the event,93 but their
specific manifestations will almost never fit ex ante definitions precisely. (b) As a result, any ex ante definition
of emergency legislation is likely to lead to unproductive controversies over whether the situation at hand is
an emergency as defined or, in contrast, whether the situation falls outside the ex ante definition. To succeed,
a statutory definition ex ante would have to be exclusive, in the sense that the government could not proceed
on an expedited basis unless the statutory definition of “emergency” was met. Then, however, two possibilities
arise. (i) The government might contend, and its opponents might dispute, that the circumstances fit the
statutory definition. Such arguments will almost certainly be unproductive and will divert attention from what
should be at the heart of the discussion – whether legislation is urgently required. (ii) The government might
concede that the circumstances do not fit the statutory definition but insist that expedited consideration is
needed because the circumstances, though unanticipated by the statute’s drafters, require immediate action.
If that position is defensible – and it may well be, or at least the government’s supporters will so regard it –
either the statute defining emergencies will be honored, thereby obstructing the expedited consideration of
legislation the government believes to be urgently needed, or it will be disregarded, thereby bringing the
statutory definition into disrepute.

Put another way, ex ante definitions are likely not to be “practical.”

2. The best alternative, in my judgment, is to allow the government to seek expedited consideration of
legislation without restriction as to the circumstances under which it can do to, but to require special
procedures when the government so chooses. Designing such procedures is outside my area of expertise, but
the basic features would include transparency, a timetable that though short is not unreasonably so given the
nature of the proposed legislation (and in particular given the extent to which reasonable questions could be
raised about the legislation’s compatibility with fundamental rights), and almost certainly some provision for
subsequent parliamentary review and mandatory consideration of revisions on a slower timetable.

30 April 2009

92 The Political Constitution of Emergency Powers: Some Conceptual Issues, in Emergencies and the Limits of Legality (Victor V. Ramraj
ed. 2008); The Political Constitution of Emergency Powers: Some Lessons from Hamdan, 91 Minnesota Law Review 1451 (2007); The
Political Constitution of Emergency Powers: Parliamentary and Separation-of-Powers Regulation, 3 International Journal of Law in
Context 275 (2008).

93 Categories such as “economic,” “natural disasters,” “public health emergencies whatever the cause,” and “terrorist threats” have been
used in legislation elsewhere.
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Memorandum by Professor Clive Walker, School of Law, University of Leeds

Introduction

1. This paper responds to the call for evidence from the House of Lords Constitution Committee in
connection with its inquiry on “Emergency legislation”.

2. The Committee has three circumstances in mind.

— In relation to primary legislation, where bills receive an expedited passage through Parliament.

— Circumstances where the Government introduce substantial new provisions to a bill at a late stage in
a bill’s passage through Parliament and seek to justify the timing of such amendments on grounds
of urgency.

— In relation to delegated legislation, the Committee seeks views on the ministerial order-making
powers contained in Part 2 of the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 designed to allow urgent law-making
to deal with emergency situations.

3. Discussion in my paper will centre on anti-terrorism laws and also the Civil Contingencies Act 2004. For
further details and arguments on these issues, see principally:

— Walker, C., The Anti-Terrorism Legislation (Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2002).

— Walker, C. and Broderick, J., The Civil Contingencies Act 2004: Risk, Resilience and the Law in the
United Kingdom (Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2006).

Expedited Passage of Primary Legislation

3. The anti-terrorism legislation is replete with examples of bills which received an expedited passage through
Parliament.

4. The Prevention of Terrorism (Temporary Provisions) Act 1974 was passed in the space of three days after
the Birmingham pub bombings by the Provisional IRA. The conception of the Bill was announced on
25 November 1974, when the Home Secretary, Roy Jenkins, warned that, “The powers … are Draconian. In
combination they are unprecedented in peacetime. I believe these are fully justified to meet the clear and
present danger.”94 In response, Parliament was fanatically enthusiastic and had passed the Bill by
29 November, virtually without amendment or dissent.95

5. A more recent example was the Criminal Justice (Terrorism and Conspiracy) Act 1998. The legislation
responded to the challenge to the “Good Friday” Belfast Agreement, as perpetrated by the Real IRA, the
Republican dissident group responsible for the Omagh bombing on 15 August 1998. The legislative process
entailed not only parliamentary passage within a remarkably short space of time (two days) but also the
extraordinary recall of both Houses of Parliament during the summer recess.96

6. The following lessons may be drawn from such episodes. The first is that they produce lasting impact. The
circumstances may be depicted as an “emergency”, and the legislation may be entitled “emergency provisions”
or “temporary provisions” and may even contain a sunset or renewal clause. But the lesson of experience is
that such legislation may endure. The Prevention of Terrorism Acts continued until 2001, when the Terrorism
Act 2000 came into force. Of course, that current legislation reproduces much of the earlier legislation. The
Omagh legislation likewise was incorporated within the Terrorism Act 2000, but its anti-terrorism part has
now expired with the passage of the Justice and Security (Northern Ireland) Act 2007.

7. The second lesson is that the appearance of legislation being drawn up in emergency circumstances is highly
misleading. The legislation is revealed and passed in emergency circumstances, but it has almost certainly been
drafted in non-emergency circumstances. To take the example of the Prevention of Terrorism Act of 1974, the
picture thus portrayed, of a Bill drawn up and passed with astonishing alacrity in response to a single horrific
incident, is misleading in two respects.

8. First, the 1974 Act should not be viewed solely as a response to the Birmingham bombings, since numerous
terrorist attacks had previously occurred. Repeated bombings had been carried out in England by the IRA
since February 1972. In the first 10 months of l974, there were 99 further incidents, producing 17 deaths and
145 other casualties. Indeed, in November 1974 alone, there had already been 11 attacks with four dead and
35 injured. With this background in mind, the Home OYce has since admitted that it drew up contingency
plans during 1973, including a draft Bill to proscribe the IRA, exclude suspects and restrict movement from
94 Hansard (HC) Vol.882 col.35 (25 November 1974), Roy Jenkins.
95 See further Walker, C.P., The Prevention of Terrorism in British Law (2nd ed., Manchester University Press, Manchester, 1992) chap.4.
96 See further Walker, C.P., “The bombs in Omagh and their aftermath: the Criminal Justice (Terrorism and Conspiracy Act 1998)” (1999)

62 Modern Law Review 879; Campbell, C., “Two steps backwards” [1999] Criminal Law Review 941; Kent, K.D., “Basic rights and
anti-terrorism legislation” (2000) 33 Vanderbilt Journal of Transnational Law 221.
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Ireland.97 Indeed, the Government would rightly have been condemned if it had ignored the continuing
mayhem and had not considered counter-measures. What was objectionable was not this stage of preparedness
but the secrecy in which it was undertaken and the cynicism with which it was revealed only when the vigilance
of Parliament was at its lowest ebb.

9. The second respect in which the Prevention of Terrorism Act was a measured, rather than a panic, response,
concerns the existence of close precedents for such legislation. The designs produced by the Home OYce were
almost certainly based on three sources. The model for proscription and the six-monthly renewal period was
the special anti-terrorist legislation then in force in Northern Ireland, the Northern Ireland (Emergency
Provisions) Act 1973. The second precursor was the Prevention of Violence (Temporary Provisions) Act l939,
which had reacted to an earlier I.R.A. campaign in Britain and contained the ideas of exclusion and special
police powers. Finally, controls in the l974 Act on travellers from Ireland were simply adaptations from the
Immigration Act l971.

10. It may be concluded that the appearance given in l974, of a Bill being conjured out of thin air, does not
conform to reality, as preparations were well in hand for such legislation. Unfortunately, the Home OYce did
not perform this task very eYciently, and, given the total absence of forewarning or time for debate, neither
Parliament nor interested bodies were able to remedy its deficiencies. As a result, various faults may be
attributed to the process of parturition of the Act, many which persist today. First, measures were included
which not only failed to prevent terrorism but probably hindered that objective, such as exclusion orders.
Conversely, devices which might have been more pertinent, such as electronic surveillance, were not even
mentioned. Another defect was that the Act had to be limited to Irish terrorism, since there was no time to
devise a more comprehensive statute to take account of other sources. Finally, there was no concerted eVort
to include any “limiting principles” (described below). Indeed, the Draconian nature of the Act was flaunted
as one of its chief virtues.

11. The same points about secret preparations on the basis of evident precedents can be made regarding other
episodes of “emergency” legislation including the 1998 Act. It is rare for there to be no indication of a looming
problem, and it is even rarer for the problem never in previous times to have been considered or even to have
been the subject of legislation, whether in the United Kingdom, or in comparable jurisdictions. The 1998 Act
provides an illustration of the latter, whereby a large part of the content was all too predictably borrowed from
the Irish Republic’s OVences against the State Acts 1939–85.

12. Two recommendations are suggested in response to the problems indicated above. The first
recommendation is the need to set out standing “limiting principles” (referred to above in para.10). These
limiting principles do not need to be enacted, though some are already explicit in the Human Rights Act 1998.
The point is for Parliament to assert its authority and to make clear what standards the legislature expects of
the executive. These limiting principles should act as a parliamentary check-list against which future legislation
can be judged in a more systematic and rational way than at present. The check-list of “limiting principles” is
as follows.

13. “Policy relevance and impact”: Legislation should meet demands of eYcacy and eYciency, according to
set strategies. If no strategies can be explained, that would of itself be a reason for rejection. If strategies are
forthcoming, the legislation must show rational connection and potential advancement. In the anti-terrorism
field, the relevant strategy is CONTEST, but it is astonishing how little this carefully crafted document is
referred to in government papers or Parliamentary scrutiny.

14. “Rights audit”: The rights of individuals must be respected according to traditions of the domestic
jurisdictions and the demands of international law. For these purposes, the Human Rights Act 1998 can be
taken to provide a ready reckoner of standards, though it should be realised that the European Convention
on Human Rights is the lowest common denominator of rights in Europe, and United Kingdom citizens
should expect higher standards of treatment by their state than might be possible in less mature democracies.
It is also the case that the European Convention does not reflect some deeply entrenched common law
traditions, such as trial by jury. Another point is that there must be regard to other international instruments
such as the UN International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights which can vary in a few respects. Thus,
compliance with the Human Rights Act 1998 is necessary but not suYcient in auditing rights. Two further
caveats should be entered concerning the Human Rights Act 1998.

15. The first caveat is that the mechanisms for checking the use of truly emergency laws, pursuant to Article
15, is too weak. By section 14, a designated derogation can be made by an aYrmative order under section
20 which can then subsist under section 16 for five years. This is extraordinarily lax in comparison to the
standards expected by the European Court of Human Rights. The procedures should be amended so as to
ensure that renewal should take place every six months, and that before renewal there should be an
97 Hansard (HC) Vol. 1 col. 360 (18 March 1981), Alex Lyons; Hansard (HL) Vol. 504 col. 22 (13 February 1989), Lord Harris.
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independent expert review and report on the necessity for further derogation and its basis and extent. No
doubt, such a more regular review might have picked up the diYculties with discrimination endemic in the
derogation notice of November 2001 which became the subject of adverse judgment in the House of Lords
Appellate Committee in 200498 and, along similar lines, in the European Court of Human Rights in February
2009.99 One might have more sympathy with the government’s apparent discomfort over both judgments if
more active steps had been taken to ensure legality.

16. The second caveat is that the discussions about rights tend nowadays to talk vaguely about “balance”.
Far more profit would be gained from basing discussions around “proportionality” and to understand that
term in precise terms as embodying the following standards

— that the legislative objective is suYciently important to justify limiting a fundamental right;

— that the measures designed to meet the legislative objective are rationally connected to it;

— that the means used to impair the right or freedom are no more than is necessary to accomplish the
objective;

— and that a proper balance is considered between the gains for the policy purpose and the incursion
into individual rights.

It should further be understood (but is frequently ignored) that these standards vary according to rights
aVected. For absolute rights (such as article 3), there can be no balance or compromise. For fundamental rights
to liberty and due process (articles 5 and 6), any limits must operate in very limited circumstances for the sake
of the rights of others and not for wider societal goals. For provisional rights (articles 8 to 11), these may be
proportionately balanced not only against rights but against wider societal interests. For derogation under
article 15, any measure should be “strictly required”.

17. The next limiting principle is “accountability” which includes attributes such as information provision,
open and independent debate and an ability to participate in decision making. These should be applied to
mechanisms in the proposed emergency legislation for Parliamentary scrutiny and future application of
relevant legislation, as well as its periodic review. For example, is any independent scrutiny mechanism to be
established? How will the views of those particular constituencies (such as particular ethnic minorities) likely
to be most aVected be gathered? Are the courts able to receive a full range of complaints?

18. The final limiting principle is “constitutional governance”, meaning the subjection of governmental action
to norms, whether legal or extra legal (such as codes). Any such codes should be readily accessible and
Parliament should check that Ministerial promises are kept. A recent example where they were not kept
concerns the failure to produce a specific code under section 34 of the Justice and Security (Northern Ireland)
Act 2007.100 That Act embodies neither adequate independent nor Parliamentary oversight, so the Minister
can bury such promises. “Constitutional governance” also requires that the emergency laws reflect the overall
purpose of the restoration of fundamental features of constitutional life.

19. Moving from “limiting principles”, the second, and obvious step which might be taken to scrutinise more
eVectively emergency legislation would be to demand from the executive the drafts of legislation well before
they are launched in circumstances too fraught to allow proper scrutiny. These considerations of constitutional
governance point towards the need for special powers considered fully in advance of an emergency. A good
example relates to the Civil Contingencies Act 2004, Part II. Part II allows for regulations to be issued in
emergencies. Despite freedom of information requests, the government has refused to release any draft of the
range of planned regulatory codes, each dealing with a diVerent form of emergency.

20. The advantage of prior discussion is that the measures can be scrutinised by Parliament far more
eVectively against the limiting principles already adduced. Interested and expert third parties can also add their
points. Ministers will say that the disadvantage is that these draft legislative codes are “sensitive” and it will
give warning to our enemies to tell them what our reaction will be. There may be at least three lines of response.
The first is to say that any loss by way of forewarning will be more than compensated by better designed and
more eVective laws. The second is that there is little danger to security. Laws are general in their nature, and
our enemies will remain unsure as to how precisely the laws will be applied to them. The third response,
reflecting the point in para.9 about precedents, is that the broad lines are entirely predictable in any event.
98 A v Secretary of State for the Home Department [2004] UKHL 56. See Walker, C., “Prisoners of ‘war all the time’” [2005] European

Human Rights Law Review 50.
99 A and others v United Kingdom, App. no.3455/05, 19 February 2009.
100 Hansard (HL) vol.689 col.1058 (20 February 2007) Lord Rooker.
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Late Urgent Amendments to Primary Legislation

22. The late amendment to primary legislation dealing with emergency is again a repeated occurrence. The
Committee’s example of the addition of Part V of the Counter-Terrorism Act 2008, allowing the enforcement
of the Financial Action Task Force’s directives, is indeed an excellent example. The tacking-on of extraneous,
non-emergency measures, by no means all as urgent additions, was also a feature of the Anti-terrorism, Crime
and Security Act 2001. A recent illustration of the diYculties caused concerns the freezing of Icelandic banking
funds under the Anti-terrorism, Crime and Security Act 2001, section 4.101 Whilst the order was legal,
nonetheless, the order constitutes a dangerous use of the legislation that was all but inevitable due to the failure
to address concerns raised at the time of enactment and in a subsequent review regarding its scope.102

23. Reflecting further upon the Committee’s example of Part V of the Counter-Terrorism Act 2008, exactly
why Schedule 7 was rushed through in this way, unless simply to avoid close scrutiny, remains obscure. The
government called in aid an FATF statement on 16 October 2008 which warned of the involvement of Iran in
terrorism financing and of Uzbekistan in money laundering.103 However, neither danger was wholly novel,
other FATF missives have been ignored,104 and other regulatory powers already existed to ensure restraints.105

Nor have other countries acted with such urgency.

24. The remedies for such abuse of the legislative system include explicit reference to the limiting principles
already adduced. Another remedy might include clearer standing orders as to the “admissibility” of
amendments. The current parliamentary rules on the elimination of amendments deemed to be “out of order”
are obscure and contained in diverse rulings from the chair.106 To aid enforcement, a clearer statement about
inadmissibility would be helpful in cases where the legislative processes are foreshortened. A new rule on
admissibility could be combined with a grant of extra emergency parliamentary time in the case of a rejection
of a government amendment. Thus, where a Minister’s amendment is rejected, there would be the opportunity
to table immediately primary legislation. The tabling of such legislation would still be advantageous since it
would ensure that there is distinct debate and that debate is held at all Parliamentary stages.

Ministerial Order-making Powers in the Civil Contingencies Act 2004, Part II

25. A review of these powers is oVered at length in chapter 5 and 6 of Walker, C. and Broderick, J., The Civil
Contingencies Act 2004: Risk, Resilience and the Law in the United Kingdom (Oxford University Press, Oxford,
2006). For detailed arguments and references, please refer to that work. The regulation-making powers are of
awesome scope, but the Government claims that sensible limits are imposed by reference to the concept of a
“Triple Lock”—that restraints will be imposed on the triggering definitions by reference to seriousness,
necessity, and geographical proportionality. The eVectiveness of the application of these concepts, and whether
they are as “transparent and robust”107 as claimed, may be doubted. Amongst the problems in Part II, as
currently drafted are as follows.

26. As regards issuance, the following points arise.

— The Triple Lock demand of “seriousness” is not adequately reflected in section 19, and the various
legs of the Triple Lock are not drawn together so that they are readily visible and emphasised. Instead,
they are found principally in sections 19 (seriousness) and sections 21 and 23 (necessity and
geographic proportionality); the Government claimed to consolidate would distort the drafting.

— Further general problems108 are that there is no express requirement of objectivity in any of the tests—
the Minister is allowed to use powers on the basis of satisfaction without the qualification of
reasonableness. The condition of necessity is left unexplained, except in section 21(5) and (6) where
emergency regulations overlap with “normal” powers or, perhaps more significantly, with more
focused powers which deal with crisis, such as terrorism legislation.

101 See Landsbanki Freezing Order 2008 SI 2008/2668, as amended by SI 2008/2766. It was approved at HC Vol.481, col.868, (28 October,
2008) after debate in the HC Delegated Legislation Committee HC Vol.481 (27 October 2008) and at HL Vol.704, col.1546,
(28 October, 2008).

102 See further Lennon, G.L., and Walker, C., “Hot money in a cold climate” [2009] Public Law 37.
103 Hansard HL vol.705, col.577 (11 November 2008) Lord Myners.
104 Hansard HL vol.705, col.587 (11 November 2008) Baroness Miller.
105 The Money Laundering Regulations 2007, SI2007/2157, were claimed to be too limited (ibid. col.578), but no mention was made of

the Export Control Act 2002 or sectoral regulatory powers.
106 See Blackburn, R, and Kennon, A., GriYth and Ryle on Parliament (2nd ed., Sweet & Maxwell, London, 2003) para.6.135.
107 Cabinet OYce, The Government’s Response to the Report of the Joint Committee on the Draft Civil Contingencies Bill (Incorporating

the Government’s Response to the Report of the House of Commons Defence Committee on the Draft Civil Contingencies Bill) (Cm. 6078,
London, 2004) para.3.

108 See Joint Committee on the Draft Civil Contingencies Bill, Draft Civil Contingencies Bill (2002–03 HC 1074, HL 184) para.38.
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— Next, proportionality is not suYciently explained aside from in geographical terms. The term is baldly
stated when an emergency is declared (section 20(5(b)) and when the regulations are issued (section
23(1)(b)), but there is no requirement when the regulations are applied.109

— The actual power to make emergencies regulations is set out in section 20(1). This formula is framed
subjectively. While review by the courts and Parliament is not thereby debarred, it is likely that a less
rigorous standard of proof is demanded.

— In an emergency, section 20(2) allows a “senior” Minister of the Crown to issue emergency
regulations. The definition of “senior” Minister of the Crown means (a) the First Lord of the Treasury
(the Prime Minister), (b) any of Her Majesty’s Principal Secretaries of State,110 and (c) the
Commissioners of Her Majesty’s Treasury111 (section 21(3)). The latter are a curious and
inappropriate choice.

— More explicit preconditions to section 20(1) about which the Her Majesty in Council must be satisfied
are set out in section 21. The first condition (section 21(2)) is that an “emergency” has occurred, is
occurring or is about to occur. The emergency is as defined by section 19, which includes the concept
of seriousness as part of the Triple Lock. There is no temporal cut oV point for either dealing with
the aftermath of emergencies which have occurred or anticipating emergencies which are in the future.

— In addition to the three conditions of the Triple Lock, it would have been very helpful to impose
statutory duties to disclose the evidence and intelligence which convinced the Minister to intervene.
There is no such duty in the Act beyond the assertive statement in section 20(5).

— An unresolved issue is whether the conditions in section 21 apply as a trigger to the totality of
regulation-making powers in section 22 (set out below) or whether the conditions must be satisfied
for every exercise of each regulation-making power.

27. As regards the scope and limits of emergency regulations, the following concerns arise.

— There is no express power of detention without trial, as was equally the position under the Emergency
Powers Act 1920. Especially in the light of debates under the Counter-Terrorism Bill 2007–08, the
position should be clarified, as it was under the rejected clause in that Bill. Such a serious incursion
into liberty, and even powers of summary arrest, should have been expressly expressed and regulated
on the face of the Act if it is to remain a live possibility.

— The 2004 Act is now arguably more favourable to strikers than the Emergency Powers 1920 Act112

since it covers industrial action other than a strike (which should be interpreted as involving the
taking part in it, as well as the calling of it)113 and covers prohibitions of a civil as well as criminal
nature. But the Government declined to clarify the position regarding peaceful picketing by adding
a specific regulation-making power under section 22(3) and removing picketing from the ambit of
section 22(3)(f) so that the matter could be specifically signalled.

— Next, by section 23(5), emergency regulations may not amend Part II of the Act or any part of the
Human Rights Act 1998. But why not list as sacrosanct a host of other “constitutional” legislation?
There is danger to the constitutional fabric from the regulation-making power in what became section
22(3)(j)—to “disapply or modify an enactment or a provision made under or by virtue of an
enactment”. In response the Joint Committee on the Draft Civil Contingencies Bill commented
that:114 “In the wrong hands, this could be used to remove all past legislation which makes up the
statutory patchwork of the British constitution. We believe that the Bill should list a number of
fundamental parts of constitutional law that should be exempt from modification or disapplication.”
Likewise the House of Lords Select Committee on Delegated Powers and Regulatory Reform115

questioned the power to override constitutional rights.

— The full scheme of regional coordination is not revealed in Part II, and there is, as a result, a lack of
clarity as well as a total absence of accountability to the localities aVected. Accountability to
Parliament is also weakened and should have been enhanced by requiring under section 24(4) periodic
reports on the work of the regional tier, designate or real.

109 Compare: Anti-terrorism, Crime and Security Act 2001, sections 17 and 19; Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 sections 5,
22, 23, 28, 29, 32, 49, 51, 55 and 73–5.

110 By the Interpretation Act 1978 Schedule 1, “‘Secretary of State’ means one of Her Majesty’s Principal Secretaries of State.” Under-
Secretaries are therefore not authorised, nor does the term include the Prime Minister or the Chancellor of the Exchequer.

111 Under the Treasury Instruments (Signature) Act 1849, action must be taken by at least two Commissioners. The 2004 Act must comply
as it does not specify that “any” commissioner can act, unlike under (b).

112 But Emergency Regulations were altered in late 1973 to adopt the wider forms of protection: see Morris, G.S., “The Emergency Powers
Act 1920” [1979] Public Law 317 at p.324.

113 Smith v Wood (1927) 43 TLR 178.
114 Draft Civil Contingencies Bill (2002–03 HC 1074) para.13.
115 Twenty-Fifth Report (2003–04 HL 144) para.23.
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— Parliamentary scrutiny is designed to bite at a number of stages under section 27. But none of these
forms of oversight aVects the powers of Ministers to make new regulations or aVects anything done
by virtue of regulations before they lapse, cease to have eVect or are amended (subsection (4)). A
proposal for an “Emergency Powers” Select Committee was made during the parliamentary
passage116 but to no avail. The Government preferred recourse to collaboration with representatives
of key parties on Privy Council terms “to build consensus across the political spectrum”, as the
Minister of State for the Cabinet OYce put it, rather than the less closed or managed setting of a select
committee.117 One hopes that one or other select committee will both review the implementation of
the legislation under Part I and also will dissect each and every invocation of Part II. But there is no
certainty that this will happen.

— There was considerable disagreement during the Parliamentary process about the possibilities of
expert and sustained independent inquiry in the event of Part II being invoked. The matter was settled
at the last hour by a concession that:118 “…within one year of the end of the point at which the
emergency regulations fall, a senior Privy Counsellor appointed by the Government will review the
operation of the Act in that instance. That process would be repeated for each and every emergency
during which the Act was used. That review will be published and available to Parliament—and there
will be a debate on the review.” The Government assured that a single “independent” Privy
Councillor will lead the review, assisted by a review team.119 It is regrettable that the review and the
appointment of the reviewer are not based on statute and that the reviewer is aVorded no statutory
powers to gather evidence.

Conclusion

28. Little confidence can be expressed regarding future Parliamentary performance in either expressing, and
still less enforcing, limiting principles or the other suggestions made for reform in this paper. Whilst some select
committees (especially the Joint Committee on Human Rights) have performed admirably, the Parliamentary
debates about emergency laws are often marked by disinterest, ignorance, and confusion. Debates around
42 days detention are very much the exception rather than the rule. It is to be hoped that the Constitution
Committee and the reaction to its report can prove to be mistaken this gloomy prediction.
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116Hansard (HC) Standing Committee F col. 298 (10 February 2004) and Hansard (HC) vol. 421 col. 1388 (24 May 2004).
117Ibid col. 299, Douglas Alexander. See also Hansard (HC) vol.421 col. 1392 (24 May 2004), Fiona Mactaggart.
118Hansard (HL) vol. 666 col. 1655 (18 November 2004), Lord Bassam.
119Hansard (HC) vol. 426 col. 1515 (18 November 2004), Ruth Kelly.
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